THE INTERPLAY BETWEEN SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH AND CANCER RELATED HEALTH DISPARITIES

EDITED BY: Tung-Sung Tseng, Chien-Ching Li and Alicia K. Matthews PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Public Health







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88976-256-9 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88976-256-9

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

1

THE INTERPLAY BETWEEN SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH AND CANCER RELATED HEALTH DISPARITIES

Topic Editors:

Tung-Sung Tseng, Louisiana State University, United States **Chien-Ching Li**, Rush University, United States **Alicia K. Matthews**, University of Illinois at Chicago, United States

Citation: Tseng, T.-S., Li, C.-C., Matthews, A. K., eds. (2022). The Interplay Between Social Determinants of Health and Cancer Related Health Disparities. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88976-256-9

Table of Contents

05 Editorial: The Interplay Between Social Determinants of Health and Cancer Related Health Disparities

Tung-Sung Tseng, Chien-Ching Li and Alicia K. Matthews

08 A National Study of Colorectal Cancer Survivorship Disparities: A Latent Class Analysis Using SEER (Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results) Registries

Francisco A. Montiel Ishino, Emmanuel A. Odame, Kevin Villalobos, Xiaohui Liu, Bonita Salmeron, Hadii Mamudu and Faustine Williams

16 A Critical Theoretical Approach to Cancer Disparities: Breast Cancer and the Social Determinants of Health

Sarah Gehlert, Darrell Hudson and Tina Sacks

24 Health Related Social Needs Among Chinese American Primary Care Patients During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Implications for Cancer Screening and Primary Care

Jennifer Tsui, Annie Yang, Bianca Anuforo, Jolene Chou, Ruth Brogden, Binghong Xu, Joel C. Cantor and Su Wang

38 Racial Disparity and Social Determinants in Receiving Timely Surgery Among Stage I–IIIA Non-small Cell Lung Cancer Patients in a U.S. Southern State

Paige Neroda, Mei-Chin Hsieh, Xiao-Cheng Wu, Kathleen B. Cartmell, Rachel Mayo, Jiande Wu, Chindo Hicks and Lu Zhang

47 Use of Geographic Information System Technology to Evaluate Health Disparities in Smoking Cessation Class Accessibility for Patients in Louisiana Public Hospitals

Tung Sung Tseng, Michael D. Celestin Jr., Qingzhao Yu, Mirandy Li, Ting Luo and Sarah Moody-Thomas

56 Examination of the Association Between Access to Care and Lung Cancer Screening Among High-Risk Smokers

Chien-Ching Li, Alicia K. Matthews, Yu-Hsiang Kao, Wei-Ting Lin, Jad Bahhur and Linda Dowling

- 66 Disease Burden and Attributable Risk Factors of Ovarian Cancer From 1990 to 2017: Findings From the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017 Zhangjian Zhou, Xuan Wang, Xueting Ren, Linghui Zhou, Nan Wang and Huafeng Kang
- 80 A Study Protocol for Increasing Access to Smoking Cessation Treatments for Low-Income Minority Smokers
 Alicia K. Matthews, Karriem S. Watson, Cherdsak Duangchan, Alana Steffen and Robert Winn
- 91 Association Between Household Income and Self-Perceived Health Status and Poor Mental and Physical Health Among Cancer Survivors
 L. Joseph Su, Sarah N. O'Connor and Tung-Chin Chiang
- 99 The Impact of COVID-19 on Risky Behaviors and Health Changes in African-American Smokers Who Are Eligible for LDCT Screening Tung-Sung Tseng, Mirandy Li, Yu-Hsiang Kao, Lei-Shih Chen and Hui-Yi Lin

- 105 Factors Associated With Patient's Refusal of Recommended Cancer Surgery: Based on Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Xianglin Hu, Hui Ye, Wangjun Yan and Yangbai Sun
- 113 Revisiting the Effects of Organized Mammography Programs on Inequalities in Breast Screening Uptake: A Multilevel Analysis of Nationwide Data From 1997 to 2017

Vladimir Jolidon, Vincent De Prez, Piet Bracke, Andrew Bell, Claudine Burton-Jeangros and Stéphane Cullati



Editorial: The Interplay Between Social Determinants of Health and Cancer Related Health Disparities

Tung-Sung Tseng^{1*}, Chien-Ching Li² and Alicia K. Matthews³

¹ Program of Behavioral and Community Health Sciences, Louisiana State University Health Sciences Center at New Orleans, New Orleans, LA, United States, ² Department of Health Systems Management, Rush University, Chicago, IL, United States, ³ Department of Population Health Nursing Science, University of Illinois Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States

Keywords: cancer, health disparities, social determinants of health, cancer inequalities, cancer prevention and control

Editorial on the Research Topic

The Interplay Between Social Determinants of Health and Cancer Related Health Disparities

Cancer is the second leading cause of death among adults in the United States. Since the initiation of the "War on Cancer" by Richard Nixon in 1971, advancements in cancer screening modalities and treatment approaches have resulted in marked improvements in cancer-related outcomes. However, not all groups have benefitted equally from advancements in the diagnosis and treatment of cancer. Indeed, we see persistent inequalities across the cancer care continuum, including prevention, screening, diagnosis, treatment, survivorship, and end-of-life care. Population groups at elevated risk for cancer inequalities include socioeconomically disadvantaged populations, underserved rural populations, racial/ethnic, and sexual and gender minorities. Against this backdrop, President Barak Obama signed into legislation the Cancer Moonshot initiative, which aimed to reduce cancer inequalities by making more therapies available to more patients and improving cancer prevention and early detection efforts. In recent years, emphasis has been placed on understanding and addressing the role of social determinants of health (SDOH) on cancer-related health disparities. A better understanding of SDOH can provide researchers and health professionals with effective strategies for reducing cancer-related health disparities and promoting cancer prevention and control.

The World Health Organization's Commission on the Social Determinants of Health has defined SDOH as factors in which people are born, grow, work, live, and age, and the broader set of forces and systems shaping the conditions of daily life that influence health outcomes (1). An extensive body of research has demonstrated that SDOH have an important influence on health inequities (2). Research, guided by multilevel approaches (e.g., the social-ecological model), has started to be conducted which examines the relationships between SDOH (e.g., income, education, health knowledge and behavior, access to health care, housing, poverty, neighborhood safety, economic stability, political conditions) and cancer-related health disparities (3–5). In this Research Topic of Frontiers in Public Health, "*The Interplay Between Social Determinants of Health and Cancer Related* Health Disparities," we solicited articles reviewing and addressing the role of social determinants of health in cancer-related health disparities to give readers an overview of updated health disparities information for their potential use in cancer research and practice. The goal of the Research Topic was to address cancer-related disparities with multilevel approaches, measurable

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by: Traci N. Bethea, Georgetown University, United States

> *Correspondence: Tung-Sung Tseng ttseng@lsuhsc.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Life-Course Epidemiology and Social Inequalities in Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

> Received: 02 March 2022 Accepted: 19 April 2022 Published: 05 May 2022

Citation:

Tseng T-S, Li C-C and Matthews AK (2022) Editorial: The Interplay Between Social Determinants of Health and Cancer Related Health Disparities. Front. Public Health 10:887847. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.887847 outcomes, and effective solutions focused on innovative and effective strategies to understand the impact of SDOH or improve cancer-related outcomes in diverse populations.

This Research Topic collected 12 studies examining the relationship between SDOH and cancer prevention, treatment, survivorship, and disparities. The majority of research focused on the analyses of individual-level SDOH (e.g., race, gender, marital status, income, insurance, health risk behaviors), followed by community-level (e.g., proximity to care, neighborhood poverty), and interpersonal-level (e.g., social support) SDOH. Several studies incorporated multi-dimensional SDOH at the individual, interpersonal, and community levels in the analysis to better understand cancer-related outcomes and disparities. The findings from the collected articles are summarized as follows.

First, two studies examined the relationship of individuallevel SDOH on health outcomes and survivorship among cancer survivors by analyzing national representative datasets. Su et al. analyzed the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System survey data. Results showed that lower family income was associated with cancer survivors' poor mental and physical health. Ishino et al. analyzed survivorship outcomes among colorectal cancer patients using SEER data. Older age at diagnosis, female, widowed, and non-Hispanic White with localized staging were associated with the lowest survivorship class.

Second, two studies examined the influence of individual and community-level SDOH on receipt of cancer-related surgery and treatment. Hu et al. analyzing the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) data, found higher rates of refusing recommended surgery among Asian/Pacific Islander and African American patients than white patients. Furthermore, racial disparities in the receipt of timely lung cancer surgery were identified among Louisiana patients by Neroda et al.. Black patients were more likely to have delayed surgery than white patients. Other SDOH (insurance, social support, community poverty level) were also associated with receiving timely surgery.

Third, three studies discussed multilevel SDOH associated with cancer screening utilization. Li et al. found that access to care factors (insurance type, proximity to care) were associated with the uptake of low dose computed tomography (LDCT) among screening eligible patients in an academic medical center. Performing multilevel analysis using Swiss nationwide data, Jolidon et al. found that higher income and married women were significantly associated with higher mammography uptake. Beyond individual factors, Tsui et al. found that the health-related social needs assessment (HRSN) could be conducted at the health care organizational level to improve cancer screening utilization in the Chinese American population.

Fourth, other studies focused on identifying the mechanisms by which SDOH contributes to cancer risks, cancer disparities, and the development of cancer prevention strategies. Zhou et al. analyzed the patterns and trends of disease burden and risk factors attributable to ovarian cancer across age, sociodemographic index, regions, and countries in terms of cancer risks. Tseng T-S. et al. indicated that increased cigarette smoking and other risky behaviors (increased sugary drink consumption, spending more time on screens, decreased physical activity time, and sleeping less) were found among African Americans eligible

for LDCT screening during the COVID pandemic. Two articles discussed the barriers and facilitators for accessing smoking cession services and treatments in cancer prevention strategies. Tseng T.S. et al. found that geographical distance was a significant predictor of attendance of smoking cessation counseling classes. Shorter traveling distances were associated with more class attendance. Matthews et al. developed a model for developing and implementing smoking cessation interventions via patient health portals for low-income patients to facilitate patient linkage to receive free telephone-based smoking cessation counseling. Lastly, Gehlert et al. use the Critical Race Theory to address breast cancer disparities at the population level with an emphasis on social factors (e.g., race and discriminatory public policies, attitudes toward healthcare by significant others, training for health providers and professionals, availability of preventive services in communities).

Social determinants of health at various levels (individual, interpersonal, community level) have shown impacts on cancerrelated health disparities in existing literature. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) have emphasized the SDOH and promoted SDOH data, research, tools for action, programs, and policy to improve health disparities (https:// www.cdc.gov/socialdeterminants/index.htm) (6). President Joe Biden's new national goal for the reignited Cancer Moonshot—is to cut today's age-adjusted cancer mortality rates by at least 50% before 2050 (https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/ statements-releases/2022/02/02/fact-sheet-president-bidenreignites-cancer-moonshot-to-end-cancer-as-we-know-it/)

(7). National Institute of Health (NIH) supports research on behavioral, biological, and social determinants of health and structural racism and discrimination (https://www.nih.gov/ ending-structural-racism/health-equity-research) (8). National Cancer Institute (NCI) starts to unpack Biden's Moonshot 2.0 goal providing new funding opportunities for cancer research in many areas including studies on cancer disparities. The National Cancer Institute has recognized the need of implementing multilevel cancer intervention research to address health disparities and improve population health (9). Several methodological and data analytic challenges of multilevel interventions have been addressed (10). Researchers, institutes, and governments have recognized the importance of integrating social behavioral and biological sciences to effectively and efficiently prevent, detect, and treat cancers (2, 11). To facilitate the adoption of multilevel interventions, it is important for researcher to gain sufficient knowledge on building a multilevel level conceptual framework based on evidence-based theories and models (e.g., theory of planned behavior, socio-ecological model) and develop appropriate study methods (quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods) and analytical models (e.g., hierarchical modeling) to measure the impact of multilevel interventions on study outcomes (12, 13).

Despite advancements in cancer screening, diagnosis, and treatment, cancer inequalities remain a persistent public health concern in the United States and globally. The papers presented in this Research Topic contribute to the overall literature on cancer inequalities by describing relationships between SDOH and cancer-related outcomes. Further, the studies presented included novel findings regarding the influence of SDOH at multiple levels, which has implications for future research and intervention development. However, additional research is needed to understand the influence of SDOH on diverse communities experiencing cancer inequalities and to identify the pathways by which SDOH impact cancer outcomes to guide the development of strategies to eliminate or reduce cancerrelated disparities.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

T-ST and C-CL contributed to the study conception and drafted the first manuscript. AM reviewed the manuscript and did

REFERENCES

- Irwin A, Valentine N, Brown C, Loewenson R, Solar O, Brown H, et al. The commission on social determinants of health: tackling the social roots of health inequities. *PLoS Med.* (2006) 3:e106. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0030106
- Valencia CI, Gachupin FC, Molina Y, Batai K. Interrogating patterns of cancer disparities by expanding the social determinants of health framework to include biological pathways of social experiences. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2022) 19:2455. doi: 10.3390/ijerph19042455
- Christensen L, Damon S. Social determinants of health and response to disease associated with health outcomes of American Indian and Alaska native patients. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2022) 5:e224827. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.4827
- 4. Del Brutto OH, Rumbea DA, Mera RM, Recalde BY, Sedler MJ. Social determinants of health (social risk) and nutritional status among community-dwelling older adults living in a rural setting: the Atahualpa project. J Prim Care Community Health. (2022) 13:21501319221087866. doi: 10.1177/215013192210 87866
- Asare M, Flannery M, Kamen C. Social determinants of health: a framework for studying cancer health disparities and minority participation in research. *Oncol Nurs Forum*. (2017) 44:20–23. doi: 10.1188/17. ONF.20-23
- CDC. Social Determinants of Health: Know What Affects Health. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Avaiable online at: https://www.cdc.gov/ socialdeterminants/index.htm (accessed March 26, 2022).
- Fact Sheet: President Biden Reignites Cancer Moonshot to End Cancer as We Know It. The White House. Available online at: https://www.whitehouse.gov/ briefing-room/statements-releases/2022/02/02/fact-sheet-president-bidenreignites-cancer-moonshot-to-end-cancer-as-we-know-it/ (accessed March 26, 2022).
- NIH. Health Equity Research. National Institute of Health. Available online at: https://www.nih.gov/ending-structural-racism/health-equity-research (accessed February 25, 2022.).

the interpretation of the discussion. All authors contributed to editing and revising the manuscript critically and approved the final version of the article to be published.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We want to thank all the authors and reviewers who have given their time and expertise to this important publication. We are also grateful to the editors, T-ST, C-CL, and AM for their commitment. Last, we thank the journal team, especially Aimee Lee at the Frontiers in Public Health Journal editorial office, for providing excellent professional support to this Research Topic.

- Edwards HM, Taplin SH, Chollette V, Clauser SB, Prabhu Das I, Kaluzny AD. Summary of the multilevel interventions in health care conference. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr. (2012) 2012:123–6. doi: 10.1093/jncimonographs/lgs018
- Nastasi BK, Hitchcock J. Challenges of evaluating multilevel interventions. *Am J Community Psychol.* (2009) 43:360–76. doi: 10.1007/s10464-009-9239-7
- Pinheiro LC, Reshetnyak E, Akinyemiju T, Phillips E, Safford MM. Social determinants of health and cancer mortality in the Reasons for Geographic and Racial Differences in Stroke (REGARDS) cohort study. *Cancer.* (2022) 128:122–30. doi: 10.1002/cncr.33894
- Paskett E, Thompson B, Ammerman AS, Ortega AN, Marsteller J, Richardson D. Multilevel interventions to address health disparities show promise in improving population health. *Health Aff.* (2016) 35:1429– 34. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2015.1360
- Auguste A, Deloumeaux J, Joachim C, Osaki A, Takano T, Naito Y, et al. Joint effect of tobacco, alcohol, and oral HPV infection on head and neck cancer risk in the French West Indies. *Cancer Med.* (2020) 9:6854– 63. doi: 10.1002/cam4.3327

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Tseng, Li and Matthews. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





A National Study of Colorectal Cancer Survivorship Disparities: A Latent Class Analysis Using SEER (Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results) Registries

Francisco A. Montiel Ishino^{1*}, Emmanuel A. Odame², Kevin Villalobos¹, Xiaohui Liu¹, Bonita Salmeron¹, Hadii Mamudu³ and Faustine Williams¹

¹ Division of Intramural Research, National Institute on Minority Health and Health Disparities, Bethesda, MD, United States,
 ² Department of Environmental Health Sciences, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL, United States,
 ³ Department of Health Services Management and Policy, College of Public Health, East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, TN, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Tung-Sung Tseng, Louisiana State University, United States

Reviewed by:

Shahinaz Gadalla, Division of Cancer Epidemiology and Genetics (NCI), United States Kaylin Beiter, Louisiana State University Health Sciences Center, United States

*Correspondence:

Francisco A. Montiel Ishino francisco.montielishino@nih.gov

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Life-Course Epidemiology and Social Inequalities in Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

> Received: 10 November 2020 Accepted: 27 January 2021 Published: 25 February 2021

Citation:

Montiel Ishino FA, Odame EA, Villalobos K, Liu X, Salmeron B, Mamudu H and Williams F (2021) A National Study of Colorectal Cancer Survivorship Disparities: A Latent Class Analysis Using SEER (Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results) Registries. Front. Public Health 9:628022. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.628022 **Introduction:** Long–standing disparities in colorectal cancer (CRC) outcomes and survival between Whites and Blacks have been observed. A person–centered approach using latent class analysis (LCA) is a novel methodology to assess and address CRC health disparities. LCA can overcome statistical challenges from subgroup analyses that would normally impede variable–centered analyses like regression. Aim was to identify risk profiles and differences in malignant CRC survivorship outcomes.

Methods: We conducted an LCA on the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results data from 1975 to 2016 for adults ≥ 18 (N = 525,245). Sociodemographics used were age, sex/gender, marital status, race, and ethnicity (Hispanic/Latinos) and stage at diagnosis. To select the best fitting model, we employed a comparative approach comparing sample-size adjusted BIC and entropy; which indicates a good separation of classes.

Results: A four-class solution with an entropy of 0.72 was identified as: lowest survivorship, medium-low, medium-high, and highest survivorship. The lowest survivorship class (26% of sample) with a mean survival rate of 53 months had the highest conditional probabilities of being 76–85 years-old at diagnosis, female, widowed, and non-Hispanic White, with a high likelihood with localized staging. The highest survivorship class (53% of sample) with a mean survival rate of 92 months had the highest likelihood of being married, male with localized staging, and a high likelihood of being non-Hispanic White.

Conclusion: The use of a person-centered measure with population-based cancer registries data can help better detect cancer risk subgroups that may otherwise be overlooked.

Keywords: colorectal (colon) cancer, cancer health disparities, latent class analyses, survivorship (public health), person-centered analysis

INTRODUCTION

Colorectal cancer (CRC) remains the third most diagnosed cancer, and the second leading cause of cancer-related death in both men and women in the United States (US) (1). There are an estimated 147,950 new cases and 53,200 deaths expected in 2020, accounting for 8.4% of all cancer deaths (1, 2). Despite the current estimates, CRC incidence and mortality rates have been decreasing overall since 2000 (1, 3), while incidence rates among adults aged \leq 50 years have increased since the mid-1990s (3–5). The reasons for the decline in CRC incidence and mortality rates include advancements in biomedical sciences, leading to early detection and diagnosis, as well as improved treatment, increased screening outreach on a population basis, and adherence to interventions on behavioral lifestyle risk factors like smoking cessation (1, 3).

Regardless of the decline in CRC incidence, mortality, and survival, geographical and racial/ethnic disparities persist (1, 3, 6–12). For instance, between 1995 and 2014 the lowest CRC incidence rate was 29.7/100,000 individuals in Utah while the highest was 49.2/100,000 in Kentucky (1). Similarly, CRC mortality rates range from 11.0/100,000 population in Connecticut to 18.3/100,000 population in Mississippi (1). In terms of race/ethnicity, evidence has shown that non-Hispanic Blacks and American Indians/Alaska Natives experience the highest CRC incidence and mortality rates, compared to non-Hispanic Whites (1). Therefore, there is critical need for research to understand these disparities and to inform the development of interventions to reduce/eliminate them.

The stage of CRC diagnosis is important to treatment, recovery, and survival (3). According to the American Cancer Society, the overall 5-year relative rate for localized stage diagnosis is 90%, regional 71%, distant 14%, and all stages combined 63% (13). Modifiable and non-modifiable risk factors, including age, genetics, sedentary lifestyle, and socioeconomic status (SES) have been known to affect CRC development (7, 14-16). Several studies have examined differences in CRC incidence, mortality, and survival by these factors (12, 16-31). Zhang et al. (31) used the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) data from 2007 to 2013 to investigate the impact of SES on overall CRC survival. Results revealed that patients with CRC who were non-Hispanic Black, widowed, on Medicaid, and with the lowest education had relatively poor prognoses. However, studies involving the analysis of overall survivorship of patients with CRC in population subgroups in the US are sparse. As such, this exploratory study aimed to identify profiles and determine disparities in malignant CRC survivorship outcomes using SEER 9 cancer registry program incidence databases from 1975 to 2016. The findings will help identify heterogenous, mutually exclusive profiles and provide important information about how interventions should be tailored to different subpopulations.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Source and Study Population

This study used data from the SEER database of the National Cancer Institute. The SEER 9 covers $\sim 10\%$ of the US population

with data from nine cancer registries in the states of Georgia (Atlanta), Connecticut, Michigan (Detroit), Hawaii, Iowa, New Mexico, California (San Francisco), Washington (Seattle-Puget Sound), and Utah (32). Patients included in this study were non-Hispanic Blacks and Whites age ≥ 18 years diagnosed from 1975 through 2016 with malignant, histologically confirmed primary colon and rectal cancer under the International Classification of Diseases for Oncology, Third Edition (ICD-O-3) histology and behavior code. This study was exploratory and not designed to be diagnostic in nature.

Latent Class Analysis

We used latent class analysis (LCA), a person-centered approach, to identify latent or hidden profiles in data. LCA transitions us from variable-centered approaches that examine relationships between variables to a person-centered context in which we can further identify subgroups of risk by profile. We conducted an LCA on SEER 9 data to identify and assess differences in CRC survivorship by observed indicators of sociodemographic factors and derived cancer stage. Observed indicators within the profiles were assessed as conditional probabilities, i.e., likelihood of each indicator being present within the profile with all other indicators present. The distal outcome of survivorship was a continuous measure of survival in total number of months from cancer diagnosis until recorded all-cause death. An automatic Bolck, Croon, and Hagenaars (BCH) method in our LCA was used to account for the distal continuous outcome of survivorship and assess mean differences by profile identified. This approach minimizes bias as algorithms, not the researcher, identify profiles based on observed indicators and survivorship.

Observed indicators from patient sociodemographic characteristics included in our LCA were age, sex/gender, race, Hispanic/Latino origin, and marital status. Age at diagnosis was categorized using the US Preventive Service Task Force screening age recommendation (33) (i.e., 18-49; 50-75; 76-85; 85 and older). Sex/gender was based on dichotomous male or female categories, and race was made into three categories. The first two racial categories included individuals that self-identified as either White or Black. The third racial category, Other race, was a combination of participants that self-identified as American Indian/Alaska Natives and Asian or Pacific Islanders, based on the SEER race recode changes (34). We included Hispanic/Latino as a dichotomous yes or no category based on North American Association of Central Cancer Registries Hispanic Identification Algorithm (35). Marital status was categorized as single/never married; married/common law; divorced/separated; and widow/widower. The derived stage of CRC was categorized as localized, regional, or distant.

Model Fit Assessment for Latent Class Analysis

Multiple models were created based on number of classes (i.e., 1-, 2-, 3-, 4-, 5-class solutions) and compared using the following criteria: (1) entropy [i.e., the acceptable quality of classification and indication of good separation of classes]; (2) Bayesian information criterion (BIC) and sample-size-adjusted BIC (ssa-BIC); and (3) theoretical implications (36). This comparative

approach allowed us to select our final model for interpretation based on high entropy, as well as parsimony assessed *via* BIC, ssa-BIC, and practical application. All statistical analyses were conducted using Mplus 8.4 (Muthén and Muthén).

RESULTS

Sociodemographic Characteristics

A total of 525,245 patients with malignant CRC were included. Of these patients, a little over half were males (50.4%), aged 50–75 years (57%), and married (57%) at the time of CRC diagnosis. Most of the patients were non-Hispanic White (83.5%) with localized stage disease (41%). The mean survival time from CRC diagnosis was 77.3 \pm SE months [SE = 0.123, 95% CI: 77.1–77.6] (**Table 1**).

Patients' risk profiles/survival subgroups were identified using LCA model fit assessment (**Table 2**). The best model fit selected was a four-class solution that had a low ssa-BIC (4,662,336.8) and an entropy of 0.72, which indicated a clear separation of classes or profiles. The classes were named by relative survival in months from CRC diagnosis until death from all-cause mortality.

TABLE 1 | Sample demographic characteristics (N = 525,245).

Latent Class Analysis Subgroups/Profiles of Survivorship

Class 1, or the lowest survivorship group (26% of sample), had \sim 53 months of survival from diagnosis. The lowest survival group had the highest conditional probabilities of being 76-85 years old at time of diagnosis (43.8%), female (78.9%), and widowed (85.2%) and had a high likelihood of being White

TABLE 2 | Latent class analysis model fit assessment (N = 525,245).

Class	BIC	SSA-BIC	Entropy
1-Class Solution	4831811.6	4831773.4	_
2-Class Solution	4687966.2	4687886.7	0.88
3-Class Solution	4667251.0	4667130.3	0.65
4-Class Solution	4662498.8	4662336.8	0.72
5-Class Solution	4659145.0	4658941.6	0.68

AIC, Akaike Information Criterion; BIC, Bayesian Information Criterion; SSA-BIC, Sample-Size Adjusted Bayesian Information Criterion.

	Ν	%				
Age at diagnosis						
18–49	41,926	8.0				
50–75	298,295	56.8				
76–85	134,292	25.6				
≥86	50,493	9.6				
Sex						
Male	264,853	50.4				
Female	260,392	49.6				
Race						
White	436,947	83.5				
Black	47,912	9.1				
Other	38,708	7.4				
Hispanic/latino						
No	502,892	95.7				
Yes	22,353	4.3				
Marital status						
Single/never married	54,264	10.8				
Married/common law	286,518	57.0				
Separated/divorce	44,127	8.8				
Widow/widower	117,898	23.4				
Derived staging						
Localized	199,057	41.5				
Regional	182,007	37.9				
Distant	98,854	20.6				
			М	SE	95%	% CI
					Lower	Upper
Survival in months			77.3	0.123	77.1	77.6

M, Months; SE, Standard Error; CI, Confidence Interval.

(86.8%). This subgroup had the highest conditional probability of having malignant localized stage disease (40.8%).

Class 2, or the medium-low survivorship group (3% of sample), had 71.7 months of survival from diagnosis until death (**Table 3**). This subgroup had the highest conditional probabilities of being White (99%), Hispanic/Latino (100%) and male (58.2%) or female (41.8%). The medium-low survivorship group had high probabilities of being 50–75 years old at the time of diagnosis (66.8%), married (63.3%), and of localized stage CRC (39.3%). In addition, this subgroup had the second highest probability of regional stage malignant CRC diagnosis (38%).

The Class 3, or medium-high survivorship group represents 17% of the study sample (**Table 3**). The Class 3 group also had 73.5 months of survival since diagnosis with the highest conditional probabilities of being 50–75 (71.0%) years at diagnosis, single/never married (31.1%), divorced/separated (22.3%), and Black (25.7%). This group also had an almost equal probability of being male (52.3%) or female (48.7%) with distant stage disease (28.1%).

The last risk profile subgroup identified in our LCA is Class 4, or the highest survivorship group (53% of sample), with 91.7 months of survival from diagnosis (**Table 3**). This subgroup had the highest conditional probabilities of being male (65.1%), married/common law marriage (91.7%), and localized stage CRC diagnosis (44.3%). Class 4 had high probabilities of being between 50 and 75 years old (64.6%) and non-Hispanic White (88.1%). The highest survivorship group also had the lowest conditional probability of distant stage disease (17.9%). See **Table 3** for detailed mean survivorship and conditional probabilities.

Equity test of survivorship means across classes using the automatic BCH procedure with 3 degrees of freedom for overall test was found significant ($x^2 = 17587.5$, p < 0.001; see **Table 4**). That is, mean survivorship was significantly different between profiles.

DISCUSSION

This study used LCA, a person-centered method, to identify profiles of survivorship among patients with malignant CRC in a large population-based SEER cancer registry. This analysis of more than 525,000 patients with CRC diagnosed between 1975 and 2016 found heterogenous profiles by survivorship, age at diagnosis, sex/gender, race, ethnicity, marital status, and cancer derived staging. Four profiles of CRC survivorship were identified: lowest survivorship (53.0 months), mediumlow survivorship (71.7 months), medium-high survivorship (73.5 months), and highest survivorship (91.7 months).

We identified that the highest survivorship profile (91.7 months; Class 4) had the highest conditional likelihoods of being married and diagnosed with localized disease, followed by a high likelihood of being 50–75 years of age, White, and male. The lowest survivorship profile (Class 1) with 53.0 months from diagnosis to death had the highest likelihoods of being female, widowed, older (i.e., 76–85 years of age), and with regional disease. The lowest survivorship profile also had the second highest likelihood of localized disease when compared

to the highest survivorship profile. As such, marital status and sex/gender had the greatest disparity in survivorship. These findings were consistent with Aizer et al. (37), Jin et al. (38), Johansen et al. (39), Li et al. (40), and Wang et al. (41) who reported that married patients with cancer were less likely to present with CRC metastasis and survived significantly longer, compared to unmarried and widowed patients.

The profile identified with medium-low survivorship was found to be exclusively Hispanic/Latino and had the second highest likelihoods of being diagnosed at a distant stage and of being between 50 and 75 years. While the medium-low profile also had the second highest likelihood of being married (63%) when compared to all other profiles, it also had the second highest likelihoods of being single/never married and divorced/separated. The medium-high survivorship profile had the highest likelihood of being Black when compared to all other profiles. This profile also had the highest likelihoods of being single/never married and divorced/separated. Our findings revealed that disparities in CRC survival outcomes may not be attributable to race/ethnicity alone, but to other factors related to marital status for both males and females. Studying the impact of marriage on CRC stage at diagnosis and survival using SEER dataset, Li et al. (40) found that CRC cause specific survival among the married group was almost 70% compared to the never married (59%), divorced/separated/widowed groups (60%). The reason for these disparities are attributed to higher rates of depression, anxiety, medication non-adherence, and negative emotions among widowed patients (42-44).

Overall, while disparities in CRC mortality and survivorship have been found in prior studies, our study has expanded the limited literature concerning CRC disparities using a person-centered approach. We have identified four heterogenous survivorship profiles that are affected by multiple interacting factors, not just by racial/ethnic categories. While prior studies have found associations in CRC incidence and survival by race/ethnicity and age group (5, 20, 21, 45-48), these associations have been found to vary by database. For instance, Gabriel et al. (20) used the National Cancer Data Base (NCDB) from 2006 to 2012 to analyze CRC differences in demographic and pathologic factors with age related rates and overall survival. Results indicated disparities in overall survival, but African American and Hispanic/Latino patients aged <50 years experienced increased morality (20). In contrast, Murphy et al. (5) investigated CRC incidence and relative survival using SEER 13 registries data (1992–2014) among younger adults, aged \leq 50, and found that while absolute CRC incidence was higher for Blacks than Whites, Blacks experienced a slightly higher 5year relative survivorship improvement with colon cancer, and increased survival with rectal cancer (i.e., from 55.5 to 70.8%) (5).

Racial and ethnic health disparities have long been associated with CRC disparities, with many persisting if not worsening and shifting the burden of morbidity and mortality to other medically underserved and underrepresented groups. Our exploratory, person-centered study identified racial/ethnic CRC disparities in survivorship among CRC patients. By identifying the unique and inextricable context of racial/ethnic groups that may play a critical role in disease progression may also play a role

	Class 1	Class 2	Class 3	Class 4	
	Lowest survivorship	Medium-low survivorship	Medium-high survivorship	Highest survivorship	
	138,458	17,438	89,547	279,802	
	26%	3%	17%	53%	
Age at diagnosis					
18 - 49	0.000	0.204	0.220	0.0610	
50 - 75	0.305	0.668	0.710	0.646	
76 - 85	0.438	0.110	0.067	0.241	
≥ 86	0.257	0.018	0.003	0.052	
Sex/Gender					
Male	0.211	0.582	0.513	0.651	
Female	0.789	0.418	0.487	0.349	
Marital Status					
Single/Never Married	0.074	0.203	0.311	0.043	
Married/Common Law	0.000	0.633	0.436	0.917	
Divorced/Separated	0.075	0.137	0.223	0.040	
Widow/Widower	0.852	0.030	0.030	0.000	
Race					
White	0.868	0.990	0.647	0.881	
Black	0.082	0.000	0.257	0.038	
Other	0.05	0.010	0.096	0.081	
lispanic					
No	0.972	0.000	0.993	0.986	
Yes	0.028	1.0000	0.007	0.014	
Derived Staging					
Localized	0.408	0.393	0.353	0.443	
Regional	0.390	0.380	0.366	0.379	
Distant	0.202	0.227	0.281	0.179	
Survival in Months	52.959 (0.196)	71.741 (0.859)	73.497 (0.475)	91.700 (0.236)	

TABLE 3 | Latent class analysis of survivability rates among invasive CRC patients (N = 525,245).

*Color gradient indicates the conditional probabilities ranging from 0 in green to 30% in orange to 60% in lavender to 100% in violet. SE, Standard Error.

in efficiently and efficaciously addressing CRC disparities. For instance, we found that the medium-low and medium-high survivorship profiles had the highest likelihoods to belonging to an ethnic/racial minority (Hispanic or non-Hispanic Black, respectively). We observed, however, that in these profiles there were increased likelihoods of being single/never married or divorced/separated. Additionally, these profiles had a decreased likelihood of being diagnosed at a localized stage; especially, when compared to the lowest and highest survivorship profiles that were primarily racially White and non-Hispanic. Epidemiological studies have previously found that minority and underserved populations, like that of US Blacks, have worse CRC prognoses compared to Whites (1, 3–5, 7), with only few studies reporting no significant difference (49, 50).

Our findings revealed that racial/ethnic disparities in the context of available sociodemographic characteristics have heterogenous profiles of survivorship based on race/ethnicity but nuanced by marital status. While cancer registries are expanding data collection to discern risk factors for cancer incidence, prevalence, and outcomes, marital status may be a more reliable indicator for survivorship in the absence of available contextual risk factors. For instance, in a Tennessee cancer registry study by Montiel Ishino et al. (51), among patients with malignant CRC, White widowed women were found to have the greatest likelihood of delay for CRC surgical treatment followed by Blacks regardless of health insurance status when compared to White married men, i.e., the profile with the lowest likelihood of surgical treatment delay. Black patients were also more likely to be single/never married or divorced/separated, with a lower likelihood of delayed surgical treatment, than White widowed women. However, they had a higher likelihood of delay when compared to White married men (51).

Our LCA study is among the first to differentiate between profiles using the distal continuous outcome of survivorship. Policy-level and public health recommendations, as well as clinical implications, can be garnered from our exploratory, person-centered analysis and findings. Considerations should be given to improved data collection at cancer registries to

TABLE 4 Equity test survivorship means across classes using BCH procedure
with 3 degrees of freedom for overall test ($N = 525,245$).

Overall test 17587.5 0.000 Class 1 vs. 2 449.3 0.000 Class 1 vs. 3 1477.5 0.000 Class 1 vs. 4 15946.4 0.000 Class 2 vs. 3 3.2 0.000 Class 2 vs. 4 486.4 0.000			
Class 1 vs. 2 449.3 0.000 Class 1 vs. 3 1477.5 0.000 Class 1 vs. 4 15946.4 0.000 Class 2 vs. 3 3.2 0.000 Class 2 vs. 4 486.4 0.000		Chi-square	<i>p</i> -value
Class 1 vs. 3 1477.5 0.000 Class 1 vs. 4 15946.4 0.000 Class 2 vs. 3 3.2 0.000 Class 2 vs. 4 486.4 0.000	Overall test	17587.5	0.000
Class 1 vs. 4 15946.4 0.000 Class 2 vs. 3 3.2 0.000 Class 2 vs. 4 486.4 0.000	Class 1 vs. 2	449.3	0.000
Class 2 vs. 3 3.2 0.000 Class 2 vs. 4 486.4 0.000	Class 1 vs. 3	1477.5	0.000
Class 2 vs. 4 486.4 0.000	Class 1 vs. 4	15946.4	0.000
	Class 2 vs. 3	3.2	0.000
Class 3 vs. 4 861.9 0.000	Class 2 vs. 4	486.4	0.000
	Class 3 vs. 4	861.9	0.000

BCH, Bolck, Croon, and Hagenaars; DF, Degrees of Freedom.

enhance risk assessments. In this manner, CRC interventional studies can be designed by leveraging large datasets such as SEER that are publicly available to better tailor interventions and prevention programs. Using person-centered methods, we can move beyond associations between variables to examine the context of variables among subpopulations. By using these person-centered approaches, we can better approximate CRC patient profiles to identify the most salient factors within profiles and prioritize care and access at a clinical level. In this manner we can better promote and tailor screenings and intervene upon factors related to decreased survivorship among CRC patient subpopulations. For instance, while CRC screening interventions are in place, the role of marital status must be further examined within the scope of these interventions to understand the direct and indirect effects it has on survivorship. Furthermore, indicators such as SES, access to quality care and provider expertise must also be assessed to truly capture a person-centered, multilevel context. However, these factors were not available in the SEER 9 database. Geographic and ecological data would have made the person-centered context much richer by including socioeconomic status (e.g., family income; education) and environmental exposures (e.g., tobacco smoke; pollutants).

Our findings indicated that derived stage of CRC alone may not be sufficient to predict CRC survival outcomes, but rather it is a constellation of social determinants. It is, therefore, crucial that while we focus on the social determinants of health in understanding cancer disparities that we contextually examine risk factors that interact at the person-level to mitigate subpopulation disparities and promote health equity. The relationship between race and cancer survival is a complex one (52, 53). Several interacting factors including tumor type, grade, stage, comorbidities, access to healthcare/quality services, provider expertise, and SES are known to confound this relationship and contribute to these disparities (1, 3, 15, 46). Regardless, our LCA, using a distal continuous outcome of survivorship, provides a proof of concept to identify the complex context of CRC associated variables to account for multiple complex interactions on possible risk profiles. Future research directions would explore the effects of race/ethnicity, social support, and cancer staging to understand the complex and dynamic interaction of multiple determinants of health and cancer health disparities. We would then examine the protective and risk factors that may be associated with marital status, in addition to how psychological characteristics correlate with survivorship.

Limitations

This study adds to the current literature by identifying how CRC survival outcome disparities exist using a large populationbased SEER database, as well as differentiating between profiles to demarcate the extent of the disparity. Nonetheless, a number of limitations should be addressed. The first is the level of representativeness to generalize findings to the US population, although the sample is very large. SEER datasets primarily include data from White individuals in urban metro areas. Second, SEER registries do not collect SES variables such as income, education, employment, health insurance status, as well as quality of healthcare patients received. In addition, some sociodemographic variables reported may be inaccurate. For example, marital status is only collected at the time of diagnosis. Individuals whose status changed are never updated and other environmental factors are also not available. Despite these limitations, the SEER program has a reputation of reporting longterm, high quality incidence, prevalence, and survival data (3). Currently, the program covers over 28% of the US population, which serves as a major data source for cancer stage distribution, stage-specific survival, and lifetime incidence of developing cancer (54).

Conclusions

The use of a person-centered measures such as LCA with population-based cancer registry data can help better detect cancer risk subgroups that may otherwise be overlooked. This study identified four risk subgroups: lowest, mediumlow, medium-high, and highest survivorship subgroups. Of interest is the fact that racial or sociodemographic disparities alone do not account for differences in invasive CRC survival. Hence, this study revealed that Whites have almost equal chances of both good and poor CRC prognosis while Blacks continue to experience worse outcomes. Females, Hispanics, and widowed patients have poorer survival outcomes among the risk profiles/subgroup identified in this study. Thus, in developing tailored interventions for CRC, these high-risk subgroup populations should be considered in order to improve malignant CRC survivorship.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Publicly available datasets were analyzed in this study. These data can be found at: https://seer.cancer.gov/data-software/.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FM: conceptualization, methodology, software, formal analysis, writing-original draft preparation, and visualization. EO: writing-original draft preparation and writing-review and editing. KV: writing-review and editing, software, and validation. XL: software, data curation, and validation. BS:

data curation and writing-review and editing. HM: supervision and writing-reviewing and editing. FW: project administration, supervision, resources, and writing-reviewing and editing. All authors: contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Goding Sauer A, Fedewa SA, Butterly LF, Anderson JC, et al. Colorectal cancer statistics, 2020. CA Cancer J Clin. (2020) 70:145– 64. doi: 10.3322/caac.21601
- National Cancer Institute Surveillance E, and End Results Program. Cancer Stat Facts: Colorectal Cancer. (2020). Available online at: https://seer.cancer. gov/statfacts/html/colorect.html
- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2020. CA Cancer J Clin. (2020) 70:7–30. doi: 10.3322/caac.21590
- Holowatyj AN, Ruterbusch JJ, Rozek LS, Cote ML, Stoffel EM. Racial/ethnic disparities in survival among patients with young-onset colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol. (2016) 34:2148–56. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2015.65.0994
- Murphy CC, Wallace K, Sandler RS, Baron JA. Racial disparities in incidence of young-onset colorectal cancer and patient survival. *Gastroenterology*. (2019) 156:958–65. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2018.11.060
- Callahan KE, Ponce CP, Cross CL, Sy FS, Pinheiro PS. Low colorectal cancer survival in the Mountain West state of Nevada: a population-based analysis. *PLoS ONE.* (2019) 14:e0221337. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0221337
- Carethers JM, Doubeni CA. Causes of socioeconomic disparities in colorectal cancer and intervention framework and strategies. *Gastroenterology*. (2020) 158:354–67. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2019.10.029
- White A, Vernon SW, Franzini L, Du XL. Racial disparities in colorectal cancer survival: to what extent are racial disparities explained by differences in treatment, tumor characteristics, or hospital characteristics? *Cancer*. (2010) 116:4622–31. doi: 10.1002/cncr.25395
- Andrilla CHA, Moore TE, Man Wong K, Evans DV. Investigating the impact of geographic location on colorectal cancer stage at diagnosis: a national study of the SEER cancer registry. *J Rural Health*. (2019) 36:316–25. doi: 10.1111/jrh.12392
- Carnahan LR, Jones L, Brewer KC, Watts EA, Peterson CE, Ferrans CE, et al. Race and gender differences in awareness of colorectal cancer screening tests and guidelines among recently diagnosed colon cancer patients in an urban setting. *J Cancer Educ.* (2019). doi: 10.1007/s13187-019-01666-4. [Epub ahead of print].
- Carroll R, Zhao S. Trends in colorectal cancer incidence and survival in Iowa SEER data: the timing of it all. *Clin Colorectal Cancer*. (2019) 18:e261–74. doi: 10.1016/j.clcc.2018.12.001
- Frankenfeld CL, Menon N, Leslie TF. Racial disparities in colorectal cancer time-to-treatment and survival time in relation to diagnosing hospital cancer-related diagnostic and treatment capabilities. *Cancer Epidemiol.* (2020) 65:101684. doi: 10.1016/j.canep.2020.101684
- American Cancer Society. Colorectal Cancer Survial. (2021). Available online at: https://www.cancer.org/cancer/colon-rectal-cancer/detection-diagnosisstaging/survival-rates.html
- Dekker E, Tanis PJ, Vleugels JLA, Kasi PM, Wallace MB. Colorectal cancer. *Lancet.* (2019) 394:1467–80. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19) 32319-0
- Sineshaw HM, Ng K, Flanders WD, Brawley OW, Jemal A. Factors that contribute to differences in survival of black vs white patients with colorectal cancer. *Gastroenterology*. (2018) 154:906–15.e7. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.11.005
- Zhang D, Matthews CE, Powell-Wiley TM, Xiao Q. Ten-year change in neighborhood socioeconomic status and colorectal cancer. *Cancer.* (2019) 125:610–7. doi: 10.1002/cncr.31832
- Akinyemiju T, Sakhuja S, Waterbor J, Pisu M, Altekruse SF. Racial/ethnic disparities in *de novo* metastases sites and survival outcomes for patients with primary breast, colorectal, and prostate cancer. *Cancer Med.* (2018) 7:1183–93. doi: 10.1002/cam4.1322

FUNDING

BS, KV, FM, XL, and FW efforts were supported by the Division of Intramural Research, National Institute on Minority Health and Health Disparities, National Institutes of Health.

- Al-Husseini MJ, Saad AM, Gad MM, Rachid A, Salama AH, Hilal T. Racial disparities in colorectal cancer survival: a population-based cohort. *J Clin Oncol.* (2018) 36(Suppl. 15):e15643. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2018.36.15_suppl.e15643
- Fields AC, Welten VM, Lu P, Goldberg JE, Irani J, Bleday R, et al. Does race impact survival for patients with anal squamous cell carcinoma? *J Surg Oncol.* (2019) 120:1201–7. doi: 10.1002/jso.25712
- Gabriel E, Attwood K, Al-Sukhni E, Erwin D, Boland P, Nurkin S. Age-related rates of colorectal cancer and the factors associated with overall survival. J Gastrointest Oncol. (2018) 9:96–110. doi: 10.21037/jgo.2017.11.13
- Goyal H, Desai R, Aloysius MM, Jecmenica M, Enders GH, Bansal P. Young-onset colorectal cancer: hospitalization trends and gender disparities in the United States 2010-2014. *Int J Colorectal Dis.* (2019) 34:1611– 5. doi: 10.1007/s00384-019-03360-9
- Hayes L, Forrest L, Adams J, Hidajat M, Ben-Shlomo Y, White M, et al. Age-related inequalities in colon cancer treatment persist over time: a population-based analysis. J Epidemiol Commun Health. (2019) 73:34– 41. doi: 10.1136/jech-2018-210842
- Koblinski J, Jandova J, Pandit V, Omesiete P, Nfonsam V. Disparities in colon and rectal cancer queried individually between Hispanics and Whites. J Gastroint Oncol. (2019) 10:632–40. doi: 10.21037/jgo.2019.02.08
- 24. Kurani SS, McCoy RG, Lampman MA, Doubeni CA, Finney Rutten LJ, Inselman JW, et al. Association of neighborhood measures of social determinants of health with breast, cervical, and colorectal cancer screening rates in the US midwest. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2020) 3:e200618. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.0618
- Lu PW, Fields AC, Yoo J, Irani J, Goldberg JE, Bleday R, et al. Sociodemographic predictors of surgery refusal in patients with stage I-III colon cancer. J Surg Oncol. (2020) 121:1306–13. doi: 10.1002/jso.25917
- Melkonian SC, Jim MA, Haverkamp D, Wiggins CL, McCollum J, White MC, et al. Disparities in cancer incidence and trends among American Indians and Alaska Natives in the United States, 2010-2015. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2019) 28:1604–11. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-19-0288
- Nuche-Berenguer B, Sakellariou D. Socioeconomic determinants of cancer screening utilisation in Latin America: a systematic review. *PLoS ONE*. (2019) 14:e0225667. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0225667
- Robles A, Bashashati M, Contreras A, Chavez LO, Cerro-Rondon AD, Cu C, et al. Colorectal cancer in Hispanics living near the U.S.-Mexico border. *Revista Invest Clin.* (2019) 71:306–10. doi: 10.24875/RIC. 19003026
- Wu J, Ye J, Wu W, Fang D, Wang K, Yang L, et al. Racial disparities in youngonset patients with colorectal, breast and testicular cancer. *J Cancer*. (2019) 10:5388–96. doi: 10.7150/jca.32435
- Zerhouni YA, Trinh QD, Lipsitz S, Goldberg J, Irani J, Bleday R, et al. Effect of medicaid expansion on colorectal cancer screening rates. *Dis Colon Rectum*. (2019) 62:97–103. doi: 10.1097/DCR.00000000001260
- Zhang Q, Wang Y, Hu H, Huang R, Xie L, Liu E, et al. Impact of socioeconomic status on survival of colorectal cancer patients. *Oncotarget*. (2017) 8:106121. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.20859
- 32. National Cancer Institute Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program. *SEER Cancer Statistics Review*, 1975-2011. (n.d.). Available online at: https://seer.cancer.gov/archive/csr/1975_2011/
- 33. United States Preventive Services Task Force. *Final Recommendation Statement: Colorectal Cancer Screening 2016.* (2016). Available online at: https://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/uspstf/recommendation/color ectal-cancer-screening
- National Cancer Institute Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program. *Race Recode Changes*. (n.d.). Available online at https://seer.cancer. gov/seerstat/variables/seer/race_ethnicity/

- 35. North American Association of Central Cancer Registries. NAACCR Race and Ethnicity Work Group. NAACCR Guideline for Enhancing Hispanic/Latino Identification: Revised NAACCR Hispanic/Latino Identification Algorithm [NHIA v2.2.1]. Springfield (IL): North American Association of Central Cancer Registries. September 2011. (2011). Available online at: https://www.naaccr. org/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/NHIA_v2_2_1_09122011.pdf
- Nylund KL, Asparouhov T, Muthén BO. Deciding on the number of classes in latent class analysis and growth mixture modeling: a Monte Carlo simulation study. *Struct Equation Model*. (2007) 14:535– 69. doi: 10.1080/10705510701575396
- Aizer AA, Chen M-H, McCarthy EP, Mendu ML, Koo S, Wilhite TJ, et al. Marital status and survival in patients with cancer. J Clin Oncol. (2013) 31:3869. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2013.49.6489
- Jin J-J, Wang W, Dai F-X, Long Z-W, Cai H, Liu X-W, et al. Marital status and survival in patients with gastric cancer. *Cancer Med.* (2016) 5:1821– 9. doi: 10.1002/cam4.758
- Johansen C, Schou G, Soll-Johanning H, Mellemgaard A, Lynge E. Influence of marital status on survival from colon and rectal cancer in Denmark. *BJC*. (1996) 74:985–8. doi: 10.1038/bjc.1996.470
- Li Q, Gan L, Liang L, Li X, Cai S. The influence of marital status on stage at diagnosis and survival of patients with colorectal cancer. *Oncotarget*. (2015) 6:7339. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.3129
- Wang L, Wilson SE, Stewart DB, Hollenbeak CS. Marital status and colon cancer outcomes in US Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results registries: does marriage affect cancer survival by gender and stage? *Cancer Epidemiol.* (2011) 35:417–22. doi: 10.1016/j.canep.2011.02.004
- Goldzweig G, Andritsch E, Hubert A, Brenner B, Walach N, Perry S, et al. Psychological distress among male patients and male spouses: what do oncologists need to know? *Ann Oncol.* (2010) 21:877–83. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdp398
- 43. Jin Shin K, Jin Lee Y, Ryoul Yang Y, Park S, Suh P-G, Yung Follo M, et al. Molecular mechanisms underlying psychological stress and cancer. *Curr Pharm Des.* (2016) 22:2389–402. doi: 10.2174/13816128226661602261 44025
- 44. Thong MSY, Kaptein AA, Krediet RT, Boeschoten EW, Dekker FW, for the Netherlands Cooperative Study on the Adequacy of Dialysis (NECOSAD) Study Group. Social support predicts survival in dialysis patients. *Nephrol Dial Transpl.* (2006) 22:845–50. doi: 10.1093/ndt/ gfl700
- 45. Gonzalez-Pons M, Torres M, Perez J, Velez A, Betancourt JP, Marcano L, et al. Colorectal cancer survival disparities among puerto rican hispanics: a comparison to racial/ethnic groups in the United States. *Cancer Clin Oncol.* (2016) 5:29–37. doi: 10.5539/cco.v5n2p29
- Siegel RL, Fedewa SA, Anderson WF, Miller KD, Ma J, Rosenberg PS, et al. Colorectal cancer incidence patterns in the United States, 1974–2013. J Natl Cancer Inst. (2017) 109:djw322. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djw322

- Loomans-Kropp HA, Umar A. Increasing incidence of colorectal cancer in young adults. J Cancer Epidemiol. (2019) 2019:9841295. doi: 10.1155/2019/9841295
- Ohri A, Robinson A, Liu B, Bhuket T, Wong R. Updated assessment of colorectal cancer incidence in the U.S. by age, sex, and race/ethnicity. *Dig Dis Sci.* (2019) 65:1838–49. doi: 10.1007/s10620-019-05913-y
- Dominitz JA, Samsa GP, Landsman P, Provenzale D. Race, treatment, and survival among colorectal carcinoma patients in an equal-access medical system. *Cancer*. (1998) 82:2312–20. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0142(19980615)82:12<2312::AID-CNCR3>3.0.CO;2-U
- Gray KD, Ballard BR, Washington MK, Belue R, Grady WM, Chapman WC, et al. Do adverse histopathologic findings in colorectal cancer patients explain disparate outcomes? *J Natl Med Assoc.* (2006) 98:348.
- Montiel Ishino FA, Odame EA, Villalobos K, Whiteside MA, Mamudu H, Williams F. Applying latent class analysis on cancer registry data to identify and compare health disparity profiles in colorectal cancer surgical treatment delay. J Public Health Manag Pract. (in press).
- Braveman P, Gottlieb L. The social determinants of health: it's time to consider the causes of the causes. *Public Health Rep.* (2014) 129(Suppl. 2):19–31. doi: 10.1177/00333549141291S206
- 53. Williams F, Colditz GA, Hovmand P, Gehlert S. Combining communityengaged research with group model building to address racial disparities in breast cancer mortality and treatment. *J Health Disparities Res Pract.* (2018) 11:160–78.
- 54. National Cancer Institute Surveillance E, and End Results Program. *Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program 2020.* Available online at: https://seer.cancer.gov/registries/.

Disclaimer: The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily reflect the views of the National Institutes of Health.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer SG declared a shared affiliation, with no collaboration, with several of the authors, FM, KV, XL, BS, and FW to the handling editor at the time of review.

Copyright © 2021 Montiel Ishino, Odame, Villalobos, Liu, Salmeron, Mamudu and Williams. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





A Critical Theoretical Approach to Cancer Disparities: Breast Cancer and the Social Determinants of Health

Sarah Gehlert^{1*}, Darrell Hudson² and Tina Sacks³

¹ Suzanne Dworak-Peck School, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States, ² Brown School, Washington University in St. Louis, St. Louis, MO, United States, ³ School of Social Welfare, University of California, Berkeley, Berkeley, CA, United States

Breast cancer is the most commonly experienced cancer among women. Its high rates of incidence and survival mean that a number of women will live it for periods of their lifetimes. Group differences in breast cancer incidence and mortality occur by race and ethnicity. For example, while white women are slightly more likely to be diagnosed with breast cancer, Black women are 40% more likely to die from the disease. In this article, rather than focusing the discussion on individual-level factors like health behaviors that have the potential to blame Black women and those living in poverty for their conditions, we view breast cancer disparities through the lens of Critical Race Theory, taking a historical perspective. This allows us to delve beyond individual risk factors to explore social determinants of breast cancer disparities at the population level, paying special attention to the myriad ways in which social factors, notably views of race and discriminatory public policies, over time have contributed to the disproportionate breast cancer mortality experienced by Black women. We suggest ways of addressing breast cancer disparities, including methods of training healthcare professionals and public policy directions, that include rather than marginalize Black and lower socioeconomic status women.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Tung-Sung Tseng, Louisiana State University, United States

Reviewed by:

Amar Shireesh Kanekar, University of Arkansas at Little Rock, United States Ivana Kulhánová, Charles University, Czechia

> *Correspondence: Sarah Gehlert gehlert@usc.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Life-Course Epidemiology and Social Inequalities in Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

> Received: 01 March 2021 Accepted: 28 April 2021 Published: 21 May 2021

Citation:

Gehlert S, Hudson D and Sacks T (2021) A Critical Theoretical Approach to Cancer Disparities: Breast Cancer and the Social Determinants of Health. Front. Public Health 9:674736. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.674736 Keywords: cancer, breast, social determinants, poverty, race, health disparities

INTRODUCTION

The term "cancer" refers to a group of diseases sharing significant characteristics such as the rapid proliferation of cells. Yet this group of diseases, referred to as cancer types, varies in a number of ways that affect their impact on individuals experiencing them and their social networks and communities. Because cancer types vary by site of origin (e.g., prostate, breast, colon, pancreas, and blood), require more or less demanding and costly treatment approaches, and have markedly different incidence, mortality, and survival rates, it is problematical to consider cancer as a single entity in determining how it affects, and is affected by, an individual's social circumstances. In the following manuscript, we focus on breast cancer, the most commonly experienced cancer among women worldwide. According to the National Cancer Institute, 279,100 women were diagnosed with breast cancer in the United States in 2020, making it an area worthy of attention (1).

Prevention and treatment of cancer depend on knowledge of its determinants and their interplay. Arguably, social determinants have received less attention than have genetics and individual health behaviors. After briefly outlining what is known about the social determinants of breast cancer disparities and drawing on salient theory, we provide our perspective on the social contributors to disparities. We suggest new directions for the training of healthcare professionals and new approaches to public policy to reduce breast cancer disparities.

BACKGROUND

Breast cancer is the most common cancer and the second highest cause of cancer death among women, exceeded only by lung cancer. Although it has among the highest 5-year rates of survival among cancers (90%, compared to 47% for ovarian cancer and 10% for cancer of the pancreas), it nonetheless affects a very high percentage of women. According to the National Cancer Institute, one in eight women, or 12.9% of all women, will develop breast cancer at some point in their lifetimes (2). The combination of high rates of survival and high rates of incidence means that a number of women will live with breast cancer for significant periods of their lives.

Differences in incidence, mortality, and survival occur by race and ethnicity. The National Cancer Institute's Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) program and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's National Program of Cancer Registries have followed incidence and survival trends by Black and white race since 1975, with data on Asian/Pacific Islander, Hispanic/Latina, and American Indian/Alaska Native subpopulations added in 1990. Yet, studies of incidence and mortality have principally focused on race alone (i.e., without also considering ethnicity), and have found marked differences in both incidence and mortality.

DeSantis et al. analyzed SEER incidence data on breast cancer from 2012 to 2016 and SEER mortality data from 2013 to 2017 (3). They found that incidence rates were highest among white women (130.8 per 100,000), followed closely by Black women (126.7 per 100,000). Incidence was lowest among Asian/Pacific Islander women at 93.2 per 100,000. The picture differs for breast cancer mortality, in which the rates for Black women are 40% higher than those of white women (28.4 per 100,000 and 20.3 per 100,000, respectively), and both higher than other groups. The rates for Asian/Pacific Islander women, for example, were lower than those of either white or Black women (11.5 per 100,000).

When age is considered, additional differences between Black and white women emerge. Black and white differences in breast cancer mortality are most pronounced at younger ages and begin to converge later in life. Black women 50 years of age and younger, for example, are 1.9–2.6 times more likely to die from breast cancer than white women of the same age, yet they are only 1.1–1.2 times more likely to die from the disease at 70 years of age or older (3).

Mortality differences by age have in part been attributed to differences in the proportions of breast cancer molecular subtypes experienced (4). This is because mortality rates differ across breast cancer subtypes. For example, HR-positive/HER2 negative (hormone receptor-positive and human epidermal growth factor receptor 2) breast cancers, which have the most favorable outcomes, are 23% higher in white women over the age of 20 years than Black women of the same ages, and 45% higher than in Hispanic and American Indian/Alaska Native women of those ages. The triple-negative breast cancer (ER-negative, PRnegative, and HER2-negative) subtype, for which outcomes are the least favorable, is more common among Black women 50 years of age and younger. Thus, there is an interplay between race, age, and breast cancer subtype. Yet, this does not explain the mortality differences between Black and white women.

More recent efforts that have considered both ethnicity and race have yielded a more nuanced picture that may shed some additional light on disparities. Davis-Lynn and colleagues used SEER data to examine trends for non-Hispanic women vs. Hispanic women (5). The authors found that while Black and white women's incidence rates began to converge in 2012, the picture differs somewhat when ethnicity is added to analyses. In their study, incidence rates were highest for non-Hispanic white women and lowest for Hispanic white women, with non-Hispanic Black women's rates in between the two. This split between non-Hispanic and Hispanic white women, with non-Hispanic Black women between the two, provides additional nuance to our understanding of how race and ethnicity contribute to breast cancer disparities.

SOCIAL DETERMINANTS AND BREAST CANCER

In addition to the effects of age and molecular effects, it is now widely recognized that social determinants of health such as racism, racial residential segregation, economic hardship, and housing insecurity, drive the production of racial/ethnic health inequities in the United States (6). Further, the United States does not provide universal health insurance to its citizens and residents. Uninsurance and underinsurance have been associated with poorer health outcomes including later disease detection, poor medication adherence and management of chronic illnesses (7). Specifically, lack of health insurance is associated with later stage of breast cancer diagnosis among Black, Indigenous, and Latinx women compared to white women (8). Other structural features of the United States including the implementation of racist policies and practices, such as redlining, contribute to the country remaining deeply segregated by race. Most healthpromoting resources, such as access to healthful food options, safe places to recreate, and healthcare, are patterned by race. While an in-depth discussion of the policies and practices that led to the extraordinarily high, deeply entrenched racial residential segregation throughout the country is beyond the scope of this paper, it is important to note that segregation did not occur naturally. Rather, segregation was "by design" (9).

However, the highly impactful, insidious nature of segregation must be underscored (10). Most of the health-promoting resources, both directly and indirectly related to health, are afforded by context. Therefore, many Black Americans reside in neighborhoods that prohibit them from achieving their optimal level of health, including obtaining breast cancer screening and treatment (11). These context inequities are linked to poorer breast cancer outcomes among Black women.

Socioeconomic status (SES), including vital resources such as education, income, and wealth, is another key social determinant of health. For example, researchers have highlighted the overall importance of education, not only health literacy and communicating effectively with providers, but providing access to the higher levels of income and stable employment with benefits. Income is critical in helping individuals to afford their day-to-day needs such as food, housing, and services. More income allows individuals to purchase homes in more desirable, better-resourced neighborhoods. In this way, researchers have described SES as a fundamental cause-allowing individuals to avoid health risks. Employment is also important, especially since most Americans obtain their health insurance through their employer (12). In addition to healthcare insurance, paid time off, and the flexibility in work schedules to take the time to obtain screening or adhere to treatment plans are other critical benefits associated with the types of jobs individuals can access. Because Black women develop breast cancer at a younger age than white women, they are more likely to be diagnosed prior to retirement than white women, and thus to rely on employer-provided health insurance. Otis Brawley tells the poignant story of a young Black woman diagnosed with breast cancer who was the sole provider for her small children (13). She died because although she had health insurance through her employer, she lacked sufficient sick days to accommodate the treatment regimen recommended by her oncologist. Her difficult choice to keep her job to provide for her children cost her life.

In support of the contribution of health insurance to breast cancer mortality, is recent evidence of the effect of Medicaid expansion on rates of screening mammography. Screening mammography is important because if breast cancer is diagnosed early, treatment can begin before cancer cells have proliferated. Toyoda et al. found that mammography screening rates were significantly higher in states that expanded Medicaid than states that did not (14). Le Blanc et al. examined breast cancer stage, race/ethnicity, age, and insurance status using SEER data from 2007 to 2016. This allowed a comparison before and after the 2010 passage of the Affordable Care Act, which gave states the option of expanding Medicaid (15). The authors found that Medicaid expansion was associated with reduced incidence of advanced breast cancer, with Black women and women under 50 years of age achieving the greatest benefit. The incidence rates of Black women in expansion states decreased from 24.6 to 21.6%, compared to 27.4-27.5% in states that did not expand Medicaid (15).

There are policies and practices beyond healthcare that have influenced breast cancer inequities. The cleavages of Jim Crow policies, state and local laws that were adopted to oppress Black Americans and enforce segregation, continue to manifest today, including in breast cancer outcomes. For example, Krieger et al. examined whether breast cancer outcomes differed by birth in a Jim Crow state. They found that Black women who were born in Jim Crow states had poorer breast cancer outcomes, including more aggressive forms of cancer, compared to white women, regardless of their state of birth (16).

Health inequities, such as racial differences in breast cancer mortality, are strongly influenced by neighborhood context, including access to health promotive resources such as fullservice grocery stores and safe places to recreate, in addition to preventative healthcare (10). Social environmental stressors, especially chronic exposure to these stressors, play a critical role in racial/ethnic breast cancer inequities. Researchers have documented the extent to which chronic stressors are deleterious to human health through their activation of a cascade of physiological reactions such as the release of hormones. Yet, the same adaptive mechanisms that allow individuals to escape life-threatening situations, such as increased blood pressure, are associated with poor health outcomes when activated chronically. Chronic activation of the physiological stress response system is associated with poor immune system functioning, which could contribute to negative cancer outcomes (17-20).

As technology and analysis tools are refined, researchers are better able to delineate the effects of the social environment on cancer incidence and the social patterning of cancer. For example, scholars have demonstrated the role of epigenetics in the occurrence of cancer and differential vulnerability to cancer across race/ethnicity (21). Epigenetic changes, or those that occur through changes in how genes are expressed rather than through changes in underlying gene sequence, represent a potential route through which the social environment affects physiological responses. Linnenbringer et al. link this to breast cancer mortality disparities by suggesting that weathering (i.e., wearing down over time) of the body's stress response system may contribute to the expression of breast cancer subtypes with less favorable outcomes (22).

It is clear that without addressing the barriers imposed by social determinants of health such as racism, housing stability, and access to quality education, it is highly likely that observed racial disparities in breast cancer will persist, even as screening and treatment improve [(23, 24); see **Figure 1**].

HEALTHCARE INEQUITIES

In addition to the aforementioned social determinants of health, the United States health system presents unique barriers to care as well as deeply entrenched biases based on race, gender, immigration status, among other factors. A seminal study on racial bias in healthcare, *Unequal Treatment: Confronting Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Care*, found that racial and ethnic minorities received less than the standard of care across many health conditions, including heart and kidney care and health services including intensive care (25). Racial inequities were found even after controlling for income, insurance status, and age (25). The authors also concluded that provider-side bias and patient mistrust contribute to differences in treatment (25).

More recent studies have found that Black people continue to experience inequities in healthcare treatment, above and beyond those that come from barriers to access. For example, a large body of evidence indicates that Black people are systematically



undertreated for pain compared to white people (26, 27). Further, a study of over 400 medical students and residents found that differences in pain management could be explained by the fact that some providers believe Black people are different biologically than white people (26). Hoffman et al. found that a large number of white laypeople, medical students, and residents believe a constellation of erroneous beliefs about Black people's biology including that Black people have thicker skin, fewer nerve endings, and smaller brains. Importantly, these erroneous beliefs predict the accuracy of the providers' pain management recommendations. The study is among the first to demonstrate that false beliefs about biological differences between racial groups directly affect treatment.

Racial and ethnic differences in post-mastectomy pain management have also been found. A study of over 80,000 women who had undergone mastectomies reported Black, Latinx, and Asian women were less likely to receive regional anesthetic techniques, i.e., focused pain relief at the surgical site, than white women (28). This is in spite of the fact that regional anesthetic techniques are increasingly favored for the management of post-mastectomy pain. Pain from treatments, either experienced personally or described by trusted others, may act as a deterrent to participation in screening and treatment.

Breast cancer screening is effective in detecting breast cancer early, thus allowing for earlier treatment to prevent progression (29). Recent evidence using SEER data demonstrates that when factors other than race are controlled for, no significant Black and white differences in screening mammography rates are found (30). The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) instead found lower screening rates to be associated with lower educational attainment and income, not having a usual source of care, and being uninsured or having only public health coverage (30). Thus, it seems that Black women being diagnosed later than their white counterparts has more to do with social determinants than with anything inherent in race.

All told, racial and ethnic minorities in general, and Black women in particular, continue to face discrimination and inequities in treatment. Despite findings that indicate that Black women have similar rates of breast cancer screening as white women are more compliant with breast cancer screening recommendations, they are still more likely to experience more aggressive, rapidly advancing cancer compared to white women (31). As a result, mistrust of healthcare providers and medical institutions may be understood as a rational adaptation to a healthcare system that is often implicitly and explicitly hostile to Black people. The research literature suggests Black and Latinx people, including Black women, are less likely than white people to trust their physician, even after controlling for socioeconomic status, health status, and healthcare access (32).

KEY GAPS IN KNOWLEDGE AND ACTION

(Mis)conceptualizing Race

To reduce disparities in breast cancer mortality, cancer researchers and practitioners may benefit from the application of Critical Race Theory (CRT). One tenet of CRT is to examine race as a social factor rather than an immutable biological factor (16, 33, 34). As the aforementioned study by Hoffman notes, erroneous beliefs about innate biological differences between Black and white people contribute to differences in treatment (26). Historians and sociologists of science have demonstrated that much of medical practice

rests on long-held, debunked beliefs about the fundamental differences between Black and white bodies. Steven Jay Gould, for example, wrote of the fundamental errors inherent in Morton's 1839 Crania Americana, in which Morton filled the crania of skulls with pepper seeds and equated cranial-capacity with intellectual ability. Morton interpreted differences across groups as evidence of the mental superiority of Caucasians (35, 36). In a second example, Lundy Braun relates that during slavery, Black people were believed to have poorer lung capacity compared to white people (37). Importantly, doctors did not consider the profoundly deleterious physical and psychological effects of slavery. Instead, they attributed health problems to the innate biological inferiority of Black people. Based on these false beliefs, modern spirometry meters were created to "correct for race" when no innate biological lung differences actually exist. Racial differences are, however, based on the social determinants of health, not innate physiological differences. However, Chowkwanyun and Reed argue that in spite of a well-documented cross-disciplinary critique of biological explanations of socially determined racial differences, this type of thinking persists in contemporary medical treatment (38).

To address the negative consequences of relying on biological definitions of race, some American medical students have organized to change the nature of medical training. In their report, Toward the Abolition of Biological Race in Medicine, Chadha et al. argue that racism, not race, causes health disparities (39). Further, because clinical training relies on biological explanations of racial differences, patients of color are systematically misdiagnosed and undertreated. In this manner, Chadha et al. point out that biological explanations of racial disparities in health fail to address structural discrimination. Brown University medical students have also noted that "preclinical medical curricula inaccurately employ race as a definitive medical category without context, which may perpetuate misunderstanding of race as a bioscientific datum, increase bias among student-doctors, and ultimately contribute to worse patient outcomes" [(40), p. 1]. Importantly, Tsai and colleagues reported that in response to the students' concerns, the medical school changed the curriculum to include a longitudinal race-in-medicine component (40). As such, to improve health and health care outcomes, we must refine medical training to root out both racial bias and the over-reliance on race over racism as a risk factor for illness.

To that end, researchers have begun to reconsider how race and racism should be factored into health disparities research. Increasingly, some scholars emphasize the need to move away from the idea of race as a risk factor for disease, which reifies the notion of race as a matter of biology, while turning to more structural explanations that center the ways racism harms human health (41). Boyd et al. argue that "racism kills. Whether through force, deprivation, or discrimination, it is a fundamental cause of disease and the strange but familiar root of racial health inequities" (41). They also note that despite recent calls to actively acknowledge structural racism as a determinant of health, the majority of health disparities research often defaults to genetic and/or biological explanations of racial differences in health outcomes (41).

Policy Perspectives on Reducing Breast Cancer Disparities

CRT encourages scholars to move beyond the consideration of individual risk factors in the production of disease. Rather, an accurate sociohistorical perspective is necessary to fully understand inequities. Another tenet of CRT is to privilege the voices of marginalized people (16, 33, 34). This is critical in the development of policies that are capable of improving the environmental and social factors that Black women face and fuel inequities in breast cancer outcomes.

Metzl and Hansen have called for extending a structural lens to medical training and practice (42). They define structural competency as "the trained ability to discern how a host of issues defined clinically as symptoms, attitudes, or diseases (e.g., depression, hypertension, obesity, smoking, medication adherence, trauma, and psychosis) also represent the downstream implications of a number of upstream decisions about such matters as health care and food delivery systems, zoning laws, urban and rural infrastructures, medicalization, or even about the very definitions of illness and health" [(42), p. 128]. They also outline five key tenets of training medical providers: (1) recognizing the structures that shape clinical interactions; (2) developing an extra-clinical language of structure; (3) rearticulating "cultural" formulations in structural terms; (4) observing and imagining structural interventions; and, (5) developing structural humility. The authors advocate for helping medical practitioners to understand the ways in which socioeconomic forces contribute to epigenetic changes. This should be integrated with existing medical models to foster pedagogical change.

Given the body of research on weathering and critical periods in the potential development of breast cancer later in life, medical practice and social policy must be aligned to address the temporal, social-emotional, and physical needs of women, particularly ethno-racial minorities. Further, addressing systematic racism must be central to any strategy to reduce racial health disparities including breast cancer. Policy strategies may include: (1) expanding social safety net policies to improve social determinants of health and (2) addressing medical training to include structural competency, which emphasizes structural discrimination as opposed to biological explanations of socially patterned racial differences in health (36).

Based on state-level comparisons on social service expenditures (including cash transfers, food stamp benefits), Bradley and colleagues found that states that spent more on social services had better health outcomes (e.g., adult obesity, lung cancer mortality, mentally unhealthy days, type 2 diabetes) than states that spent less (43). Studies that evaluate the relationship between social spending and health outcomes in OECD (Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development) countries compared to the United States find similar patterns (44).

The above studies suggest that investing in social safety net programs may improve health outcomes overall, particularly for racial and ethnic minorities who are disproportionately represented among people living in poverty. To that end, Newman et al. outline several policy recommendations to mitigate inequities in health that are germane both to cancer disparities and those that have emerged from the current COVID-19 pandemic (45). They argue that a combination of community collaboration, increased racial diversity in clinical trials, expanding health insurance, and increased funding for safety-net hospitals, would go a long way toward mitigating both cancer and COVID-19 racial health inequities.

All told, recent scholarship suggests a move away from individual-level interventions toward more macro-level policy solutions. Conceptualizing cancer disparities at the structural level provides an important framework for moving forward in this vein. It is not until this occurs that we can begin to see health equity.

Dissemination and Implementation

CRT guides scholars to affirm the knowledge of Black people, privileging the voices of those who have experiential knowledge of being marginalized in order to highlight to where interventions should be directed (33). This calls for an intentional consideration of the experiences Black women in order to craft appropriate strategies to redress breast cancer disparities.

One way to facilitate the dissemination of information about breast cancer is to use storytelling and narrative. Qualitative research is a powerful tool to elucidate the barriers that Black women face related to breast cancer screening and treatment seeking (46, 47). Narratives aid in advocacy efforts in a way that is often more powerful than simply displaying data. A broader application of this aspect of CRT is through meaningful community engagement. The principles of community engagement can aid in privileging historically marginalized voices to address racial health inequities (48, 49). For example, by building the capacity of organic social networks that exist within communities and providing linkages between communities and other sectors, such as business and government, communities can gain greater collective efficacy, setting the agendas and goals needed to advocate for needed resources (50).

REFERENCES

- National Cancer Institute. Common Cancer Types. (2020). Available online at: https://cancer.gov/types/common-cancers (accessed November 5, 2020).
- National Cancer Institute. Cancer Stat Facts: Female Breast Cancer. (2020). Available online at: https://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/breast.html (accessed November 5, 2020).
- DeSantis CE, Ma J, Gaudet MM, Newman LA, Miller KD, Goding Sauer A, et al. Breast cancer statistics, 2019. CA Cancer J Clin. (2019) 69:438– 51. doi: 10.3322/caac.21583
- Scott LC, Mobley LR, Kuo TM, Il'yasova D. Update on triple-negative breast cancer disparities for the United States: a population-based study from the United States Cancer Statistics database, 2010 through 2014. *Cancer*. (2019) 125:3412–7. doi: 10.1002/cncr.32207
- Davis Lynn BC, Rosenberg PS, Anderson WF, Gierach GL. Black-white breast cancer incidence trends: effects of ethnicity. J Natl Cancer Inst. (2018) 110:1270–2. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djy112
- Braveman P, Egerter S, Williams DR. The social determinants of health: coming of age. Annu Rev Public Health. (2011) 32:381–98. doi: 10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031210-101218

DISCUSSION

Black-White inequities in breast cancer are well-established. These observed racial inequities are driven more by social, environmental, and economic factors than by biological factors (51, 52). As scholars and practitioners consider ways to narrow Black-white inequities, it is critical to examine the structural factors that are both determinants of breast cancer as well as barriers to screening and care (53). We implore the field to delve deeper, beyond rudimentary "racial" explanations and individual risk factors to consider the broader ecology in which people are embedded. This requires an understanding of the key factors that have shaped their environments, both to reduce victim-blaming and to motivate new solutions to the barriers faced by historically marginalized communities. It is critical that more robust health promotion efforts are developed to promote cancer screening and navigate complex treatment environments. Engaging with a range of communities will help to ensure that health communication messaging and promotion efforts are calibrated to the needs of Black women. Effectively building that knowledge base and crafting appropriate solutions will require amplifying, validating, and incorporating the voices of these communities, all of which are critical to any effective policy or practice change efforts (54).

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SG, DH, and TS: conceptualization and writing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

- Sommers BD, Gawande AA, Baicker K. Health insurance coverage and health-what the recent evidence tells us. N Engl J Med. (2017) 377:586– 93. doi: 10.1056/NEJMsb1706645
- Ko NY, Hong S, Winn RA, Calip GS. Association of insurance status and racial disparities with the detection of early-stage breast cancer. *JAMA OncoL.* (2020) 6:385–92. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2019.5672
- 9. Rothstein, R. The Color of Law: A Forgotten History of How Our Government Segregated America. New York, NY: Liveright Publishing (2017).
- Williams DR, Collins C. Racial residential segregation: a fundamental cause of racial disparities in health. *Public Health Rep.* (2001) 116:404– 16. doi: 10.1016/S0033-3549(04)50068-7
- Poulson MR, Beaulieu-Jones BR, Kenzik KM, Dechert TA, Ko NY, Sachs TE, et al. Residential racial segregation and disparities in breast cancer presentation, treatment, and survival. *Ann Surg.* (2021) 273:3– 9. doi: 10.1097/SLA.00000000004451
- Keisler-Starkey K, Bunch LN. *Health Insurance Coverage in the United States:* 2019. (2020). Available online at: https://www.census.gov/library/ publications/2020/demo/p60-271.html (accessed January 22, 2021).
- Brawley OW, Goldberg P. How We Do Harm: A Doctor Breaks Ranks About Being Sick in America. New York, NY: St. Martin's Press (2012).

- Toyoda Y, Oh EJ, Premaratne ID, Chiuzan C, Rohde CH. Affordable Care Act state specific Medicaid expansion: impact on health insurance coverage and breast cancer screening rates. J Am Coll Surg. (2020) 230:775– 83. doi: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2020.01.031
- Le Blanc JM, Heller DR, Friedrich A, Lannin DR, Park TS. Association of Medicaid expansion under the Affordable Care Act with breast cancer stage at diagnosis. JAMA Surg. (2020) 155:752–8. doi: 10.1001/jamasurg.2020.1495
- Ford CL. Public health critical race praxis: an introduction, an intervention, and three points for consideration. Wisconsin Law Rev. (2016) 3:477–91.
- Akinyemiju TF, Demb J, Izano MA, Rehkopf DH, Fang ML, Hiatt RA, et al. The association of early life socioeconomic position on breast cancer incidence and mortality: a systematic review. *Int J Public Health.* (2018) 63:787–97. doi: 10.1007/s00038-017-1060-8
- Akinyemiju T, Moore JX, Judd SE, Pisu M, Goodman M, Howard VJ, et al. Pre-diagnostic biomarkers of metabolic dysregulation and cancer mortality. *Oncotarget.* (2018) 9:16099–109. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.24559
- Geronimus AT, Hicken M, Keene D, Bound J. "Weathering" and age patterns of allostatic load scores among blacks and whites in the United States. *Am J Public Health.* (2006) 96:826–33. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2004.060749
- Jackson JS, Knight KM, Rafferty JA. Race and unhealthy behaviors: chronic stress, the HPA axis, and physical and mental health disparities over the life course. *Am J Public Health*. (2010) 100:933–9. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2008.143446
- Akinyemiju T, Do AN, Patki A, Aslibekyan S, Zhi D, Hidalgo B, et al. Epigenome-wide association study of metabolic syndrome in African-American adults. *Clin Epigenetics*. (2018) 10:49. doi: 10.1186/s13148-018-0483-2
- Linnenbringer E, Gehlert S, Geronimus AT. Black-white disparities in breast cancer subtype: the intersection of socially patterned stress and genetic expression. *AIMS Public Health.* (2017) 4:526–56. doi: 10.3934/publichealth.2017.5.526
- Link BG, Phelan J. Social conditions as fundamental causes of disease. J Health Soc Behav. (1995) 80–94. doi: 10.2307/2626958
- Whitehead M, Burström B, Diderichsen F. Social policies and the pathways to inequalities in health: a comparative analysis of lone mothers in Britain and Sweden. Soc Sci Med. (2000) 50:255–70. doi: 10.1016/S0277-9536(99)00280-4
- Smedley BD, Stith AY, Nelson AR. Unequal Treatment: Confronting Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Care. Washington, DC: National Academy Press (2003).
- Hoffman KM, Trawalter S, Axt JR, Oliver MN. Racial bias in pain assessment and treatment recommendations, and false beliefs about biological differences between blacks and whites. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2016) 113:4296– 301. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1516047113
- Meghani SH, Byun E, Gallagher RM. Time to take stock: a meta-analysis and systematic review of analgesic treatment disparities for pain in the United States. *Pain Med.* (2012) 13:150-74. doi: 10.1111/j.1526-4637.2011.01310.x
- Tait RC, Zoberi K, Ferguson M, Levenhagen K, Luebbert RA, Rowland K, et al. Persistent post-mastectomy pain: risk factors and current approaches to treatment. *J Pain.* (2018) 19:1367–83. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2018. 06.002
- Puliti D, Miccinesi G, Manneschi G, Buzzoni C, Crocetti E, Paci E, et al. Does an organized screening programme reduce the inequalities in breast cancer survival? *Ann Oncol.* (2012) 23:319–23. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdr121
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Cancer Screening Test Receipt-United States, 2018. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. (2021). Available online at: https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/70/wr/pdfs/mm7002-H.pdf (accessed January 22, 2021).
- Li L, Ji J, Besculides M, Bickell N, Margolies LR, Jandorf L, et al. Factors associated with mammography use: a side-by-side comparison of results from two national surveys. *Cancer Med.* (2020) 9:6430–51. doi: 10.1002/cam4.3128
- 32. Campos-Castillo C, Woodson BW, Theiss-Morse E, Sacks T, Fleig-Palmer MM, Peek ME. Examining the relationship between interpersonal institutional trust in political health care contexts. In: Shockley E, Neal TMS, PytlikZillig LM, Bornstein BH, editors. *Interdisciplinary Perspectives on Trust.* Cham: Springer (2016). p. 99–115.
- Ford CL, Airhihenbuwa CO. Critical race theory, race equity, and public health: toward antiracism praxis. *Am J Public Health*. (2010) 100:S30– 5. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2009.171058

- Ford CL, Airhihenbuwa CO. The public health critical race methodology: praxis for antiracism research. Soc Sci Med. (2010) 71:1390–8. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.07.030
- 35. Gould SJ. The Mismeasure of Man. New York, NY: Norton (1996).
- 36. Morton SG. Crania Americana, or, a Comparative View of the Skulls of Various Aboriginal Nations of North and South America: To Which Is Prefixed an Essay on the Varieties of the Human Species; Illustrated by Seventy-Eight Plates and a Colored Map. Philadelphia, PA: J. Dobson (1839).
- Braun L. Breathing Race Into the Machine: The Surprising Career of the Spirometer From Plantation to Genetics. Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Press (2014).
- Chowkwanyun M, Reed Jr AL. Racial health disparities and Covid-19 - caution and context. N Engl J Med. (2020) 383:201– 3. doi: 10.1056/NEJMp2012910
- Chadha N, Lim B, Kane M, Rowland B. Towards the Abolition of Biological Race in Medicine: Transforming Clinical Education, Research, and Practice. (2020). Available online at: https://www.instituteforhealingandjustice.org/ (accessed January 22, 2021).
- 40. Tsai J, Ucik L, Baldwin N, Hasslinger C, George P. Race matters? Examining and rethinking race portrayal in preclinical medical education. *Acad Med.* (2016) 91:916–20. doi: 10.1097/ACM.0000000000 01232
- Boyd RW, Lindo EG, Weeks LD, McLemore MR. On racism: a new standard for publishing on racial health inequities. *Health Affairs Blog.* (2020). doi: 10.1377/hblog20200630.939347. [Epub ahead of print].
- Metzl JM, Hansen H. Structural competency: theorizing a new medical engagement with stigma and inequality. Soc Sci Med. (2014) 103:126– 33. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.06.032
- Bradley EH, Canavan M, Rogan E, Talbert-Slagle K, Ndumele C, Taylor L, et al. Variation in health outcomes: the role of spending on social services, public health, and health care, 2000-09. *Health Aff.* (2016) 35:760– 8. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2015.0814
- Bradley EH, Elkins BR, Herrin J, Elbel B. Health and social services expenditures: associations with health outcomes. *BMJ Qual Saf.* (2011) 20:826–31. doi: 10.1136/bmjqs.2010.048363
- Newman LA, Winn RA, Carethers JM. Similarities in risk for COVID-19 and cancer disparities. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2021) 27:24–7. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-20-3421
- Noel L, Connors SK, Goodman MS, Gehlert S. Improving breast cancer services for African-American women living in St. Louis. Breast Cancer Res Treat. (2015) 154:5–12. doi: 10.1007/s10549-015-3584-z
- 47. Noel L. Racial disparities in breast cancer outcomes: the role of socioeconomic influences on treatment decision making. In: Proceedings of the Ninth AACR Conference on the Science of Cancer Health Disparities in Racial/Ethnic Minorities the Medically Underserved; 2016 Sep 25-28; Fort Lauderdale, FL. Philadelphia, PA: AACR (2017).
- Goodman MS, Sanders Thompson VL. The science of stakeholder engagement in research: classification, implementation, and evaluation. *Trans Behav Med.* (2017) 7:486–91. doi: 10.1007/s13142-017-0495-z
- Coombe CM, Schulz AJ, Guluma L, Allen III AJ, Gray C, Brakefield-Caldwell W, et al. Enhancing capacity of community-academic partnerships to achieve health equity: results from the CBPR Partnership Academy. *Health Promot Pract.* (2020) 21:552–63. doi: 10.1177/1524839918818830
- Jagosh J, Macaulay AC, Pluye P, Salsberg JO, Bush PL, Henderson JI, et al. Uncovering the benefits of participatory research: implications of a realist review for health research and practice. *Milbank Q.* (2012) 90:311– 46. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-0009.2012.00665.x
- Vaishali CV, Arunkumar M., Latha KC, Balasubramanian S, Venugopal V. Socioeconomic factors impacting breast cancer survival rate: a systematic review. *Int J Recent Sci Res.* (2021) 12:41151–6. doi: 10.24327/ijrsr.2021.1203.5837
- McGinnis JM, Williams-Russo P, Knickman JR. The case for more active policy attention to health promotion. *Health Affairs*. (2002) 21:78– 93. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.21.2.78
- Dean LT, Gehlert S, Neuhouser ML, Oh A, Zanetti K, Goodman M, et al. Social factors matter in cancer risk and survivorship. *Cancer Causes Control.* (2018) 29:611–8. doi: 10.1007/s10552-018-1043-y

 Gehlert S, Kavanaugh-Lynch MHE, Poole SF. Searching beyond the lamppost to reduce breast cancer disparities. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:1186. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18031186

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Gehlert, Hudson and Sacks. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Health Related Social Needs Among Chinese American Primary Care Patients During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Implications for Cancer Screening and Primary Care

Jennifer Tsui^{1*}, Annie Yang², Bianca Anuforo³, Jolene Chou⁴, Ruth Brogden⁵, Binghong Xu⁵, Joel C. Cantor^{4,6} and Su Wang⁵

¹ Department of Preventive Medicine, Keck School of Medicine, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States, ² Rutgers New Jersey Medical School, Newark, NJ, United States, ³ Section of Behavioral Sciences, Rutgers Cancer Institute of New Jersey, New Brunswick, NJ, United States, ⁴ Rutgers Center for State Health Policy, Institute for Health, Health Care Policy, and Aging Research, New Brunswick, NJ, United States, ⁵ RWJBarnabas Health Medical Group, Center for Asian Health, Saint Barnabas Medical Center, Florham Park, NJ, United States, ⁶ Rutgers Edward J. Bloustein School of Planning and Public Policy, New Brunswick, NJ, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Chien-Ching Li, Rush University, United States

Reviewed by:

Shirley Bluethmann, Pennsylvania State University, United States Li-Nien Chien, Taipei Medical University, Taiwan

> *Correspondence: Jennifer Tsui tsuijenn@usc.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Life-Course Epidemiology and Social Inequalities in Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

> Received: 13 March 2021 Accepted: 23 April 2021 Published: 28 May 2021

Citation:

Tsui J, Yang A, Anuforo B, Chou J, Brogden R, Xu B, Cantor JC and Wang S (2021) Health Related Social Needs Among Chinese American Primary Care Patients During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Implications for Cancer Screening and Primary Care. Front. Public Health 9:674035. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.674035 **Research Objective:** Initiatives to address social determinants of health (SDOH) and measure health-related social needs (HRSN) within clinic settings are increasing. However, few have focused on the specific needs of Asian Americans (AA). We examine the prevalence of HRSN during a period spanning the COVID-19 pandemic to inform strategies to improve cancer screening and primary care among AA patients.

Methods: We implemented a self-administered HRSN screening tool in English and Chinese, traditional (T) or simplified (S) text, within a hospital-affiliated, outpatient primary care practice predominantly serving AA in New Jersey. HRSN items included food insecurity, transportation barriers, utility needs, interpersonal violence, housing instability, immigration history, and neighborhood perceptions on cohesion and trust. We conducted medical chart reviews for a subset of participants to explore the relationship between HRSN and history of cancer screening.

Results: Among 236 participants, most were Asian (74%), non-US born (79%), and privately insured (57%). One-third responded in Chinese (37%). Half reported having \geq 1 HRSN. Interpersonal violence was high across all participants. Transportation needs were highest among Chinese-T participants, while food insecurity and housing instability were highest among Chinese-S participants. Lower-income patients had higher odds of having \geq 2 HRSN (OR:2.53, 95% CI: 1.12, 5.98). Older age and public insurance/uninsured were significantly associated with low neighborhood perceptions.

Conclusions: We observed higher than anticipated reports of HRSN among primary care patients in a suburban, hospital-affiliated practice serving AA. Low neighborhood perceptions, particularly among Chinese-S participants, highlight the importance of addressing broader SDOH among insured, suburban AA patients.

These study findings inform the need to augment HRSN identification to adequately address social needs that impact health outcomes and life course experiences for Asian patients. As HRSN measuring efforts continue, and COVID-19's impact on the health of minority communities emerge, it will be critical to develop community-specific referral pathways to connect AA to resources for HRSN and continue to address more upstream social determinants of health for those who are disproportionately impacted.

Keywords: social determinants, social needs, cancer screening, Asian American (AA), primary care, COVID-19

INTRODUCTION

The recognition that social determinants of health and structural barriers drive inequities in health and heath care has long been a central tenet in public health (1-6). However, there is recent focus to address social determinants of health within health care settings (7-17) as a way to reduce higher rates of chronic disease and poorer outcomes among vulnerable patients (18-20). Health related social needs (HRSN), including transportation, food insecurity, housing stability and interpersonal violence which are more downstream factors that impact health care, also result directly in both poorer outcomes and weaker health system performance (17, 21-23). Thus, efforts to systematically collect information on HRSN in clinical settings and develop solutions to address HRSN are on the rise (12, 13, 16, 23-32). Few clinicbased HRSN studies to date, however, have focused on measuring HRSN in languages other than English or Spanish or in diverse immigrant populations, including Asian Americans (AA), where cultural factors and immigration experiences can pose additional barriers to accessing care and routine preventive services (33). Furthermore, AA patients as a group are often masked by small or aggregated numbers and a lack of linguistically appropriate measurement tools within larger health system settings (34–36).

AAs are among the fastest growing populations in the United States (US) and New Jersey ranks third among states having the largest proportion of AA residents (>10%), following California and Hawaii (37, 38). Chinese Americans are the largest AA subgroup and nearly two-thirds of Chinese-Americans are born outside of the US (39). Within New Jersey, Chinese Americans are the second largest AA ethnic group and the majority reside in Northern and Central New Jersey counties (38). Prior data indicate specific AA populations experience higher rates of chronic disease and poorer mental well-being compared to non-minorities (40-44). Many-particularly the elderly - may experience significant emotional or psychosocial distress, lower levels of social engagement (45), and low health literacy (46). Additional socioeconomic and cultural barriers unique to Asian immigrants further contribute to disparities in access to health care, uptake of preventive screenings, and adherence to chronic disease management for AA populations (45, 47, 48). Factors related to trauma and immigration experiences, as well as resilience that is developed through the coping of these life events, can negatively and positively impact their health outcomes (16, 49-53). Perceptions of neighborhood, including social cohesion and trust can also impact health care utilization and outcomes (54, 55). Thus, focusing on improving the measurement of HRSN within clinic settings for AA populations, and providing in-language screening tools for larger population groups, such as Chinese patients, can inform broader health system strategies to address population level unmet social needs.

Cancer inequities among AAs are a prime example of the influence of HRSN on health disparities. Cancer is the first leading cause of death in the US for AAs and the second leading cause of death among other racial/ethnic groups. Breast cancer mortality rates in immigrant AA women are higher compared to US-born counterparts (56). Socioeconomic factors, income, and transportation-related barriers have all been implicated in cancer screening disparities among AA immigrants. Lower rates of cancer screening have been observed in AAs (57), but also specifically in Chinese Americans (46). For example, Chinese Americans have some of the lowest rates of breast and cervical cancer screening among all AA subgroups (58). In New Jersey, rates of colorectal cancer screening were lowest among Asians in 2012-2016 compared to all other racial/ethnic groups (59). Unless targeted efforts are made to develop appropriate HRSN screening tools for AAs within clinic settings, newly implemented tools to address population health and health care disparities, including for cancer, will be limited for AA populations.

This study aims to understand and more accurately assess the prevalence of HSRN and neighborhood perceptions among AA primary care patients, using an adapted HRSN screening tool among patients in a suburban primary care practice in New Jersey. At study initiation, which occurred ~6 months prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, we hypothesized that a higher proportion of lower-income and more recently immigrated patients would report having HRSN and lower neighborhood perceptions. We examined the relationship between HRSN and neighborhood perceptions on history of prior breast or colorectal cancer screening among age-eligible study participants as an exploratory assessment of the impact of HRSN on preventive care utilization. Given that our study period intersected with the COVID-19 pandemic and associated discrimination against AA communities, we further compared reports of HRSN and neighborhood perceptions between participants recruited before and during the pandemic.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Setting and Target Population

We assessed HRSN, neighborhood perceptions (social cohesion, trust), and immigration characteristics (time since immigration,

birthplace) through a cross-sectional survey among established patients at the Center for Asian Health (CAH), an outpatient primary care practice of Saint Barnabas Medical Center, a community hospital in suburban New Jersey belonging to the RWJBarnabas Health system. The Center for Asian Health was started in 2013 with the goal of meeting the healthcare needs of the growing Chinese American population in Northern New Jersey. CAH sees 5,000 patient visits per year with a mix of primary care providers and specialists. In March 2020 when COVID-19 stay-at-home orders began, patients were exclusively seen via telehealth until restrictions eased in June 2020. In-person office visits increased by late July but then were scaled back in Fall 2020 when community COVID-19 transmissions increased again regionally.

Recruitment

This study was approved by the Rutgers Biomedical Health Sciences Institutional Review Board and the Saint Barnabas Medical Center Institutional Review Board. Adult patients age 18 and over who could complete the survey in English or Chinese were approached to participate in the study. New patients and those who could not complete a survey in English or Chinese were excluded. Recruitment occurred between September 2019 and November 2020. Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic (September 2019-March 2020), research team members, including bilingual Mandarin/Cantonese speaking CAH clinic volunteer staff, approached patients in the waiting room to introduce the study components and assess interest in participation. Interested patients were then screened for study eligibility and asked to review and sign a written informed consent form.

Following COVID-19 stay-at-home orders (May 2020-August 2020), CAH patients with telehealth visits were invited to participate in the study through the CAH patient portal or via email. If they agreed, the eligibility screener, consent, and survey were then completed online via REDCap. When in-person primary care visits resumed more broadly during the COVID-19 pandemic (September 2020-November 2020), recruitment via in-person visits was reinitiated, with an additional option of completing the eligibility screener, consent form, and survey at home, either online or via paper/pencil to be mailed back to the clinic.

Survey Administration

The 38-item survey instrument, which took participants $\sim 10-15$ min to complete, was available electronically on iPads in English and Chinese [Chinese-Traditional (T), Chinese-Simplified (S)], for study participants to complete in the waiting room or in the clinic exam room following the in-person enrollment procedures described above. Both Chinese-T and Chinese-S survey language text were made available based on clinic staff and provider input about language needs of the CAH patient population. Paper surveys were available for in-person participants upon request. During the COVID-19 pandemic, participants were provided a survey link via email or the patient portal to complete online at home. Participants who completed the survey received a \$10 gift card which was given either in person (if completed in person) or mailed to them (if completed online or via mail).

Survey Measures

The 38-item survey instrument included: health-related social needs screening items, a neighborhood perception scale, and measures used in prior studies to assess immigration experiences, trauma, and sociodemographic factors (60).

Health Related Social Needs

Our HRSN measures were based on the 2016 Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) screening tool for HRSN through CMS Accountable Health Communities (61), which comprised of a ten-item (27, 36, 62-65) HRSN Screening Tool covering the following social needs: housing instability ("What is your living situation today?"), food insecurity (2 questions: "Within the past 12 months, you worried that your food would run out before you got money to buy more;" "Within the past 12 months, the food you bought just didn't last and you didn't have money to get more."), transportation ("In the past 12 months, has lack of reliable transportation kept you from medical appointments, meetings, work or from getting to things needed for daily living?"), utility needs ("In the past 12 months has the electric, gas, oil, or water company threatened to shut off services in your home?"), and interpersonal violence (4 questions: "How often does anyone, including family and friends, physically hurt you?" "How often does anyone, including family and friends, insult or talk down to you?" "How often does anyone, including family and friends, threaten you with harm?" "How often does anyone, including family and friends, scream or curse at you?")

We created composite measures for each domain that had more than one question with yes (at least one reported need within the domain) and no (answer no to all questions in the domain). We also created an HRSN composite measure by aggregating the number of unmet HRSN reported and then categorized overall HRSN as none vs. 1 or more, and none/one vs. 2 or more. We compared frequency distributions of HRSN reported by study participants with frequencies reported from the 2019 New Jersey statewide Health and Well-Being Poll (66). The Health and Well-Being Poll was developed by the Rutgers Center for State Health Policy with funding from the Robert Wood Johnson foundation. Abt Associates, under contract to Rutgers, drew a statewide random digit dialed telephone (landline and cell) sample and conducted interviews in English and Spanish, from January to February 2019 with adults living in New Jersey.

Neighborhood Perceptions

We measured neighborhood perceptions related to connectedness, belonging, and trust using a 12-item scale, previously implemented in other studies (67–70), including studies focused on elderly Chinese Americans (71). For each item, participants were asked to respond to a five-point scale (strongly disagree, disagree, neutral, agree or strongly agree). A composite score was constructed using the sum of all 12 items and then dichotomized to low (unfavorable) neighborhood perceptions (total score \leq 36) and high (favorable) neighborhood perceptions (total score >36). Participants with missing data for

any single item were still included in the final analysis, and were included within the "disagree" category for those items.

Other Sociodemographic Factors

We examined the following sociodemographic variables from the survey: gender, age (18–49, 50–65, >65 years), survey language (English, Chinese-Traditional (T), Chinese-Simplified (S)), race/ethnicity (Non-Hispanic-Asian, Other race/ethnicity), household income (<\$75,000; \$75, 000 or more; unknown/missing), education level (less than college, college or beyond), and insurance status (private insurance, Medicaid/Medicare, uninsured/unknown). Participants reported whether they were born in the US or born outside of the US, as well as indicating country of birth. We calculated percent of life spent in the US using current age and age at time of immigration among those born outside of the US and constructed the following mutually exclusive categories: US-born, <25% of life spent in US, \geq 25% of life spent in the US.

Medical Record Chart Abstraction

We abstracted data from CAH's electronic medical records (Cerner PowerChart) for patients age-eligible (51–75 years) for routine breast (females only) and colorectal (females and males) cancer screening based on current US Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) guidelines (72, 73). Records were reviewed retrospectively until the timing of the last screening service was able to be identified or up until 10 years from the survey date. For patients who did not have a complete 10-year look-back period, we reviewed all records that were retrospectively available.

Cancer Screening

We examined ever-screened vs. never-screened and receipt of guideline-concordant screening (yes/no) for both breast and colorectal cancer among eligible survey participants. Receipt of guideline-concordant breast cancer screening was determined as whether a mammogram was received within the last 2 years from the time of survey completion. We excluded women who had undergone bilateral mastectomies (n = 2). Receipt of guidelineconcordant colorectal cancer screening was determined as either receiving a colonoscopy within the last 10 years, or completing a multi-target stool DNA test within the last 12 months (72). We recorded whether screening was ever received, as well as the year they were last received. Regardless of whether the participants completed the survey in 2019 or 2020, we used 2019 as the year to start the look-back period for retrospective chart review for all participants to employ a more inclusive approach of whether screening occurred within guideline recommendations.

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were used to summarize the demographic characteristics, HRSN variables, neighborhood perception, and enrollment pre-COVID-19 vs. during COVID-19 among eligible study participants age 18 and over in the final analytic sample, and compared across survey language using Chi-square test and Fisher's exact test. We used survey language (English, Chinese-T, Chinese-S) as a primary comparison based on observed demographic differences across the Chinese language groups in our study sample as well as input and feedback from CAH clinic staff and community partners from the Asian Health Initiative at the Rutgers Institute for Health, Healthcare Policy & Aging Research.

A total of 12 participants were excluded due to incomplete or duplicate responses or surveys completed in Korean (n =1). While a Korean survey instrument was available at the start of our study, study recruitment for Korean participants was limited due to staff availability and appointments with the Korean speaking provider were only available 1 day a week. For surveys that were missing information on age (n = 24), we used the medical record to determine the missing ages of these participants. We were able to identify missing ages for 23 participants. An additional 8 participants were excluded due to missing data for other variables of interest. The final analytic sample for the primary analysis included 236 participants (Figure 1). In univariate analyses we compared reports of having ≥ 2 HRSN compared to reporting ≤ 1 HRSN, as well as low neighborhood perceptions (score <36) compared to high neighborhood perceptions (score \geq 36) using logistic regression models. We ran separate multivariable models to determine sociodemographic factors associated with reporting ≥ 2 HRSN and low neighborhood perceptions. Independent variables in the final models were based on significant univariate associations, prior literature, and the overall analytic sample size. We report odds ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs).

We also compared receipt of cancer screening (ever vs. never; guideline-concordant vs. non-guideline-concordant) by report of HRSN and neighborhood perceptions using Chi-square test and Fisher's exact test among study participants who completed the survey and age-eligible for cancer screening. Participants were excluded from the analysis who were not age-eligible for screening at the time of survey, unable to be matched in the medical record based on the recorded survey name, or had no name on the survey (**Figure 1**). Only descriptive analyses were examined for cancer screening because the primary study sample was not powered to examine the association between HRSN or neighborhood perceptions and receipt of screening, as well as the limited frequency distribution in cancer screening measures within the study population. All analyses were conducted in R version 4.0.3 (74).

RESULTS

Characteristics of the study participants (n = 236) are shown in **Table 1**. The majority of participants were recruited in-person and completed the survey via tablet with the exception of 21 participants. A large proportion of participants self-identified as being a woman (64%) and non-Hispanic Asian (75%), having a college degree (68%), and having an annual income of more than \$75,000 (52%). The mean age at the time of the survey was 52.6 years.

Over three quarters of participants were born outside of the U.S. (n = 187, 79%). All participants who completed the survey in Chinese-T (19%) and Chinese-S (18%) were non-US born,



with the most common location of birth being China (n = 70) or Taiwan (n = 45). There were observed differences in demographic characteristics across the three survey language groups and in immigration characteristics between Chinese-T and Chinese-S survey participants. Compared to Chinese-T respondents, higher proportions of Chinese-S respondents reported having incomes less than \$75K (52% vs. 26%), residing in the US for <25% of their lifetime (34% vs. 12%), and having less than a college degree (48% vs. 28%). Overall, a lower proportion of Chinese-S respondents were recruited during the COVID-19 pandemic period (34%) compared to Chinese traditional (44%) and English (51%) respondents.

Health Related Social Needs

Half of all participants (50%) reported having at least one HRSN, with minimal differences across language groups (English: 48%, Chinese-T: 56%, Chinese-S: 55%; *p*-value: 0.533). While a smaller proportion of overall participants reported having \geq 2 HRSN (14%), larger differences were observed across survey language. Compared to 14% of Chinese-T and 11% of English respondents, a quarter of Chinese-S respondents reported having \geq 2 HRSN (**Table 1**).

Higher proportions of Chinese-S respondents reported housing instability (23%) compared to both English (12%) and Chinese-T respondents (5%) (*p*-value: 0.038) (Figure 2).

	Total <i>N</i> = 236			nglish = 149		e traditional V = 43		se simplified V = 44	
Characteristic	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	p-value ^a
Race/ethnicity									<0.001
NH-Asian	175	74.2	94	63.0	41	95.0	40	91.0	
Other race/ethnicity	61	25.8	55	37.0	2	4.7	4	9.1	
Gender									0.19
Female	154	65.3	103	69.0	27	63.0	24	55.0	
Male	82	34.7	46	31.0	16	37.0	20	45.0	
Age									0.112
18–49	93	39.4	65	44.0	11	26.0	17	39.0	
50–65	92	39.0	58	39.0	17	40.0	17	39.0	
>65	51	21.6	26	17.0	15	35.0	10	23.0	
Education									0.022
Less than college	70	30.0	38	26.0	12	28.0	20	48.0	
College or beyond	163	70.0	110	74.0	31	72.0	22	52.0	
Health insurance									0.008
Private	135	57.2	98	66.0	21	49.0	16	36.0	
Medicaid/Medicare	73	30.9	36	24.0	16	37.0	21	48.0	
Uninsured/unknown	28	11.9	15	10.0	6	14.0	7	16.0	
Income									0.044
Less than \$75K	95	40.3	61	41.0	11	26.0	23	52.0	
\$75K or more	122	51.7	79	53.0	27	63.0	16	36.0	
Unknown/missing	19	8.1	9	6.0	5	12.0	5	11.0	
Percent life spent in US									<0.001
US-born	49	20.8	49	37.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	
<25 in the US	23	9.7	6	4.5	5	12.0	12	34.0	
25–99 in the US	138	58.5	79	59.0	36	88.0	23	66.0	
Health-related social needs									0.533
None	117	49.6	78	52.0	19	44.0	20	45.0	
At least 1	119	50.4	71	48.0	24	56.0	24	55.0	
Health-related social needs									0.078
1 or fewer	202	85.6	132	89.0	37	86.0	33	75.0	
At least 2	34	14.4	17	11.0	6	14.0	11	25.0	
Neighborhood perceptions score					-		-		0.002
Low (36 or lower)	47	19.9	25	17.0	5	12.0	17	39.0	
High (>36)	189	80.1	124	83.0	38	88.0	27	61.0	
Recruitment period						• •			0.133
Pre-COVID-19	126	53.4	73	49.0	24	56.0	29	66.0	
During COVID-19	110	46.6	76	51.0	19	44.0	15	34.0	

^aStatistical tests performed: chi-square test of independence; Fisher's exact test.

Similarly, though not statistically significant, higher proportions of Chinese-S respondents reported food insecurity (16%) compared to both English (9%) and Chinese-T respondents (7%) (*p*-value: 0.317) (**Figure 2**). While Chinese-T respondents were the least likely to report experiencing utility needs (5%), they were more likely to report having transportation needs (16%) than either English (5%) or Chinese-S (7%) respondents (*p*-value: 0.039). More than one-third of all respondents reported experiencing at least one interpersonal violence measure across all three survey languages.

When comparing these findings to statewide data from the New Jersey Health & Well-Being Poll (**Table 2**), transportation needs were higher in our sample of Chinese-T participants (16%) compared to New Jersey residents overall (6%). Food insecurity was also higher among our sample of Chinese-S participants (23%) compared to New Jersey residents (11%).

In the univariate analysis, Chinese-S participants (OR: 2.59; 95% CI: 1.08, 6.01) had higher odds of having \geq 2 HRSNs compared to English survey respondents (**Table 3**). Similarly, participants with lower income (<\$75,000) had higher odds (OR:



TABLE 2 | Comparison of study participants reporting HRSN to state data.

	% Transportation needs	% Utility needs	% Housing instability*	% Food insecurity	% Interpersonal violence**
Study participants					
English	4.7	7.4	3.3	9.4	26.4
Chinese-T	16.0	4.8	0.0	7.0	34.9
Chinese-S	6.8	6.8	6.8	16.0	27.9
New Jersey Health & Well-Being Poll	6.5	5.9	6.9	11.2	13.0

*Housing instability based on comparable survey item only (current living situation), not composite measure shown in Figure 1.

** Interpersonal violence measure also based on comparable survey item only (screamed or cursed at by loved one), not composite measure shown in Figure 1.

2.52, 95% CI: 1.15, 5.77) of having \geq 2 HRSNs compared to higher income participants. After adjusting for gender, age, and recruitment period, participants with incomes <\$75,000 still had higher odds of reporting \geq 2 HRSNs (OR: 2.53; 95% CI: 1.12, 5.98) compared to higher income participants.

Neighborhood Perceptions

Neighborhood perceptions among study participants are shown in **Figure 3**. Significant differences in neighborhood perceptions were observed across survey language. A larger proportion of Chinese-S survey respondents (39%) had low neighborhood perceptions (score ≤ 36) compared to 12% Chinese-T respondents and 17% English respondents (p = 0.002). For individual neighborhood perception items, no Chinese (simplified or traditional) respondents disagreed with the fact that their neighborhood was a good place to live, although nearly one-fifth of Chinese-S respondents felt "neutral" (p = 0.029). More Chinese-S (42%) and Chinese-T (35%) respondents did not feel they could recognize their neighbors compared to English respondents (25%), suggesting differences in neighborhood belonging and familiarity. Lower proportions

of Chinese survey respondents agree that they feel at home in their neighborhood (Chinese-S 45%, Chinese-T 64%, English 89%; p < 0.001). Chinese-T respondents (86%) were much more likely to expect to live in their neighborhood for a long time than either English (67%) or Chinese-S (63%) respondents.

In the univariate analysis (Table 3), Chinese-S respondents, participants with lower incomes, and patients with Medicaid/Medicare had significantly higher odds for reporting low overall neighborhood perceptions. In the adjusted model including participants in all languages and after adjusting for gender, age, health insurance, and recruitment period, older participants (age > 65 years) had lower odds of having low neighborhood perceptions (OR: 0.34; 95% CI: 0.11, 0.98) compared to younger participants, whereas those with Medicaid/Medicare (OR: 3.87; 95% CI: 1.50, 10.3) had higher odds of having neighborhood perceptions compared to privately low insured participants. A similar relationship was observed for participants who were uninsured or had unknown insurance compared to privately insured participants (OR: 3.01; 95% CI: 1.00, 8.77). In our sensitivity analysis of **TABLE 3** | Factors associated with reporting \geq 2 HRSN and low neighborhood cohesion (n = 236).

	≥2 HRSN				Low neighborhood perceptions				
	Univariate models		Multivariable model		Univariate models		Multivariable model		
	ORª	95% Cl ^a	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI	
Gender									
Male	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	
Female	0.97	0.46, 2.14	1.00	0.45, 2.28	1.50	0.76, 3.13	1.74	0.81, 3.94	
Age									
18–49	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	
50–65	0.61	0.26, 1.36	0.56	0.23, 1.30	1.01	0.49, 2.08	0.97	0.43, 2.17	
>65	0.60	0.20, 1.55	0.46	0.15, 1.28	0.83	0.33, 1.97	0.34	0.11, 0.98	
Survey language									
English	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	
Chinese simplified	2.59	1.08, 6.01	2.40	0.96, 5.87	3.12	1.48, 6.58	2.26	0.95, 5.29	
Chinese traditional	1.26	0.43, 3.27	1.66	0.54, 4.64	0.65	0.21, 1.70	0.59	0.17, 1.70	
Income									
\$75K or more	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	
Less than \$75K	2.52	1.15, 5.77	2.53	1.12, 5.98	3.33	1.64, 7.08	1.93	0.85, 4.47	
Unknown/missing	2.69	0.68, 9.06	2.68	0.65, 9.42	4.89	1.59, 14.6	3.78	1.12, 12.2	
Health insurance									
Private	Ref	Ref			Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	
Medicaid/Medicare	2.07	0.94, 4.55			3.42	1.68, 7.13	3.87	1.50, 10.3	
Uninsured/unknown	1.33	0.36, 4.06			2.97	1.09, 7.75	3.01	1.00, 8.77	
Recruitment period									
Pre-COVID-19	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	
During COVID-19	0.77	0.36, 1.60	0.89	0.41, 1.93	0.81	0.42, 1.55	0.93	0.44, 1.92	

 a OR, Odds Ratio; Cl, Confidence Interval. Bolded items represent significant associations at the p < 0.05 level.



participants who were missing responses for 6 or more of the 12 neighborhood perception items (n = 6), associations between uninsured/unknown insurance and low neighborhood

perceptions and low income/unknown income and low neighborhood perceptions were no longer significant (data not shown).

Relationship Between HRSN & Low Neighborhood Perception on Cancer Screening

Our exploratory analysis of cancer screening history and healthrelated social needs included 67 women age-eligible for breast cancer (BC) screening and 109 men and women eligible for colorectal cancer (CRC) screening. Ever receiving a prior BC screening (87%) or CRC screening (81%) as well as having a guideline concordant screening history (BC: 72%, CRC: 76%) were high among patients who participated in our HRSN screening assessment (Table 4). We did not observe significant differences in ever receiving a previous BC or CRC screening, or receipt of guideline-concordant BC or CRC screening, by HRSN status or neighborhood perceptions. For BC screening, although not statistically significant, we observed a slightly higher proportion of those with fewer (≤ 1) HRSN who did not receive guideline-concordant screening (29%), compared to those with ≥ 2 HRSN (22%). A similar percentage of patients reporting \geq 2 HRSN did not receive guideline-concordant CRC screening (23%), compared to those with ≤ 1 HRSN (24%). For BC screening, a similar percentage of patients reporting low neighborhood cohesion had never been screened (13%), compared to those reporting high neighborhood cohesion (13%).

DISCUSSION

This is one of the few clinic-based studies to implement a HRSN screening tool in languages other than English and Spanish and assess the prevalence of social needs among patients in an Asian American focused primary care clinic. We found similar, and in some cases higher, reports of health-related social needs within our study population of primarily privately-insured, higher educated, suburban non-Hispanic Asian patients compared to statewide New Jersey data.

We observed alarmingly higher than anticipated reports of interpersonal violence across all survey languages. While these reports did not significantly increase among participants recruited during the COVID-19 pandemic compared to those recruited prior to the start of the COVID-19 pandemic, we observed higher rates of interpersonal violence needs across participants in both time periods and all three survey languages when compared to similar measures in the state level data. These findings warrant focused efforts for developing clinic strategies in increasing clinician awareness, follow-up and referral processes, and longer-term interventions to address interpersonal violence as a health-related social need among AA primary care patients. These data also substantiate the need to address the "Invisible Minority" status of Asian Americans, as interpersonal violence risks are just as prevalent in our sample as state reported rates. The wave of recent hate crimes directed toward Asian Americans during the COVID-19 pandemic (75), unfortunately indicate interpersonal violence is increasing. A March 2021 Pew survey found that nearly three-quarters of people (71%) feel that AAs experience "a lot" or "some" discrimination (76). Other reports have cited up to a tenfold increase in the number of reports of anti-Asian sentiment, including verbal harassment and physical assault in the larger New York City region in February-March 2021 compared to the same period in 2020 (76). The anti-Asian hate and violence will not only increase the mental health care needs of AAs going forward, but also impact long-term access, utilization and adherence to health services overall, leading to downstream effects of increased chronic conditions (77).

Housing instability and food insecurity needs were also notably high among participants who completed the survey in simplified Chinese text, which comprise of participants who are younger and immigrated to the US in more recent years. Although food insecurity has decreased since 2011, the COVID-19 pandemic has caused rates to double (78). Similarly, homelessness has decreased overall since 2007, but has increased annually between 2017 and 2019 (79). Efforts to address social needs within health care settings as a strategy to improve overall health among AA specifically has been limited, despite the emphasis on measuring and addressing HRSN among lowincome and other racial/ethnic minority patients (12, 27, 80). Our findings indicate vulnerability to HRSN among patients in a clinic setting serving AA who are higher-income and privately insured. These findings are consistent with other work that challenge the Model Minority Myth (45, 60, 81) for AA and further support the need to adapt and tailor existing clinic-based HRSN assessment and intervention/referral strategies to address the social needs and life course experiences of heterogeneous AA populations (82). At a minimum, broader efforts to screen HRSN within clinic populations need to be linguistically appropriate for AA patients.

Our findings also point to higher transportation needs among Chinese American patients who completed the survey in traditional Chinese, which consist of participants who are older overall compared to English and simplified Chinese survey participants. Access to transportation has been identified in prior studies among elderly AA and other racial/ethnic minority populations as logistical barriers to accessing health care (8, 48). For elderly AA patients in suburban areas, such as New Jersey, where public transportation options are limited and social services support programs for those who have limited English proficiency are more disperse, overcoming transportation needs to health care may be a greater obstacle compared to AA patients in more urban centers. The majority of CAH patients reside across three counties in Northern New Jersey, however, a number of patients live outside of these immediate areas and seek care from CAH, often citing the in-language care as the reason for traveling further. A recent report on the State of AA in New Jersey, indicated that Chinese Americans are the second largest Asian American ethnic group in the state following Indian Americans, with a large proportion residing in Northern and Central New Jersey counties (38). In-language healthcare is often not geographically close for residents of suburbs and access becomes an issue, especially for those who cannot drive. It is important to monitor and address these needs for suburban AA communities living outside of densely populated ethnic enclaves, such Chinatowns in Manhattan and Brooklyn, as they can contribute to health disparities and poorer outcomes. Linguistic and geographic challenges to health care are often not detected in aggregated data and similar to the bimodal distribution of income

		Breast	Cancer (<i>n</i> = 58)			Colorecta	l Cancer ($n = 109$	9)
	Ever screened	Never screened	Guideline concordant	Non-guideline concordant	Ever screened	Never screened	Guideline concordant	Non-guideline concordant
Total	86.6%	13.4%	71.6%	28.4%	80.7%	19.3%	76.1%	23.9%
HRSN								
None	80.0%	20.0%	62.9%	37.1%	82.1%	17.9%	76.8%	23.2%
1 or more	93.8%	6.0%	81.3%	18.8%	79.2%	20.8%	75.5%	24.5%
HRSN								
None or 1	86.2%	14.0%	70.7%	29.3%	80.2%	19.8%	76.0%	24.0%
2 or more	88.9%	11.0%	77.8%	22.2%	84.6%	15.4%	76.9%	23.1%
Transportation needs								
None	85.0%	15.0%	70.0%	30.0%	81.0%	19.0%	77.0%	23.0%
Yes	100.0%	0.0%	85.7%	14.3%	77.8%	22.2%	66.7%	33.3%
Utility needs								
None	86.2%	14.0%	70.8%	29.2%	81.7%	18.3%	76.9%	23.1%
Yes	100.0%	0.0%	100.0%	0.0%	60.0%	40.0%	60.0%	40.0%
Living situation needs								
None	86.2%	14.0%	70.7%	29.3%	81.4%	18.6%	78.4%	21.6%
Yes	88.9%	11.0%	77.8%	22.2%	75.0%	25.0%	58.3%	41.7%
Food insecurity								
None	88.5%	11.0%	72.1%	27.9%	79.8%	20.2%	75.8%	24.2%
Yes	66.7%	33.0%	66.7%	33.3%	90.0%	10.0%	80.0%	20.0%
Interpersonal violence								
None	80.0%	20.0%	66.7%	33.3%	80.6%	19.4%	75.0%	25.0%
Yes	100.0%	0.0%	85.0%	15.0%	82.9%	17.1%	80.0%	20.0%
Neighborhood perception								
Low (36 or lower)	86.7%	13.3%	73.3%	26.7%	70.0%	30.0%	65.0%	35.0%
High (>36)	86.5%	13.5%	71.2%	28.9%	83.1%	16.9%	78.7%	21.4%
Recruitment period								
Pre-COVID-19	88.6%	11.0%	77.1%	22.9%	82.1%	17.9%	76.8%	23.2%
During COVID-19	84.0%	16.0%	65.6%	34.4%	79.2%	20.8%	75.5%	24.5%

TABLE 4 | Breast or colorectal cancer screening history among age-eligible participants by HRSN and neighborhood perceptions.

in AA, which is often masked in population data within suburban areas (55).

In our assessment of neighborhood perceptions, we also observed notable differences across survey language groups. Chinese participants responding in simplified text reported more negative perceptions about their neighborhood compared to English and traditional Chinese text respondents, including fewer Chinese-S participants "feeling at home" or "knowing their neighbors." We did observe slight increases in specific measures between the pre-COVID-19 vs. during COVID-19 periods, including "feeling at home" (from 49% to 51%) and "caring about what neighbors think" (from 46% to 54%). Similar to our findings for interpersonal violence described above, we did not observe significant differences in overall low neighborhood perceptions between participants recruited during the COVID-19 pandemic compared to those recruited before the COVID-19 pandemic began. We may not have observed significant differences in HRSN, specifically interpersonal violence, or neighborhood perceptions between COVID-19 periods because of a bias in the patients who were seeking and able to receive health care during the COVID-19 pandemic period. Patients who make it to a primary care encounter either in-person or through telehealth, may be less likely to have lost health insurance, be less vulnerable to having HRSN, less likely to have experienced fear or trauma from COVID-19 and related social impacts, or more chronically ill and requiring primary care follow-up. Prior research on neighborhood cohesion have highlighted how AA communities may mitigate disparities and cultural stress for AA patients, showcasing the potential protective effects of community interactions (19). On the other hand, AA living in more suburban and less densely AA populated areas may face isolation or lack of belonging (53). Further investigation is needed to understand the complex relationships between neighborhood connectedness on health care utilization and health outcomes among diverse AA patients.

Recent studies have shown a positive relationship between screening for and addressing HRSN and health care utilization, including cancer screening and treatment (82–85). In addition, lower rate of colorectal cancer screen are observed in other educated AA populations elsewhere, which we did not observe in our study. We did not observe significant differences in reported HRSN or neighborhood perceptions by cancer screening history in our exploratory analysis based on medical chart review. Some possible reasons for lack of significant associations include the high proportion of patients ever receiving and routinely receiving cancer screening at CAH, the temporality of HRSN and our cancer screening measures, and the smaller sample size of participants over age 50. The CAH has partnered with national and state level initiatives to focus on Hepatitis B screening (86) and colorectal cancer screening (ScreenNJ www.screennj.org), thus already high rates of cancer screening observed in our study may be a result of ongoing patient, provider, and clinic efforts. It will be important to monitor the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on increased HRSN, delays in routine primary care visits, and delays in routine cancer screening moving forward, as recent data have shown large decreases in patient visits both nationally and within CAH between April and November 2020 (87-89). Furthermore, more research is needed on how HRSN may differentially impact disparities across stages of the cancer care continuum from screening to survivorship.

There are some limitations to our study that should be noted. First, we focus on a single primary care clinic that serves a high proportion of Chinese patients in a large suburban hospital system, contributing to a modest sample size. While our study population of largely immigrant, Chinese American patients may not be representative of the broad diversity of Chinese Americans or heterogeneous AAPI populations in New Jersey, it does provide important insight on HRSNs experienced by suburban Asian patients who are otherwise understudied but experience disparities in health and health care. In addition, our data are cross-sectional, precluding analyses of causality. We make numerous statistical comparisons, raising the possibility of finding significance by chance. We combined response categories in some HRSN measures due to small cell sizes and were not able to assess whether these edits impact the validity of the measures. Nevertheless, this study highlights the important need to focus on suburban AA patients, a largely understudied group, who may have social needs and access to support services distinct from their urban counterparts. Second, it is important to note, while these findings highlight the need to implement language appropriate health-related social needs screening tools for AA patients who otherwise would be omitted from clinic-based screening assessments, there is a need to address the heterogeneity of groups within Asian Americans and the community-specific factors that may impact health care utilization and outcomes. While we did find differences between Chinese-S and Chinese-T immigrant participants, we did not specifically compare acculturation using validated measures between these groups. The decision to compare across survey languages was informed by clinic providers and community partners. Per their experiences with the community, Chinese-T immigrants in NJ had largely immigrated earlier (many from Taiwan & Hong Kong) than many who were Chinese-S immigrants (mainland China) and thus many had more years in the US and might be more established and have fewer HSRN. This was seen in many of the measures but it did not hold true for transportation, highlighting vulnerabilities that come with older age and across groups. Third, although we made every effort to continue study recruitment using the same methods during the pandemic. Patients recruited during the pandemic (April 2020 and beyond) are likely those who could more likely overcome barriers and who felt safe from COVID exposure to access primary care again. Thus, the lack of change in HRSNs and neighborhood perceptions between pre-COVID-19 and during COVID-19 recruitment may be due to a bias from the differences in enabling factors among patients who were seen during the COVID-19 pandemic.

CONCLUSIONS

This is one of few studies examining HRSN and related factors within AA populations in a health care setting. We observed higher than anticipated reports of HRSN, including high reports of interpersonal violence and housing needs among all Chinese participants, and low neighborhood perceptions among Chinese-S participants, suggesting the need to assess HRSN and the broader context of social determinants even among higher educated, suburban AA patients with health insurance. These study findings inform the need to adapt and augment HRSN data collection strategies to adequately address social needs and life course experience for Asian language speaking patients within clinic settings. As efforts to address HRSN within clinical settings continue, including establishing systematic screening measures, implementation across settings, and policies to incentivize providers, it will be important to accurately measure the needs of all diverse racial/ethnic groups. It is also important to recognize and address the more upstream impacts of SDOH, including discrimination and structural racism, while efforts to focus on more downstream impacts of unmet health related social needs are ongoing (90). Institutional efforts to address implicit bias, structural racism and the other contributors to SDOH, as has been undertaken by the larger hospital system of CAH (91), are critical for confronting the many root issues and creating larger-scale change. As the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on physical and mental health for racial/ethnic minority communities emerge, aspects of addressing unmet social needs will become even more important. Effectively addressing community-specific HRSN referral needs as well as more upstream social determinants of health that contribute to health and health disparities for Asian Americans will require multilevel strategies at the community, health system, and policy levels.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because Data cannot be shared publicly because of sensitive information collected from participants and the current protocol approved by the Saint Barnabas Medical Center Institutional Review Board. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to tsuijenn@usc.edu.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was approved by the Rutgers Biomedical Health Sciences Institutional Review Board and the Saint Barnabas Medical Center Institutional Review Board. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JT and SW planned the study. JT obtained funding, directed the data collection, analysis and interpretation, and led the manuscript writing. SW, RB, and JCa contributed to the study planning, funding acquisition, design and interpretation of study findings. AY, BA, and BX conducted the data collection and data acquisition. JCh conducted the data analysis and data revisions for the manuscript. AY, BA, and JCh contributed to the manuscript preparation. All authors contributed to the manuscript revisions, reviewed, and approved the final submitted manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Bi Zhang, Sophia Huang and Wen-Chi Chen and other clinic staff from the Center for Asian Health (CAH) at Saint

REFERENCES

- 1. CSDH. Closing the Gap in a Generation: Health Equity Through Action on the Social Determinants of Health. Final Report of the Commission on Social Determinants of Health. Geneva: World Health Organization (2008).
- Clegg LX, Reichman ME, Miller BA, Hankey BF, Singh GK, Lin YD, et al. Impact of socioeconomic status on cancer incidence and stage at diagnosis: selected findings from the surveillance, epidemiology, and end results: national longitudinal mortality study. *Cancer Causes Control.* (2009) 20:417–35. doi: 10.1007/s10552-008-9256-0
- 3. Institute of Medicine. Delivering high-quality cancer care: charting a new course for a system in crisis. In Levit LA, Balogh EP, Nass SJ, Ganz PA, editors. *Delivering High Quality Cancer Care*. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press (2013). p. 412.
- 4. Polite BN, Adams-Campbell LL, Brawley OW, Bickell N, Carethers JM, Flowers CR, et al. Charting the future of cancer health disparities research: a position statement from the american association for cancer research, the american cancer society, the american society of clinical oncology, and the national cancer institute. *J Clin Oncol.* (2017) 35:3075–82. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2017.73.6546
- Erdmann F, Feychting M, Mogensen H, Schmiegelow K, Zeeb H. Social inequalities along the childhood cancer continuum: an overview of evidence and a conceptual framework to identify underlying mechanisms and pathways. *Front Public Health.* (2019) 7:84. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2019. 00084
- 6. Marmot M. Social determinants of health inequalities. Lancet. (2005) 365:1099-104. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)71146-6
- Medicine Io, National Academies of Sciences E, Medicine. A Framework for Educating Health Professionals to Address the Social Determinants of Health. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press (2016). p. 172.
- Guidry JJ, Aday LA, Zhang D, Winn RJ. Transportation as a barrier to cancer treatment. *Cancer Pract.* (1997) 5:361–6.
- Lin CC, Bruinooge SS, Kirkwood MK, Olsen C, Jemal A, Bajorin D, et al. Association between geographic access to cancer care, insurance, and receipt of chemotherapy: geographic distribution of oncologists and travel distance. J Clin Oncol. (2015) 33:3177–85. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2015.61.1558
- Ambroggi M, Biasini C, Del Giovane C, Fornari F, Cavanna L. Distance as a barrier to cancer diagnosis and treatment: review of the literature. *Oncologist*. (2015) 20:1378–85. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2015-0110

Barnabas Medical Center for recruitment and input on study design and the physicians at CAH, Drs. Zhai, Chow, Houng and Wang, for their support of the study. We thank Baichen Xu from the Rutgers Cancer Institute of New Jersey for data management and analysis of preliminary data. Data collection services were generated by the Rutgers Cancer Institute of New Jersey Biomedical Informatics Shared Resource, supported, in part, with funding from NCI-CCSG P30CA072720. Questions on housing instability and transportation come from the national PRAPARE social determinants of health assessment protocol, developed and owned by the National Association of Community Health Centers (NACHC), in partnership with the Association of Asian Pacific Community Health Organization (AAPCHO), the Oregon Primary Care Association (OPCA), and the Institute for Alternative Futures (IAF). For more information, visit www.nachc.org/prapare. This study received support from the Rutgers University Asian Resource Centers for Minority Aging Research Center under NIH/NIA Grant P30-AG0059304. Its contents are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official views of the NIH. We thank the Rutgers Asian RCMAR Research and Education Core & Rutgers IFH Asian Health Initiative for feedback.

- Kurani SS, McCoy RG, Lampman MA, Doubeni CA, Finney Rutten LJ, Inselman JW, et al. Association of neighborhood measures of social determinants of health with breast, cervical, and colorectal cancer screening rates in the us midwest. JAMA Netw Open. (2020) 3:e200618. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.0618
- Byhoff E, Cohen AJ, Hamati MC, Tatko J, Davis MM, Tipirneni R. Screening for social determinants of health in michigan health centers. J Am Board Fam Med. (2017) 30:418–27. doi: 10.3122/jabfm.2017.04.170079
- LaForge K, Gold R, Cottrell E, Bunce AE, Proser M, Hollombe C, et al. How 6 organizations developed tools and processes for social determinants of health screening in primary care: an overview. *J Ambul Care Manage*. (2018) 41:2–14. doi: 10.1097/JAC.00000000000221
- Morone J. An integrative review of social determinants of health assessment and screening tools used in pediatrics. J Pediatr Nurs. (2017) 37:22– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2017.08.022
- Pigott C, Pollard A, Thomson K, Aranda S. Unmet needs in cancer patients: development of a supportive needs screening tool (SNST). Support Care Cancer. (2009) 17:33–45. doi: 10.1007/s00520-008-0448-7
- Sundar KR. Universal screening for social needs in a primary care clinic: a quality improvement approach using the your current life situation survey. *Perm J.* (2018) 22:18–89. doi: 10.7812/TPP/18-089
- Billioux A, Verlander K, Anthony S, Alley D. Standardized Screening for Health-Related Social Needs in Clinical Settings: The Accountable Health Communities Screening Tool. Washington, DC: National Academy of Medicine. (2017).
- Gerend MA, Pai M. Social determinants of black-white disparities in breast cancer mortality: a review. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2008) 17:2913. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-07-0633
- Von Behren J, Abrahão R, Goldberg D, Gomez SL, Setiawan VW, Cheng I. The influence of neighborhood socioeconomic status and ethnic enclave on endometrial cancer mortality among Hispanics and Asian Americans/Pacific Islanders in California. *Cancer Causes Control.* (2018) 29:875–81. doi: 10.1007/s10552-018-1063-7
- Hossain F, Danos D, Prakash O, Gilliland A, Ferguson TF, Simonsen N, et al. Neighborhood social determinants of triple negative breast cancer. *Front Public Health.* (2019) 7:18. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2019.00018
- Katz A, Chateau D, Enns JE, Valdivia J, Taylor C, Walld R, et al. Association of the social determinants of health with quality of primary care. *Ann Fam Med.* (2018) 16:217–24. doi: 10.1370/afm.2236
- 22. Koroukian SM, Schiltz NK, Warner DF, Given CW, Schluchter M, Owusu C, et al. Social determinants, multimorbidity, and patterns of end-of-life care in older adults dying from cancer. *J Geriatr Oncol.* (2017) 8:117–24. doi: 10.1016/j.jgo.2016.10.001
- Andermann A, Collaboration C. Taking action on the social determinants of health in clinical practice: a framework for health professionals. *CMAJ*. (2016) 188(17–18):E474–83. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.160177
- Henrikson NB, Blasi PR, Dorsey CN, Mettert KD, Nguyen MB, Walsh-Bailey C, et al. Psychometric and pragmatic properties of social risk screening tools: a systematic review. *Am J Prev Med.* (2019) 57(6 Suppl. 1):S13– 24. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2019.07.012
- Weir RC, Proser M, Jester M, Li V, Hood-Ronick CM, Gurewich D. Collecting social determinants of health data in the clinical setting: findings from national PRAPARE implementation. J Health Care Poor Underserved. (2020) 31:1018– 35. doi: 10.1353/hpu.2020.0075
- Garg A, Cull W, Olson L, Boyd AF, Federico SG, Dreyer B, et al. Screening and referral for low-income families' social determinants of health by US pediatricians. *Acad Pediatr.* (2019) 19:875–83. doi: 10.1016/j.acap.2019.05.125
- Byhoff E, De Marchis EH, Gottlieb L, Halperin-Goldstein S, Nokes K, Leclair AM. Screening for immigration-related health concerns in a federally qualified health center serving a diverse latinx community: a mixed methods study. J Immigr Minor Healt. (2020) 22:988–95. doi: 10.1007/s10903-020-01005-6
- 28. Fraze TK, Brewster AL, Lewis VA, Beidler LB, Murray GF, Colla CH. Prevalence of screening for food insecurity, housing instability, utility needs, transportation needs, and interpersonal violence by US physician practices and hospitals. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2019) 2:e1911514. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.11514
- Braveman P, Gottlieb L. The social determinants of health: it's time to consider the causes of the causes. *Public Health Rep.* (2014) 129(Suppl. 2):19–31. doi: 10.1177/0033549141291S206
- Matsushita M, Shirakabe A, Hata N, Kobayashi N, Okazaki H, Shibata Y, et al. Social determinants are crucial factors in the long-term prognosis of severely decompensated acute heart failure in patients over 75 years of age. J Cardiol. (2018) 72:140–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jjcc.2018.01.014
- Meddings J, Reichert H, Smith SN, Iwashyna TJ, Langa KM, Hofer TP, et al. The impact of disability and social determinants of health on condition-specific readmissions beyond medicare risk adjustments: a cohort study. J Gen Intern Med. (2017) 32:71–80. doi: 10.1007/s11606-016-3869-x
- Sills MR, Hall M, Colvin JD, Macy ML, Cutler GJ, Bettenhausen JL, et al. Association of social determinants with children's hospitals' preventable readmissions performance. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2016) 170:350– 8. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2015.4440
- Miller BC, Bowers JM, Payne JB, Moyer A. Barriers to mammography screening among racial and ethnic minority women. *Soc Sci Med.* (2019) 239:112494. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.112494
- Pourat N, Kagawa-Singer M, Breen N, Sripipatana A. Access versus acculturation: identifying modifiable factors to promote cancer screening among Asian American women. *Med Care.* (2010) 48:1088–96. doi: 10.1097/MLR.0b013e3181f53542
- Kagawa-Singer M, Pourat N, Breen N, Coughlin S, Abend Mclean T, McNeel TS, et al. Breast and cervical cancer screening rates of subgroups of Asian American Women in California. *Med Care Res Rev.* (2007) 64:706– 30. doi: 10.1177/1077558707304638
- 36. Zavala VA, Bracci PM, Carethers JM, Carvajal-Carmona L, Coggins NB, Cruz-Correa MR, et al. Cancer health disparities in racial/ethnic minorities in the United States. Br J Cancer. (2020) 124:315–32. doi: 10.1038/s41416-020-01038-6
- Hoeffel EM, Rastogi S, Kim MO, H S. *The Asian Population: 2010.* Suitland: U.S. Department of Commerce Economics and Statistics Administration U.S. Census Bureau (2012). Available online at: https://www.census.gov/prod/ cen2010/briefs/c2010br-11.pdf
- Chen R, Choi J, Joshi K, Sun R. A Report on the State of Asian Americans in New Jersey. New Providence, NJ (2021). Available online at: https://www.readkong.com/page/a-report-on-the-state-of-asian-americans-in -new-jersey-3155304

- Pew Research Center. Chinese in the U.S. Fact Sheet 2017. Available online at: https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/fact-sheet/asian-americanschinese-in-the-u-s/ (accessed April 8, 2021)
- Dong X. Achieving health equity in asian populations. *Gerontol Geriatr Med.* (2018) 4:2333721418778169. doi: 10.1177/2333721418778169
- Mui P, Bowie JV, Juon H-S, Thorpe RJ, Jr. Ethnic group differences in health outcomes among Asian American Men in California. Am J Men's Health. (2017) 11:1406–14. doi: 10.1177/1557988316664508
- Nguyen AB, Chawla N, Noone A-M, Srinivasan S. Disaggregated data and beyond: future queries in cancer control research. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2014) 23:2266–72. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-14-0387
- Ro M. Moving forward: addressing the health of Asian American and Pacific Islander women. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1447107/ Am J Public Health. (2002) 92:516–9. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.92.4.516
- 44. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. *National Healthcare Quality and Disparities Report*. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (2018).
- 45. Dong X, Chang ES, Wong E, Wong B, Skarupski KA, Simon MA. Assessing the health needs of Chinese older adults: findings from a community-based participatory research study in Chicago's Chinatown. J Aging Res. (2011) 2010:124246. doi: 10.4061/2010/124246
- Sentell TL, Tsoh JY, Davis T, Davis J, Braun KL. Low health literacy and cancer screening among Chinese Americans in California: a cross-sectional analysis. *BMJ Open*. (2015) 5:e006104. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2014-006104
- Kim W, Keefe RH. Barriers to healthcare among Asian Americans. Soc Work Public Health. (2010) 25:286–95. doi: 10.1080/19371910903240704
- Ngo-Metzger Q, Massagli MP, Clarridge BR, Manocchia M, Davis RB, Iezzoni LI, et al. Linguistic and cultural barriers to care. J Gen Intern Med. (2003) 18:44–52. doi: 10.1046/j.1525-1497.2003.20205.x
- Rutter M. Psychosocial resilience and protective mechanisms. Am J Orthopsychiatry. (1987) 57:316–31. doi: 10.1111/j.1939-0025.1987.tb03541.x
- Kessler RC, Sonnega A, Bromet E, Hughes M, Nelson CB. Posttraumatic stress disorder in the National Comorbidity Survey. Arch Gen Psychiatry. (1995) 52:1048–60. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1995.03950240066012
- Bonanno GA, Mancini AD. The human capacity to thrive in the face of potential trauma. *Pediatrics*. (2008) 121:369–75. doi: 10.1542/peds.2007-1648
- 52. Tugade MM, Fredrickson BL, Barrett LF. Psychological resilience and positive emotional granularity: examining the benefits of positive emotions on coping and health. *J Pers.* (2004) 72:1161–90. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.2004.00294.x
- Morey BN, Gee GC, Shariff-Marco S, Yang J, Allen L, Gomez SL. Ethnic enclaves, discrimination, and stress among Asian American women: differences by nativity and time in the United States. *Cultur Divers Ethn Minor Psychol.* (2020) 26:460–71. doi: 10.1037/cdp0000322
- Lagisetty PA, Wen M, Choi H, Heisler M, Kanaya AM, Kandula NR. Neighborhood social cohesion and prevalence of hypertension and diabetes in a South Asian Population. *J Immigr Minor Health.* (2016) 18:1309– 16. doi: 10.1007/s10903-015-0308-8
- Ali SH, Yi SS, Wyatt LC, Misra S, Kwon SC, Trinh-Shevrin C, et al. Neighborhood social cohesion and disease prevention in Asian immigrant populations. *Prev Med.* (2020) 141:106298. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2020.106298
- Morey BN, Gee GC, von Ehrenstein OS, Shariff-Marco S, Canchola AJ, Yang J, et al. Higher breast cancer risk among immigrant Asian American women than among US-Born Asian American women. *Prev Chronic Dis.* (2019) 16:E20. doi: 10.5888/pcd16.180221
- Trinh Q-D, Li H, Meyer CP, Hanske J, Choueiri TK, Reznor G, et al. Determinants of cancer screening in Asian-Americans. *Cancer Causes Control.* (2016) 27:989–98. doi: 10.1007/s10552-016-0776-8
- Chen JY, Diamant AL, Kagawa-Singer M, Pourat N, Wold C. Disaggregating data on Asian and Pacific Islander women to assess cancer screening. *Am J Prev Med.* (2004) 27:139–45. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2004.03.013
- Office of Cancer Control and Prevention. Health Indicator Report of Self-Reported Colorectal Cancer Screening. (2020) Available online at: https:// www-doh.state.nj.us/doh-shad/indicator/view/FOBTSigmoid.RaceEth.html (accessed February 18, 2021).
- 60. Dong X. Addressing health and well-being of U.S. Chinese older adults through community-based participatory research: introduction to the

PINE study. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. (2014) 69(Suppl. 2):S1-6. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glu112

- Billioux A, Verlander, K, Anthony S, Alley, D. Standardized Screening for Health-Related Social Needs in Clinical Settings: The Accountable Health Communities Screening Tool. Washington, DC: National Academy of Medicine (2017).
- Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. Accountable Health Communities Model. Available online at: https://innovation.cms.gov/innovation-models/ ahcm (accessed Nov 6, 2020).
- Hager ER, Quigg AM, Black MM, Coleman SM, Heeren T, Rose-Jacobs R, et al. Development and validity of a 2-item screen to identify families at risk for food insecurity. *Pediatrics*. (2010) 126:e26–32. doi: 10.1542/peds.2009-3146
- Sherin KM, Sinacore JM, Li XQ, Zitter RE, Shakil A. HITS: a short domestic violence screening tool for use in a family practice setting. *Fam Med.* (1998) 30:508–12.
- 65. Cook JT, Frank DA, Casey PH, Rose-Jacobs R, Black MM, Chilton M, et al. A brief indicator of household energy security: associations with food security, child health, and child development in US infants and toddlers. *Pediatrics*. (2008) 122:e867–75. doi: 10.1542/peds.2008-0286
- Abt Associates I. New Jersey Statewide Survey on our Health and Well Being. Rockville: Abt Associates I (2019).
- Cramm JM, van Dijk HM, Nieboer AP. The importance of neighborhood social cohesion and social capital for the well being of older adults in the community. *Gerontologist*. (2013) 53:142–52. doi: 10.1093/geront/gns052
- Young MC, Gerber MW, Ash T, Horan CM, Taveras EM. Neighborhood social cohesion and sleep outcomes in the Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander National Health Interview Survey. Sleep. (2018) 41. doi: 10.1093/sleep/zsy097
- 69. Pei F, Wang YX, Wu Q, McCarthy KS, Wu SY. The roles of neighborhood social cohesion, peer substance use, and adolescent depression in adolescent substance use. *Child Youth Serv Rev.* (2020) 112: 104931. doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.104931
- Quinn TD, Wu F, Mody D, Bushover B, Mendez DD, Schiff M, et al. Associations between neighborhood social cohesion and physical activity in the United States, National Health Interview Survey, 2017. *Prev Chronic Dis.* (2019) 16:E163. doi: 10.5888/pcd16.190085
- Tang F, Chi I, Xu L, Dong X. Exploring relationships of psychological sense of community with self-rated health and depressive symptoms among older Chinese Americans. *Gerontol Geriatr Med.* (2018) 4:2333721418778183. doi: 10.1177/2333721418778183
- US Preventive Services Task Force. Colorectal Cancer: Screening. (2016) Available online at: https://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/uspstf/ recommendation/colorectal-cancer-screening (accessed December 06, 2020).
- US Preventive Services Task Force. Breast Cancer: Screening. (2016) Available online at: https://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/uspstf/ recommendation/breast-cancer-screening (accessed December 06, 2020).
- 74. R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna: R Core Team (2020).
- Wu C, Qian Y, Wilkes R. Anti-Asian discrimination and the Asian-white mental health gap during COVID-19. *Ethn Racial Stud.* (2021) 44:819–35. doi: 10.1080/01419870.2020. 1851739
- 76. Asian American Bar Association of New York. A Rising Tide of Hate and Violence Against Asian Americans in New York During COVID-19: Impact, Causes, Solutions. New York, NY: Asian American Bar Association of New York (2021).
- 77. Chen JA, Zhang E, Liu CH. Potential impact of COVID-19-related racial discrimination on the health of Asian Americans. Am J Public Health. (2020) 110:1624–7. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2020.305858
- Schanzenbach D, Pitts A. How Much Has Food Insecurity Risen? Evidence from the Census Household Pulse Survey. Northwestern Institute for Policy Research (2020). Available online at: https://www.ipr.northwestern.edu/ documents/reports/ipr-rapid-research-reports-pulse-hh-data-10-june-2020.pdf

- National Alliance to End Homelessness. State of Homelessness: 2020 Edition. (2020). Available online at: https://endhomelessness.org/homelessnessin-america/homelessness-statistics/state-of-homelessness-2020/ (accessed February 24, 2021).
- 80. De Marchis EH, Hessler D, Fichtenberg C, Fleegler EW, Huebschmann AG, Clark CR, et al. Assessment of social risk factors and interest in receiving health care-based social assistance among adult patients and adult caregivers of pediatric patients. *JAMA Network Open.* (2020) 3:e2021201. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.21201
- Gee GC, Ro A, Shariff-Marco S, Chae D. Racial discrimination and health among Asian Americans: evidence, assessment, and directions for future research. *Epidemiol Rev.* (2009) 31:130–51. doi: 10.1093/epirev/mxp009
- Gordon NP, Banegas MP, Tucker-Seeley RD. Racial-ethnic differences in prevalence of social determinants of health and social risks among middleaged and older adults in a Northern California health plan. *PLoS ONE*. (2020) 15:e0240822. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0240822
- Gottlieb LM, Wing H, Adler NE. A systematic review of interventions on Patients' Social and economic needs. Am J Prev Med. (2017) 53:719– 29. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2017.05.011
- Mishra SI, DeForge B, Barnet B, Ntiri S, Grant L. Social determinants of breast cancer screening in urban primary care practices: a community-engaged formative study. Women's Health Issues. (2012) 22:e429–38. doi: 10.1016/j.whi.2012.06.004
- Yue D, Pourat N, Chen X, Lu C, Zhou W, Daniel M, et al. Enabling services improve access to care, preventive services, and satisfaction among health center patients. *Health Aff.* (2019) 38:1468–74. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2018.05228
- Harris AM, Link-Gelles R, Kim K, Chandrasekar E, Wang S, Bannister N, et al. Community-based services to improve testing and linkage to care among non–U.S.-born persons with chronic hepatitis B virus infection — three U.S. programs, October 2014–September 2017. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* (2018) 67:541–546. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6719a2
- Alexander GC, Tajanlangit M, Heyward J, Mansour O, Qato DM, Stafford RS. Use and content of primary care office-based vs telemedicine care visits during the COVID-19 pandemic in the US. *JAMA Netw Open*. (2020) 3:e2021476. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.21476
- Patt D, Gordan L, Diaz M, Okon T, Grady L, Harmison M, et al. Impact of COVID-19 on cancer care: how the pandemic is delaying cancer diagnosis and treatment for American seniors. *JCO Clin Cancer Inform*. (2020) 4:1059– 71. doi: 10.1200/CCI.20.00134
- Miller MJ XL, Qin J, Hahn EE, Ngo-Metzger Q, Mittman B, et al. Impact of COVID-19 on cervical cancer screening rates among women aged 21–65 years in a large integrated health care system — Southern California, January 1– September 30, 2019, and January 1–September 30, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. (2021)70:109–13. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm7004a1
- Castrucci BC, Auerbach J. Meeting Individual Social Needs Falls Short of Addressing Social Determinants Of Health. Health Affairs Blog editor (2019). Available online at: https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/hblog20190115. 234942/full/ (accessed February 24, 2021).
- 91. RWJBarnabas Health. *RWJBarnabas Health Embarks on System-Wide Initiative To End Racism.* West Orange, NJ: RWJBarnabas Health (2020).

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Tsui, Yang, Anuforo, Chou, Brogden, Xu, Cantor and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Racial Disparity and Social Determinants in Receiving Timely Surgery Among Stage I–IIIA Non-small Cell Lung Cancer Patients in a U.S. Southern State

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Chien-Ching Li, Rush University, United States

Reviewed by:

Vu Duy Kien, Independent Researcher, Hanoi, Vietnam Andreia Leite, New University of Lisbon, Portugal

*Correspondence:

Lu Zhang lz3@clemson.edu

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Life-Course Epidemiology and Social Inequalities in Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

> Received: 01 February 2021 Accepted: 11 May 2021 Published: 02 June 2021

Citation:

Neroda P, Hsieh M-C, Wu X-C, Cartmell KB, Mayo R, Wu J, Hicks C and Zhang L (2021) Racial Disparity and Social Determinants in Receiving Timely Surgery Among Stage I–IIIA Non-small Cell Lung Cancer Patients in a U.S. Southern State. Front. Public Health 9:662876. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.662876 Paige Neroda^{1†}, Mei-Chin Hsieh^{2†}, Xiao-Cheng Wu², Kathleen B. Cartmell¹, Rachel Mayo¹, Jiande Wu³, Chindo Hicks³ and Lu Zhang^{1*}

¹ Department of Public Health Sciences, Clemson University, Clemson, SC, United States, ² Louisiana Tumor Registry, School of Public Health, Louisiana State University Health Sciences Center, New Orleans, LA, United States, ³ Department of Genetics, School of Medicine, Louisiana State University Health Sciences Center, New Orleans, LA, United States

Delayed surgery is associated with worse lung cancer outcomes. Social determinants can influence health disparities. This study aimed to examine the potential racial disparity and the effects from social determinants on receipt of timely surgery among lung cancer patients in Louisiana, a southern state in the U.S. White and black stage I-IIIA non-small cell lung cancer patients diagnosed in Louisiana between 2004 and 2016, receiving surgical lobectomy or a more extensive surgery, were selected. Diagnosis-to-surgery interval >6 weeks were considered as delayed surgery. Social determinants included marital status, insurance, census tract level poverty, and census tract level urbanicity. Multivariable logistic regression and generalized multiple mediation analysis were conducted. A total of 3,616 white (78.9%) and black (21.1%) patients were identified. The median time interval from diagnosis to surgery was 27 days in whites and 42 days in blacks (P < 0.0001). About 28.7% of white and 48.4% of black patients received delayed surgery (P < 0.0001). Black patients had almost two-fold odds of receiving delayed surgery than white patients (adjusted odds ratio: 1.91; 95% confidence interval: 1.59-2.30). Social determinants explained about 26% of the racial disparity in receiving delayed surgery. Having social support, private insurance, and living in census tracts with lower poverty level were associated with improved access to timely surgery. The census tract level poverty level a stronger effect on delayed surgery in black patients than in white patients. Tailored interventions to improve the timely treatment in NSCLC patients, especially black patients, are needed in the future.

Keywords: non-small cell lung cancer, timely surgery, racial disparity, social determinants, cancer registry

Racial Disparity in Lung Surgery

INTRODUCTION

Lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer death in the United States (U.S.), accounting for 24% of all cancer deaths (1). In 2020, it is estimated that up to 228,820 new cases and 135,720 deaths from lung cancer occurred in the U.S (2). Nonsmall cell lung cancer (NSCLC) represents about 85% of all lung cancer cases (3). Survival of NSCLC patients has improved with the advancement of early detection and treatment (4). Surgical resection is the primary recommended treatment for patients with stage I-IIIA NSCLC (5). Timely care is an important indicator of the quality of care recommended by the Institute of Medicine (5). Delayed surgery is associated with tumor upstaging and worse survival (4, 6). Patients who receive surgery tend to have a longer wait time than those not receiving surgery, because of the multiple staging studies and preoperative examinations that are required (7, 8). It is of public health importance to examine the timeliness of NSCLC surgery.

Racial disparities exist in NSCLC diagnosis, treatment, and outcomes. Black patients are 16% less likely to be diagnosed at an early stage, 57% less likely to receive guideline concordant treatment, and 19% less likely to receive surgical treatment, when compared to their white counterparts. The survival rate is also lower in black patients than in white patients (9-11). From 2010 to 2015, Louisiana ranked 7th among states in the U.S. for lung cancer incidence and mortality rate (12). Blacks make up approximately 1/3 of the population in Louisiana, and have worse health status than other racial groups (10). Black residents in Louisiana have a higher lung cancer incidence (68.9 vs. 61.1 per 100,000) and poorer survival compared to black people in the U.S. on average (13, 14). Additionally, 17.9% of black NSCLC patients in Louisiana received early diagnosis while 21.4% of whites received early diagnosis (10). Thus, Louisiana NSCLC patients are the appropriate population to investigate the racial disparity in timely surgery of NSCLC.

Social determinants of health are societal factors that contribute to one's overall health or the health of the community (15). It has been argued throughout history that racial health disparities are not caused by biological difference; rather they are influenced by societal factors (16). Previous studies have found that social and economic factors influence disparities in lung cancer incidence and survival, even more than biological differences. Several social determinants, including income, insurance status, marital status, and rural residence, are associated with the receipt of standard care for NSCLC (17). This study had three objectives: (1) to investigate whether there is a racial disparity in receipt of timely surgery among stage I-IIIA NSCLC patients; (2) if the racial disparity exists, to examine whether the disparity can be explained by multiple social determinants; and 3) to explore whether the social determinants have a differential effect on timely surgery in each racial group.

METHODS

Data Source and Study Population

The Louisiana Tumor Registry (LTR) is a population-based state cancer registry and a participant of the National Cancer

Institute's Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) program and the National Program of Cancer Registries of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. LTR routinely collects data on the characteristics, diagnosis, and the first course treatment of newly diagnosed cancers among Louisiana residents. This study identified white and black patients who were diagnosed with stage I-IIIA NSCLC between 2004 and 2016 from the LTR database. Only patients who received surgery of lobectomy or more extensive surgery were included. Patients who received neoadjuvant treatment, or who had unknown timing of treatment initiation were excluded.

Variables

The main exposure variable was race (white, black). The outcome variable was timely receipt of surgery. As we included stage I–IIIA patients to whom the recommended first definitive treatment was surgery, and excluded the patients who received neoadjuvant treatment and those whose timing of treatment initiation was unclear, we considered that surgery was the first treatment for the selected patients. The main guidelines for the timing of treatment initiation of NSCLC patients is to receive surgery within 6 weeks, as specified by the RAND corporation (18), within 8 weeks by the British Thoracic Society (19), and within 4–8 weeks by the American College of Chest Physicians (20). Thus, we used ≤ 6 weeks as a middle representation across these guidelines (≤ 6 weeks, > 6 weeks).

Social determinants examined in this study included type of insurance (private, Medicare, Medicaid, no insurance, unknown), marital status (married, single or divorced or widowed or other, unknown), census tract level population under the federal poverty level (<10%, 10-19.9%, >20%), and census tract level urbanicity (urban, rural). Census tract level urbanicity was determined based on the Census Bureau's identification of urban and rural areas. Other covariates included age at diagnosis (<54, 55–64, 65–74, \geq 75), sex, tumor histology (adenocarcinoma, other), tumor size (<3 cm, 3-7 cm, >7 cm), American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) stage (I, II, IIIA), grade (well-differentiated, moderately differentiated, poorly differentiated/undifferentiated, unknown), lymph node involvement status (negative, positive), surgery type (resection of lob, resection extended), and comorbidity (Charlson Comorbidity Index score of 0, 1, 2+) (21).

Statistical Analysis

We used Chi-square test to compare the categorical variables. Students' *t*-test and Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney test were applied to compare the mean and median time interval between tumor diagnosis and surgical resection by race. We applied three logistic regression models to examine the racial difference in receiving timely surgery. In Model 1, we employed a crude model to examine the racial disparity for delayed surgery. In Model 2, we controlled for clinical factors, including age, sex, comorbidity, histology type, tumor size, AJCC stage, tumor grade, lymph node involvement status, and surgery type, to examine whether the adjusted odds ratio (OR) of delayed surgery remained significant for race. As a final step, social determinants were adjusted in Model 3 to examine



whether the racial disparity could be explained. To examine the effect of social determinants on delayed surgery in each racial group, a stratified analysis was conducted among white and black patients. These analyses were performed using SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc.), and statistical tests of significance were based on a 2-sided test with significance levels of 0.05.

To examine the percentage of racial differences in receiving timely surgery which was explained by the social determinants, we conducted general multiple mediation analysis (MMA) to evaluate the mediating effects. MMA evaluates the mediating effects under the counterfactual framework, which can report joint mediation effects through multiple selected mediators simultaneously, considering the correlation among these mediators (22). As shown in the conceptual diagram in Figure 1, race was treated as exposure variable and timely surgery as outcome variable. Demographic characteristics (age, sex) were deemed as potential confounders. Clinical factors (comorbidity, tumor histology, size, stage, grade, lymph node involvement, and surgery type) and social determinants (marital status, insurance, census tract poverty level, and census tract urbanicity) were considered as groups of mediators in the pathway between race and timely surgery. The total effect of race on timely surgery was the sum of the direct effect from race and the indirect effect through each group of mediators (total effect = direct effect + indirect effect) (22). The percentage of the total effect explained by each group of mediators was calculated as the ratio of the indirect effect divided by the total effect. We used R version 4.0.0 with mma package to conduct the mediation analysis. The 95% confidence interval was obtained by bootstrap with 500 repetitions.

RESULTS

A total of 3,616 patients, including 2,854 (78.9%) white and 762 (21.1%) black patients were included in our study (**Table 1**). White patients were more likely to be older than 65 years, married, have stage I or lymph node negative disease, while black patients were more likely to be covered by Medicaid, live in a census tract with higher urbanicity and poverty level. For both racial groups, over half of patients were male, without comorbid conditions, diagnosed with adenocarcinoma and <3 cm tumors, or receiving lobectomy. The median time interval from diagnosis to surgery was 27 days for whites and 42 days for blacks (P < 0.0001). About 28.7% of white patients and 48.4% of black patients received surgery after 6 weeks from diagnosis (P < 0.0001).

Compared to white patients, the OR of receiving surgery more than 6 weeks after diagnosis for black patients was 2.33 (95% confidence interval [CI]: 2.00-2.74) in the crude model, which decreased to 2.19 (95% CI: 1.84-2.60) after controlling demographic and tumor characteristics. With additional adjustment of social determinants, the OR remained significant at 1.91 (95% CI: 1.59-2.30) (Table 2). Being unmarried (OR: 1.27, 95% CI: 1.08-1.48), having Medicare or other public insurance (OR:1.20, 95% CI: 1.01-1.44), having Medicaid insurance (OR:1.67, 95% CI: 1.31-2.14), no insurance (OR:3.03, 95% CI: 1.98-4.65), and living in high poverty level area (OR 1.43, 95% CI: 1.08-1.48) were associated with a significantly higher likelihood of delayed surgery. After stratification by race, living in a high poverty census tract was significantly associated with delayed surgery in both racial groups, but with a higher OR in blacks (OR: 1.91, 95% CI: 1.09-3.35) than in whites (OR: 1.37, 95% CI: 1.10-1.71) (Table 3). Among white patients, the

TABLE 1 | Characteristics of Louisiana stage I–IIIA non-small cell lung cancer patients by race, 2004–2016, n (%).

	Total	White	Black	P-value
V	3,616	2,854 (78.9)	762 (21.1)	
Demographic factors				
ge				<0.0001
-54	496 (13.7)	353 (12.4)	143 (18.8)	
5–64	980 (27.1)	722 (25.3)	258 (33.9)	
5–74	1463 (40.5)	1176 (41.2)	287 (37.7)	
5+	677 (18.7)	603 (21.1)	74 (9.7)	
ex				0.47
emale	1,913 (52.9)	1,501 (52.6)	412 (54.1)	
ale	1,703 (47.1)	1,353 (47.4)	350 (45.9)	
linical factors				
mor histology				0.09
denocarcinoma	2,186 (60.5)	1,705 (59.7)	481 (63.1)	
on-adenocarcinoma	1,430 (39.5)	1,149 (40.3)	281 (36.9)	
mor size		· · ·	. ,	0.84
3 cm	2,149 (59.4)	1,702 (59.6)	447 (58.7)	
 7 cm	1,289 (35.6)	1,014 (35.5)	275 (36.1)	
7 cm	178 (4.9)	138 (4.9)	40 (5.3)	
JCC stage		· · · /	· · · /	0.02
age I	2,447 (67.7)	1,964 (68.8)	483 (63.4)	0.02
age II	750 (20.7)	568 (19.9)	182 (23.9)	
age IIIA	419 (11.6)	322 (11.3)	97 (12.7)	
mph node involvement		()	. ()	0.02
egative	2,758 (76.3)	2,202 (77.2)	556 (73.0)	0.02
ositive	858 (23.7)	652 (22.9)	206 (27.0)	
rade		()		0.64
ell-differentiated	420 (11.6)	335 (11.7)	85 (11.2)	
oderately differentiated	1,467 (40.6)	1,170 (41.0)	297 (39.0)	
porly/undifferentiated	1,449 (40.1)	1,129 (39.6)	320 (42.0)	
nknown	280 (7.7)	220 (7.7)	60 (7.9)	
urgery type	200 (111)	220 (111)	00 (110)	0.67
esection of lobe	3,200 (88.5)	2,529 (88.6)	671 (88.1)	0.01
esection extended	416 (11.5)	325 (11.4)	91 (11.9)	
pmorbidity score		020 (111)	01 (1110)	0.05
	2,000 (55.3)	1,587 (55.6)	413 (54.2)	0.00
	1,053 (29.1)	844 (29.6)	209 (27.4)	
÷	563 (15.6)	423 (14.8)	140 (18.4)	
ocial determinants	000 (10.0)	120 (11.0)	110 (10.1)	
arital status				<0.0001
arried	2,111 (58.4)	1,798 (63.0)	313 (41.1)	<0.0001
ngle/divorced/widowed/other	1,395 (38.6)	968 (33.9)	427 (56.0)	
nknown	110 (3.0)	88 (3.1)	22 (2.9)	
surance	. 10 (0.0)	00 (0.1)		<0.0001
ivate	1,347 (37.3)	1,100 (38.5)	247 (32.4)	<0.0001
edicare/other public	1,682 (46.5)	1,390 (48.7)	292 (38.3)	
edicaid	409 (11.3)	245 (8.6)	164 (21.5)	
o insurance	104 (2.9)	67 (2.4)	37 (4.9)	
nknown	74 (2.0)	52 (1.8)	22 (2.9)	
ensus tract level poverty	14 (2.0)	UZ (1.0)	22 (2.3)	<0.0001
10%	902 (24.9)	839 (29.4)	63 (8.3)	<0.0001
)–19.9%				
J 1 3 . 3 / 0	1,407 (38.9)	1,225 (42.9)	182 (23.9)	

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

	Total	White	Black	P-value
≥20%	1,307 (36.2)	790 (27.7)	517 (67.9)	
Census tract level urbanicity				< 0.0001
Urban	2,597 (71.8)	1,953 (68.4)	644 (84.5)	
Rural	1,019 (28.2)	901 (31.6)	118 (15.5)	
Time interval from diagnosis to surgery, mean (std)	40.8 (44.8)	32.7 (35.6)	47.1 (43.0)	< 0.0001
Time interval from diagnosis to surgery, median (Q1–Q3)	29 (6–50)	27 (3–46)	42 (14–70)	<.0001
Receiving surgery >6 weeks from diagnosis	32.9	28.7	48.4	<0.0001

AJCC, American Joint Committee on Cancer; std, standard deviation; Q1, the first quartile; Q3, the third quartile.

OR of receiving surgery more than 6 weeks after diagnosis was significant for those with Medicare coverage (OR: 2.11, 95% CI: 1.56–2.85) and no insurance coverage (OR: 4.15, 95% CI: 2.46–7.04), compared to those with private insurance coverage. Among black patients, those with Medicaid coverage had a significantly higher risk of delayed surgery (OR: 1.48, 95% CI: 1.01-2.16) (**Table 3**).

From the mediation analysis, the total effect of race on timely surgery was 0.905 (95% CI; 0.735–1.091), the direct effect was 0.652 (95% CI: 0.470–0.854), and the indirect effect through clinical factors and social determinants were 0.009 (95% CI: -0.013-0.028), and 0.235 (95% CI: 0.151-0.321). The percentage of racial disparities transmitted through social determinants was 25.97%.

DISCUSSION

With population-based data collected by the state cancer registry, we found that black stage I-IIIA NSCLC patients had almost twofold odds of receiving delayed surgery, compared to their white counterparts. Multiple social determinants, including insurance, marital status, and poverty level in the census tract, were significant predictors of delayed surgery, but these factors did not fully explain the racial disparity in delayed NSCLC surgery in a U.S. southern state.

Our findings of a higher risk of delayed surgery among black patients are consistent with a few studies using nationwide databases. However, the magnitude of the racial disparity was more profound in Louisiana than in U.S. on average. One recent study using 2008–2013 National Cancer Data Base (NCDB) reported a median time from diagnosis to surgical resection of 26 days for whites and 31 days for blacks (p < 0.0001) (9). White patients in Louisiana had a similar median wait time for surgery compared to white patients in the U.S. (27 days vs. 26 days), but black patients in Louisiana experienced a 30% longer wait time compared to black patients in the U.S. (42 days vs. 31 days). The larger difference in diagnosis-to-surgery interval between black and white patients in Louisiana is also reflected in the higher OR found in our study. One study using SEER-Medicare data reported that black NSCLC patients had 1.18 times the odds of receiving delayed treatment compared to white patients (23). Another study using NCDB data reported an adjusted OR of 1.48 of delayed surgery in blacks than in whites. In Louisiana, black patients had 1.92 times the odds of having delay in NSCLC surgery compared to white patients, after adjusting for clinical factors and social determinants.

We examined the impact from several social determinants on timely surgery and whether the examined social determinants could explain the observed racial disparity. Unsurprisingly, private insurance was a significant predictor of the receipt of timely surgery or guideline-concordant care in lung cancer patients (17). Medicaid insured patients tended to experience the largest delay in receiving treatment (17). In a national study, compared to NSCLC patients with private insurance, the diagnosis-to-surgery interval was 2.3 days longer for Medicare patients, 10.8 days longer for Medicaid patients, and 7.8 days for longer for patients who were uninsured or whose insurance status was unknown (9). Another study found that patients covered by both Medicare and Medicaid were less likely to receive timely surgical treatment than patients with only Medicare (23). Insurance was also a significant predictor of delayed surgery in our study, however, we additionally found different effects of insurance coverage on timely treatment in two racial groups. Among white patients, Medicaid covered patients had two times the odds and patients without insurance had four times the odds of having delayed surgery compared to their privately insured counterparts. Compared to black patients with private insurance, the odds of receiving surgery more than 6 weeks after diagnosis was 1.5 times for the Medicare group, but no significant differences were observed for those with Medicaid or those without insurance. The small sample size of black patients may be a reason for a lack of finding significant ORs. However, the point estimates of the ORs in these two groups were also lower in black patients than in white patients. Another possible reason is the availability of charity hospitals in Louisiana, which provide medical services to uninsured residents. As the majority of patients receiving care through charity hospitals are black, the black uninsured patients may have had more healthcare access benefits through the charity hospitals than white uninsured patients. This could be a possible explanation of the insignificant odds ratios of receiving delayed surgery for black Medicaid covered or uninsured patients compared to black privately insured patients (in contrast with the highly significant odds ratios observed in white patients). The adoption of public policies, such as the

TABLE 2 Odds ratio (95% confidence interval) of receiving surgery 6 weeks or
later after diagnosis for non-small cell lung cancer patients.

	Model 1*	Model 2 [†]	Model 3 [¶]
Race			
White	1	1	1
Black	2.33 (2.00, 2.74)	2.19 (1.84, 2.60)	1.91 (1.59, 2.30)
Age, %			
<54		1	1
55–64		1.24 (0.98, 1.58)	1.40 (1.09, 1.80)
65–74		1.14 (0.90,1.43	1.27 (0.98, 1.64)
75+		1.34 (1.03,1.74)	1.48 (1.11, 1.97)
Sex, %			
Female		1	1
Male		0.99 (0.86,1.16)	0.93 (0.80, 1.08)
Tumor histology, %			
Adenocarcinoma		1	1
Non-adenocarcinoma		1.06 (0.90,1.23)	1.02 (0.87, 1.20)
Tumor size, %			
<3 cm		1	1
3–7 cm		1.27 (1.09, 1.49)	1.27 (1.08, 1.49)
>7 cm		0.90 (0.62, 1.29)	0.93 (0.64, 1.34)
AJCC stage, %			
Stage I		1	1
Stage II		1.16 (0.89, 1.51)	1.09 (0.84, 1.42)
Stage IIIA		1.46 (1.03, 2.10)	1.43 (0.99, 2.05)
Lymph node involveme	ent, %		
Negative		1	1
Positive		0.90 (0.67, 1.20)	0.93 (0.69, 1.25)
Grade, %			
Well-differentiated		1	1
Moderately		1.02 (0.80, 1.31)	0.97 (0.76, 1.25)
differentiated			
Poorly/undifferentiated		1.49 (1.10, 2.10)	1.08 (0.84, 1.40)
Surgery type, %			
Resection of lobe		1	1
Resection extended		0.87 (0.69, 1.10)	0.85 (0.67, 1.08)
Charlson comorbidity	index, %		
0		1	1
1		1.15 (0.98, 1.36)	1.11 (0.94, 1.31)
2+		1.39 (1.14, 1.70)	1.32 (1.08, 1.62)
Marital status, %			
Married			1
Single/divorced/widowed	d/other		1.27 (1.08, 1.48)
Unknown			0.67 (0.41, 1.09)
Insurance, %			
Private			1
Medicare/other public			1.20 (1.01, 1.44)
Medicaid			1.67 (1.31, 2.14)
No insurance			3.04 (1.98, 4.65)
Unknown			0.66 (0.34, 1.20)
Census tract poverty,	%		
<10%			1
10–19.9%			1.17 (0.96, 1.43)
			(Continued

TABLE 2 | Continued

	Model 1*	Model 2 [†]	Model 3 [¶]
≥20%			1.43 (1.17, 1.76)
Census tract ur	banicity, %		
Urban			1
Rural			1.02 (0.86, 1.21)

*Crude model; [†]Adjusted age at diagnosis, sex, marital status, histology, tumor size, AJCC stage, tumor grade, lymph node involvement status, surgery type, and comorbidity. [¶]Additionally adjusted for insurance, marital status, census tract level poverty and urbanicity.

Affordable Care Act (ACA) can improve access to high quality healthcare for marginalized populations receiving disparate care. Previous studies have shown that cancer survivors in Medicaid expansion states were more likely to be insured, to have access to care, and to be diagnosed at an early stage of disease than those in non-expansion states (17, 24). Louisiana was one of the states with earliest initiation of ACA expansion in the country (23).

Our findings indicate that those who are single, widowed or divorced are more likely to receive delayed surgical treatment for NSCLC. Being married or living with a partner is an indication of social support. Social support has been found to be a protective factor for the prevention and maintenance of many diseases (25). Previous studies reported that being married is a predictor of receiving standard care and better outcomes (26–28), while experiencing social isolation or loneliness has a negative influence on lung cancer patients (29). In our study, being married showed a similar protective effect for receiving timely surgery in both white and black patients, while the insignificance of the OR among black patients may be due to the smaller sample size of black patients in our study.

Our study revealed that living in census tracts with a higher proportion of the population living above the national poverty level was associated with higher risk of receiving delayed surgery, and the relationship showed a dose-response effect. This finding is consistent with previous research that evaluated both individual level household income and censustract level income (9, 30). Even among Medicare covered NSCLC patients who have equal health care access, income level is positively associated with timely treatment (23). After stratification by race, we found that the impact from income was even stronger among black patients, while the strength of the association among white patients was similar to findings from national data (23). Although urban residence was associated with lower lung cancer incidence and better outcomes (31, 32), similar to another study (23), living in urban census tracts was not a significant predictor of timely surgery in our study.

Unsurprisingly, social determinants of health are important contributing factors of racial disparities in cancer prognosis and outcomes (33–35). It has also been found that social determinants account for racial disparities in receiving

	White	Black
Age		
<54	1	1
55–64	1.43 (1.05, 1.94)	1.26 (0.81, 1.96)
65–74	1.22 (0.90, 1.66)	1.39 (0.87, 2.21
75+	1.64 (1.17, 2.28)	0.92 (0.49, 1.70
Sex		
Female	1	1
Male	0.99 (0.83, 1.18)	0.76 (0.55, 1.05
Tumor histology		
Adenocarcinoma	1	1
Non-adenocarcinoma	1.12 (0.94, 1.34)	0.74 (0.53, 1.03
AJCC Stage		
Stage I	1	1
Stage II	1.16 (0.85, 1.59)	0.90 (0.53, 1.03
Stage IIIA	1.43 (0.93, 2.19)	1.36 (0.69, 2.71
lumor size		
<3cm	1	1
3–7cm	1.26 (1.05, 1.52)	1.30 (0.93, 1.81
>7cm	0.96 (0.63, 1.47)	0.80 (0.39, 1.66
ymph node involvement		
Negative	1	1
Positive	0.96 (0.68, 1.35)	0.82 (0.47, 1.44
Grade		
Well-differentiated	1	1
Moderately differentiated	0.99 (0.74, 1.33)	0.84 (0.50, 1.40
Poorly/undifferentiated	1.10 (0.80, 1.47)	0.98 (0.57, 1.66
Surgery type		
Resection of lobe	1	1
Resection extended	0.90 (0.68, 1.18)	0.72 (0.44, 1.17
Comorbidity index		
)	1	1
1	1.11 (0.91, 1.34)	1.13 (0.80, 1.61
2+	1.33 (1.05, 1.70)	1.29 (0.86, 1.94
Marital status		
Married	1	1
Single/divorced/widowed/other	1.26 (1.05, 1.52)	1.21 (0.87, 1.68
nsurance		
Private	1	1
Medicare/other public	1.123 (0.92, 1.38)	1.47 (1.01, 2.15
Vedicaid	2.13 (1.57,2.88)	1.16 (0.75, 1.79
No insurance	4.10 (2.42, 6.95)	1.55 (0.75, 3.21
Jnknown	0.67 (0.31,1.44)	0.74 (0.28, 1.94
Census tract poverty	• • •	. , -
<10%	1	1
10–19.9%	1.14 (0.92, 1.40)	1.49 (0.80, 2.75
≥20%	1.37 (1.10, 1.72)	1.90 (1.08, 3.34
Census tract urbanicity		
Jrban	1	1
D		1 00 /0 07 0 00

0.97 (0.81, 1.17)

TABLE 3 Adjusted odds ratios (95% confidence interval) of receiving surgery 6
weeks or later after non-small cell lung cancer diagnosis, stratified by race.

guideline-recommended curative treatment for NSCLC, breast, and prostate cancer, specifically with insurance status, geographical access, and SES factors having been identified as contributors (36-39). Although black NSCLC patients are less likely to receive guideline concordant surgical treatment than whites, the literature on the role of social determinants in the receipt of timely cancer was limited (27, 40, 41). Black women are less likely on average to receive hormone therapy, chemotherapy, radiotherapy and surgical treatment for breast cancer in a timely manner as compared to white women (42). Additionally, both high and low-risk black prostate cancer patients experienced longer wait times from diagnosis to definitive treatment compared to white patients (43). One study reported that the differences in social determinants explained about 26% of racial disparities, while in our study, the majority of the racial disparity was not explained by the measured mediators. The remaining unexplained racial disparity indicates that there are other social-cultural differences between the two racial groups that influence the timeliness of surgical receipt for NSCLC. One limitation of our study is the lack of information on patients' perceptions and attitudes toward cancer treatment. Black patients may be reluctant to seek care due to stigma, distrust in physicians, and negative perceptions about surgery. Previous research indicates that black, at-risk NSCLC patients commonly seek a second opinion or are skeptical of information provided to them by a physician with whom they had no previous relationship with (44). Black patients also tend to have negative perceptions about surgical treatment, and believe it to be riskier than radiation or chemotherapy treatment (45). Future research could examine whether these risk factors can explain racial disparity in timely NSCLC surgery and design tailored intervention to improve the timely treatment in both racial groups. Another limitation of this study is that we did not have data on several individual-level social determinants, such as household income, education, and employment. Lower educational level is associated with decreased odds of having surgery and poorer survival rates (32). Population-based administrative data or cancer registry data usually do not have information on such individual-level variables. Surveys or additional medical record data extraction are needed to address this gap. Despite these limitations, our study is the first to investigate the impact of social determinants of health on receipt of timely NSCLC surgical treatment by race. Our findings can provide important evidence for future intervention.

In summary, while timely surgery is an important predictor of the prognosis of curable NSCLC, we found a significant racial disparity among Louisiana patients. Black patients had almost twice the odds of receiving delayed surgery than white patients, after adjusting for demographic, clinical, and social factors. Having social support, private insurance, and living in census tracts with higher income level was associated with improved access to timely surgery, but these factors explained only about 26% of the observed racial disparity. Majority of racial disparity remained unexplained. As the state of Louisiana has high proportion of black population and high lung cancer incidence, the findings from this

Rural

1.33 (0.87, 2.02)

study provide evidence for tailored interventions to improve timely treatment. Black patients living in census tracts with a higher poverty level should be particularly targeted, as they experienced a higher risk of delayed surgery. Future studies are needed to examine the effects of other individual level social determinants to decipher the racial disparity in NSCLC timely treatment.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data analyzed in this study is subject to the following licenses/restrictions: The de-identified dataset can be requested through the Louisiana Tumor Registry. Requests to access these datasets should be directed to mhsieh@lsuhsc.edu.

REFERENCES

- 1. Prevention CfDCa. *An Update on Cancer Deaths in the United States.* In: US Department of Health and Human Services CfDCaP, Division of Cancer Prevention and Control, editor. Atlanta, GA: Prevention CfDCa (2020).
- 2. American Cancer Society Cancer Action Network. *Cancer Disparities: A Chartbook.* Atlanta, GA: American Cancer Society (2018).
- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2019. CA Cancer J Clin. (2019) 69:7–34. doi: 10.3322/caac. 21551
- Samson P, Patel A, Garrett T, Crabtree T, Kreisel D, Krupnick AS, et al. Effects of delayed surgical resection on short-term and longterm outcomes in clinical stage I non-small cell lung cancer. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2015) 99:1906–13. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2015. 02.022
- National Comprehensive Cancer Network. NCCN Guidelines Version 3: Non-small Cell Lung Cancer (2020). Available online at: https://www.nccn. org/professionals/physician_gls/pdf/nscl.pdf (accessed February 24, 2020).
- Everitt S PN, Herschtal A, et al. The impact of time between staging PET/CT and definitive chemo-radiation on target volumes and survival in patients with non-small cell lung cancer. *Radiother Oncol.* (2013) 106:288– 91. doi: 10.1016/j.radonc.2013.02.010
- Nadpara P MS, Tworek C. Guideline-concordant timely lung cancer care and prognosis among elderly patients in the United States: a populationbased study. *Cancer Epidemiol.* (2015) 39:1136–44. doi: 10.1016/j.canep.2015. 06.005
- Maiga AW, Deppen SA, Pinkerman R, Callaway-Lane C, Massion PP, Dittus RS, et al. Timeliness of care and lung cancer tumor-stage progression: how long can we wait? *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2017) 104:1791– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2017.06.051
- Holmes JA, Chen RC. Racial disparities in time from diagnosis to treatment for stage i non-small cell lung cancer. *JNCI Cancer Spectrum*. (2018) 2:pky007. doi: 10.1093/jncics/pky007
- 10. Louisiana Department of Health. 2019 Louisiana Health Report Card. New Orleans, LA: Louisiana Department of Health (2019).
- Farjah F, Wood DE, Yanez ND, 3rd, Vaughan TL, Symons RG, Krishnadasan B, et al. Racial disparities among patients with lung cancer who were recommended operative therapy. *Arch Surg.* (2009) 144:14–8. doi: 10.1001/archsurg.2008.519
- 12. Louisiana Tumor Registry. Louisiana Cancer Facts & Figures, Lung and Bronchus Cancer. New Orleans, LA: Louisiana Tumor Registry (2017).
- Giancola M, Williams D, Kaufman R. Louisiana Comprehensice Cancer Control Plan, 2017–2021. New Orleans, LA: Louisiana Cancer Prevention and Control Programs (2016).
- 14. American Cancer Society. *Cancer Facts & Figures.* (2020). Atlanta, GA: American Cancer Society (2020).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

M-CH and X-CW provided data. M-CH and LZ ran the analyses. PN and LZ wrote the first draft of the paper, which was reviewed by all authors. All authors conceptualized, initiated the study and provided advice.

FUNDING

This study was funded by Clemson University internal funding, National Cancer Institute's Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) program HHSN261201800007I/HHSN26100002 and the National Program of Cancer Registries of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1 NU58DP006332/5 NU58DP006332.

- Braveman P, Gottlieb L. The social determinants of health: it's time to consider the causes of the causes. *Public Health Rep.* (2014) 129 (Suppl 2):19–31. doi: 10.1177/00333549141291S206
- Williams DR, Sternthal M. Understanding racial-ethnic disparities in health: sociological contributions. *J Health Soc Behav.* (2010) 51 (Suppl):S15– 27. doi: 10.1177/0022146510383838
- Toubat O, Atay SM, Kim AW, Ding L, Farias AJ, Ebner PJ, et al. Disparities in guideline-concordant treatment for pathologic N1 non-small cell lung cancer. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2020) 109:1512–20. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2019.11.059
- Asch S KE, Hamilton E, Reifel J, Mcglynn EA. Monograph Reports. Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation (2000).
- 19. Society LCWPotBT. Thorax. (1998) 53:S1-8. doi: 10.1136/thx.53.2008.S1
- Baker A. Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century. *BMJ*. (2001) 323:1192. doi: 10.1136/bmj.323.7322.1192
- Quan HSV, Halfon P, Fong A, Burnand B, Luthi JC, Saunders LD, et al. Coding algorithms for defining comorbidities in ICD-9-CM and ICD-10 administrative data. *Med Care.* (2005) 43:1130-9. doi: 10.1097/01.mlr.0000182534.19832.83
- 22. Yu QLB. mma: An R package for meditation analysis with multiple mediators. *J Open Res Softw.* (2017) 5:11. doi: 10.5334/jors.160
- Shugarman LR, Mack K, Sorbero MES, Tian H, Jain AK, Ashwood JS, et al. Race and sex differences in the receipt of timely and appropriate lung cancer treatment. *Med Care.* (2009) 47:774–81. doi: 10.1097/MLR.0b013e3181a393fe
- Chu QD, Hsieh M-C, Yi Y, Gibbs JF, Lyons JM III, Wu X-C. Positive impact of the patient protection and affordabale care act medicaid expansion on Louisana women with breast cancer. *Cancer*. (2020):27:1–12.
- Reblin M, Uchino BN. Social and emotional support and its implication for health. *Curr Opin Psychiatry.* (2008) 21:201– 5. doi: 10.1097/YCO.0b013e3282f3ad89
- Hua X, Ward KC, Gillespie TW, Lipscomb J, Goodman M. Nonsmall cell lung cancer treatment receipt and survival among africanamericans and whites in a rural area. J Community Health. (2014) 39:696– 705. doi: 10.1007/s10900-013-9813-7
- Bach PB, Cramer LD, Warren JL, Begg CB. Racial differences in the treatment of early-stage lung cancer. N Engl J Med. (1999) 341:1198– 205. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199910143411606
- Ellis L, Canchola AJ, Spiegel D, Ladabaum U, Haile R, Gomez SL. Racial and ethnic disparities in cancer survival: the contribution of tumor, sociodemographic, institutional, and neighborhood characteristics. J Clin Oncol. (2018) 36:25–33. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2017.74.2049
- Takemura T, Kataoka Y, Okazaki K, Sakurai A, Imakita T, Ikegaki S, et al. Influence of social determinants of health on patients with advanced lung cancer: a prospective cohort study. *BMJ Open.* (2018) 8:e023152e. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-023152
- Nilssen Y, Strand T-E, Fjellbirkeland L, Bartnes K, Brustugun OT, O'Connell DL, et al. Lung cancer treatment is influenced by income, education, age and

place of residence in a country with universal health coverage. *Int J Cancer.* (2016) 138:1350–60. doi: 10.1002/ijc.29875

- Singh GK, Williams SD, Siahpush M, Mulhollen A. Socioeconomic, ruralurban, and racial inequalities in US cancer mortality: part I—all cancers and lung cancer and part II—colorectal, prostate, breast, and cervical cancers. J Cancer Epidemiol. (2011) 2011:107497. doi: 10.1155/2011/107497
- Johnson AM, Hines RB, Johnson JA, Bayakly AR. Treatment and survival disparities in lung cancer: the effect of social environment and place of residence. *Lung Cancer*. (2014) 83:401–7. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2014.01.008
- Gerend MA, Pai M. Social determinants of Black-White disparities in breast cancer mortality: a review. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2008) 17:2913–23. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-07-0633
- Vick AD, Hery DN, Markowiak SF, Brunicardi FC. Closing the disparity in pancreatic cancer outcomes: a closer look at nonmodifiable factors and their potential use in treatment. *Pancreas*. (2019) 48:242–9. doi: 10.1097/MPA.00000000001238
- Warner ET, Tamimi RM, Hughes ME, Ottesen RA, Wong YN, Edge SB, et al. Racial and ethnic differences in breast cancer survival: mediating effect of tumor characteristics and sociodemographic and treatment factors. J Clin Oncol. (2015) 33:2254–61. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2014.57.1349
- Freedman RA, Virgo KS, He Y, Pavluck AL, Winer EP, Ward EM, et al. The association of race/ethnicity, insurance status, and socioeconomic factors with breast cancer care. *Cancer*. (2011) 117:180–9. doi: 10.1002/cncr.25542
- Lin JJ, Mhango G, Wall MM, Lurslurchachai L, Bond KT, Nelson JE, et al. Cultural factors associated with racial disparities in lung cancer care. *Ann Am Thorac Soc.* (2014) 11:489–95. doi: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201402-055OC
- Pan HY, Walker GV, Grant SR, Allen PK, Jiang J, Guadagnolo BA, et al. Insurance status and racial disparities in cancer-specific mortality in the united states: a population-based analysis. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2017) 26:869–75. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-16-0976
- Walker GV, Grant SR, Guadagnolo BA, Hoffman KE, Smith BD, Koshy M, et al. Disparities in stage at diagnosis, treatment, and survival in nonelderly adult patients with cancer according to insurance status. *J Clin Oncol.* (2014) 32:3118–25. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2014.55.6258

- Esnaola NF, Gebregziabher M, Knott K, Finney C, Silvestri GA, Reed CE, et al. Underuse of surgical resection for localized, non-small cell lung cancer among whites and African Americans in South Carolina. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2008) 86:220–7. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2008.02.072
- 41. Fry WA, Menck HR, Winchester DP. The national cancer data base report on lung cancer. *Cancer*. (1996) 77:1947–55.
- 42. Babatunde OA, Eberth JM, Felder TM, Moran R, Hughes-Halbert C, Truman S, et al. Racial disparities and diagnosis-to-treatment time among patients diagnosed with breast cancer in South Carolina. J Racial Ethn Health Disparities. (2021). doi: 10.1007/s40615-020-00935-z. [Epub ahead of print].
- 43. Stokes WA, Hendrix LH, Royce TJ, Allen IM, Godley PA, Wang AZ, et al. Racial differences in time from prostate cancer diagnosis to treatment initiation: a populationbased study. *Cancer.* (2013) 119:2486–93. doi: 10.1002/cncr. 27975
- Lathan CS, Waldman LT, Browning E, Gagne J, Emmons K. Perspectives of African Americans on lung cancer: a qualitative analysis. *Oncologist.* (2015) 20:393–9. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2014-0399
- Margolis ML, Christie JD, Silvestri GA, Kaiser L, Santiago S, Hansen-Flaschen J. Racial differences pertaining to a belief about lung cancer surgery: results of a multicenter survey. *Ann Intern Med.* (2003) 139:558–63. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-139-7-200310070-00007

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Neroda, Hsieh, Wu, Cartmell, Mayo, Wu, Hicks and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Use of Geographic Information System Technology to Evaluate Health Disparities in Smoking Cessation Class Accessibility for Patients in Louisiana Public Hospitals

Tung Sung Tseng^{1*}, Michael D. Celestin Jr.¹, Qingzhao Yu¹, Mirandy Li^{1,2}, Ting Luo³ and Sarah Moody-Thomas¹

¹ Behavioral and Community Health Sciences, School of Public Health, Louisiana State University Health Sciences Center, New Orleans, LA, United States, ² Louisiana State University Health New Orleans, School of Medicine, New Orleans, LA, United States, ³ Moores Cancer Center, School of Medicine, University of California San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Angelo d'Errico, Azienda Sanitaria Locale TO3, Italy

Reviewed by:

Xiangzhu Zhu, Vanderbilt University, United States Ana Isabel Ribeiro, University Porto, Portugal

> *Correspondence: Tung Sung Tseng ttseng@lsuhsc.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Life-Course Epidemiology and Social Inequalities in Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

> Received: 20 May 2021 Accepted: 14 July 2021 Published: 12 August 2021

Citation:

Tseng TS, Celestin MD Jr, Yu Q, Li M, Luo T and Moody-Thomas S (2021) Use of Geographic Information System Technology to Evaluate Health Disparities in Smoking Cessation Class Accessibility for Patients in Louisiana Public Hospitals. Front. Public Health 9:712635. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.712635 Research has shown cigarette smoking is a major risk factors for many type of cancer or cancer prognosis. Tobacco related health disparities were addressed continually in cancer screening, diagnosis, treatment, prevention and control. The present study evaluated the health disparities in attendance of smoking cessation counseling classes for 4,826 patients scheduled to attend between 2005 and 2007. Of 3,781 (78.4%) patients with records to calculate the distance from their home domicile to counseling sites using Geographic Information System technology, 1,435 (38%) of smokers who attended counseling had shorter travel distances to counseling sites (11.6 miles, SD = 11.29) compared to non-attendees (13.4 miles, SD = 16.72). When the travel distance was >20 miles, the estimated odds of attending decreased with greater travel distance. Smokers who actually attended were more likely to be older, female, White, living in urban areas, and receiving free healthcare. After controlling for other socio-demographic factors, shorter distances were associated with greater class attendance, and individuals more likely to attend included those that lived closer to the counseling site and in urban settings, were female, White, commercially insured, and older than their counterparts. These findings have the potential to provide important insights for reducing health disparities for cancer prevention and control, and to improve shared decision making between providers and smokers.

Keywords: tobacco control, smoking cessation, geographic information system, distance, cancer control

INTRODUCTION

Despite improvements in smoking cessation interventions, cigarette smoking continues to be the most preventable cause of morbidity and mortality in the United States (1). The 2019 United Health Foundation's report, *America's Health Rankings*, places Louisiana 49th in overall health, with smoking having the greatest negative impact on health (2). Tobacco use increases the risk of multiple cancers, such as lung, pancreas, bladder, stomach, and colon. In addition, continued tobacco use following a cancer diagnosis increases the risk of cancer recurrence, poor prognosis

and adverse treatment-related outcomes (3). In Louisiana, males, ethnic minorities, persons aged 25 to 64, and those over 20 years old with less than a high school education smoke more than their counterparts (4). Between 2005 and 2009, more than 7,200 adults in Louisiana died annually due to smoking, resulting in more than 1.8 billion dollars of attributable health care expenditures in 2009 (4). Based on this data, public health advocates should identify barriers to accessing smoking cessation programs, to decrease the prevalence of smoking and smoking-related deaths in Louisiana.

Tobacco related health disparities were addressed continually in cancer screening, diagnosis, treatment, prevention and control. These health disparities often reflect a greater burden among vulnerable populations (5). A 2014 review identified three major barriers to smoking cessation amongst vulnerable populations (defined as disadvantaged populations facing lower income, cultural differences, and/or social exclusion): the use of smoking as stress management, high acceptability and prevalence of smoking within the community, and lack of support and access to smoking cessation programs (6). Such vulnerable populations are overrepresented in Louisiana. For example, in the 2010 population census, Louisiana had a greater percentages of persons living in poverty (19.7%) compared to the United States general population (12.3%) (7).

There are various types of smoking cessation interventions, including self-help materials, medication, telephone quit lines, and behavioral counseling (8). Behavioral counseling increases smoking quit attempts and rates of long-term smoking abstinence (9). A 2009 meta-analysis found that intensive interventions such as behavioral group counseling were more likely to promote smoking cessation compared to controls (10). A recent study has showed that telephone counseling would be effective under more real-world conditions (11). However, studies examining attendance of behavioral counseling have found low rates of participation due to factors such as low health literacy (12), high costs of attending counseling (13), and being a racial/ethnic minority (14).

Geographic Information System (GIS) technology has been utilized in a variety of health applications, such as modeling and mapping of disease location, monitoring disease spread, and assessing utilization of healthcare services (15). In the context of smoking, GIS has been employed in various applications, including analyzing demographic predictors of tobacco outlet density (16), assessing which neighborhoods were more likely to sell tobacco to minors (17), and monitoring tobacco industry billboard advertisements (18). However, few studies have utilized GIS to assess outcomes related to smoking cessation. In 2010, GIS analysis was employed to track the distribution and impact of a smoking cessation program in New York City (19). In this study, GIS was used to provide real-time visualization of participation in the cessation program. Findings showed that enrollment within the cessation program was higher in lowincome, high-smoking prevalence neighborhoods, compared to high-income, high-smoking neighborhoods. Furthermore, GIS analysis was applied to assess the effectiveness of a message card campaign on compliance with the University of Kentucky's tobacco-free campus policy (20). GIS mapping software was used to display the location of cigarette butts, which were used as a measure of compliance. Additionally, GIS mapping has been utilized to demonstrate that tobacco outlet density is associated with knowledge of cigarette brand names (21).

These studies demonstrate the promising potential of GIS for assessing the effect of traveling distance on attendance of tobacco cessation counseling and smoking quit rates. Health outcomes related to distance can be analyzed via GIS in three main ways: travel time, road distance (distance between 2 points if traveling via roads), and map distance (direct distance on a map between 2 points) (22). A major assumption underlying studies of this type is that patients are more likely to use the health facility nearest to them; however, this may not always be the case in urban areas where there is a greater density of healthcare facilities (23). Conversely, in rural areas, patients are more likely to utilize the nearest health facility. Patients who reside in rural areas are less likely to quit smoking, in part due to a lack of local cessation programs (24). Furthermore, travel distance affects utilization of treatment, as demonstrated in regard to cancer treatments such as chemotherapy and radiation (25, 26). For example, a 2015 study used GIS to calculate the road distance between patients' residence and the nearest radiotherapy department and found less radiotherapy utilization with longer road distance from the patients' residence (26). Nevertheless, although people living in rural areas are more likely to travel longer distances to access smoking cessation programs, no studies have yet examined the effect of traveling distance on attendance of tobacco cessation counseling and smoking quit rates in urban and rural settings.

The Louisiana Tobacco Control Initiative (LA-TCI) is a statewide program that integrates evidence-based treatments into routine clinical practice within state hospitals of the LSU Health Care Services Division (LSU HCSD). Patients in these hospitals represent Louisiana's most medically vulnerable, with 49% being uninsured, and 77% being African-American (27). The LA-TCI provides free group behavioral counseling, which includes four consecutive 1-h sessions facilitated by certified tobacco treatment specialists (28). The initiative uses various methods, including GIS, to evaluate and improve cessation programs, visualize smoking prevalence, examine at-risk populations, and analyze trends. Previous LA-TCI studies include integrating evidencebased treatment of tobacco use into patient care practices (29) and demonstrating the utility of a health informatics system to optimize efforts to control tobacco use (30). The present investigation involved use of GIS to examine the effect of distance on attendance of smoking cessation class in a patient population with access to free counseling services provided by the LA-TCI.

METHODS

Study Population

The study population included 4,824 LSU HCSD patients scheduled to attend counseling classes between 2005 and 2007. Of these, 3,910 (81.06%) had data available to calculate the distance between their residence and the referring hospital. Patients were excluded if (1) race reported was "Other," (2) insurance status was missing, or (3) if they were listed as a "Prisoner." Altogether,

3,781 patients were included. The LSU Health Sciences Center Institutional Review Board approved this research.

Data Collection

The LA-TCI collects and reports data in the Cessation Management and Evaluation Database (CMED), a customized relational database developed to evaluate program delivery. At all facilities, CMED is used by TCI staff to identify opportunities for process improvements and to track program processes, such as patients referred, patients contacted, patients who participated in behavioral counseling, and prescription receipts for cessation medication.

Measures

The outcome measure was class attendance, defined as scheduled patients who attended at least one 1-h group counseling session over the course of 4 weeks. The primary predictor variable was geographic distance, defined as the distance measured along the surface of the Earth. In other words, distances are defined by geographic coordinates in terms of latitude and longitude. With AreGIS software, patients' home addresses and counseling location were geocoded using geographical coordinates. Geocoding allows us to transform an address to a location on the earth's surface. We linked a table with patients' addresses, then we used Geocode to generate locations with geographic features, including attributes, and finally, we exported the data using R package for analysis. Covariates included age, gender (female, male), race (African American, White, Other), insurance status (Medicare, Medicaid, commercial, free care, and self-pay), and location (urban vs. rural hospital). We categorized hospitals as urban or rural based on population size according to the 2010 census. Urban hospitals included the Earl K. Long Medical Center (EKL) in Baton Rouge, the Walter O. Moss Medical Center (WOM) in Lake Charles, the Medical Center of Louisiana (MCL) in New Orleans, the University Medical Center (UMC) in Lafayette, and the Leonard J. Chabert Medical Center (LJC) in Houma, Louisiana (Figure 1). Rural hospitals included the Lallie Kemp Medical Center (LAK) in Independence and the Bogalusa Medical Center (BMC) in Bogalusa, Louisiana (Figure 1).

Data Analysis

Spearman's correlation, chi-square, and ANOVA determined the relationships between class attendance and distance and other risk factors individually. Multivariate logistic regressions jointly considered all risk factors and identified those associated with class attendance. Multiple Additive Regression Trees (MART) (31) illustrated the potential non-linear relationship and complex interactions of risk factors to explain the class attendance rate. All analyses were performed using R (4.0), except for geographic distance between the home address and counseling site for each patient, which was calculated using SAS and Excel. The MART analysis was performed using the R package gbm. When fitting the model, we use the out-of-bag samples to control the overfitting and set the shrinkage parameter at 0.001, and the total number of trees at 10,000. The maximum depth of variable interactions is set at 3 to avoid very complicated interactions.



FIGURE 1 | Louisiana Public Hospital system.



FIGURE 2 Partial dependence plot to explore the relationship between class attendance and distance to facility. The y-axis is the log odds of attending the smoking cessation class.

Partial dependence plots derived from the MART analysis were used to depict the relationships among variables. The partial dependence plot graphs the functional relationship between a small number of input variables and the outcome. In this paper, the outcome is the predicted log odds of attending the smoking cessation class. The plots show how the log odds (of attending class) changes with the distance to facilities (**Figure 2**), adjusting for other variables (**Figures 3**, **4**).

RESULTS

Overall, 3,781 smokers who scheduled a group counseling class were included in this study. Of these, 38% (1,435) attended class. **Table 1** provides demographic characteristics and class







attendance for this sample. The probability of a smoker attending class was associated with the distance needed to travel to the counseling site. Smokers who attended class had shorter travel distances to counseling sites (11.6 miles, SD = 11.29) compared to those who scheduled but did not attend class (13.4 miles, SD = 16.72). When the travel distance was more than 15 miles (24 km), the estimated odds of attending class decreased with greater travel distance (**Figure 2**). Compared with patients who only scheduled class, smokers who actually attended class were more likely to be older (54.6 vs. 51.7%), female (69.9 vs. 64.9%), White (64.1 vs. 57.9%), living in urban areas (41.3 vs. 34.3%), and receiving free care (59.7 vs. 54.3%).

Results from logistic regression analyses revealed that shorter distances between home residence and counseling site were associated with higher class attendance rates, even after controlling for other socio-demographic factors (**Table 2**). Individuals more likely to attend counseling included those that lived closer to the counseling site (OR = 1.01, 95% CI = 1.01– 1.02), lived in urban settings (OR = 1.51, 95% CI = 1.30–1.75), or were female (OR = 1.28, 95% CI = 1.11–1.49), White (OR = 1.66, 95% CI = 1.40–1.89), commercially insured (OR = 2.41, 95% CI = 1.72–3.44), or older (see OR = 1.03, 95% CI = 1.03–1.08) than their counterparts. There was no evidence for interactions between exposures (sex, race, insurance, and age) and outcome (class attendance).

Partial dependence plots (Figures 2, 3) show the visual relationship between class attendance and distance to facility. Figure 2 shows that the odds of attending class decreased dramatically if the smoker lived more than 15 miles (24 km) away. Similar patterns were observed for gender, age, and insurance type.

Figure 3 describes how distance from residence to hospital was related with class attendance. For distances within 20 miles (32 km), class attendance rates did not change regularly with greater distance. However, when the distance was >20 miles (32 km), the attendance rate decreased with greater distance. The distance-class attendance relationship changed by

TABLE 1 | Summary statistics classified by smoking cessation class attendance.

Variables	Number of	patients (%)	p-value**
	Scheduled only $(n = 2,346)$	Attended class $(n = 1,435)$	
Age*	51.7 (11.35)	54.6 (10.5)	<0.001
Gender			0.002
Female	1,524 (64.96)	1,004 (69.97)	
Male	822 (35.04)	431 (30.03)	
Race			< 0.001
African-American	986 (42.03)	514 (35.82)	
White	1,360 (57.97)	921 (64.18)	
Location			< 0.001
Rural	1,539 (65.60)	841 (58.61)	
Urban	807 (34.34)	594 (41.39)	
Payer			< 0.001
Medicaid	342 (14.58)	144 (10.03)	
Medicare	282 (12.02)	212 (14.77)	
Commercial	111 (4.73)	102 (7.11)	
Free care	1,274 (54.31)	857 (59.72)	
Self-pay	337 (14.36)	120 (8.36)	
Distance*	13.4 (16.72)	11.6 (11.29)	< 0.001

*Mean (SD) for continuous variables age and distances. ^{**}To test the associations between each variable and the outcome (class attendance), we used ANOVA for the continuous variables and Chi-squared tests for the categorical variables.

TABLE 2 | Logistic regression results on smoking cessation class attendance.

	Comparison	Odds ratio (95% CI)	p-value
(Intercept)			<0.001
Distance	1 mile	0.99 (0.98, 0.99)	< 0.001
Urban	Rural	1.51 (1.30, 1.75)	< 0.001
Male	Female	0.78 (0.67, 0.90)	< 0.001
White	Black	1.66 (1.40, 1.89)	< 0.001
Age	1 year younger	1.03 (1.03, 1.08)	< 0.001
Free	Commercial insurance	0.69 (0.52, 0.93)	0.013
Medicaid	Commercial insurance	0.46 (0.33, 0.64)	< 0.001
Medicare	Commercial insurance	0.65 (0.46, 0.91)	0.012
Self-pay	Commercial insurance	0.41 (0.29, 0.58)	< 0.001

In the analysis, we included all variables that we analyzed to be significantly related with the outcome (class attendance, see **Table 1**).

gender (Figure 3A), race (Figure 3B), and payment method (Figure 3C). The relationship was not changed significantly by the three variables as indicated by the almost parallel lines depicting the distance-class attendance relationship. Generally, at the same distance, males, African Americans, and patients with Medicaid or self-pay had lower class attendance rates compared with their counterparts.

Figure 4 shows the joint relationship of age and distance on class attendance. Smokers who were older and lived closer to counseling facilities were more likely to attend class. Although older smokers were more likely to attend class than younger smokers, age did not influence this relationship; hence, there was no interaction between age and distance on class attendance. In the analysis, age was considered a continuous variable. In general, people older than 60 had a higher average attendance rate when compared with younger smokers. Specifically, the attendance rate increased with age until about 65, and then decreased slightly.

DISCUSSION

For a patient population with access to free cessation counseling, this analysis examined the effect of distance between residence and counseling site on attendance of cessation counseling classes. Patients who were older, female, White, commercially insured, and with residences in urban areas were more likely to attend cessation counseling class than their counterparts. In addition, for those within a distance of 20 miles (32 km), class attendance rates did not change consistently with greater distance. However, as the distance increased beyond 20 miles (32 km), attendance rates decreased with greater distance. Although previous studies suggest that transportation difficulties and distance between residence and counseling site are associated with attendance for health education counseling (32), little is known about the relationship between distance and attendance of classes for smoking cessation counseling. Specifically, no studies have identified a cutoff point for how far is "too far" for smokers to utilize smoking cessation services. In addition, accessibility to health care service or smoking cessation class is a particular concern to reduce/eliminate health care disparities. A studies in South Africa also showed that distance plays a complex role in mediating health care utilization behavior. To reduce the distance that poor South Africans must travel to obtain health care in poorer areas will reduce inequality. Another study also showed that driving distance from the centroid of each census tract to the nearest CT facility in CT facility access has implications for lung cancer screening (LCS) implementation. Individuals in densely populated areas have relatively greater spatial access to CT facilities than those in sparsely populated tracts (33).

The results for age were consistent with previous reports showing that older patients may be more motivated to quit smoking and attend cessation counseling (34). Older patients are more likely to develop age-related medical illnesses that are exacerbated by smoking, and thus may be more likely to quit smoking in order to improve their health and/or longevity (35).

For this present population, class attendance was associated with gender and race. Females are more likely than males to participate in counseling-based smoking cessation activities (36, 37). Consistent with the present results, in a population of pediatric patients attending a weight management clinic, female patients were more likely to attend (38).

Black smokers are at greater risk for smoking cessation failure compared to their White counterparts (39). However, the factors that contribute to this disparity remain unclear. The present study found that White smokers were more likely to attend smoking cessation counseling classes compared to their Black counterparts, providing a possible explanation for why Black smokers are less likely than White smokers to quit. Patients living in urban areas may not utilize the nearest health facility, as there may be multiple healthcare facilities within a reasonable distance (23). However, patients living in rural areas are indeed more likely to utilize the nearest health facilities. Patients living in rural areas are less likely to quit smoking in part due to a lack of local cessation programs (24). These results offer a potential explanation for our findings, which showed that smokers residing in rural areas were less likely to attend cessation classes than smokers residing in urban areas. Although rural cancer patients encounter substantial barriers to care, they more often report receiving timely care than urban patients. Recent studies also showed that Geographic distance differentially influences the initiation and completion of treatment among urban and rural cervical cancer patients (40).

Knowing the distance at which attendance of smoking cessation classes substantially decreases is important for inferring how far is "too far" for smokers to utilize smoking cessation services. The present study showed that, within 20 miles (32 km), class attendance rates did not change consistently with greater distance. However, as distance increased to more than 20 miles (32 km), attendance rates decreased sharply with increased distance. To our knowledge, this is the first study to identify a distance cutoff point for attendance of smoking cessation classes. The finding of a distance of 20 miles (32 km) is consistent with other studies. For example, in California, living within 20 miles (32 km) of receiving care was protective against mortality for patients with advanced-stage ovarian cancer (41). Also consistent with our results, another study found that racial and ethnic minorities residing within 20 miles (32 km) were less likely to receive care compared to Whites, and patients with low socioeconomic status (SES) were more likely to live farther away from treatment hospitals than their counterparts (42). Also similar to our results, colorectal cancer surgery patients living 30 km (18.6 miles) from a hospital possessed poorer survival prospects compared to patients who lived close by (43).

Identified distance points beyond which attendance significantly decreases show variations, depending on the main transportation type, type of treatment, and urban or rural location. For example, studies on hospital attendance in rural areas where patients generally reach health facilities by walking have found 3.0–3.5 km (1.9–2.2 miles) to be the distance where 50% of potential attendances are lost (44, 45). Although our finding of 20 miles (32 km) likely represents a driving distance, we cannot be certain what mode of transportation patients took to attend classes.

In the present population, the cost of attending class may have been problematic for smokers of lower SES. Using insurance status as a proxy for SES, we found that, compared to smokers of higher SES (commercial insurance), smokers of lower SES (selfpay, Medicaid, Medicare, or free care), were less likely to attend class. A previous study also found that privately insured patients were more likely to attend weight management class, and Gender and insurance status were the most significant predictors of class attendance (32), consistent with our results.

Results from the present study have limitations. First, since the study utilized a retrospective design, only associations could be determined. Further research is warranted to investigate the

underlying etiology of these results. The study was also limited by selection bias, as we assessed only those smokers who were scheduled for and attended cessation counseling classes. Smokers who were not screened by hospital providers for smoking status, or were unable to access cessation services, may not be represented. In other words, the study focused only on smokers who were screened and scheduled for group counseling services. Moreover, since most smokers came from a low SES group, findings may not be translatable to the general population. Additionally, we measured geographic distance along the surface of the earth. With GIS technology, we geocoded patients' home address and class location using geographical coordinates. Thus, the distances measured may not reflect actual traveling time, due to traffic and road environments such as highways, mountains, and speed limits. However, previous studies suggest that distances estimated with GIS technology correlate with driving distances, and mean errors between the two are relatively small (46). Therefore, future studies should confirm the effect of travel time on class attendance in this population. Another limitation of this study is the time frame (2005-2007). However, with the exception of one clinic, the location of all clinics included in this study have remained the same since 2005-2007. The one clinic that changed location is less than half a mile away from the previous location, within the same zip code (previously LSU Interim Hospital, currently University Medical Center). Thus, the results of the current study may still reflect the current traveling distance for patients attending our group counseling classes.

CONCLUSION

Among patients in Louisiana public hospitals, utilization of cessation counseling classes inversely related to the distance from residences to hospitals. Patients who were older, female, White, commercially insured, and with residences in urban areas were more likely to attend cessation counseling classes than their counterparts. To our knowledge, the present study is the first to identify a specific distance where smoking cessation class attendance significantly decreases. This study examined the effect of distance between residence and counseling site on attendance of cessation counseling classes, in a patient population with access to free classes for counseling. Patients who were older, female, White, commercially insured, and with residences in urban areas were more likely to attend cessation counseling classes than their counterparts. Therefore, smokers who live within 20 miles (32 km) of a smoking cessation class site should be considered a priority population for class recruitment. Further, when referring patients to smoking cessation classes, providers should take into account factors that limit patient participation, and consider offering alternative methods of obtaining smoking cessation resources. A distance of 20 miles (32 km) can be used to optimize locations for new smoking cessation programs. Using GIS tool is an efficient way to develop targeted interventions aimed at eliminating disparities in health for racial and ethnic minorities as well as other at-risk populations.

FUTURE RESEARCH

Future research should develop approaches for improving attendance of smoking cessation classes. Greater communication between patients and providers relating to barriers that patients face in obtaining smoking cessation resources is needed. Smoking cessation programs should consider providing more accessible smoking cessation counseling, such as mobile counseling in the community and telemedicine. Furthermore, studies should examine transportation methods and real driving times to smoking cessation resources. Further work is needed to identify access disparities of smoking cessation class to optimize smoking cessation service among eligible smokers for reducing health disparities for cancer prevention and control. Research in this field has the potential to guide tobacco control policies and to improve shared decision making between providers and smokers.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary files, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The present study was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board of Louisiana State University Health Sciences Center New Orleans. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TT and MC: conceptualization and data collection. TT and QY: methodology and data analysis. TT, MC, and ML: writing—original draft preparation. TL, ML, and SM-T: writing—review and editing. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This research was supported by the Louisiana Tobacco Control Initiative, a contract (CFMS no. 599454) from the Louisiana Cancer Research Consortium (LCRC).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Dr. John Couk and all staff of LSU HCSD, Krysten Jones Winn, Dr. Ke Xiao, and the LSU School of Public Health for their contribution to this project.

REFERENCES

- Courtney R. The Health Consequences of Smoking-50 Years of Progress: A Report of the Surgeon General, 2014. Atlanta, GA: Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health (2014). p. 1081. Available online at: http://www. surgeongeneral.gov/library/reports/50-years-of-progress.
- United Health Foundation. America's Health Rankings Annual Report (2020). Available online at: https://www.americashealthrankings.org/explore/annual/ measure/Overall_a/state/LA
- Goldstein AO, Shoenbill KA, Jolly TA. Intensive smoking cessation counseling for patients with cancer. JAMA. (2020) 324:1401–3. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.13102
- 4. CDC. State Tobacco Activities Tracking and Evaluation (STATE) System-State Highlights of Louisiana (2021). Available online at: https://nccd. cdc.gov/STATESystem/rdPage.aspx?rdReport=OSH_STATE.Highlights& rdRequestForwarding=Form
- Kingsbury J, D'Silva J, O'Gara E, Parks M, Boyle R. Peer reviewed: how much progress have we made? Trends in disparities in tobacco use. *Prev Chronic Dis.* (2020) 17: E107. doi: 10.5888/pcd17.200090
- Twyman L, Bonevski B, Paul C, Bryant J. Perceived barriers to smoking cessation in selected vulnerable groups: a systematic review of the qualitative and quantitative literature. *BMJ Open.* (2014) 4:e006414. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2014-006414
- Bureau UC. Quickfacts: Louisiana (2017). Available online at: https://www. census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/US/PST045217
- Bailey AM, Macaulay T. Pharmacologic approaches to smoking cessation. *Orthopedics*. (2012) 35:505–11. doi: 10.3928/01477447-20120525-07
- Tobacco TCPGT. A clinical practice guideline for treating tobacco use and dependence: 2008 update: a US public health service report. *Am J Prev Med.* (2008) 35:158–76. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2008.04.009
- Mottillo S, Filion KB, Belisle P, Joseph L, Gervais A, O'Loughlin J, et al. Behavioural interventions for smoking cessation: a metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. *Eur Heart J.* (2009) 30:718– 30. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehn552
- Scheffers-van Schayck T, Otten R, Engels R, Kleinjan M. Proactive telephone smoking cessation counseling tailored to parents: results of a randomized controlled effectiveness trial. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2019) 16:2730. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16152730
- Blumenthal DS. Barriers to the provision of smoking cessation services reported by clinicians in underserved communities. J Am Board Family Med. (2007) 20:272–9. doi: 10.3122/jabfm.2007.03.0 60115
- Krist AH, Woolf SH, Johnson RE, Rothemich SF, Cunningham TD, Jones RM, et al. Patient costs as a barrier to intensive health behavior counseling. *Am J Prev Med.* (2010) 38:344–8. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2009.11.010
- Cokkinides VE, Halpern MT, Barbeau EM, Ward E, Thun MJ. Racial and ethnic disparities in smoking-cessation interventions: analysis of the 2005. National Health Interview Survey. Am J Prev Med. (2008) 34:404– 12. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2008.02.003
- Lyseen A-K, Nøhr C, Sørensen E-M, Gudes O, Geraghty E, Shaw NT, et al. A review and framework for categorizing current research and development in health related geographical information systems (GIS) studies. *Yearbook Med Inform.* (2014) 9:110. doi: 10.15265/IY-2014-0008
- Rodriguez D, Carlos HA, Adachi-Mejia AM, Berke EM, Sargent JD. Predictors of tobacco outlet density nationwide: a geographic analysis. *Tobacco Control.* (2013) 22:349–55. doi: 10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2011-050120
- Asumda F, Jordan L. Minority youth access to tobacco: a neighborhood analysis of underage tobacco sales. *Health Place*. (2009) 15:140–7. doi: 10.1016/j.healthplace.2008.03.006
- Vardavas CI, Connolly GN, Kafatos AG. Geographical information systems as a tool for monitoring tobacco industry advertising. *Tobacco Control.* (2009) 18:190–6. doi: 10.1136/tc.2008.026856
- Czarnecki KD, Goranson C, Ellis JA, Vichinsky LE, Coady MH, Perl SB. Using geographic information system analyses to monitor large-scale distribution of nicotine replacement therapy in New York City. *Prev Med.* (2010) 50:288– 96. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2010.01.013

- Fallin A, Johnson AO, Riker C, Cohen E, Rayens MK, Hahn EJ. An intervention to increase compliance with a tobacco-free university policy. *Am J Health Promot.* (2013) 27:162–9. doi: 10.4278/ajhp.110707-QUAN-275
- Tunstall H, Shortt NK, Niedzwiedz CL, Richardson EA, Mitchell RJ, Pearce JR. Tobacco outlet density and tobacco knowledge, beliefs, purchasing behaviours and price among adolescents in Scotland. *Soc Sci Med.* (2018) 206:1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.11.046
- Higgs G. A literature review of the use of GIS-based measures of access to health care services. *Health Serv Outcomes Res Methodol.* (2004) 5:119– 39. doi: 10.1007/s10742-005-4304-7
- Haynes R, Lovett A, Sünnenberg G. Potential accessibility, travel time, and consumer choice: geographical variations in general medical practice registrations in Eastern England. *Environ Plann A*. (2003) 35:1733– 50. doi: 10.1068/a35165
- Hutcheson TD, Greiner KA, Ellerbeck EF, Jeffries SK, Mussulman LM, Casey GN. Understanding smoking cessation in rural communities. *J Rural Health*. (2008) 24:116–24. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-0361.2008.00147.x
- Lin CC, Bruinooge SS, Kirkwood MK, Hershman DL, Jemal A, Guadagnolo BA, et al. Association between geographic access to cancer care and receipt of radiation therapy for rectal cancer. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys.* (2016) 94:719–28. doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2015.12.012
- Lin CC, Bruinooge SS, Kirkwood MK, Olsen C, Jemal A, Bajorin D, et al. Association between geographic access to cancer care, insurance, and receipt of chemotherapy: geographic distribution of oncologists and travel distance. J Clin Oncol. (2015) 33:3177. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2015.61.1558
- Moody-Thomas S, Celestin Jr MD, Horswell R. Use of systems change and health information technology to integrate comprehensive tobacco cessation services in a statewide system for delivery of healthcare. *Open J Prev Med.* (2013) 3:75. doi: 10.4236/ojpm.2013.31010
- Celestin Jr MD, Tseng T-S, Moody-Thomas S, Yi Y, Jones-Winn K, Hayes C, et al. Effectiveness of group behavioral counseling on longterm quit rates in primary health care. *Transl Cancer Res.* (2016) 5:S972– 82. doi: 10.21037/tcr.2016.10.96
- Moody-Thomas S, Celestin MD, Tseng T-S, Horswell R. Patient tobacco use, quit attempts, and perceptions of healthcare provider practices in a safety-net healthcare system. *Ochsner J.* (2013) 13:367–74.
- 30. Tseng T-S, Moody-Thomas S, Horswell R, Yi Y, Celestin MD, Jones KD. Peer reviewed: using a health informatics system to assess effect of a federal cigarette tax increase on readiness to quit among low-income smokers, Louisiana, 2009. Prev Chronic Dis. (2014) 11. doi: 10.5888/pcd11.130203
- Friedman JH. Greedy function approximation: a gradient boosting machine. Ann Stat. (2001) 29:1189–232. doi: 10.1214/aos/1013203451
- Oleson JJ, Breheny PJ, Pendergast JF, Ryan S, Litchfield R. Impact of travel distance on WISEWOMAN Intervention attendance for a rural population. *Prev Med.* (2008) 47:565–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2008.06.021
- 33. Tailor TD, Choudhury KR, Tong BC, Christensen JD, Sosa JA, Rubin GD. Geographic access to CT for lung cancer screening: a census tract-level analysis of cigarette smoking in the united states and driving distance to a CT facility. J Am Coll Radiol. (2019) 16:15–23. doi: 10.1016/j.jacr.2018.07.007
- 34. Doolan DM, Stotts NA, Benowitz NL, Covinsky KE, Froelicher ES. The women's initiative for nonsmoking (WINS) XI: age-related differences in smoking cessation responses among women with cardiovascular disease. *Am J Geriat Cardiol.* (2008) 17:37–47. doi: 10.1111/j.1076-7460.2007.07360.x
- 35. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health. *How Tobacco Smoke Causes Disease: The Biology and Behavioral Basis for Smoking-Attributable Disease: A Report of the Surgeon General* (2010).
- Glasgow RE, Schafer L, O'Neill HK. Self-help books and amount of therapist contact in smoking cessation programs. J Consult Clin Psychol. (1981) 49:659. doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.49.5.659
- Mak YW, Lee PH, Loke AY. Predictors of participation in a telephonebased Acceptance and Commitment Therapy for smoking cessation study. *BMC Public Health.* (2015) 15:1–10. doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-2650-0
- Shaffer LA, Brothers KB, Burkhead TA, Yeager R, Myers JA, Sweeney B. Factors associated with attendance after referral to a pediatric weight management program. J Pediat. (2016) 172:35–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2016. 02.011

- Piper ME, Cook JW, Schlam TR, Jorenby DE, Smith SS, Bolt DM, et al. Gender, race, and education differences in abstinence rates among participants in two randomized smoking cessation trials. *Nicotine Tobacco Res.* (2010) 12:647–57. doi: 10.1093/ntr/ntq067
- Spees LP, Brewster WR, Varia MA, Weinberger M, Baggett C, Zhou X, et al. Examining urban and rural differences in how distance to care influences the initiation and completion of treatment among insured cervical cancer patients. *Cancer Epidemiol Prev Biomark*. (2019) 28:882– 9. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-18-0945
- Bristow RE, Chang J, Ziogas A, Gillen DL, Bai L, Vieira VM. Spatial analysis of advanced-stage ovarian cancer mortality in California. *Am J Obstetr Gynecol.* (2015) 213:43.e1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2015.01.045
- Bristow RE, Chang J, Ziogas A, Anton-Culver H, Vieira VM. Spatial analysis of adherence to treatment guidelines for advanced-stage ovarian cancer and the impact of race and socioeconomic status. *Gynecol Oncol.* (2014) 134:60– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2014.03.561
- Kim Y-E, Gatrell AC, Francis BJ. The geography of survival after surgery for colo-rectal cancer in southern England. Soc Sci Med. (2000) 50:1099– 107. doi: 10.1016/S0277-9536(99)00358-5
- 44. Stock R. Distance and the utilization of health facilities in rural Nigeria. Soc Sci Med. (1983) 17:563–70. doi: 10.1016/0277-9536(83) 90298-8
- 45. Müller I, Smith T, Mellor S, Rare L, Genton B. The effect of distance from home on attendance at a small rural health centre in Papua

New Guinea. Int J Epidemiol. (1998) 27:878-84. doi: 10.1093/ije/27. 5.878

 Boscoe FP, Henry KA, Zdeb MS. A nationwide comparison of driving distance versus straight-line distance to hospitals. *Profess Geograph*. (2012) 64:188– 96. doi: 10.1080/00330124.2011.583586

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Tseng, Celestin, Yu, Li, Luo and Moody-Thomas. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Examination of the Association Between Access to Care and Lung Cancer Screening Among High-Risk Smokers

Chien-Ching Li^{1*}, Alicia K. Matthews², Yu-Hsiang Kao³, Wei-Ting Lin⁴, Jad Bahhur⁵ and Linda Dowling⁵

¹ Department of Health Systems Management, Rush University, Chicago, IL, United States, ² Department of Population Health Nursing Science, The University of Illinois at Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States, ³ Department of Behavioral and Community Health Sciences, Louisiana State University Health Sciences Center, New Orleans, LA, United States, ⁴ Department of Global Community Health and Behavioral Sciences, Tulane University, New Orleans, LA, United States, ⁵ Department of RUMG Administration, Rush University Medical Center, Chicago, IL, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Darren Liu, Des Moines University, United States

Reviewed by:

Preeti Zanwar, Texas A&M University, United States Yu-Tung Huang, Linkou Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Taiwan

> *Correspondence: Chien-Ching Li chien-ching_li@rush.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Life-Course Epidemiology and Social Inequalities in Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

> Received: 23 March 2021 Accepted: 23 July 2021 Published: 25 August 2021

Citation:

Li C-C, Matthews AK, Kao Y-H, Lin W-T, Bahhur J and Dowling L (2021) Examination of the Association Between Access to Care and Lung Cancer Screening Among High-Risk Smokers.

Front. Public Health 9:684558. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.684558 **Objective:** The purpose of this study was to examine the influence of access to care on the uptake of low-dose computed tomography (LDCT) lung cancer screening among a diverse sample of screening-eligible patients.

Methods: We utilized a cross-sectional study design. Our sample included patients evaluated for lung cancer screening at a large academic medical center (AMC) between 2015 and 2017 who met 2013 USPSTF guidelines for LDCT screening eligibility. The completion of LDCT screening (yes, no) was the primary dependent variable. The independent variable was access to care (insurance type, living within the AMC service area). We utilized binary logistic regression analyses to examine the influence of access to care on screening completion after adjusting for demographic factors (age, sex, race) and smoking history (current smoking status, smoking pack-year history).

Results: A total of 1,355 individuals met LDCT eligibility criteria, and of those, 29.8% (n = 404) completed screening. Regression analysis results showed individuals with Medicaid insurance (OR, 1.51; 95% Cl, 1.03-2.22), individuals living within the AMC service area (OR, 1.71; 95% Cl, 1.21–2.40), and those aged 65–74 years (OR, 1.49; 95% Cl, 1.12–1.98) had higher odds of receiving LDCT lung cancer screening. Lower odds of screening were associated with having Medicare insurance (OR, 0.30; 95% Cl, 0.22–0.41) and out-of-pocket (OR, 0.27; 95% Cl, 0.15–0.47).

Conclusion: Access to care was independently associated with lowered screening rates. Study results are consistent with prior research identifying the importance of access factors on uptake of cancer early detection screening behaviors.

Keywords: racial disparities, lung cancer screening, low-dose computed tomography, social determinants of health, access to care

56

INTRODUCTION

Chronic high-frequency cigarette smoking is the leading preventable cause of lung cancer worldwide (1). Lung cancer is the second most common cancer diagnosis and the leading cause of cancer-related mortality in the United States (2). In 2020, there were an estimated 228,820 new cases of lung cancer diagnosed (3). The overall 5-year survival rate for lung cancer is 18.6%, with more than half of all lung cancer patients dying within 1 year of diagnosis (4). In 2013, the National Lung Screening Trial (NLST) demonstrated low-dose computed tomography (LDCT) lung cancer screening in older smokers reduced lung cancer mortality by 15-20% due to the early detection of treatable lesions (5). Based on the results from the NLST trial, the United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) recommended annual screening with LDCT in older adults aged 55-80 years who have a 30 pack-year smoking history and currently smoke or who have quit within the past 15 years (6). In addition, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) and private insurers cover annual LDCT screening among people at high risk for lung cancer (7, 8).

Early detection of cancer through screening is an effective way of reducing cancer deaths. Healthy People 2030 sets a national objective for increasing the proportion of adults get lung cancer screened to be 7.5% (9). Despite the benefits of LDCT and increasing coverage by health care insurers, the uptake of lung cancer early detection among eligible smokers remains limited (10). The estimated percentage of qualified individuals who reported completion of LDCT screening ranged from 3.8% in the 2015 National Health Interview Survey (11) to 14.4% in the 2017 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) survey (12). To date, the factors contribute to the low uptake of LDCT screening among high-risk patients are not well-understood, additional research to identify the provider and patient-level barriers to engagement in screening among high-risk and eligible patients is needed (13-15). Researchers have identified provider-level barriers to patient screening, including poor clinician knowledge (e.g., lack of knowledge about screening guidelines) (16-19), concerns about screening (e.g., skepticism about evidence base and potential harms) (20-22), and time constraints prohibiting appropriate counseling and shared decision making (17, 18). Patient or individuallevel barriers to lung cancer screening include fear related to lung cancer (20, 23), lack of knowledge (24), and negative attitudes and inaccurate beliefs about lung cancer screening (25). Furthermore, a range of individual-level demographics is associated with lung cancer screening. For example, older participants, single, insured, or diagnosed with cancer, were more likely to undergo LDCT screening (26). Although individuallevel factors contribute to poor health-related outcomes, it has become increasingly clear factors outside of the individual are instrumental to the development and persistence of cancer health inequalities (27).

For the past decade, research to examine the influence of social determinants of health (SDOH) on a myriad of health inequalities, including cancer, has been conducted (28, 29). Social determinants of health are the environmental conditions, both social and physical, affect a wide range of risk exposures, health behaviors, and health-related outcomes (30, 31). In general, the SDOH includes five interconnected domains: economic stability, education, neighborhood, built environment, social and community context, and access to care and health care quality (18, 19). The National Institutes of Health has adopted the SDOH framework to guide research associated with health inequalities and has encouraged additional research to understand better the associations between the SDOH and health-related inequalities and the mechanistic pathways associated with these relationships (32).

Access to care represents a significant yet highly modifiable SDOH. Beyond the SDOH framework, access to health care is central to several theoretical models of health promotion. For example, Andersen's behavioral model of health services utilization has defined access to care (e.g., health insurance, proximity to healthcare facility) as one of the enabling factors related to health services utilization, including cancer screening (33). Prior research has shown poor access to health care is associated with disparities in breast, cervical, and colorectal cancer screening across various patient populations (34-36). However, limited research exists related to the influence of access to care on lung cancer screening after controlling for patient demographic characteristics (e.g., age, race, sex) and smoking behaviors (current smoking status and frequency and length of time smoked). To address this gap in the lung cancer screening literature, we examined the influence of access to care (health insurance type, proximity to healthcare facility) on the completion of LDCT lung cancer screening among patients who met the 2013 USPSTF screening eligibility guidelines. We hypothesized access to health care may be associated with LDCT lung cancer screening uptake after controlling for individual demographic and smoking variables.

METHODS

Study Design

The study utilized a cross-sectional study design using data (2015–2017) from a prominent mid-western academic medical center (AMC). The AMC is located close to the west side of Chicago which are largely racially segregated neighborhoods of concentrated poverty and have a significant proportion of premature deaths attributed by chronic diseases and cancer (37). These neighborhoods comprise more than 500,000 individuals within the AMC's primary service area (38).

First, we identified potentially eligible patients for LDCT lung cancer screening at the AMC. Next, we determine which patients met the 2013 USPSTF guideline for LDCT screening (6). Eligibility criteria were: (i) aged 55–80 years, (ii) no diagnosis of lung cancer or lung-related symptoms, (iii) either a current or former smoker, and (iv) reporting a 30+ pack-year smoking history. We were unable to identity smokers who quit smoking within 15 years due to limited data collection. Therefore, we eliminated 313 patients (18.7%) who did not meet screening criteria. The final analytical dataset included N = 1,355 patients (see Figure 1). The Institutional Review Boards (IRB) of the Rush University Medical Center approved the study.



Lung Cancer Screening Program

Rush University launched its lung cancer screening program in 2015. The program aimed to increase primary care physicians and other providers assess lung cancer screening eligibility among their active patients who smoke. Providers were trained to determine their patients' eligibility for LDCT screening based on USPSTF guidelines, complete shared decision-making about LDCT with the patient, and place an order for LDCT screening. In the program, two registered nurse navigators provide administrative oversight. They review patient eligibility, track results, address patient questions, and coordinate care for patients requiring additional imaging or procedures.

Measures

Independent Variable

Access to health care (a critical social determinant of health) was the primary independent variable. In the current study, we measured two indicators of health care access: primary insurance type (Medicare, Medicaid, private insurance, out-of-pocket) and whether the patient lived within the AMC service area (yes, no). The AMC service area (39) included patients residing in the following residential zip codes 60607, 60608,

60612, 60622, 60623, 60624, 60639, 60644, 60647, and 60651. Proximity to healthcare settings is an established indicator of access to care (40).

Dependent Variable

Patient completion of LDCT lung cancer screening (yes, no) following the determination of eligibility was the primary outcome measure. We verified lung cancer screening completion via chart review.

Control Variables

Demographic factors and smoking behaviors which are known to be associated with cancer screening behaviors, were study control variables. Demographic factors included age (in years), race/ethnicity (African American, White, Other race/ethnicity), and sex (male or female). Smoking history included current smoking status (former smoker, current smoker) and the number of smoking pack-years. We calculated the number of smoking pack-years by multiplying the average number of cigarettes smoked per day by the number of years smoked (6).

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics, including frequency, percentage, mean, and standard deviation (S.D.), were used to describe the characteristics of the study sample. We conducted bivariate tests to examine the associations between LDCT screening completion and independent and control variables. Further, we stratified analysis by race/ethnicity to identify any different variables associated with LDCT screening completion between Whites, African Americans, and Other race/ethnicity. Finally, we conducted binary logistic regression analyses to examine the influence of access to care on LDCT screening completion in three regression models. The first model examined the influence of access to care on LDCT screening completion (model 1) without adjusting for covariates. In the second model, demographic factors were adjusted in the model to examine the association between access to care on LDCT screening completing (model 2). Lastly, demographics and smoking variables were adjusted together in the model to examine the extent to which access to care affects screening completion (model 3).

We performed all statistical analyses and data management using SAS software version 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC).

RESULTS

Characteristics of Study Participants

 Table 1 displays the characteristics of study participants. A total of 1,355 patients were eligible for LDCT screening between 2015

TABLE 1 | Characteristics of the study sample (N = 1,355)

	Overall ($n = 1,355$)	LDCT co	mpletion	<i>p</i> -Value
		Yes (<i>n</i> = 404, 29.8%)	No (<i>n</i> = 951, 70.2%)	
		N (%)	N (%)	
DEMOGRAPHIC FACTORS				
Age (Years) [Mean \pm SD]	66.3 ± 6.2	65.8 ± 6.2	66.5 ± 6.3	0.049*
Age				0.291
55–64	583 (43.0)	186 (31.9)	397 (68.1)	
65–74	591 (43.6)	170 (28.8)	421 (71.2)	
75–80	181 (13.4)	48 (26.5)	133 (73.5)	
Sex				0.593
Male	683 (50.4)	199 (29.1)	484 (70.9)	
Female	672 (49.6)	205 (30.5)	467 (69.5)	
Race/Ethnicity				0.005**
White	894 (66.0)	248 (27.7)	646 (72.3)	
African American	350 (25.8)	128 (36.6)	222 (63.4)	
Others	111 (8.2)	28 (25.2)	83 (74.8)	
ACCESS TO HEALTHCARE FACTORS				
Insurance type				< 0.001**
Medicare	454 (33.5)	78 (17.2)	376 (82.8)	
Medicaid	142 (10.5)	70 (49.3)	72 (50.7)	
Private	645 (47.6)	241 (37.4)	404 (62.6)	
Out-of-Pocket	114 (8.4)	15 (13.2)	99 (86.8)	
Lives within the AMC service area			<0.001***	
Yes	222 (16.4)	92 (41.4)	130 (58.6)	
No	1133 (83.6)	312 (27.5)	821 (72.5)	
SMOKING HISTORY				
Smoking status				0.002**
Former	766 (56.5)	202 (26.4)	564 (73.6)	
Current	589 (43.5)	202 (34.3)	387 (65.7)	
Smoking pack-years [Mean \pm SD]	51.5 ± 42.3	46.9 ± 21.7	53.4 ± 48.4	< 0.001**
Smoking pack-years				0.017*
30–39	417 (30.8)	139 (33.3)	278 (66.7)	
40–49	478 (35.3)	150 (31.4)	328 (68.6)	
50+	460 (33.9)	115 (25.0)	345 (75.0)	

SD, standard deviation.

p < 0.05, p < 0.01, p < 0.01, p < 0.001.

and 2017. Eligible patients were on average 66.3 years of age (SD = 6.2), male (50.4%), Caucasian (66.0%), former smokers (56.5%), and reported a mean smoking pack-year history of 51.5 years (SD = 42.3).

Bivariate Analyses

Less than a third of all eligible participants (29.8%, n = 404) completed LDCT lung cancer screening. As shown in **Table 1**, patients who received screening were younger (65.8 ± 6.2) than those who did receive screening (66.5 ± 6.3). African American ethnicity (36.6%), Medicaid insurance (49.3%), who lived within the AMC service area (41.4%), current smoker (34.3%), and patients who reported a 30–39 pack-year smoking history (33.3%) were correlates of lung cancer screening completion. **Table 2** presents LDCT screening completion rates stratified by racial/ethnic group. Variations in correlates of screening

uptake were observed based on race/ethnicity. Among African Americans, a higher percentage of patients with Medicaid (50.8%), who lived within the AMC service area (43.5%), and who were current smokers (42.6%) received screening. For Whites, patients with Medicaid (49.2%) were more likely to complete screening. None of the demographic, access to care factors, or smoking variables was associated with LDCT completion among individuals from the combined other race category. Regardless of racial/ethnic, patients who received screening had a lower smoking pack-year than those who did not receive screening.

Multivariate Analyses

Table 3 displays the results of hierarchical logistic regression models. In Model 1, we examined the influence of access to care (insurance type and living within the AMC service area) on LDCT screening completion. Compared to patients with private

TABLE 2 | LDCT screening completion rates stratified by race/ethnicity.

	w	hite (N = 894)		African	American ($N =$	350)	Other Rac	e/Ethnicity (N	l=111)
	LDCT co	LDCT completion		LDCT completion			LDCT completion		
	Yes (n = 248)	No (<i>n</i> = 646)		Yes (<i>n</i> = 128)	No (<i>n</i> = 222)		Yes (n = 28)	No (<i>n</i> = 83)	
	N (%)	N (%)	p-Value	N (%)	N (%)	p-Value	N (%)	N (%)	p-Value
DEMOGRAPHIC FACTORS									
Age (years) [Mean \pm SD]	65.9 ± 6.2	66.6 ± 6.2	0.162	65.6 ± 6.4	66.5 ± 6.5	0.195	65.8 ± 5.3	66.3 ± 6.3	0.664
Age			0.719			0.184			0.709
55–64	106 (28.2)	270 (71.8)		66 (41.8)	92 (58.2)		14 (28.6)	35 (71.4)	
65–74	114 (28.2)	290 (71.8)		45 (31.9)	96 (68.1)		11 (23.9)	35 (76.1)	
75–80	28 (24.6)	86 (75.4)		17 (33.3)	34 (66.7)		3 (18.8)	13 (81.3)	
Sex			0.550			1.000			0.247
Male	124 (26.8)	338 (73.2)		53 (36.8)	91 (63.2)		22 (28.6)	55 (71.4)	
Female	124 (28.7)	308 (71.3)		75 (36.4)	131 (63.6)		6 (17.7)	28 (82.4)	
ACCESS TO HEALTHCARE FACTO	ORS								
Insurance type			< 0.001***			< 0.001***			0.053
Medicare	49 (16.2)	254 (83.8)		26 (21.1)	97 (78.9)		3 (10.7)	25 (89.3)	
Medicaid	30 (49.2)	31 (50.8)		34 (50.8)	33 (49.3)		6 (42.9)	8 (57.1)	
Private	157 (35.7)	283 (64.3)		67 (44.4)	84 (55.6)		17 (31.5)	37 (68.5)	
Out-of-Pocket	12 (13.3)	78 (86.7)		1 (11.1)	8 (88.9)		2 (13.3)	13 (86.7)	
Living within AMC's service area		0.060			0.032*			0.247	
Yes	25 (38.5)	40 (61.5)		60 (43.5)	78 (56.5)		7 (36.8)	12 (63.2)	
No	223 (26.9)	606 (73.1)		68 (32.1)	144 (67.9)		21 (22.8)	71 (77.2)	
SMOKING HISTORY									
Smoking Status			0.069			0.020*			0.816
Former	131 (25.3)	386 (74.7)		53 (30.5)	121 (69.5)		18 (24.0)	57 (76.0)	
Current	117 (31.0)	260 (69.0)		75 (42.6)	101 (57.4)		10 (27.8)	26 (72.2)	
Smoking pack-years [Mean±SD]	48.1 ± 20.9	52.1 ± 31.2	0.026*	45.0 ± 22.2	57.2 ± 82.6	0.039*	45.8 ± 26.3	53.7 ± 32.6	0.251
Smoking pack-years			0.127			0.119			0.311
30–39	81 (32.0)	172 (68.0)		46 (35.7)	83 (64.3)		12 (34.3)	23 (65.7)	
40–49	88 (27.8)	229 (72.2)		54 (42.9)	72 (57.1)		8 (22.9)	27 (77.1)	
50+	79 (24.4)	245 (75.6)		28 (29.5)	67 (70.5)		8 (19.5)	33 (80.5)	

SD, standard deviation.

 $^{*}\rho < 0.05, \ ^{**}\rho < 0.01, \ ^{***}\rho < 0.001.$

TABLE 3 Influence of access to healthcare, smoking history, and demographic factors on LDCT screening completion.

	Model 1		Model 2		Model 3	
	Adjusted OR (95% C.I.)	P-value	Adjusted OR (95% C.I.)	P-value	Adjusted OR (95% C.I.)	P-value
ACCESS TO HEALTHO	CARE FACTORS					
Insurance type						
Private	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.	
Medicaid	1.48 (1.02–2.15)	0.038*	1.47 (1.01–2.14)	0.043*	1.51 (1.03–2.22)	0.033*
Medicare	0.34 (0.25–0.45)	<0.001***	0.35 (0.26–0.48)	< 0.001***	0.30 (0.22-0.41)	<0.001**
Out-of-pocket	0.26 (0.15–0.45)	< 0.001***	0.27 (0.15–0.48)	< 0.001***	0.27 (0.15-0.47)	<0.001**
Living within AMC server	vice area					
No	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.	
Yes	1.79 (1.31–2.45)	<0.001***	1.78 (1.30-2.44)	< 0.001***	1.71 (1.21–2.40)	0.002**
SMOKING HISTORY						
Current smoking statu	IS					
Former			Ref.		Ref.	
Current			1.25 (0.98–1.60)	0.077	1.28 (1.00-1.64)	0.054
Smoking pack-year						
30–39			Ref.		Ref.	
40–49			0.98 (0.73–1.32)	0.915	0.96 (0.72-1.29)	0.802
50+			0.82 (0.60-1.11)	0.200	0.76 (0.55-1.04)	0.089
DEMOGRAPHIC FACT	FORS					
Age						
55–64					Ref.	
65–74					1.49 (1.12–1.98)	0.006**
75–80					1.48 (0.97–2.25)	0.069
Race/Ethnicity						
White					Ref.	
African American					1.10 (0.81–1.49)	0.548
Others					0.78 (0.49–1.26)	0.312
Sex						
Female					Ref.	
Male					0.97 (0.76-1.25)	0.817

p < 0.05, p < 0.01, p < 0.01

insurance, Medicaid patients were more likely to complete screening (adjusted OR = 1.48; 95% CI = 1.02-2.15), while Medicare patients (adjusted OR = 0.34; 95% CI = 0.25-0.45) and out-of-pocket patients (adjusted OR = 0.26; 95% CI = 0.15-0.45) were less likely to complete screening. Patients living within the AMC service area were more likely to complete screening (adjusted OR = 1.79; 95% CI = 1.31-2.45) than those living outside the AMC service area. Model 2 shows the influence of smoking variables (current smoking status and smoking packyear history) and access to care on LDCT screening. After adjusting for smoking status and smoking pack-year history, access to health care variables, including insurance coverage, and living within the AMC service area remained significantly associated with screening completion. In model 3, we entered demographic variables (age, race, and sex) along with smoking and access to care factors. The influence of insurance type and living within the AMC service area variables on screening completion were consistent with the results of Models 1 and 2 (Nagelkerke's R-square = 0.125; Hosmer and Lemeshow Goodness-of-Fit Test, p = 0.372). Among demographic variables, age was the only statistically significant predictor of screening completion. Specifically, people aged 65–74 (adjusted OR = 1.49; 95% CI = 1.12–1.98) were more likely to receive screening than those aged 55–64.

DISCUSSION

The study analyzed data obtained from a large mid-west AMC serves a diverse patient population to examine the influences of access to care on completion of LDCT lung cancer screening. In particular, study results showed insurance type and proximity to healthcare were significantly associated with LDCT lung cancer screening uptake. Furthermore, access to care had a more significant impact on screening completion than individual demographics and smoking history.

In the current study, LDCT completion rates among eligible patients were low, with less than one-third of eligible patients receiving a screening test. The low uptake of screening is notable because all patients were at elevated risk of lung cancer based on their chronic and high-frequency smoking history. In addition, low screening uptake among eligible smokers is particularly concerning given a quarter of the sample was African American, a population with known lung cancer disparities. For example, in Cook County, where Chicago is, the 5-year lung cancer incidence rates among African Americans are elevated compared to whites (41), especially in communities characterized by concentrated disadvantage, racial segregation, and poor access to health care. Further, the all-cause morbidity and mortality due to smoking are higher among low-income and African American smokers due to a high prevalence of illnesses exacerbated by smoking (e.g., diabetes) (42). Thus, persistent smokingrelated inequalities underscore the importance of identifying and reducing barriers to lung cancer screening among diverse patient populations.

Prior research has shown access to health care is an essential social determinant of health. In particular, proximity to a screening facility seems to influence cancer screening behaviors (43, 44). In the current study, access to health care was associated with LDCT lung cancer early detection screening after controlling other demographic and smoking variables. Specifically, patients who reported living within the AMC service area were more likely to engage in lung cancer screening than those outside these boundary areas (41.0 vs. 27.5%). These study results are consistent with previous study findings proximity to the screening center was one of the most critical factors associated with adherence to cancer early detection screenings (45–47).

Type of insurance coverage was another important indicator of healthcare access. In this study, patients reporting Medicaid insurance coverage had a higher likelihood of completing LDCT lung cancer screening than privately insured individuals. In 2014, Medicaid expansion was enacted under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act. Medicaid expansion provides coverage for eligible low-income individuals who do not have health care insurance (48). Medicaid expansion has improved access to care among low-income individuals (49, 50). More specifically, studies have found Medicaid expansion was associated with increased cancer screenings among low-income adults (51-54). Illinois is one of the states with early implementation of Medicaid expansion (55). According to the U.S. Census Statistics, 18.4% of Chicago city residents live at or below the poverty rate (56). Additional research is needed to understand better the role of Medicaid coverage in increasing LDCT completion rates.

In addition, we found individuals with Medicare were less like to complete LDCT screening. There are several explanations for this association. A large proportion of Medicare beneficiaries are people aged 65 years and older. This older population might have more severe comorbidities or have a short life expectancy. Therefore, healthcare provider might not recommend this group of older people to be screened, given potential risks may outweigh the benefits of screening in this population (57). Furthermore, CMS requires a mandated shared decision-making visit between the provider and Medicare beneficiary before the screening can be ordered and performed (7). Shared decision-making can improve patients' knowledge of the benefits and potential harms of LDCT screening and help in making patient-centered decision through patient-provider communication (20). However, a recent study showed only about 7% of patients who underwent LDCT screening had a shared decision-making visit (58). As such, the requirement for a separate shared decision-making visit may be a barrier (59, 60) to the uptake of LDCT screening among Medicare beneficiaries. Additional research is needed to evaluate whether the mandated shared decision-making appointment represents an unanticipated barrier to screening and identify other factors associated with potentially lower LDCT engagement among Medicare beneficiaries.

Disparities in the utilization of preventive healthcare services persist based on demographic factors. In the present study, participant age was a statistically significant correlate of screening among eligible patients. Our results were consistent with prior research showing older participants (aged 65-69) were most likely to be screened for lung cancer compared to younger participants (aged 55-59 or 55-64) (26, 61). In addition, our study found no difference in LDCT screening among people aged 75-80. One potential explanation is older adults with an anticipated life expectancy of fewer than 10 years may not be recommended for cancer screening by providers (62). Counter to prior research findings related to the influence of race/ethnicity on engagement in cancer screening (63-65), in the current study, a higher percentage of African Americans completed LDCT screening compared to white and members of other racial/ethnic groups. The AMC's lung cancer program aims to increase health screening and to improve health outcomes among people living in underserved communities (66-68). The medical center is immediately adjacent to a predominately low-income and African American community on the west side of Chicago. As an anchor institution on the West Side of Chicago, the medical center continuously works with the low-income communities to help residents address the causes of poor health and achieve better health (69, 70). These targeted initiatives may have resulted in increased interest and willingness to receive screenings among eligible patients. The observed racial differences in LDCT screening were no longer present after controlling whether patients lived within the AMC's serving areas. These findings suggest the importance of community-level outreach and engagement efforts for increasing screening behaviors among underserved communities.

LIMITATIONS

We acknowledge several limitations within our study. First, smoking behaviors used to determine an individual's eligibility for LDCT screening were self-reported. However, all official eligibility assessments for LDCT lung cancer screening are selfreported. As such, any recall bias is likely equally distributed across all study participants. Second, the study sample size of eligible individuals for LDCT screening among former smokers might be slightly over or under-estimated due to an absence of verifiable information on how long it has been since participants quit smoking. Third, the study sample included patients seen in a large AMC located in a Midwestern state. As a result, our study results may not generalize to patients who receive services in other types of health care settings. Further, reported screening completion rates may be inaccurate due to other comorbidities (e.g., heart diseases, other cancers or severe lung diseases like asthma or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease) would exclude eligible patients from screening (71), or patients may have completed LDCT screening at another healthcare facility. Further study can examine the influence of comorbidities on screening behavior. Finally, other factors influencing cancer screening behavior such as having a usual source of care (72), access to transportation (73, 74), health literacy (75, 76), doctor's recommendation (77, 78), and other socioeconomic factors (e.g., marital status, education, income, poverty level, home rental, etc.) (79-81) were not measured due to data limitation and can be controlled in future studies.

CONCLUSIONS

Our study highlights the influence of a critical social determinant of health, healthcare access, and lung cancer screening uptake among eligible patients. These results are consistent with prior research suggesting the relative importance of access on engagement with a range of cancer screening behaviors (34– 36). Therefore, additional efforts to identify which health care coverage serves as a barrier to obtaining lung cancer screening among eligible patients are needed. Further, offering highquality screening in different locations may reduce barriers to cancer screening.

REFERENCES

- US Department of Health Human Services. The Health Consequences of Smoking-50 Years of Progress. A Report of the Surgeon General. (2014).
- Siegel R, Miller K, Jemal A. American Cancer Society: Cancer Facts and Figures. (2016). Atlanta, GA: American Cancer Society (2016).
- The American Cancer Society. About Lung Cancer: Key Statistics for Lung Cancer. (2020). Available from: https://www.cancer.org/cancer/lung-cancer/ about/key-statistics.html (accessed December 24, 2020).
- Howlader N, Noone A, Krapcho Me, Miller D, Brest A, Yu M, et al. SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2016.. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute. (2019).
- National Lung Screening Trial Research Team. Reduced lung-cancer mortality with low-dose computed tomographic screening. N Engl J Med. (2011). 365:395–409. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1102873
- Moyer VA. Screening for lung cancer: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force recommendation statement. Ann Intern Med. (2014) 160:330–8. doi: 10.7326/M13-2771
- The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Decision Memo for Screening for Lung Cancer with Low Dose Computed Tomography (LDCT). Available online at: https://www.cms.gov/medicare-coverage-database/details/ncadecision-memo.aspx?NCAId=274 (accessed December 23, 2020).
- 8. Zhao J, Mao Z, Fedewa SA, Nogueira L, Yabroff KR, Jemal A, et al. The Affordable Care Act and access to care across the cancer control

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data analyzed in this study is subject to the following licenses/restrictions: Rush IRB will not allow the dataset to be shared with people outside of study team.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Rush University Institution of Review Board. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

C-CL and AM: study concept and design, interpretation of study results, and manuscript write-up. Y-HK and W-TL: data analysis and interpretation of study results. JB and LD: acquisition of data and critical revision of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

C-CL and AM received support from the *Rush University Research Catalyst Award* and CHER Chicago (National Institutes of Health, 1U54MD012523-01).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We also gratefully acknowledge the support from the Lung Cancer Screening Clinic at Rush University Medical Center for preparing and providing the research dataset.

continuum: a review at 10 years. CA Cancer J Clin. (2020) 70:165–81. doi: 10.3322/caac.21604

- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. *Healthy People 2030:* Cancer Objectives (2021). Available from: https://health.gov/healthypeople/ objectives-and-data/browse-objectives/cancer (accessed June 21, 2021).
- Henderson LM, Jones LM, Marsh MW, Benefield T, Rivera MP, Molina PL. Lung cancer screening practices in North Carolina CT facilities. J Amer Coll Radiol. (2017) 14:166–70. doi: 10.1016/j.jacr.2016.07.035
- Jemal A, Fedewa SA. Lung cancer screening with low-dose computed tomography in the United States-2010 to (2015). *JAMA Oncol.* (2017) 3:1278– 81. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2016.6416
- Zahnd WE, Eberth JM. Lung cancer screening utilization: a behavioral risk factor surveillance system analysis. *Am J Prev Med.* (2019) 57:250– 5. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2019.03.015
- Huo J, Shen C, Volk RJ, Shih YCT. Use of CT and chest radiography for lung cancer screening before and after publication of screening guidelines: intended and unintended uptake. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2017) 177:439– 41. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2016.9016
- 14. Li J, Chung S, Wei EK, Luft HS. New recommendation and coverage of low-dose computed tomography for lung cancer screening: uptake has increased but is still low. BMC Health Serv Res. (2018) 18:525. doi: 10.1186/s12913-018-3338-9
- 15. Carter-Harris L, Tan AS, Salloum RG, Young-Wolff KC. Patient-provider discussions about lung cancer screening pre-and post-guidelines: Health

Information National Trends Survey (HINTS). Patient Educ Couns. (2016) 99:1772-7. doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2016.05.014

- Vachani A, Schapira MM. Mind the gap: addressing provider-level barriers to lung cancer screening. Ann Am Thorac Soc. (2018) 15:20– 1. doi: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201711-852ED
- Triplette M, Kross EK, Mann BA, Elmore JG, Slatore CG, Shahrir S, et al. An assessment of primary care and pulmonary provider perspectives on lung cancer screening. *Ann Am Thorac Soc.* (2018) 15:69– 75. doi: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201705-392OC
- Kanodra NM, Pope C, Halbert CH, Silvestri GA, Rice LJ, Tanner NT. Primary care provider and patient perspectives on lung cancer screening. A qualitative study. Ann Am Thorac Soc. (2016) 13:1977– 82. doi: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201604-286OC
- Lewis JA, Petty WJ, Tooze JA, Miller DP, Chiles C, Miller AA, et al. Lowdose CT lung cancer screening practices and attitudes among primary care providers at an academic medical center. *Cancer Epidemiol Prevent Biomark*. (2015) 24:664–70. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-14-1241
- Lowenstein M, Vijayaraghavan M, Burke NJ, Karliner L, Wang S, Peters M, et al. Real-world lung cancer screening decision-making: barriers and facilitators. *Lung Cancer.* (2019) 133:32–7. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2019.04.026
- Eberth JM, McDonnell KK, Sercy E, Khan S, Strayer SM, Dievendorf AC, et al. A national survey of primary care physicians: perceptions and practices of low-dose CT lung cancer screening. *Prevent Med Rep.* (2018) 11:93– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.pmedr.2018.05.013
- 22. National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine Medicine. Implementation of Lung Cancer Screening: Proceedings of a Workshop. Washington, DC: National Academies Press (2017).
- 23. Lillie SE, Fu SS, Fabbrini AE, Rice KL, Clothier B, Nelson DB, et al. What factors do patients consider most important in making lung cancer screening decisions? Findings from a demonstration project conducted in the Veterans Health Administration. *Lung Cancer.* (2017) 104:38– 44. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2016.11.021
- Cardarelli R, Roper KL, Cardarelli K, Feltner FJ, Prater S, Ledford KM, et al. Identifying community perspectives for a lung cancer screening awareness campaign in Appalachia Kentucky: the Terminate Lung Cancer (TLC) study. *J Cancer Educ.* (2017) 32:125–34. doi: 10.1007/s13187-015-0914-0
- Lei F, Lee E. Barriers to lung cancer screening with low-dose computed tomography. Oncol Nurs Forum. (2019) 46:E60– 71. doi: 10.1188/19.ONF.E60-E71
- Zgodic A, Zahnd WE, Miller DP Jr, Studts JL, Eberth JM. Predictors of lung cancer screening utilization in a population-based survey. *J Amer Coll Radiol.* (2020) 17:1591–601. doi: 10.1016/j.jacr.2020.06.015
- Asare M, Flannery M, Kamen C, editors. Social determinants of health: a framework for studying cancer health disparities and minority participation in research. Oncol Nurs Forum. (2017) 44:20–3. doi: 10.1188/17.ONF.20-23
- Balaj M, McNamara CL, Eikemo TA, Bambra C. The social determinants of inequalities in self-reported health in Europe: findings from the European social survey (2014) special module on the social determinants of health. *Eur J Public Health.* (2017). 27(Suppl_1):107–14. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckw217
- Adler NE, Glymour MM, Fielding J. Addressing social determinants of health and health inequalities. *JAMA*. (2016) 316:1641– 2. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.14058
- Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion UDoHaHS. *Healthy People 2020: Social Determinants of Health.* (2020). Available online at: https://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics-objectives/topic/social-determinants-of-health (accessed December 24, 2020).
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Social Determinants of Health: Know What Affects Health. (2020). Available online at: https://www.cdc.gov/ socialdeterminants/index.htm (accessed December 27, 2020).
- Dankwa-Mullan I, Rhee KB, Williams K, Sanchez I, Sy FS, Stinson N Jr, et al. The science of eliminating health disparities: summary and analysis of the NIH summit recommendations. *Am J Public Health*. (2010) 100:S12– 8. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2010.191619
- Andersen RM. Revisiting the behavioral model and access to medical care: does it matter? J Health Soc Behav. (1995) 36:1–10. doi: 10.2307/2137284
- Orji CC, Kanu C, Adelodun AI, Brown CM. Factors that influence mammography use for breast cancer screening among African American women. J Natl Med Assoc. (2020) 112:578–92. doi: 10.1016/j.jnma.2020.05.004

- Silvera SAN, Bandera EV, Jones BA, Kaplan AM, Demisse K. Knowledge of, and beliefs about, access to screening facilities and cervical cancer screening behaviors among low-income women in New Jersey. *Cancer Causes Control.* (2020) 31:43–9. doi: 10.1007/s10552-019-01244-5
- Zhang WQ, Tang S-J, Dobbs TE, Zhang L. Factors associated with colorectal cancer screening among Mississippi adults: findings from the behavioral risk factor surveillance system. *South Med J.* (2020) 113:360– 5. doi: 10.14423/SMJ.000000000001115
- 37. Rush University Medical Center. Community Health Needs Assessment Report (2016).
- Ansell DA, Oliver-Hightower D, Goodman LJ, Lateef OB, Johnson TJ. Health equity as a system strategy: the Rush University Medical Center Framework. *NEJM Catal Innov Care Deliv*. (2021). 2:674. doi: 10.1056/CAT.20.0674
- Ubhayakar S, Capeless M, Owens R, Snorrason K, Zuckerman D. Anchor Mission Playbook. Rush University Medical Center and The Democracy Collaborative (2017).
- LaVela SL, Smith B, Weaver FM, Miskevics SA. Geographical proximity and health care utilization in veterans with SCI&D in the USA. *Soc Sci Med.* (2004) 59:2387–99. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2004.06.033
- Illinois Department of Public Health. Cancer in Illinois: Statistics. (2019). Available online at: http://www.idph.state.il.us/iscrstats/AllRace/Show-AllRace-Table.aspx? (accessed January 5, 2021).
- Delva J, Tellez M, Finlayson TL, Gretebeck KA, Siefert K, Williams DR, et al. Cigarette smoking among low-income African Americans: a serious public health problem. *Am J Prev Med.* (2005) 29:218–20. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2005.05.004
- Rossi PG, Federici A, Bartolozzi F, Farchi S, Borgia P, Guasticchi G. Understanding non-compliance to colorectal cancer screening: a case control study, nested in a randomised trial [ISRCTN83029072]. BMC Public Health. (2005) 5:139. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-5-139
- Jensen L, Pedersen A, Andersen B, Fenger-Grøn M, Vedsted P. Distance to screening site and non-participation in screening for breast cancer: a population-based study. *J Public Health.* (2014) 36:292–9. doi: 10.1093/pubmed/fdt068
- Montes U, Seijo LM, Campo A, Alcaide A, Bastarrika G, Zulueta J. Factors determining early adherence to a lung cancer screening protocol. *Eur Respir J.* (2007) 30:532–7. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00143206
- 46. Engelman KK, Hawley DB, Gazaway R, Mosier MC, Ahluwalia JS, Ellerbeck EF. Impact of geographic barriers on the utilization of mammograms by older rural women. J Am Geriatr Soc. (2002) 50:62–8. doi: 10.1046/j.1532-5415.2002.50009.x
- Charkhchi P, Kolenic GE, Carlos RC. Access to lung cancer screening services: preliminary analysis of geographic service distribution using the ACR Lung Cancer Screening Registry. J Amer Coll Radiol. (2017) 14:1388– 95. doi: 10.1016/j.jacr.2017.06.024
- Sommers BD, Kenney GM, Epstein AM. New evidence on the affordable care act: coverage impacts of early Medicaid expansions. *Health Aff.* (2014) 33:78–87. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2013.1087
- Choi S, Lee S, Matejkowski J. The effects of state medicaid expansion on lowincome individuals' access to health care: multilevel modeling. *Popul Health Manag.* (2018) 21:235–44. doi: 10.1089/pop.2017.0104
- Winkelman TN, Chang VW. Medicaid expansion, mental health, and access to care among childless adults with and without chronic conditions. J Gen Intern Med. (2018) 33:376–83. doi: 10.1007/s11606-017-4217-5
- Hendryx M, Luo J. Increased cancer screening for low-income adults under the affordable care act medicaid expansion. *Med Care.* (2018) 56:944– 9. doi: 10.1097/MLR.00000000000984
- Sabik LM, Tarazi WW, Bradley CJ. State medicaid expansion decisions and disparities in women's cancer screening. *Am J Prev Med.* (2015) 48:98– 103. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2014.08.015
- Huguet N, Angier H, Rdesinski R, Hoopes M, Marino M, Holderness H, et al. Cervical and colorectal cancer screening prevalence before and after affordable care act medicaid expansion. *Prevent Med.* (2019) 124:91– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2019.05.003
- Toyoda Y, Oh EJ, Premaratne ID, Chiuzan C, Rohde CH. Affordable care act state-specific medicaid expansion: impact on health insurance coverage and breast cancer screening rate. J Am Coll Surg. (2020) 2020:S1072-7515(20)30213-1. doi: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2020.01.031

- Kaestner R, Garrett B, Chen J, Gangopadhyaya A, Fleming C. Effects of ACA medicaid expansions on health insurance coverage and labor supply. *J Policy Anal Manage*. (2017) 36:608–42. doi: 10.1002/pam.21993
- U.S. Census Bureau. U.S. Census Bureau: Quick Facts (2019). Available online at: https://www.census.gov/quickfacts (accessed January 5, 2020).
- Fabrikant MS, Wisnivesky JP, Marron T, Taioli E, Veluswamy RR. Benefits and challenges of lung cancer screening in older adults. *Clin Ther.* (2018) 40:526–34. doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2018.03.003
- Goodwin JS, Nishi S, Zhou J, Kuo Y-F. Use of the shared decisionmaking visit for lung cancer screening among Medicare enrollees. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2019) 179:716–8. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed. 2018.6405
- Ersek JL, Eberth JM, McDonnell KK, Strayer SM, Sercy E, Cartmell KB, et al. Knowledge of, attitudes toward, and use of low-dose computed tomography for lung cancer screening among family physicians. *Cancer.* (2016) 122:2324– 31. doi: 10.1002/cncr.29944
- Carter-Harris L, Gould MK. Multilevel barriers to the successful implementation of lung cancer screening: why does it have to be so hard? *Ann Am Thorac Soc.* (2017) 14:1261–5. doi: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201703-204PS
- Okereke IC, Nishi S, Zhou J, Goodwin JS. Trends in lung cancer screening in the United States, 2016-2017. J Thorac Dis. (2019) 11:873. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2019.01.105
- Salzman B, Beldowski K, de La Paz A. Cancer screening in older patients. Am Fam Physician. (2016) 93:659–67.
- Shahidi N, Cheung WY. Colorectal cancer screening: opportunities to improve uptake, outcomes, and disparities. World J Gastrointest Endosc. (2016) 8:733. doi: 10.4253/wjge.v8.i20.733
- Sassi F, Luft HS, Guadagnoli E. Reducing racial/ethnic disparities in female breast cancer: screening rates and stage at diagnosis. *Am J Public Health.* (2006) 96:2165–72. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2005. 071761
- Owusu GA, Eve SB, Cready CM, Koelln K, Trevino F, Urrutia-Rojas X, et al. Race and ethnic disparities in cervical cancer screening in a safety-net system. *Matern Child Health J.* (2005) 9:285–95. doi: 10.1007/s10995-005-0004-8
- Schober DJ, Tate M, Rodriguez D, Ruppar TM, Williams J, Lynch E. High blood pressure medication adherence among urban, African Americans in the Midwest United States. J Racial Ethn Health Disparities. (2021) 8(3):607– 17. doi: 10.1007/s40615-020-00819-2
- McCann E. Building a community-academic partnership to improve health outcomes in an underserved community. *Public Health Nurs.* (2010) 27:32– 40. doi: 10.1111/j.1525-1446.2009.00824.x
- Lynch EB, Williams J, Avery E, Crane MM, Lange-Maia B, Tangney C, et al. Partnering with churches to conduct a wide-scale health screening of an urban, segregated community. *J Community Health.* (2020) 45:98– 110. doi: 10.1007/s10900-019-00715-9
- Ubhayakar S, Capeless M, Owens R, Snorrason K, Zuckerman D. Anchor Mission Playbook. Chicago, IL: Rush University Medical Center and the Democracy Collaborative (2017).
- Koh HK, Singer SJ, Edmondson AC. Health as a way of doing business. JAMA. (2019) 321:33–4. doi: 10.1001/jama.2018.18935
- Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Is Lung Cancer Screening Right for Me? (2016). Available from: https://effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/decisionaids/lung-cancer-screening/patient.html (accessed May 11, 2021).

- Hall IJ, Tangka FKL, Sabatino SA, Thompson TD, Graubard BI, Breen N. Patterns and trends in cancer screening in the United States. *Prev Chronic Dis.* (2018) 15:E97. doi: 10.5888/pcd15.170465
- Wolfe MK, McDonald NC, Holmes GM. Transportation barriers to health care in the United States: findings from the national health interview survey, 1997-2017. *Am J Public Health*. (2020) 110:815– 22. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2020.305579
- Peipins LA, Graham S, Young R, Lewis B, Foster S, Flanagan B, et al. Time and distance barriers to mammography facilities in the Atlanta metropolitan area. *J Community Health.* (2011) 36:675–83. doi: 10.1007/s10900-011-9359-5
- Oldach BR, Katz ML. Health literacy and cancer screening: a systematic review. Patient Educ Couns. (2014) 94:149–57. doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2013.10.001
- 76. Kim K, Han H-R. The association between health literacy and breast and cervical cancer screening behaviors: Findings from the behavioral risk factor surveillance system. *Nurs Res.* (2019) 68:177–88. doi: 10.1097/NNR.00000000000346
- Roman L, Meghea C, Ford S, Penner L, Hamade H, Estes T, et al. Individual, provider, and system risk factors for breast and cervical cancer screening among underserved Black, Latina, and Arab women. *J Womens Health*. (2014) 23:57–64. doi: 10.1089/jwh.2013.4397
- Jilcott Pitts SB, Lea CS, May CL, Stowe C, Hamill DJ, Walker KT, et al. "Faultline of an earthquake": a qualitative examination of barriers and facilitators to colorectal cancer screening in rural, Eastern North Carolina. *J Rural Health*. (2013) 29:78–87. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-0361.2012.00424.x
- Lange F. The role of education in complex health decisions: evidence from cancer screening. J Health Econ. (2011) 30:43– 54. doi: 10.1016/j.jhealeco.2010.08.008
- Mayhand KN, Handorf EA, Ortiz AG, Gonzalez ET, Devlin A, Sorice KA, et al. Effect of neighborhood and individual-level socioeconomic factors on colorectal cancer screening adherence. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:4398. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18094398
- Gram MA, Therkildsen C, Clarke RB, Andersen KK, Mørch LS, Tybjerg AJ. The influence of marital status and partner concordance on participation in colorectal cancer screening. *Eur J Public Health*. (2021) 31:340– 6. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckaa206

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Li, Matthews, Kao, Lin, Bahhur and Dowling. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Disease Burden and Attributable Risk Factors of Ovarian Cancer From 1990 to 2017: Findings From the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017

Zhangjian Zhou^{1†}, Xuan Wang^{2†}, Xueting Ren¹, Linghui Zhou³, Nan Wang¹ and Huafeng Kang^{1*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Angelo d'Errico, Azienda Sanitaria Locale TO3, Italy

Reviewed by:

Samuel Manda, South African Medical Research Council, South Africa Raheem Paxton, University of Alabama, United States Tung-Sung Tseng, Louisiana State University, United States

*Correspondence:

Huafeng Kang kanghuafeng 1973@126.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Life-Course Epidemiology and Social Inequalities in Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

> Received: 27 October 2020 Accepted: 19 August 2021 Published: 17 September 2021

Citation:

Zhou Z, Wang X, Ren X, Zhou L, Wang N and Kang H (2021) Disease Burden and Attributable Risk Factors of Ovarian Cancer From 1990 to 2017: Findings From the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Front. Public Health 9:619581. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.619581 ¹ Department of Oncology, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an, China, ² Department of Surgical Oncology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an, China, ³ Bone Marrow Transplantation Center, The First Affiliated Hospital, School of Medicine, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China

Aim: We aimed to estimate the disease burden and risk factors attributable to ovarian cancer, and epidemiological trends at global, regional, and national levels.

Methods: We described ovarian cancer data on incidence, mortality, and disability-adjusted life-years as well as age-standardized rates from 1990 to 2017 from the Global Health Data Exchange database. We also estimated the risk factors attributable to ovarian cancer deaths and disability-adjusted life-years. Measures were stratified by region, country, age, and socio-demographic index. The estimated annual percentage changes and age-standardized rates were calculated to evaluate temporal trends.

Results: Globally, ovarian cancer incident, death cases, and disability-adjusted life-years increased by 88.01, 84.20, and 78.00%, respectively. However, all the corresponding age-standardized rates showed downward trends with an estimated annual percentage change of -0.10 (-0.03 to 0.16), -0.33 (-0.38 to -0.27), and -0.38 (-0.32 to 0.25), respectively. South and East Asia and Western Europe carried the heaviest disease burden. The highest incidence, deaths, and disability-adjusted life-years were mainly in people aged 50–69 years from 1990 to 2017. High fasting plasma glucose level was the greatest contributor in age-standardized disability-adjusted life-years rate globally as well as in all socio-demographic index quintiles and most Global Disease Burden regions. Other important factors were high body mass index and occupational exposure to asbestos.

Conclusion: Our study provides valuable information on patterns and trends of disease burden and risk factors attributable to ovarian cancer across age, socio-demographic index, region, and country, which may help improve the rational allocation of health resources as well as inform health policies.

Keywords: ovarian cancer, Global Burden of Disease (GBD), incidence, death, disability adjusted life-years

INTRODUCTION

Ovarian cancer (OC) is the most common cancer in females worldwide and has a high mortality rate (1-3). Around 290,000 new OC cases (3.4% of all new cancer cases in females) have been diagnosed annually (3). Based on the latest global cancer statistics published in 2018, the age-standardized incidence rate (ASIR) and death rate (ASDR) of OC were 6.6 and 3.9 per 100,000 people, respectively. Epidemiological data from Saudi Arabia (4), China (5), and India (6) showed a remarkable OC burden with associated incidence and mortality. The Global Burden of Disease (GBD) studies provide global, regional, and countryspecific epidemiological data of diseases and injuries showing the burden, distribution, and trends in different countries and regions (7-9). At present, there are no comprehensive and comparable assessments of incidence, mortality, disability, and epidemiological trends of OC at the global scale or in most regions.

Aside from family history, genetic factors, such as BRCA mutations as well as non-genetic factors, such as diabetes mellitus, high body mass index (BMI), tobacco, and alcohol use are the main risk factors for OC (10). Various single-institute studies have demonstrated the correlations between OC and these risk factors (11–13). Patients with risk factors such as diabetes mellitus are reportedly at a notably high risk for OC, and interventions such as metformin use dramatically reduce OC incidence (14). A systematic review suggested that OC risk was inversely associated with intake of black tea or calcium, and positively associated with intake of skim/low-fat milk or lactose (15). Such findings imply the necessity of comprehensive and comparable assessments of risk factors attributable to OC, which could then help in the development of prevention and treatment strategies.

In this study, we evaluated the burden and risk factors attributable to OC by location, social-development index (SDI), and age, providing valuable information on the distribution and trends of incident cases, deaths, disability-adjusted-life-years (DALYs), and risk factors, which could be beneficial to the improvement of health resources allocation and in the informed formulation of policies.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Data Acquisition

Annual data (inclusive dates: 1990–2017) on incidence, death, DALYs, and the corresponding age-standardized rates (ASRs) as well as risk factors attributable to OC were searched in the Global Health Data Exchange (GHDx) database (http://ghdx.healthdata.org/). All data are computed for direct inquiry and download through the GBD Results Tool. Details of methodology were described in the database help page and previous publications (16). These data were segmented by SDI quintiles, regions, countries, and territories. SDI reflects the degree of social development and correlates with total fertility, per capita income, and average years of education (17). All countries and territories were sorted into five quintiles based on SDI (http://ghdx.healthdata.org/record/ihme-data/gbd-

2017-socio-demographic-index-sdi-1950%E2%80%932017). GBD regions are not actual geopolitical units; rather, these are groupings of countries created for analytical purposes alone (http://www.healthdata.org/sites/default/files/files/Data_viz/ GBD_2017_Tools_Overview.pdf). Risk is defined as exposure, behavior, or other factors that are causally related to an increased (or decreased) probability of OC. If the probability decreased, the risk was considered a protective factor. In this GBD database, all of these risks were organized in four Levels, where Level 1 represents the overarching categories (behavioral, environmental and occupational, and metabolic) nested within Level 1 risks; Level 2 contains both single risks and risk clusters (such as the high fasting plasma glucose level); Level 3 contains the disaggregated single risks from within Level 2 risk clusters (such as low birthweight and short gestation); and Level 4 details risks with the most granular disaggregation, such as for specific occupational carcinogens, the subcomponents of child growth failure, and suboptimal breastfeeding (18). GBD risk hierarchy with levels were shown in the Supplementary Table 2 of Supplementary Appendix 1 in this paper (18). Data of all level risks were extracted to evaluate their variation tendency and effect on OC.

This study followed the Guidelines for Accurate and Transparent Health Estimates Reporting (GATHER) for crosssectional studies (19).

Statistical Analyses

ASRs were analyzed to compare the OC incidence and mortality trends between different cohorts. DALYs refer to the years lived with disability and years of life lost (20). Estimated annual percentage changes (EAPCs) indicate ASR trends during a defined period. The specific EAPC algorithm has been described in our previous works (7, 9, 21, 22).

World maps and graphs were generated to display the distribution and change trends of global, regional, and national disease burden and risk factors attributable to OC. All calculations and figures were performed and made using EXCEL 2013 (Microsoft Corporation) and R software (version 4.0.0) with "openxlsx," "ggplot2," "RColorBrewer," "maptools," and other packages.

RESULTS

Global OC Incidence

The incident cases of OC increased from 152,090 (95% UI: 145,450–162,170) to 286,130 (95% UI: 278.08 to 295.31) globally, with a total increase of 88.01% from 1990 to 2017. The ASIR values demonstrated a downtrend (EAPC: -0.10, 95% UI: -0.03 to 0.16) (**Table 1**). In 2017, the prevalence case number of OC was 1,353,050. Most of these cases were distributed in East, South, and Southeast Asia (**Supplementary Figure 1**). In all SDI quintiles, the prevalence of OC in the high SDI quintile (410,127) ranked first, followed by the middle SDI quintile (335,709).

OC incident cases increased in a total of 184 countries and territories. The incident cases in Venezuela increased most from 106.25 to 1178.45 (**Figure 1** and **Supplementary Table 1**). Compared with other countries and territories, higher number

TABLE 1 | The incidence of ovarian cancer, and its temporal trends from 1990 to 2017.

Characteristics	1990		2017		1990–2017	
	Incident cases No. ×10 ³ (95% UI)	ASIR per 100,000 No. (95% UI)	Incident cases No. ×10 ³ (95% UI)	ASIR per 100,000 No. (95% UI)	Change in Incidence No. (%)	EAPC No. (95% Cl)
Global	152.09 (145.45–162.17)	6.71 (6.43–7.14)	286.13 (278.08–295.31)	6.83 (6.63–7.05)	88.01	-0.10 (-0.03 to 0.16)
SDI						
High SDI	74.91 (73.80–76.06)	11.28 (11.11–11.45)	91.49 (88.39–94.67)	9.20 (8.89–9.52)	22.13	-0.92 (-1.03 to -0.81)
High-middle SDI	34.04 (32.08–35.82)	6.31 (5.96–6.64)	59.26 (57.22–61.32)	6.38 (6.15–6.60)	74.08	-0.19 (-0.31 to 0.07)
Middle SDI	21.88 (20.50-24.62)	3.68 (3.46–4.13)	67.61 (64.75–70.72)	5.69 (5.46–5.95)	209.00	1.55 (1.48–1.62)
_ow-middle SDI	14.17 (12.30–17.81)	4.17 (3.64–5.21)	47.69 (42.75–56.05)	6.74 (6.07-7.82)	236.56	1.81 (1.76–1.86)
_ow SDI	6.76 (5.12–10.04)	3.49 (2.69–5.09)	19.20 (17.00–22.32)	4.58 (4.06–5.34)	184.02	0.91 (0.73–1.09)
Regions						
Andean Latin America	0.31 (0.27–0.35)	2.36 (2.10–2.65)	1.88 (1.64–2.16)	6.42 (5.60–7.37)	506.45	4.19 (3.38–4.19)
Australasia	1.31 (1.27–1.36)	10.69 (10.29–11.09)	1.89 (1.65–2.16)	8.37 (7.31–9.63)	44.27	-1.06 (-1.16 to -0.97)
Caribbean	0.30 (0.27–0.34)	2.03 (1.84–2.32)	1.67 (1.50–1.91)	6.34 (5.69–7.27)	456.67	4.18 (3.26–5.11)
Central Asia	1.42 (1.24–1.69)	4.85 (4.24–5.75)	2.83 (2.65–3.01)	6.16 (5.79–6.54)	99.30	0.95 (0.80-1.11)
Central Europe	8.66 (8.43-8.90)	11.02 (10.71–11.32)	10.87 (10.35–11.39)	11.06 (10.53–11.61)	25.52	-0.03 (-0.09 to 0.15)
Central Latin America	2.59 (2.51-2.66)	4.66 (4.53–4.79)	9.50 (9.02–9.99)	7.25 (6.89–7.62)	266.80	1.66 (1.47–1.85)
Central Sub-Saharan Africa	0.55 (0.39–0.74)	3.71 (2.76–4.73)	1.44 (1.11–1.83)	4.30 (3.31–5.43)	161.82	0.36 (0.21–0.50)
East Asia	16.19 (14.92–18.47)	2.92 (2.70-3.34)	43.75 (41.18–46.25)	4.22 (3.96-4.46)	170.23	1.18 (0.91–1.46)
Eastern Europe	16.06 (14.74–18.01)	10.00 (9.11–11.29)	17.39 (16.52–18.25)	9.84 (9.29–10.41)	8.21	-0.30 (-0.30 to 0.01)
Eastern Sub-Saharan Africa	3.16 (2.54-4.22)	6.56 (5.38-8.53)	7.02 (5.87–8.03)	6.72 (5.67–7.62)	122.15	-0.25 (-0.43 to -0.06)
High-income Asia Pacific	6.39 (6.26-6.52)	5.87 (5.74–5.99)	12.10 (11.34–12.80)	7.12 (6.65–7.60)	89.36	0.90 (0.62-1.19)
High-income North America	21.81 (21.33–22.40)	11.77 (11.52–12.11)	27.68 (26.20–29.12)	9.54 (8.96–10.10)	26.91	-1.09 (-1.26 to -0.92)
North Africa and Middle East	4.00 (3.41-5.36)	3.89 (3.36–5.14)	12.77 (12.01–13.63)	5.22 (4.91–5.55)	219.25	1.18 (1.11–1.25)
Dceania	0.09 (0.06-0.12)	4.34 (3.29–5.81)	0.31 (0.23–0.43)	7.05 (5.54–9.17)	244.44	1.99 (1.87–2.10)
South Asia	12.74 (10.91–16.48)	3.70 (3.19–4.79)	48.75 (43.90–56.10)	6.34 (5.76–7.20)	282.65	1.95 (1.79–2.12)
Southeast Asia	9.93 (8.49–12.83)	5.80 (5.01-7.42)	27.41 (24.13–31.86)	7.93 (7.00–9.19)	176.03	1.19 (1.11–1.27)
Southern Latin America	1.78 (1.64–1.92)	6.93 (6.38–7.48)	3.10 (2.75–3.51)	7.46 (6.62–8.48)	74.16	0.20 (0.02–0.38)
Southern Sub-Saharan Africa	0.91 (0.83–1.00)	4.97 (4.51–5.42)	2.10 (1.89–2.27)	6.04 (5.45–6.54)	130.77	0.75 (0.16–1.34)
Fropical Latin America	3.10 (2.97–3.25)	5.35 (5.15-5.60)	7.96 (7.60–8.32)	6.24 (5.96–6.53)	156.77	0.34 (0.18–0.49)
Western Europe	39.11 (38.40–39.86)	13.22 (12.96–13.49)	40.41 (38.33–42.59)	10.04 (9.49–10.56)	3.32	-1.22 (-1.31 to -1.14)
Western Sub-Saharan Africa	1.69 (1.34-2.32)	3.34 (2.66–4.59)	5.30 (4.18-6.69)	4.47 (3.54–5.59)	213.61	1.10 (1.09–1.12)

ASIR, age standardized incidence rate; EAPC, estimated annual percentage change; CI, confidence interval; UI, uncertainty interval; SDI, socio-demographic index.







of incident cases were observed in China (40646.50, 95% UI: 38111.86–43093.19) and India (31441.05, 95% UI: 27725.81–36329.42), whereas fewer cases were observed in Kiribati (1.42, 95% UI: 0.96–1.95) and Northern Mariana Islands (1.89, 95% UI: 1.54–2.30) (**Supplementary Figure 2** and **Supplementary Tables 2**, **3**). On the other hand, American Samoa had the highest ASIR (26.04 per 100,000 people), whereas Mali had the lowest (2.33 per 100,000 people) in 2017 (**Figure 1** and **Supplementary Figure 3**). The video shows the dynamic changes of countries with the top 10 ASIR of OC from 1990 to 2017 (**Supplementary Video 1**).

OC incident cases increased in 16 GBD regions from 1990 to 2017 (**Table 1**). The greatest increase was observed in Andean Latin America (506.45%). In the high and high-middle SDI quintiles, incident cases increased whereas the corresponding ASIRs decreased (EAPC: -0.92 and -0.19, respectively) (**Table 1**). The highest (EAPC: 1.81) and lowest (EAPC: 0.91) increase in OC incidence were observed in the low-middle and low SDI quintiles, respectively. The ASIRs trended upwards in the low, low-middle, and middle SDI quintiles over 28 years from 1990 to 2017 (**Figure 2**). On the other hand, ASIRs demonstrated a temporary increase in 1995 and 1996 in the high-middle and high SDI quintiles, respectively.

In addition, the EAPC of ASIR of 195 countries and territories was correlated with SDI ($\rho = -0.169$, 95% CI: -0.303 to -0.029, P = 0.018), but not correlated with ASIR itself ($\rho = -0.009$, 95% CI: -0.149 to 0.132, P = 0.905; **Figures 3A,B**).

Global OC Mortality

The OC death cases increased globally by 84.20%, from 95,540 (95% UI: 91,780–101,190) to 175,980 (95% UI: 171,380–181,200) between 1990 and 2017. By contrast, the corresponding ASDR decreased worldwide (EAPC: -0.33, 95% UI: -0.38 to -0.27) (Table 2).

From 1990 to 2017, OC death cases decreased in 11 countries, and the corresponding ASDRs decreased in 60

countries (**Supplementary Table 4**). The highest number of death cases were observed in China (25040.26, 95% UI: 23558.50–26505.37) and India (20621.80, 95% UI: 18228.44–23704.20). The countries with the lowest number of death cases were Kiribati (0.76, 95% UI: 0.53–1.02) and Northern Mariana Islands (0.91, 95% UI: 0.77–1.09) (**Supplementary Figure 2** and **Supplementary Tables 2**, **3**). On the other hand, American Samoa had the highest ASDR (12.85 per 100,000 people), whereas Mali had the lowest (1.64 per 100,000 people) in 2017 (**Supplementary Figures 3**, **4**). The video shows the dynamic changes of countries with the top 10 OC ASDRs from 1990 to 2017 (**Supplementary Video 2**).

OC death cases increased in all regions whereas the ASDRs decreased in 8 regions (**Table 2**). Compared with data from 1990, OC death cases in 2017 increased in all SDI quintiles. ASDRs decreased in the high and high-middle SDI quintiles (-1.17 and -0.36, respectively). The ASDRs trended upwards in the middle and low-middle SDI quintiles before 2017, and the opposite trend was observed in the high SDI quintiles after the rise and fall from 1990 to 1993 (**Figure 2**). Moreover, ASDRs demonstrated a decrease after two peaks in 1994 (4.31) and 2002–2003 (4.12) in the high-middle SDI quintiles, whereas ASDRs in the low SDI quintiles demonstrated an increase after a low peak in 2001 (2.58) (**Figure 2**).

Additionally, the EAPC of ASDR of 195 countries and territories was correlated with SDI ($\rho = -0.182, 95\%$ CI: -0.315 to -0.043, P = 0.011), but not correlated with ASDR itself ($\rho = -0.065, 95\%$ CI: -0.204 to 0.077, P = 0.371; **Figures 3C,D**).

Global OC-Related DALYs

OC-related DALYs increased from 2,625,250 (95% UI: 2,493,770– 2,829,950) to 4,673,030 (95% UI: 4,528,650–4,828,610) in the past 28 years. However, the DALY ASR decreased globally (EAPC: -0.38, 95% UI: -0.32 to -0.25) (**Table 3**).

Decreases in OC-related DALYs were observed in 21 countries, and the DALY ASRs decreased in 66 countries as well



FIGURE 3 | The correlation between EAPC and ovarian cancer ASR (per 100,000) in 1990 as well as SDI in 2017. The circles represent countries and territories that were available on SDI data. The size of circle is increased with the cases of ovarian cancer. The *R* and *P*-values presented were derived from Pearson correlation analysis. (A) EAPC and SDI in incidence; (B) EAPC and ASIR; (C) EAPC and SDI in death; (D) EAPC and ASDR; (E) EAPC and SDI in DALYs; (F) EAPC and age-standardized DALY rate. ASIR, age standardized incidence rate; ASDR, age standardized death rate; EAPC, estimated annual percentage change; SDI, socio-demographic index; DALY, disability adjusted life-year.
TABLE 2 | The death of ovarian cancer, and its temporal trends from 1990 to 2017.

Characteristics	1990		2017			1990–2017
	Deaths No. ×10 ³ (95% UI)	ASDR per 100,000 No. (95% UI)	Deaths No. ×10 ³ (95% UI)	ASDR per 100,000 No. (95% UI)	Change in Death No. (%)	EAPC No. (95% Cl)
Global	95.54 (91.78–101.19)	4.36 (4.19–4.61)	175.98 (171.38–181.20)	4.14 (4.03–4.26)	84.20	-0.33 (-0.38 to -0.27)
SDI						
High SDI	49.14 (48.49–49.86)	6.83 (6.74–6.93)	60.86 (58.83–62.87)	5.20 (5.03–5.37)	23.85	-1.17 (-1.25 to -1.09)
High-middle SDI	20.88 (19.89-21.88)	3.93 (3.74-4.12)	36.37 (35.22–37.50)	3.75 (3.63–3.87)	74.19	-0.36 (-0.48 to -0.23)
Middle SDI	11.78 (11.27–13.39)	2.27 (2.14–2.53)	38.84 (37.31–40.48)	3.30 (3.17–3.44)	229.71	1.40 (1.35–1.45)
Low-middle SDI	8.77 (7.67–10.96)	2.90 (2.55–3.61)	27.25 (24.68–31.11)	4.22 (3.83-4.79)	210.72	1.40 (1.33–1.47)
Low SDI	4.59 (3.56–6.65)	2.66 (2.09–3.79)	12.13 (10.79–24.09)	3.23 (2.88–3.75)	164.27	0.65 (0.45–0.85)
Regions						
Andean Latin America	0.18 (0.16–0.21)	1.58 (1.41–1.75)	1.07 (0.94–1.22)	3.80 (3.33–4.31)	494.44	3.71 (2.95–4.48)
Australasia	0.85 (0.82–0.88)	6.58 (6.37-6.82)	1.26 (1.11–1.44)	4.99 (4.41–5.69)	48.24	-1.18 (-1.25 to -1.11)
Caribbean	0.18 (0.17-0.21)	1.30 (1.18–1.49)	1.04 (0.94–1.17)	3.86 (3.50–4.35)	477.78	4.01 (3.11–4.93)
Central Asia	0.86 (0.75–1.03)	3.03 (2.63–3.59)	1.65 (1.57–1.75)	3.78 (3.58–3.99)	91.86	0.93 (0.77-1.09)
Central Europe	5.70 (5.55–5.84)	6.83 (6.66–6.99)	7.78 (7.43–8.18)	6.89 (6.57–7.23)	36.49	0.10 (-0.02 to 0.22)
Central Latin America	1.47 (1.43–1.51)	3.05 (2.97–3.13)	5.20 (4.94–5.46)	4.09 (3.89–4.28)	253.74	1.11 (0.96–1.26)
Central Sub-Saharan Africa	0.38 (0.28–0.49)	2.87 (2.20–3.55)	0.94 (0.72–1.18)	3.20 (2.43-4.09)	147.37	0.26 (0.11-0.40)
East Asia	8.03 (7.42–9.23)	1.62 (1.49–1.86)	26.53 (25.04–28.06)	2.48 (2.35–2.63)	230.39	1.66 (1.45–1.87)
Eastern Europe	10.65 (9.91–11.73)	6.06 (5.63-6.70)	11.27 (10.85–11.72)	5.64 (5.42–5.87)	5.82	-0.51 (-0.83 to -0.20)
Eastern Sub-Saharan Africa	2.14 (1.76–2.78)	5.04 (4.18-6.41)	4.30 (3.62–4.88)	4.82 (4.08–5.46)	100.93	-0.46 (-0.64 to -0.29)
High-income Asia Pacific	3.80 (3.73–3.87)	3.36 (3.30–3.42)	6.55 (6.23–6.88)	3.12 (2.96–3.29)	72.37	-0.34 (-0.49 to -0.20)
High-income North America	13.98 (13.70–14.33)	6.97 (6.84–7.15)	18.62 (17.80–19.46)	5.67 (5.39–5.94)	33.19	-1.01 (-0.48 to -0.23)
North Africa and Middle East	2.47 (2.14–3.25)	2.69 (2.35–3.50)	6.81 (6.42–7.23)	3.10 (2.93–3.30)	175.71	0.59 (0.52–0.65)
Oceania	0.04 (0.03–0.06)	2.53 (1.98–3.23)	0.14 (0.11–0.18)	3.92 (3.29–4.85)	250.00	1.86 (1.76–1.96)
South Asia	8.29 (7.12–10.83)	2.72 (2.35–3.53)	29.55 (27.07–32.61)	4.15 (3.81–4.56)	256.45	1.48 (1.30–1.66)
Southeast Asia	5.17 (4.45–6.57)	3.45 (2.99–4.34)	13.56 (12.03–15.64)	4.09 (3.65–4.70)	162.28	0.68 (0.62–0.75)
Southern Latin America	1.27 (1.17–1.37)	4.86 (4.49–5.26)	2.03 (1.81–2.29)	4.54 (4.05–5.14)	59.84	-0.31 (-0.47 to 0.15)
Southern Sub-Saharan Africa	0.56 (0.50-0.62)	3.41 (2.98–3.77)	1.35 (1.22–1.46)	4.14 (3.75–4.49)	141.07	0.92 (0.46–1.39)
Tropical Latin America	1.86 (1.80–1.93)	3.58 (3.47–3.71)	4.78 (4.60–5.00)	3.73 (3.59–3.90)	156.99	-0.06 (-0.21 to 0.09)
Western Europe	26.48 (26.05–26.92)	7.99 (7.87–8.12)	28.33 (26.80–29.81)	5.86 (5.53-6.16)	6.99	-1.31 (-1.37 to -1.25)
Western Sub-Saharan Africa	1.18 (0.94–1.62)	2.58 (2.06–3.53)	3.22 (2.57-4.01)	3.19 (2.55–3.97)	172.88	0.79 (0.75–0.83)

0.79 (0.75–0.83)

TABLE 3 | The DALYs of ovarian cancer, and its temporal trends from 1990 to 2017.

naracteristics	19	90	20	17		1990–2017
	DALYs No. ×10 ³ (95% UI)	Age standardized DALY rate (per 100,000) (95% UI)	DALYs No. ×10 ³ (95% UI)	Age standardized DALY rate (per 100,000) (95% UI)	Change in DALYs No. (%)	EAPC No. (95% Cl)
obal	2625.25 (2493.77–2829.95)	115.97 (110.29–124.73)	4673.03 (4528.65-4828.61)	110.94 (107.51–114.64)	78.00	-0.38 (-0.32 to -0.25)
וכ						
gh SDI	1165.76 (1145.94–1185.90)	178.01 (175.02–181.12)	1286.70 (1243.45–1329.61)	129.78 (125.52–134.12)	10.37	-1.42 (-1.35 to -1.28)
gh-middle SDI	619.01 (584.87–650.41)	115.22 (98.00–102.08)	986.76 (952.27–1019.77)	103.65 (99.98–107.15)	59.41	-0.63 (-0.76 to -0.50)
iddle SDI	398.06 (372.24–448.21)	68.37 (64.00–76.82)	1136.41 (1089.47–1187.13)	93.93 (90.10–98.14)	185.49	1.13 (1.07–1.20)
w-middle SDI	285.87 (248.30–359.55)	84.40 (73.52–105.68)	865.01 (778.22–1001.88)	123.55 (111.45–142.26)	202.59	1.42 (1.37-1.48)
w SDI	150.70 (114.44–223.63)	76.59 (58.92–111.58)	383.56 (339.68–445.46)	92.06 (81.68–106.87)	154.52	0.38 (0.58–0.78)
egions						
ndean Latin America	6.17 (6.93–5.47)	48.10 (42.56–53.84)	31.36 (27.28–35.98)	108.38 (94.20–124.08)	408.27	3.45 (2.73–4.18)
ustralasia	20.68 (19.97-21.49)	171.47 (165.44–178.21)	26.57 (23.38–30.47)	118.78 (104.23–136.21)	28.48	-1.53 (-1.60 to -1.46)
aribbean	5.59 (4.99–6.57)	38.30 (34.20-44.87)	26.91 (25.57–32.90)	107.98 (96.55–124.64)	381.40	3.83 (2.97-4.70)
entral Asia	26.91 (23.54–31.76)	93.11 (81.37–110.03)	51.43 (48.38–54.70)	111.15 (104.61–118.13)	91.12	0.54 (0.72-0.89)
entral Europe	160.77 (156.34–164.85)	201.83 (196.37–206.75)	187.24 (178.37–196.50)	188.57 (179.79–197.81)	16.46	-0.22 (-0.32 to -0.12
entral Latin America	47.50 (46.20-48.84)	88.15 (85.74–90.59)	155.32 (147.47–163.15)	118.61 (112.62–124.54)	227.00	1.16 (1.03–1.29)
entral Sub-Saharan Africa	12.39 (8.98–16.59)	80.77 (59.66.41–104.33)	29.85 (22.91–38.23)	88.14 (68.24–111.90)	140.92	0.15 (0.00–0.30)
ast Asia	279.83 (257.75–319.49)	51.68 (47.72–59.14)	735.86 (692.70–779.50)	68.62 (64.57-72.74)	162.97	0.95 (0.71–1.18)
astern Europe	297.05 (274.68–329.81)	181.51 (167.37–202.60)	295.74 (283.21–309.03)	164.36 (157.04–172.69)	-0.44	-0.67 (-1.00 to -0.33)
astern Sub-Saharan Africa	70.94 (57.05–94.27)	146.17 (119.01–190.79)	141.10 (118.32–161.45)	137.51 (116.21–156.12)	98.90	-0.56 (-0.75 to -0.37)
gh-income Asia Pacific	110.19 (107.97–112.44)	100.02 (98.00–102.08)	146.36 (138.57–155.16)	89.81 (84.81–95.70)	32.83	-0.42 (-0.56 to -0.28)
gh-income North America	322.94 (315.58–332.21)	178.80 (174.68–184.13)	401.40 (380.99–421.83)	136.49 (128.84–144.04)	24.30	-1.27 (-1.40 to -1.13)
orth Africa and Middle East	79.12 (67.42–106.24)	77.46 (66.35–103.03)	213.12 (200.76–226.90)	88.49 (83.42–93.94)	169.36	0.55 (0.49–0.61)
ceania	1.51 (1.12–2.05)	78.05 (58.89–103.58)	5.10 (3.91–6.84)	116.84 (92.79–150.95)	237.75	1.63 (1.72–1.81)
outh Asia	268.96 (230.29–350.55)	77.09 (66.23–100.47)	914.75 (831.99–1021.95)	119.33 (108.88–132.59)	240.11	1.54 (1.36–1.72)
outheast Asia	172.75 (146.62–224.15)	103.43 (88.42–132.80)	423.82 (372.40-494.86)	121.20 (106.63–141.00)	145.34	0.63 (0.56–0.70)
outhern Latin America	33.43 (30.88–36.20)	130.72 (120.78–141.33)	50.53 (44.83–57.41)	121.97 (107.97–138.61)	51.15	-0.32 (-0.47 to -0.17
outhern Sub-Saharan Africa	17.59 (15.89–19.26)	97.78 (87.95–106.83)	38.58 (35.00-41.98)	111.47 (101.11–121.05)	119.33	0.56 (-0.02 to 1.14)
opical Latin America	57.85 (55.67-60.30)	100.79 (97.30–104.77)	133.77 (128.31–139.95)	103.94 (99.71–108.70)	131.24	-0.05 (-0.25 to 0.01)
estern Europe	597.25 (586.96–608.43)	204.71 (201.13–208.51)	559.91 (528.82–590.19)	140.59 (133.04–148.17)	-6.25	-1.58 (-1.65 to -1.52
estern Sub-Saharan Africa	35.84 (28.58-49.00)	71.19 (56.93–97.25)	102.69 (81.41-129.01)	87.76 (69.81–110.20)	186.52	0.34 (-0.04 to 0.85)

DALY, disability adjusted life-year; EAPC, estimated annual percentage change; CI, confidence interval; UI, uncertainty interval; SDI, socio-demographic index.

(Supplementary Table 5). The OC-related DALYs of Trinidad and Tobago increased by ~9-fold. China (692806.34, 95% UI: 649947.79–734597.46) had the highest DALYs, followed by India (609130.85, 95% UI: 536743.45–702242.28). On the other hand, the DALYs were low in Kiribati (25.86, 95% UI: 17.66– 35.50) and Northern Mariana Islands (27.48, 95% UI: 22.63– 33.17) (Supplementary Figure 2 and Supplementary Tables 2, 3). Furthermore, Pakistan had the highest DALY ASR (360.24 per 100,000 people), whereas Mali had the lowest (46.92 per 100,000 people) in 2017 (Supplementary Figures 3, 5). The video shows the dynamic changes of countries with the top 10 OC DALY ASRs from 1990 to 2017 (Supplementary Video 3).

Compared with data from 1990, the OC-related DALYs in 2017 decreased only in Eastern and Western Europe (-0.44 and -6.25%, respectively) (Table 3). DALY ASR decreases were observed in 9 GBD regions, of which Western Europe had the greatest decrease (-1.58). Most of the OC-related DALYs were distributed in South (914,750) and East Asia (735,860) in 2017 (Table 3). DALY ASRs had the highest increase in the Caribbean (3.83), whereas the lowest increase was observed in Central Sub-Saharan Africa (0.15) (Table 3). OC-related DALYs increased in all SDI quintiles, whereas the OC DALY ASRs decreased in the high-middle and high SDI quintiles (EAPC: -0.63 and -1.42, respectively). Additionally, the EAPC of DALY ASRs of 195 countries and territories was correlated with SDI ($\rho = -0.209$, 95% CI: -0.340 to -0.070, P = 0.003), but not correlated with DALY ASRs itself ($\rho = 0.022, 95\%$ CI: -0.119 to 0.162, P = 0.760; Figures 3E,F).

Age Distribution of OC Incidence, Deaths, and DALYs

From 1990 to 2017, global OC incidence and DALYs were mainly distributed in populations aged 50–69 years followed by those aged 15–49 years (**Supplementary Figure 6**). Although OC death cases occurred mainly in populations aged 50–69 years, the number of OC death cases is higher in those aged >70 years compared to those aged 15–49 years. Additionally, no huge difference was observed in OC incidence, deaths, and DALYs with respect to age between 1990 and 2017. However, the proportion of patients aged 50–69 years decreased and became the lowest population among the considered age groups around year 2000.

Risk Factors for OC Burden

Global OC DALY ASRs attributable to all risks increased from 12.16 (95% UI: 5.59–20.95) to 12.56 (95% UI: 5.42–22.53) per 100,000 between 1990 and 2017 (**Figure 4**). Among the all risks, the high fasting plasma glucose level was the greatest contributor in DALY ASRs globally, as well as in all SDI quintiles in 1990 and 2017 (**Figure 4**). Another important contributor was high body mass index (BMI), which was the secondary contributor to DALY ASRs globally and in all SDI quintiles in 2017 (**Figure 4**). The third distributor in DALY ASRs in 2017 was the occupational exposure to asbestos, which contributed more to DALY ASRs globally and in most SDI quintiles in 1990.

As shown in Figure 5, OC DALY ASRs attributable to all risks increased mainly in the low, low-middle, and middle

SDI quintiles, while it decreased in the high, high-middle SDI quintiles. Global OC DALY ASRs attributable to high fasting plasma glucose level maintained an upward trend from 1990 (6.27 per 100,000) to 2017 (7.22 per 100,000) but varied by SDI quintiles in 2017. Of the 534,059 (95% UI: 230,578–958,755) global OC DALYs attributable to all risks, 307,210 (95% UI: 61,032–717,907) was attributable to high fasting plasma glucose level. High fasting plasma glucose-related OC DALYs in 2017 increased globally when compared with data in 1990 (data not shown). Moreover, high fasting plasma glucose-related OC DALY ASRs increased in the low, low middle, and middle SDI quintiles, whereas in the high, high-middle SDI quintiles (**Figure 5B**), the values decreased.

Global OC DALY ASRs attributable to high BMI increased in 2017 (3.53 per 100,000) when compared with data in 1990 (2.99 per 100,000). The proportion of high BMI-attributed DALY ASRs decreased in the high SDI quintile, but increased in the other quintiles, especially in the middle and low-middle SDI quintiles (**Figure 5C**).

Global OC DALY ASRs attributable to occupational exposure to asbestos was 2.35 per 100,000 in 2017, which was a great decrease compared with data in 1990 (3.42 per 100,000) globally. The attributed DALY ASRs in the high and high-middle SDI quintiles decreased from 1990 to 2017, but were still higher than those in the other three SDI quintiles. Meanwhile, the attributed DALY ASRs showed a decrease in low and low-middle SDI quintiles and a increase in the middle SDI quintiles from 1990 to 2017 (**Figure 5D**).

The OC ASDRs attributable to these risk factors displayed patterns similar to the DALY ASRs (**Figures 5E–H**). While, OC ASDRs attributable to all risks decreased slightly from 0.571 per 100,000 in 1990 to 0.570 per 100,000 in 2017. In a comparison of data between 1990 and 2017, OC ASDRs attributable to high fasting plasma glucose level and high BMI increased, whereas OC ASDRs attributable to occupational exposure to asbestos decreased.

DISCUSSION

Our analysis showed the latest global patterns and trends on disease burden and risk factors attributable to OC. The incidence, deaths, and DALYs increased globally from 1990 to 2017 and has been in a continuous upward trend (Supplementary Figure 7). The corresponding ASRs of OC all showed general downward trends with a peak and trough around 1994 and 2014 (Supplementary Figure 8). Previous paper about the incidence and mortality burden of ovarian cancer confirmed our findings (23). Besides, the latest research about the global disease burden of women cancer revealed that the incidence, deaths, and DALYs of ovarian cancer were 294,420, 198,410, and 5,359,740, respectively in 2019 globally which showed increases from 2017 (24). These findings could be helpful to the allocation of the limited health service resources as well as the evaluation of interventions or programs. According to a global cancer burden study (from 1990 to 2016) (25), increases in OC incidence were mainly attributable to population growth (12.4%) and changes in



age structure (14.9%) over the last decade, whereas the reverse contributed a 3.2% decrease. Specifically, in the high, high-middle, and middle SDI quintiles, changes in age structure were the main factor that contributed to changes in incidence (13.1, 14.6, and 20%, respectively). Furthermore, negative changes in ASIRs in the high (-9.4%) and high-middle (-8.4%) SDI quintiles were attributable to decreases in incidence. Population

growth was the greatest contributor in the incidence changes in the low-middle (16.6%) and low SDI (32.3%) quintiles. Generally, population growth and aging are continuing and may still be the main factors contributing to the increase in OC incidence. China, India, the United States, Pakistan, and the Russian Federation were the top 5 countries with the highest incidence, mortality, and DALYs in not only 2017 but also a few years prior (26).



European and North American regions had the highest ASRs in recent years, as described in published reports (10, 26, 27). Therefore, in the coming decades, the number of OC patients who need specialist treatment will also continue to increase.

High fasting plasma glucose level is the most important risk factor for OC deaths and DALYs globally. A previous casecontrol study in China showed that fasting plasma glucose and high BMI were significantly prevalent in OC (28). By searching the GHDx database, we also found that in China, DALYs and mortality attributable to high fasting plasma glucose levels decreased in 2017 after a long-term upward trend in 1990 to 2016 (data not shown). Moreover, various studies from other institutes have also reported the high risk for OC in patients with diabetes mellitus (29, 30). Mechanistic studies indicate that glucose in diabetes mellitus patients provides energy not only to normal cells but also to tumor cells, hence promoting tumor growth (31). Additionally, hyperinsulinemia caused by insulin resistance could promote cancer cell mitosis through molecules such as insulin receptor-A and insulin-like growth factor-1, or through activation of the insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor signaling pathway (32-34). Other studies have demonstrated that diabetes mellitus also promoted carcinogenesis through regulation of programmed cell death and immune system surveillance (35, 36). Moreover, some studies have investigated the effect of antidiabetes medications or other treatments on OC risk. Several

studies report that metformin and breastfeeding reduce OC risk in diabetes mellitus patients (14, 37, 38).

Although asbestos use is banned in most countries, there are millions of people still working in factories with asbestos exposure, and at least 90,000 people die from asbestos-related diseases or cancer diseases every year (39). Based on mortality data from the World Health Organization Health Statistics database for the year 2009, Argentina, Brazil, Colombia, and Mexico reflected the greatest numbers of estimated OC deaths attributable to occupational asbestos exposure in 5 years (40). Asbestos use has decreased for many years; nevertheless, governments should increase efforts to limit asbestos production and use and look for alternatives to reduce asbestos exposure. Occupational disease screening and routine physical examination of workers could also help improve the early detection rate of diseases. The association between high BMI and OC risk has been addressed in various studies (28, 41, 42). Obesity has always been a health topic of great concern. It is associated with many diseases, and people should control obesity through a reasonable diet, healthy work and rest, and exercise.

Studies of global cancer incidence, mortality, and DALYs based on the GHDx program provide high-quality estimates of cancer burden. However, these studies rely on the quality of actual raw data, which are unavailable in the GBD database. More accurate estimates of disease burden could be easily obtained in developed countries because they have timely and accurate disease registration data. Nevertheless, these estimates may be influenced by data reliability and poor enrollment rate biases, which could manifest in mathematical modeling errors. Moreover, heterogeneity in data acquisition and processing, including disease detection, diagnosis, and coding, may lead to results deviations. Our research is no exception to these limitations.

CONCLUSION

OC disease burden increased worldwide, and the heaviest burden was distributed in South and East Asia and Western Europe. High fasting plasma glucose level was the greatest contributor in DALY ASRs globally. Our study provides valuable information on the patterns and trends of disease burden and risk factors attributable to OC across age, SDI, regions, and countries, which may help improve the rational allocation of health resources as well as inform policy formulation.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The Ethics Committee of the Second Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University determined that this study did not need ethical approval because it used publicly available data.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HK designed the research. ZZ, XW, and NW collected and arranged the data. ZZ, LZ, and NW performed the statistical analysis and made the figures and tables. ZZ, XR, XW, and HK wrote and revised the manuscript. All authors read, critically reviewed, and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was supported by Basic Research Program of Natural Science Foundation of Shaanxi Province (No. 2021JQ-422).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all members of Global Burden of Disease Collaborative Network and Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME). We also acknowledge our thanks to providers of R packages used in this study. We would like to thank Editage (www.editage.cn) for English language editing.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh. 2021.619581/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Figure 1 | The crude prevalence cases (×1,000) of ovarian cancer in different GBD regions and SDI quintiles in 2017.

Supplementary Figure 2 The incidence, mortality and DALYs cases (x1,000) of ovarian cancer in 195 countries and territories in 2017. DALY, disability adjusted life-year.

Supplementary Figure 3 | The countries with top 10 age-standardized rates (per 100,000 people) in 2017. (A) ASIR, age standardized incidence rate; (B) ASDR, age standardized death rate; (C) age-standardized DALY rate. DALY, disability adjusted life-year.

Supplementary Figure 4 | The global death burden of ovarian cancer in 195 countries and territories in 2017. (A) The age-standardized death rate (per 100,000 people) of ovarian cancer in 2017; (B) the relative change in death cases between 1990 and 2017; (C) the EAPC of ovarian cancer ASDR. EAPC, estimated annual percentage change.

Supplementary Figure 5 | The global DALY burden of ovarian cancer in 195 countries and territories in 2017. (A) The age-standardized DALY rate (per 100,000 people) of ovarian cancer in 2017; (B) the relative change in DALYs between 1990 and 2017; (C) the EAPC of the age-standardized DALY rate. ASDR, age-standardized death rate; EAPC, estimated annual percentage change.

Supplementary Figure 6 | The proportion of different age groups in ovarian cancer by years. (A) Incidence. (B) Death. (C) DALY disability adjusted life-year.

Supplementary Figure 7 | The global change in ovarian cancer incidence, death and DALYs from 1990 to 2017. DALY, disability-adjusted life year.

Supplementary Figure 8 | The global change in age-standardized incidence, death, and DALYs rates of ovarian cancer from 1990 to 2017. DALY, disability-adjusted life year.

Supplementary Table 1 | The incidence of ovarian cancer among 195 countries and territories, and its temporal trends from 1990 to 2017.

Supplementary Table 2 | The top five countries and territories of ovarian cancer incidence, death, or DALYs in 2017.

Supplementary Table 3 | The bottom five countries and territories of ovarian cancer incidence, death, or DALYs in 2017.

Supplementary Table 4 | The deaths of ovarian cancer among 195 countries and territories, and their temporal trends from 1990 to 2017.

Supplementary Table 5 | The DALYs of ovarian cancer among 195 countries and territories, and their temporal trends from 1990 to 2017.

Supplementary Video 1 | The dynamic changes of countries with top 10 ASIR (per 100,000) of OC from 1990 to 2017 (MP4). This video shows the dynamic change of the top 10 countries with highest ASIR of OC annually from 1990 to 2017.

Supplementary Video 2 | The dynamic changes of countries with top 10 ASDR (per 100,000) of OC from 1990 to 2017 (MP4). This video shows the dynamic change of the top 10 countries with highest ASDR of OC annually from 1990 to 2017.

Supplementary Video 3 | The dynamic changes of countries with top 10 DALY ASR (per 100,000) of OC from 1990 to 2017 (MP4). This video shows the dynamic change of the top 10 countries with highest DALY ASR of OC annually from 1990 to 2017.

REFERENCES

- Corrado G, Palluzzi E, Bottoni C, Pietragalla A, Salutari V, Ghizzoni V, et al. New medical approaches in advanced ovarian cancer. *Minerva Med.* (2019) 110:367–84. doi: 10.23736/s0026-4806.19.06139-1
- Ferlay J, Colombet M, Soerjomataram I, Mathers C, Parkin DM. Estimating the global cancer incidence and mortality in 2018: GLOBOCAN sources and methods. *Int J Cancer*. (2019) 144:1941–53. doi: 10.1002/ijc.31937
- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J Clin.* (2018) 68:394–424. doi: 10.3322/caac.21492
- Althubiti MA, Nour Eldein MM. Trends in the incidence and mortality of cancer in Saudi Arabia. Saudi Med J. (2018) 39:1259–62. doi: 10.15537/smj.2018.12.23348
- Teng Z, Han R, Huang X, Zhou J, Yang J, Luo P, et al. Increase of incidence and mortality of ovarian cancer during 2003-2012 in Jiangsu Province, China. *Front Public Health.* (2016) 4:146. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2016.00146
- Barman D, Sharma JD, Barmon D, Kataki AC, Sharma A, Kalita M. Epidemiology of gynecological cancers in Kamrup Urban District cancer registry. *Indian J Cancer*. (2017) 54:388–91. doi: 10.4103/0019-509x.219590
- Li N, Deng Y, Zhou L, Tian T, Yang S, Wu Y, et al. Global burden of breast cancer and attributable risk factors in 195 countries and territories, from 1990 to 2017: results from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *J Hematol Oncol.* (2019) 12:140. doi: 10.1186/s13045-019-0828-0
- James SL, Castle CD, Dingels ZV, Fox JT, Hamilton EB, Liu Z, et al. Global injury morbidity and mortality from 1990 to 2017: results from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Inj Prev.* (2020) 26(Supp. 1):i96–114. doi: 10.1136/injuryprev-2019-043494
- Zhou L, Deng Y, Li N, Zheng Y, Tian T, Zhai Z, et al. Global, regional, and national burden of Hodgkin lymphoma from 1990 to 2017: estimates from the 2017 Global Burden of Disease study. *J Hematol Oncol.* (2019) 12:107. doi: 10.1186/s13045-019-0799-1
- 10. Webb PM, Jordan SJ. Epidemiology of epithelial ovarian cancer. *Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol.* (2017) 41:3–14. doi: 10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2016.08.006
- Avgerinos KI, Spyrou N, Mantzoros CS, Dalamaga M. Obesity and cancer risk: emerging biological mechanisms and perspectives. *Metabolism.* (2019) 92:121–35. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2018.11.001
- Kang DM, Kim JE. Occupational burden of asbestos-related diseases in Korea, 1998-2013: asbestosis, mesothelioma, lung cancer, laryngeal cancer, and ovarian cancer. J Korean Med Sci. (2018) 33:e226. doi: 10.3346/jkms.2018.33.e226
- Lee JE, Nam CM, Lee SG, Park S, Kim TH, Park EC. The health burden of cancer attributable to obesity in Korea: a population-based cohort study. *Cancer Res Treat.* (2019) 51:933–40. doi: 10.4143/crt.2018.301
- Shi J, Liu B, Wang H, Zhang T, Yang L. Association of metformin use with ovarian cancer incidence and prognosis: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Int J Gynecol Cancer*. (2019) 29:140–6. doi: 10.1136/ijgc-2018-000060
- Sun H, Gong TT, Xia Y, Wen ZY, Zhao LG, Zhao YH, et al. Diet and ovarian cancer risk: an umbrella review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses of cohort studies. *Clin Nutr.* (2021) 40:1682–90. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2020.11.032
- 16. Fitzmaurice C, Abate D, Abbasi N, Abbastabar H, Abd-Allah F, Abdel-Rahman O, et al. Global, regional, and national cancer incidence, mortality, years of life lost, years lived with disability, and disability-adjusted life-years for 29 cancer groups, 1990 to 2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study. *JAMA Oncol.* (2019) 5:1749–68. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2019.2996
- GBD 2016 Causes of Death Collaborators. Global, regional, and national agesex specific mortality for 264 causes of death, 1980-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *Lancet.* (2017) 390:1151–210. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(17)32152-9
- GBD 2019 Diseases and Injuries Collaborators. Global burden of 87 risk factors in 204 countries and territories, 1990-2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. *Lancet.* (2020) 396:1223–49. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(20)30752-2
- Stevens GA, Alkema L, Black RE, Boerma JT, Collins GS, Ezzati M, et al. Guidelines for accurate and transparent health estimates

reporting: the GATHER statement. Lancet. (2016) 388:e19-23. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(16)30388-9

- GBD 2013 Mortality and Causes of Death Collaborators. Global, regional, and national age-sex specific all-cause and cause-specific mortality for 240 causes of death, 1990-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *Lancet*. (2015) 385:117–71. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(14)61682-2
- Deng Y, Wang M, Zhou L, Zheng Y, Li N, Tian T, et al. Global burden of larynx cancer, 1990-2017: estimates from the global burden of disease 2017 study. *Aging*. (2020) 12:2545–83. doi: 10.18632/aging.102762
- Zhai Z, Zheng Y, Li N, Deng Y, Zhou L, Tian T, et al. Incidence and disease burden of prostate cancer from 1990 to 2017: results from the global burden of disease study 2017. *Cancer*. (2020) 126:1969–78. doi: 10.1002/cncr.32733
- Zheng L, Cui C, Shi O, Lu X, Li YK, Wang W, et al. Incidence and mortality of ovarian cancer at the global, regional, and national levels, 1990-2017. *Gynecol Oncol.* (2020) 159:239–47. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2020.07.008
- 24. Yi M, Li T, Niu M, Luo S, Chu Q, Wu K. Epidemiological trends of women's cancers from 1990 to 2019 at the global, regional, and national levels: a population-based study. *Biomark Res.* (2021) 9:55. doi: 10.1186/s40364-021-00310-y
- 25. Fitzmaurice C, Akinyemiju TF, Al Lami FH, Alam T, Alizadeh-Navaei R, Allen C, et al. Global, regional, and national cancer incidence, mortality, years of life lost, years lived with disability, and disability-adjusted life-years for 29 cancer groups, 1990 to 2016: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study. *JAMA Oncol.* (2018) 4:1553–68. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2018.2706
- Torre LA, Trabert B, DeSantis CE. Ovarian cancer statistics, 2018. CA Cancer J Clin. (2018) 68:284–96. doi: 10.3322/caac.21456
- Zhang Y, Luo G, Li M, Guo P, Xiao Y, Ji H, et al. Global patterns and trends in ovarian cancer incidence: age, period and birth cohort analysis. *BMC Cancer*. (2019) 19:984. doi: 10.1186/s12885-019-6139-6
- Chen Y, Zhang L, Liu W, Wang K. Case-control study of metabolic syndrome and ovarian cancer in Chinese population. *Nutr Metab.* (2017) 14:21. doi: 10.1186/s12986-017-0176-4
- Zhang D, Li N, Xi Y, Zhao Y, Wang T. Diabetes mellitus and risk of ovarian cancer. A systematic review and meta-analysis of 15 cohort studies. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* (2017) 130:43–52. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2017.04.005
- Zhang D, Zhao Y, Wang T, Xi Y, Li N, Huang H. Diabetes mellitus and long-term mortality of ovarian cancer patients. A systematic review and meta-analysis of 12 cohort studies. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev.* (2017) 33:e2868. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.2868
- Vrachnis N, Iavazzo C, Iliodromiti Z, Sifakis S, Alexandrou A, Siristatidis C, et al. Diabetes mellitus and gynecologic cancer: molecular mechanisms, epidemiological, clinical and prognostic perspectives. *Arch Gynecol Obstet*. (2016) 293:239–46. doi: 10.1007/s00404-015-3858-z
- Becker S, Dossus L, Kaaks R. Obesity related hyperinsulinaemia and hyperglycaemia and cancer development. Arch Physiol Biochem. (2009) 115:86–96. doi: 10.1080/13813450902878054
- Adler AI, Weiss NS, Kamb ML, Lyon JL. Is diabetes mellitus a risk factor for ovarian cancer? A case-control study in Utah and Washington (United States). *Cancer Causes Control.* (1996) 7:475–8. doi: 10.1007/bf00052674
- Gallagher EJ, LeRoith D. Diabetes, antihyperglycemic medications and cancer risk: smoke or fire? *Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes.* (2013) 20:485–94. doi: 10.1097/01.med.0000433065.16918.83
- Gapstur SM, Gann PH, Lowe W, Liu K, Colangelo L, Dyer A. Abnormal glucose metabolism and pancreatic cancer mortality. *JAMA*. (2000) 283:2552– 8. doi: 10.1001/jama.283.19.2552
- 36. Hwang KA, Park MA, Kang NH, Yi BR, Hyun SH, Jeung EB, et al. Anticancer effect of genistein on BG-1 ovarian cancer growth induced by 17 β-estradiol or bisphenol A via the suppression of the crosstalk between estrogen receptor α and insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor signaling pathways. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* (2013) 272:637–46. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2013.07.027
- Tseng CH. Metformin reduces ovarian cancer risk in Taiwanese women with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev.* (2015) 31:619–26. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.2649
- Westerfield KL, Koenig K, Oh R. Breastfeeding: common questions and answers. Am Fam Physician. (2018) 98:368–73.
- Burki T. Asbestos production increases despite WHO opposition. Lancet Oncol. (2009) 10:846. doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(09)70250-5

- Pasetto R, Terracini B, Marsili D, Comba P. Occupational burden of asbestosrelated cancer in Argentina, Brazil, Colombia, and Mexico. *Ann Glob Health.* (2014) 80:263–8. doi: 10.1016/j.aogh.2014.09.003
- Bandera EV, Qin B, Moorman PG, Alberg AJ, Barnholtz-Sloan JS, Bondy M, et al. Obesity, weight gain, and ovarian cancer risk in African American women. *Int J Cancer*. (2016) 139:593–600. doi: 10.1002/ijc.30115
- Olsen CM, Nagle CM, Whiteman DC, Ness R, Pearce CL, Pike MC, et al. Obesity and risk of ovarian cancer subtypes: evidence from the Ovarian Cancer Association Consortium. *Endocr Relat Cancer*. (2013) 20:251–62. doi: 10.1530/erc-12-0395

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Zhou, Wang, Ren, Zhou, Wang and Kang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





A Study Protocol for Increasing Access to Smoking Cessation Treatments for Low-Income Minority Smokers

Alicia K. Matthews^{1*}, Karriem S. Watson^{2,3}, Cherdsak Duangchan¹, Alana Steffen¹ and Robert Winn^{4,5}

¹ College of Nursing, University of Illinois at Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States, ² University of Illinois Cancer Center, University of Illinois at Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States, ³ School of Public Health, University of Illinois at Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States, ⁴ Massey Cancer Center, Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond, VA, United States, ⁵ School of Medicine, Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond, VA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Tam Ha, University of Wollongong, Australia

Reviewed by:

Mai Thi Ngoc Tran, Queensland University of Technology, Australia Lois Meyer, University of New South Wales, Australia

> *Correspondence: Alicia K. Matthews aliciak@uic.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Health Education and Promotion, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

Received: 24 August 2021 Accepted: 12 November 2021 Published: 02 December 2021

Citation:

Matthews AK, Watson KS, Duangchan C, Steffen A and Winn R (2021) A Study Protocol for Increasing Access to Smoking Cessation Treatments for Low-Income Minority Smokers. Front. Public Health 9:762784.

doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.762784

Background: Smoking rates among low-income patients are double those of the general population. Access to health care is an essential social determinant of health. Federally qualified health care centers (FQHC) are government-supported and community-based centers to increase access to health care for non-insured and underinsured patients. However, barriers to implementation impact adherence and sustainability of evidence-based smoking cessation within FQHC settings. To address this implementation barrier, our multi-disciplinary team proposes Mi QUIT CARE (Mile Square <u>QUIT</u> <u>Community-Access-Referral-Expansion</u>) to establish the acceptability, feasibility, and capacity of an FQHC system to deliver an evidence-based and multi-level intervention to increase patient engagement with a state tobacco quitline.

Methods: A mixed-method approach, rooted in an implementation science framework of RE-AIM (Reach, Effectiveness, Adoption, Implementation, and Maintenance), will be used in this hybrid effectiveness-implementation design. We aim to evaluate the efficacy of a novel delivery system (patient portal) for increasing access to smoking cessation treatment. In preparation for a future randomized clinical trial of Mi QUIT CARE, we will conduct the following developmental research: (1) Examine the burden of tobacco among patient populations served by our partner FQHC, (2) Evaluate among FQHC patients and health care providers, knowledge, attitudes, barriers, and facilitators related to smoking cessation and our intervention components, (3) Evaluate the use of tailored communication strategies and patient navigation to increase patient portal uptake among patients, and (4) To test the acceptability, feasibility, and capacity of the partner FQHC to deliver Mi QUIT CARE.

Discussion: This study provides a model for developing and implementing smoking and other health promotion interventions for low-income patients delivered via patient health portals. If successful, the intervention has important implications for addressing a critical social determinant of cancer and other tobacco-related morbidities.

80

Trial Registration: U.S. National Institutes of Health Clinical Trials, NCT04827420, https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04827420.

Keywords: smoking cessation, access to care, social determinants, patient portals, federally qualified health center (FQHC), health disparities

INTRODUCTION

Smoking rates among adults in the United States are at a 50year low (14.1%) (1). Despite overall declines in prevalence rates, smoking remains elevated among multiple underserved communities. For example, in Chicago, smoking rates among Blacks are significantly higher compared to whites (25.2 vs. 13.2%, respectively) (2). In urban areas like Chicago, smoking rates are also more pronounced among individuals living at or below the federal poverty level (26.8%) (2). Due to historical and current practices of structural racism, including redlining and community divestment, many Blacks in Chicago reside in neighborhoods characterized by concentrated disadvantage, racial segregation, and poor access to health care (3). Indeed, smoking rates in Chicago community areas with the highest poverty and racial segregation range from 22 to 35% of community residents (2). The negative consequences of smoking are well-established, with smoking contributing to a range of lifelimiting conditions, including lung cancer, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and emphysema (1). In Cook County, where Chicago is located, lung cancer rates among Blacks are substantially higher than whites (116.9 vs. 81.1 per 100,000 for men and 63.3 vs. 54.7 per 10,000 for women) (2). Further, the allcause morbidity and mortality due to smoking are higher among low-income and Black smokers due to a high prevalence of illnesses exacerbated by smoking (e.g., diabetes) (4). Combined, these inequalities underscore tobacco use as an urgent public health priority for Chicago and similar urban areas across the United States.

Reduced access to smoking cessation treatments, a key social determinant of health, is a persistent driver of smoking-related health inequalities among lower-income and racial/ethnic minority groups. Federally Qualified Health Care Centers (FQHCs) are safety-net clinics that serve low-income and uninsured patients. A recent study found that the overall proportion of tobacco use in FHQCs across multiple states was 25.8% compared to 20.6% in the general population (5). Mile Square Health Center (MSHC) is a network of FQHCs located in the greater Chicago metropolitan area, including Chicago, Rockford, and Cicero, Illinois. MSHC clinics are located in high-poverty neighborhoods with documented inequalities in lung cancer and other smoking-related health inequalities (i.e., asthma). Given the high levels of tobacco use observed

among FQHC patients, health system-wide tobacco cessation interventions can potentially improve health inequalities at the patient's level and the surrounding community areas.

Tobacco Cessation Treatments

In 2000, the U.S. Public Health Service clinical practice guideline, Treating Tobacco Use and Dependence, recommended that providers consistently identify and document patients' tobacco use status and treat tobacco users via the "5As" framework (Ask-Advise-Assess-Assist-Arrange) (6). Although effective, the 5As model is time-consuming and can be challenging to implement in high-volume clinical settings (7). A simplified version of the framework (Ask-Advise-Refer, [AAR]) was subsequently developed (8). When implemented in clinical settings, AAR has demonstrated effectiveness for increasing patient engagement with recommended treatment approaches such as state tobacco quitlines (9-12). State-run tobacco quitlines offer free telephone counseling and nicotine replacement for low-income smokers. The average quit rates among quitline users are 12.7%, increasing to 28.1% when counseling is combined with nicotine replacement (6). Despite the efficacy of provider interventions such as AAR for linking smokers to treatment, these interventions are underutilized in clinical settings.

FQHCs are required to report annually on their implementation and dissemination of evidence-based tobacco cessation per their Uniform Data Set (UDS) guidelines for FQHCs (5). The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention reports that, although 62.7% of outpatient visits included tobacco screening, only 20.9% of current tobacco users received counseling and 7.6% received a prescription for pharmacotherapy during their visit (13). Barriers to provider adherence to AAR practice guidelines are well-documented (i.e., time restraints) (7). As such, innovation in implementing AAR clinical practice guidelines is needed to facilitate the delivery of evidence-based smoking cessation treatments, especially in clinical populations disproportionately burdened by tobacco use.

Advances in electronic health records (EHR) have allowed the delivery of population health interventions in clinical settings. EHRs are a means for systematically obtaining and electronically storing details about a patient's health history, including demographic characteristics, clinical diagnoses, and treatment histories. A key feature of EHR is that they increase the safety and quality of health care services by allowing for the sharing of information among health care providers both within and across health institutions. Using patient health portals is an innovative strategy for proactively offering health promotion information and guidance at the health system level. Patient portals are tied to EHR and are secure online tools specifically designed to help patients access and manage their health history, including communicating with their providers (14). Patient portals allow

Abbreviations: AA, African Americans; AAR, Ask-Advise-Refer; ALA, American Lung Association; HER, electric health records; FQHC, Federally Qualified Health Care Centers; ITQL, Illinois Tobacco Quitline; LHL, low-health literacy; Mi QUIT CARE, Mile Square QUIT Community-Access-Referral-Expansion; MSHC, Mile Square Health Center; PN, patient navigation; SEM, socio-ecological model; UI, University of Illinois; UI Health, The University of Illinois Hospital and Health Sciences System.

patients to view a subset of the more extensive health-related information contained in their EHR (e.g., diagnoses, medication lists, appointments). In addition, specific information can be provided to patients via their patient portals outside of a traditional health care visit. Patient health portals can be accessed via computers or internet-enabled smartphones (15, 16). According to the American Hospital Association, 93% of hospitals provide patients access to electric health records (EHRs) *via* patient portals (17). Data from the National Cancer Institute found that 52% of patients reported being offered access to their patient portals by their providers (18). Enrolling in newly available patient portal systems has demonstrated effectiveness in increasing patient-provider communication access to health information and delivering evidence-based preventive services (14, 18).

To date, a small number of randomized controlled trials have used the EHR to identify an entire population of smokers and proactively engage them in treatment (14, 18-21). Proactive engagement can be defined as the systematic targeting of all smokers in a population (e.g., health care system). Proactively calling smokers in the general population to offer free quitline counseling increases quit attempts and cessation rates (22). Several trials have demonstrated the benefit of population-based outreach efforts compared to standard clinical practice on receipt of smoking cessation counseling or medications (range 12.8-14.5 vs. 5.1-7.3%, respectively), and abstinence rates (range 5.3-13.5 vs. 1.1-10.9%, respectively) (20). A few studies have evaluated the reach and feasibility of delivering health promotion interventions via patient portals (14, 23). However, few have tested the use of patient portals to offer population-level smoking cessation treatments consistent with the AAR framework that directly links smokers to a state tobacco quitline and does not require trained clinical staff to implement.

Despite the early promise, the potential of patient portals as a health intervention delivery system will be limited by patient enrollment, especially among patients impacted by the digital divide (24). Integrating the promotion of patient portal use into routine primary care practices and offering assistance in enrollment may increase the use of patient portals (25). Patient navigation (PN) is a recognized and evidencebased approach for reducing health inequalities (26) and has been shown to increase patient access to health care services (27). The primary role of the PN is to address patients' informational, emotional, and practical needs associated with accessing health care. A recent meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials of PN interventions demonstrated that, compared to usual care, patients who received PN were significantly more likely to access health screening (OR 2.48, p < 0.00001) and to attend a recommended care event (OR 2.55, p < 0.01) (27). However, more research is needed to evaluate whether PN can increase patient portal access among patients with low health literacy, racial/ethnic minorities, and patients with limited computer skills; thereby, helping to realize the potential of patient portals for widespread delivery of smoking cessation interventions.

There is strong evidence that health care providers offering screening, brief counseling, and pharmacotherapy

reduces tobacco use (6). However, consistent delivery of provider-led tobacco cessation treatments in clinical settings is challenging (28). Our multi-disciplinary team proposes Mi QUIT CARE, an innovative implementation strategy for providing guideline-concordant tobacco treatment in an urban FQHC system to address this implementation barrier. Informed by the socioecological framework (29), my Mi Quit Care includes electronically delivering the AAR brief smoking cessation intervention via the patient portal (8-12). This approach will allow for proactively linking all identified smokers to the state tobacco quitline (30). Further, we will provide patient navigation to reduce barriers to engagement with the patient portal and the state tobacco quitline (26, 27). Patient portals represent a promising strategy for enhancing access to smoking cessation treatments among low-income smokers. However, developmental work is necessary before a full implementation trial to increase this approach's feasibility, acceptability, and cultural appropriateness. As such, the specific aims of this formative study are to:

- 1. Examine the burden of tobacco use (smoking prevalence) and its influence on pulmonary health inequalities (lung cancer, COPD, and asthma) in the patient populations served by MSHC.
- 2. To evaluate among MSHC patients and health care providers, knowledge, attitudes, barriers, and facilitators related to smoking cessation, engagement with the tobacco quitline, linkage to the tobacco quitline via a patient health portal, and receipt of patient navigation to facilitate access to the tobacco quitline.
- 3. To evaluate the use of tailored communication strategies and patient navigation to increase patient portal uptake among patients receiving care at MSHC.
- 4. To test the acceptability, feasibility, and capacity of a federally qualified health care system to deliver Mi QUIT CARE, an evidence-based and multi-level intervention to increase engagement with the quitline via the patient portal.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design

Study design and procedures are described below according to study-specific aims (see **Figure 1**). Qualitative (examining implementation) and quantitative methods (following a randomized controlled trial design) will be used in this hybrid effectiveness-implementation pilot design (31) to evaluate the feasibility and acceptability of a novel delivery system (patient portal) in increasing access to effective smoking cessation treatments. To ensure the scientific rigor and reproducibility of the study, we will use an established evaluation framework, RE-AIM (32). RE-AIM is a planning and evaluation model that addresses five dimensions of the individual- and setting-level outcomes critical to program impact and sustainability: Reach, Effectiveness, Adoption, Implementation, and Maintenance (32). RE-AIM was selected because it is a valuable framework

Overview of Study Aim 1: Examine the burden of tobacco use and its influence on pulmonary health outcomes in MSHC patients Obtain dataset of MSCH by smoking status Analvze data Disseminate findings to key stakeholder groups and discussion of community needs Outcomes: Identification of high burden communities and patient needs assessment Aim 2: Evaluate MSHC patient and provider knowledge, attitudes, barriers and facilitators related to smoking, engagement with ITQL, proactive linkage to ITQL via patient portals, and patient navigation. Obtain stakeholder input: patients and providers Analyze focus group and in-depth interview data • Develop low-health literacy materials aimed at increasing update of the patient portal • Outcomes: Stakeholder engagement and development of engagement materials Aim 3: Evaluate the use community engagement strategies to increase uptake of the UI Health Patient Portal Distribute low-health literacy educational and enrollment materials at MSHC clinics Use patient navigation to overcome barriers to enrollment Use clinic based kiosks and I-pads to overcome the digital divide Outcome: Demonstrate organizational readiness and active stakeholder investment Aim 4: Test the acceptability, feasibility and capacity of MSHC to deliver Mi QUIT CARE Test novel Ask, Advise, and Refer intervention delivery system Evaluate patient engagement levels with the ITQL Evaluate quit rates among patients receiving quitline counseling Outcomes: Demonstrate feasibility of the intervention and delivery strategies

FIGURE 1 | Overview of study design.

for planning, implementing, and evaluating practice-based interventions to improve external validity.

Further, we will use well-tested data collection methods, training, and supervision to ensure intervention fidelity and biochemical verification of smoking status. The overall study protocol has been approved by the University of Illinois at Chicago Institutional Review Board (Protocol # 2020-0532). Aim 1 of the study was determined to be exempt due to the lack of human subject involvement (Protocol #2020-1621). Aim 2 was determined to be exempt from IRB approval due to minimal risk (Protocol #2021-0578). However, informed consent will be obtained from all study participants in this aim. Each aim of the study will be reviewed and approved by the IRB committee and informed consent obtained from participants in each of the aims determined by the IRB to represent human subjects research. The study funding period and study timeline will take place between June 2020-May 2023.

Theoretical Model

Mi QUIT CARE is informed by the Centers for Disease Control's Socioecological Model (SEM) (29) and cognitive-behavioral theories (33). The University of Illinois (UI) Cancer Center and MSHC have experience conducting multi-level interventions to reduce cancer-related disparities (34). Guided by the SEM (29), the UI Cancer Center has proposed a new pathway in reducing pulmonary health inequalities. At the individual level and consistent with prior research, cognitive-behavioral models of behavior change (i.e., Theory of Planned Behavior) (33) will be used to understand attitudes toward smoking cessation among patients at FQHCs. Interpersonal interventions will include patient navigators to support patient uptake of the patient portals and address barriers to receiving evidence-based tobacco cessation treatments. We will evaluate a system-wide smoking cessation intervention delivered via a patient health portal at the organizational level. Community-level support is fostered through ongoing partnerships with organizations like the American Lung Association and the Illinois Tobacco Quitline. Lastly, at the policy level, the UI Cancer Center acknowledges the role of policy in improving pulmonary health outcomes, such as the regulation of flavored tobacco products, including mentholated brands (35, 36) (see Figure 2).

Setting

This multi-level intervention will be delivered via the University of Illinois Hospital and Health Sciences System (UI Health) Patient Portal, a cost-effective and sustainable intervention



delivery system. Mi QUIT CARE will be conducted in six Mile Square Health Center (MSHC) clinics, a network of 13 community-located FQHCs, including school-based health centers. MSHC is co-owned and operated by UI Health. MSHC serves communities experiencing a high burden of pulmonary health morbidity and mortality associated with tobacco use. The majority of MSHC patients are Black (74%), live at or below the federal poverty level (98%), and are insured through Medicaid (55%, 10% are uninsured). MSHC has the infrastructure to complete the study and monitor the impact of the intervention on their patients' smoking and pulmonary health status over time. Metrics demonstrating implementation readiness include: (1) consistent assessment and documentation of smoking status in the electronic health record by providers; (2) current availability of a systemwide patient portal that can be used to communicate with patients regarding their care; (3) an established collaboration with the Illinois Tobacco Quitline as part of an existing smoking cessation program at MSHC, and (4) an existing patient navigation program for smoking cessation and lung cancer screening.

Stakeholder Engagement

Community engagement is essential to the development of effective interventions. As shown in **Table 1**, we have assembled a diverse community advisory board representing multiple engagement levels across the socioecological model (29). Engaging community stakeholders is essential to developing tailored tobacco cessation interventions for at-risk populations

TABLE 1 | Mi CARE QUIT community advisory board.

Level of engagement	Stakeholder name or entity
Policy	American Lung Association Illinois Tobacco Quitline Chicago Department of Public Health American Cancer Society
Community	American Lung Association Illinois Tobacco Quitline Chicago Department of Public Health
Organizational	Providers at MSHC American Lung Association Illinois Tobacco Quitline Chicago Department of Public Health American Cancer Society
Interpersonal	Patient Navigators Implementation and Dissemination Specialist Providers
Individual	Current and former smokers who are patients at MSCH

(37). Specifically, community engagement will help to ensure: (a) the smoking cessation intervention is informed by and responsive to stakeholder needs; (b) the implementation of evidence-based interventions that align with patient preference and clinic culture; (c) the sustainability and scalability due to iterative stakeholder input; and (d) broad dissemination of findings to local, regional and national organizations (37). The community advisory board will meet quarterly throughout the project and will help to ensure the appropriateness of methods used.

Study Procedures

Below is a description of study procedures, separated by study aims.

Aim 1: Examine the burden of tobacco use (smoking prevalence) and its influence on pulmonary health inequalities (lung cancer, COPD, and asthma) in the patient populations served by MSHC.

Patient-level data from the electronic health records (EHR) of all six MSHC locations will be analyzed to evaluate the burden of tobacco use in our patient population. MSHC utilizes the epic platform for their EHR and can extract de-identified patient-level data. Eligibility criteria for inclusion in the analyses include (1) age 18 years and older, (2) a patient at one of the six participating MSHC clinics, and (3) having received care at MSHC within the past 2 years. Patient-level demographic data include age, gender, race/ethnicity, education, income status, relationship status, insurance type, and zip code. Smoking data include current smoking status (current, former, never). Smoking-related lung conditions to be examined include a diagnosis of lung cancer, COPD, and asthma. Chronic health conditions are exacerbated by smoking, including HIV infection, high blood pressure, cardiovascular disease, stroke, asthma, and diabetes. The data manager will prepare a request for the data sets, and the study biostatistician will analyze data to characterize the burden of tobacco use on pulmonary health outcomes. Prevalence, comparisons across clinic locations, and associations (e.g., race/ethnicity, gender, age) will be examined. Data from this aim of the study will allow us to establish a baseline level of smoking among the patient population and the presence of smoking-related comorbidities among patients who smoke. These data will serve as secondary endpoints in tracking the progress of our tobacco cessation intervention. No human subjects are involved in this aim.

Aim 2: Evaluate among MSHC patients and providers, knowledge, attitudes, barriers, and facilitators related to smoking cessation, engagement with the tobacco quitline, linkage to the tobacco quitline via a patient health portal, and receipt of patient navigation to facilitate access to the tobacco quitline.

A qualitative design will obtain stakeholder input on the interventions to test Mi QUIT CARE. Five focus groups (N = 50) will be conducted with current smokers, and in-depth interviews will be conducted with providers at MSHC (N = 24). The goals of the qualitative interviews will be to understand knowledge, attitudes, beliefs, and barriers related to (1) smoking cessation, (2) engagement with the quitline, (3) linkage to the quitline via the UI Health Patient Portal, and (4) the acceptability of patient navigation to facilitate enrollment in the patient portal and address barriers to engaging with the quitline. Eligibility criteria for focus groups include: (1) aged 18 years and older, (2) current smoker, (3) English speaking, and (4) ability to provide informed consent. Eligibility criteria for providers include: (1) employed at MSHC and (2) providing primary care for adults. All study participants will be recruited from MSHC via posted flyers and clinic-based recruitment activities conducted by trained research assistants.

Focus groups (90 min) and individual interviews (45 min) will be conducted according to standardized methodology, including using trained moderators, a moderator's guide, post-session debriefings, and a review of transcribed audiotapes (38). The moderator's guide for the focus groups and in-depth interviews will be developed based on cognitive-behavioral models of health behavior change. Questions will include knowledge, attitudes, perceived social norms, perceived risks and benefits, self-efficacy, and barriers and facilitators regarding receipt of smoking cessation treatment and the use of the patient portal. Focus group participants will also complete a brief demographic survey. Interviews will be analyzed according to the methods of framework analysis (39). We expect to reach saturation with the proposed sample sizes based on our prior experience (40-43). NVivo will be used for qualitative data management and analyses. First, focus groups and in-depth interviews will be analyzed based on study questions and additional sub-themes identified. These design and analytic approaches are appropriate for applied research (39). The information obtained from patients and providers will help us understand initial attitudes and opinions about the intervention approaches and help refine interventionrelated strategies.

Based on focus group data, we will partner with health literacy experts to tailor project informational materials to the needs of patients with low levels of health and technology literacy. Informational materials will include information about enrollment and use of the patient portal, communication from MSHC providers advising all current smokers to make a quit attempt, smoking cessation educational pamphlets, and a description of the tobacco quitline. Materials will be tailored to the needs of low-income patients in terms of language, health literacy, and health beliefs. In addition, tailoring of patient educational materials will be on Kreuter's methods for cultural tailoring (38) and will include (a) peripheral (images, etc. salient to smokers); (b) evidential (cancer rates specific to smoking); (c) linguistic (language and terms used by group); (d) constituent-involving (involving diverse populations of smokers); and (e) sociocultural tailoring (including cultural beliefs). After tailoring materials, a new sample of smokers (N = 25) and providers (N = 10) will be recruited based on the above eligibility criteria. In-depth interviews will collect data on the usability, acceptability, and comprehension of tailored educational materials. A trained research assistant will review materials with individual participants (30 min). The talk-aloud approach (44) will be used to obtain users' feedback. All sessions will be audiotaped, and information reviewed to make suggested changes and to finalize educational materials. All participants will receive a stipend. This aim was deemed exempt from IRB approval due to the low potential risk for participant harm. However, standard information materials will be provided and informed consent obtained before data collection. The information obtained from patients and providers will support the development of the patient portal strategies to increase the intervention's usability, acceptability, and cultural appropriateness.

Aim 3: Evaluate the use of community engagement strategies to increase uptake of the Patient Portal.

The utility of patient health portals as a health promotion delivery system will be limited if uptake is low among patients in FQHC who may have issues with general literacy, health literacy, and technology-based literacy levels. In this aim, we will evaluate a tailored multi-modal educational campaign to increase the enrollment of MSHC patients in the UI Health Patient Portal. Currently, only 1% of MSHC patients are enrolled in the patient portal. The goal is to increase enrollment to 40% across the 3 years of the developmental trial to demonstrate the feasibility of delivering Mi QUIT CARE via the patient portal. The educational campaign will occur in three MSHC locations (Main, South Shore, and Englewood). The remaining three locations (Back-of-the-Yards, Cicero, and Humboldt Park) will serve as waitlist controls. The following strategies will be used to increase enrollment: (1) branding of the outreach initiative, "My UI Health"; (2) conducting a clinic campaign using materials tailored to low health literacy populations; (3) offering written provider recommendation and enrollment information during all clinical encounters; (4) mailing informational letters to all MSHC patients that includes enrollment instructions; and (5) offering onsite enrollment assistance provided by patient navigators. Trained patient navigators will assist clinic patients in enrolling in the patient portal via kiosks and secure iPads. After the data collection phase, the patient enrollment campaign will be conducted at the three waitlist control clinics.

Study investigators will first evaluate patient portal enrollment considering all patients aged 18 and older who have had an office visit during the previous 24-month period to establish a baseline comparator. During the campaign, enrollment rates will be examined for each clinic to monitor increases in enrollment in the patient portal during the campaign period. We will compare enrollment rates for the intervention clinics vs. the control clinics. Further, we will evaluate whether additional targeted outreach efforts are needed for some patient groups by analyzing whether demographic factors (age, education, gender, race/ethnicity, last provider visit) are associated with portal enrollment. In addition, we will collect reasons for refusal among patients approached in the clinics by patient navigators. Data on enrollment will establish the feasibility of population-based engagement of health promotion interventions via the patient portal. Informed consent will not be required as this aim is part of a quality improvement project at the clinic to increase access to the patient portal. All analysis of portal uptake will be based on de-identified data.

Aim 4: Test the acceptability, feasibility, and capacity of MSHC FQHC to deliver Mi QUIT CARE.

We propose a Hybrid Type I effectiveness-implementation design grounded in RE-AIM (32). Hybrid I types are appropriate for evaluating outcomes associated with clinical intervention and implementation strategies (45). Led by our informatics team, our web application development will be spread across three phases: design, production, and testing/deployment. During the design phase of the study, our technical teams will work closely to refine and document all system specifications and requirements. System logic/rules will be generated. Wireframes, storyboards, interface mock-ups, schematics, and database designs will be produced. In the production phase, the technical team will build the application's site and database. The process will conclude with the testing and deployment phase in which the study and technical teams pass through multiple cycles of quality assurance. After the system is deployed to the live environment, the study and technical teams will stay engaged over the project's lifespan.

All English-speaking adult patients at three MSHC locations (Main, South Shore, and Englewood) who smoke and are enrolled in the UI Health Patient Portal will be eligible for this pilot test. An equal number of patients (total N = 100) will be randomly selected from each location for the feasibility trial using a software program developed by programmers at the University of Illinois at Chicago. Human subject approval will be obtained before data collection, and formal informed consent obtained from participants.

Figure 3 displays an overview of the activities to be conducted in Aim 4 of the study. The intervention will be based on the 3 A's framework (Ask-Advise-Refer, [AAR]) (9, 11, 12). In the first phase of this aim, we will Ask and Identity, All Smokers. Project staff will review the electronic health record of the six participating clinic locations to identify all current smokers. Any patient without documented smoking status will be flagged for input during the subsequent clinical encounter. Next, we will Advise a Quit Attempt. A random selection of all smokers enrolled in the patient portal will be sent a signed letter from their provider via the portal. The letter will describe health risks associated with smoking, explain the availability of free treatments, strongly encourage the patient to make a quit attempt, and inform them that they will be receiving a call from the Illinois Tobacco Quitline. Patients will be informed that the ITQL will provide free smoking cessation counseling and nicotine replacement therapy (nicotine patches). An automated text or email message with a hyperlink to the portal login page will be generated and sent to patients to alert them of the message from their providers.

Refer

The provider letter will describe the benefits of smoking cessation, advise the patient to quit smoking, and notify them they will receive a call from the ITQL within the next 48 h. Once the patient views the electronic provider letter via the patient portal, an automated referral will be sent to the ITQL with the patient's name, phone number, and unique ID number. Patients will also be allowed to opt-out of the treatment engagement call.

Treatment

A trained tobacco quitline counselor will call patients. Once reached, quitline counselors will assess the patient's readiness to quit smoking and provide an appropriate treatment plan. If interested in making a quit attempt, quitline counselors will provide smokers with an overview of the program, obtain cessation goals, recommend a treatment approach (counseling only or counseling + nicotine replacement therapy), and schedule the next session. The ITQL counseling program is based on the Freedom from Smoking (46, 47) program. It offers up to 6 weeks of free nicotine replacement (patches) to those 18 and older, medically eligible, and uninsured or on Medicaid. The American Lung Association operates the Illinois Tobacco Quit



FIGURE 3 | Overview of the brief smoking cessation intervention.

Line. Certified counselors speak both English and Spanish and have expertise in the treatment of diverse smokers.

Address Barriers

Quitline counselors will make 5 attempts to reach the patient before referring the case to the MiQuit Care patient navigator. Trained patient navigators will call non-responders to encourage them to make a quit attempt and engage with the tobacco quitline. A standardized assessment of the patient's interest in smoking cessation and barriers to engagement with the quitline will be conducted. Smokers who are not interested in quitting will receive brief motivational counseling and be advised to make a quit attempt soon. Smokers interested in quitting smoking will be referred to the quitline by the patient navigator using the patient portal. MSHC has an existing lung health navigation program for smoking cessation and lung cancer screening. Study investigators will oversee the training and ongoing supervision of existing lung health patient navigators to ensure fidelity to the treatment protocol.

Data Analysis

Consistent with RE-AIM (32), our primary outcomes will include Reach and Impact (Reach x Efficacy). We will obtain feasibility data from the patient portal. First, we will assess which patients received (opened) an electronically generated message from their providers advising them to make a quit attempt, describing free stop smoking services from the ITQL, and informing them about an upcoming call from the ITQL. All patients will be allowed to opt into the proactive ITQL counselor call. We will evaluate what percentage of patients opt-in to treatment and the demographic factors associated with the decision to accept linkage to the ITQL. Next, we will assess the percentage of patients who opted-in to treatment and were subsequently reached by the ITQL. Finally, we will evaluate the percentage of patients who engaged in stop smoking treatment (participated in more than 1 counseling call) and their quit outcomes. Patient receipt of treatment and self-reported quit rates will be obtained from the ITQL. The ITQL will provide a monthly report on patient engagement and quit rates. Statistical analyses (multivariable logistic regression models) will be conducted to determine demographic factors (age, race, gender, clinic) associated with receipt of the provider message and advice to quit smoking, receipt of treatment by the ITQL, and quit rates. One of our smoking cessation patient navigators will contact patients who opted-in to linkage to the ITQL and who were not reached by an ITQL counselor. Patient navigators will record barriers to quitline engagement that will be qualitatively analyzed. Data from this aim will refine implementation strategies and procedures in preparation for a fully powered randomized controlled trial.

DISCUSSION

The purpose of this paper is to describe the engagement and developmental protocol for an NIH-funded research study aimed at increasing access to smoking cessation treatments for FQHC patients. Specifically, we aim to determine the feasibility, acceptability, and capacity of an FQHC system to deliver evidence-based smoking cessation treatments to smokers using a patient health portal. Increasing access to evidence-based and cost-effective smoking cessation treatments is a national priority for reducing pulmonary health inequalities among highly vulnerable patients. Federally qualified health care systems represent a mechanism for addressing the health care needs of low-income and under-insured individuals and communities. However, given the complexity of patient healthcare needs, time for health promotion counseling within the confines of the typical clinical appointment is limited. As such, innovations are needed to provide cost-effective and system-wide approaches to supporting patients in making health-related behavioral changes. Additionally, per their uniform data system requirements, FQHCs are required to report annually on their implementation and uptake of evidence-based tobacco cessation interventions.

Patient portals are increasingly available across various health care systems and are being used to improve patient-provider communication and health-related information. Furthermore, researchers are investigating the use of patient portals to deliver evidence-based health promotion interventions across a range of health promotion behaviors (i.e., diabetes selfmanagement). As has been the case with a variety of health care innovations, low-income, and other marginalized patient populations may not have access to the accompanying benefits of patient health portals due to access barriers, including low literacy levels. Patient engagement approaches in the forms of advisory boards, qualitative studies with patients and providers, further tailoring health information to the needs of patients with low health literacy, and the identification of groups in need of additional assistance in the form of patient navigation and other supportive resources can help to overcome access barriers associated with health-related technologies. Equally important is implementing/dissemination approaches to expand provider and system-level bandwidth to provide patients with needed health promotion interventions, including smoking cessation.

Limitations

While this study has several strengths and contributes to existing gaps in the literature, we also acknowledge several limitations. First, the sample is drawn from a single FQHC system in a single geographical location. As such, additional research should be conducted with FQHC systems in other geographic areas. Although the percentage of FQHC with access to patient portals is growing, not all locations have the capacity currently, which could lower the impact of the intervention. Finally, patient navigators play an essential role in reducing health disparities. However, not all locations may have them as a part of the established clinic workforce.

CONCLUSIONS

Guided by the RE-AIM framework (32), our proposed study aims to conduct the developmental work necessary to evaluate Mi Quit Care's efficacy and implementation endpoints fully. Study findings from our developmental aims will provide initial data on Reach and Effectiveness. Following completion of this current study, we will conduct a fully-powered randomized clinical trial in which we will confirm the research and efficacy of the study as well as implementation outcomes (Adoption, Implementation, and Maintenance). Further, this study has the potential to develop and deploy evidence-based interventions for FQHCs that are required per their UDE mandates to implement evidence-based tobacco cessation interventions. Combined, the current and proposed future study have the potential to shape knowledge and future research on the feasibility of using patient health portals to deliver smoking cessation to high-risk patient populations receiving treatments in safety-net health centers.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The overall study protocol has been approved by the University of Illinois at Chicago Institutional Review Board (Protocol # 2020-0532) as a Center Grant. No human subjects may be recruited or enrolled, or their records, data, or biospecimens accessed or analyzed, under this protocol. Any human subject research supported by this Center Grant will require a separate application to the UIC IRB. Aim 1 of the study was determined to be exempt due to the lack of human subject involvement (Protocol #2020-1621). Aim 2 was determined to be exempt from IRB approval due to minimal risk (Protocol #2021-0578). However, standardized procedures for obtaining informed verbal consent

REFERENCES

- US Department of Health Human Services. The Health Consequences of Smoking-50 Years of Progress. A Report of the SURGEON General. Atlanta, GA: US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office of Smoking and Health (2014).
- 2. Chicago Department of Public Health Center for Health Statistics. Chicago Health Atlas 2.0 (www.chicagohealthatlas.org) (accessed August 15, 2021).
- Popescu I, Duffy E, Mendelsohn J, Escarce JJ. Racial residential segregation, socioeconomic disparities, and the White-Black survival gap. *PLoS ONE*. (2018) 13:e0193222. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0193222
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Current cigarette smoking among the adults-United States, 2017. Morbidity Mortal Weekly Rep. (2018) 67:1225–32. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6744a2
- Flocke SA, Hoffman R, Eberth JM, Park H, Birkby G, Trapl E, et al. The prevalence of tobacco use at federally qualified health centers in the United States, 2013. *Prev Chronic Dis.* (2017) 14:160510. doi: 10.5888/pcd14.160510
- Fiore MC, Jaén CR, Baker TB, Bailey WC, Benowitz NL, Curry SJ, et al. *Treating Tobacco Use and Dependence: 2008 Update.* Rockville, MD: US Department of Health and Human Services (2008).
- Edwards D, Freeman T, Litt J, Roche AM. GPs confidence in and barriers to implementing smoking cessation activities: compared to dentists, dental hygienists,s and pharmacists. *Austr J Primary Health.* (2006) 12:117– 25. doi: 10.1071/PY06054
- Bernstein SL, Boudreaux ED, Cydulka RK, Rhodes KV, Lettman NA, Almeida SL. Tobacco control interventions in the emergency department: a joint statement of emergency medicine organizations. *Ann Emerg Med.* (2006) 48:e417–26. doi: 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2006. 02.018
- Piñeiro B, Vidrine DJ, Wetter DW, Hoover DS, Frank-Pearce SG, Nguyen N, et al. Implementation of Ask-Advise-Connect in a safety net healthcare system: quitline treatment engagement and smoking cessation outcomes. *Translat Behav Med.* (2018) 10:163–7. doi: 10.1093/tbm/iby108

will be obtained from all study participants in Aim 2. Research activities associated with Aims 3 and 4 have not just been started. However, prior to the initiation of research related to these two aims, the study protocols will be reviewed and approved by the IRB committee and informed written consent obtained from participants in each of the aims determined by the IRB to represent human subjects research.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AM, KW, and RW are the multiple principal investigators and designed and drafted the study protocol. AS contributed to the study design and analytic plan. CD contributed to the description of the study protocols and intervention components. All authors contributed to the overall design of the study and the preparation of the protocol manuscript, read, and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

Funding for this study was provided by a grant from the National Heart Lung and Blood Institute of the National Institutes of Health (UG3/UH3 HL151302, Matthews/Watson/Winn, MPI).

- Piñeiro B, Wetter DW, Vidrine DJ, Hoover DS, Frank-Pearce SG, Nguyen N, et al. Quitline treatment dose predicts cessation outcomes among safetynet patients linked with treatment via Ask-Advise-Connect. *Prevent Med Rep.* (2019) 13:262–7. doi: 10.1016/j.pmedr.2019.01.009
- Vidrine JI, Shete S, Cao Y, Greisinger A, Harmonson P, Sharp B, et al. Ask-advise-connect: a new approach to smoking treatment delivery in health care settings. *JAMA Internal Med.* (2013) 173:458–64. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.3751
- Vidrine JI, Shete S, Li Y, Cao Y, Alford MH, Galindo-Talton RM, et al. The ask-advise-connect approach for smokers in a safety net healthcare system: A group-randomized trial. *Am J Prevent Med.* (2013) 45:737– 41. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2013.07.011
- Jamal A, Dube SR, Malarcher AM, Shaw L, Engstrom MC. Tobacco use screening and counseling during physician office visits among adults-National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey and National Health Interview Survey, United States, 2005-2009. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. (2012) 61:38–45.
- Han HR, Gleason KT, Sun CA, Miller HN, Kang SJ, Chow S, et al. Using patient portals to improve patient outcomes: systematic review. *JMIR human factors*. (2019) 6:e15038. doi: 10.2196/15038
- Krist AH, Woolf SH. A vision for patient-centered health information systems. JAMA. (2011) 305:300–1. doi: 10.1001/jama.2010.2011
- Power K, McCrea Z, White M, Breen A, Dunleavy B, O'Donoghue S, et al. The development of an epilepsy electronic patient portal: Facilitating both patient empowerment and remote clinician-patient interaction in a post-COVID-19 world. *Epilepsia*. (2020) 61:1894–905. doi: 10.1111/epi.16627
- Patel V Johnson C. Individuals' Use of Online Medical Records and Technology for Health Needs. ONC Data Brief, no.40. Washington, DC: Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology (2018).
- Irizarry T, DeVito Dabbs A, Curran CR. Patient portals and patient engagement: a state of the science review. J Med Internet Res. (2015) 6:e148. doi: 10.2196/jmir.4255
- Murray RL, Coleman T, Antoniak M, Stocks J, Fergus A, Britton J, et al. The effect of proactively identifying smokers and offering smoking cessation support in primary care populations: A cluster-randomized trial. *Addiction*. (2008) 103:998–1008. doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2008.02206.x

- 20. Fernandez ME, Schlechter CR, Del Fiol G, Gibson B, Kawamoto K, Siaperas T, et al. QuitSMART Utah: an implementation study protocol for a cluster-randomized, multi-level Sequential Multiple Assignment Randomized Trial to increase Reach and Impact of tobacco cessation treatment in Community Health Centers. *Implementation Sci.* (2020) 15:1–13. doi: 10.1186/s13012-020-0967-2
- Fu SS, van Ryn M, Sherman SE, Burgess DJ, Noorbaloochi S, Clothier B, et al. Proactive tobacco treatment and population-level cessation: A pragmatic randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2014) 174:671– 7. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2014.177
- Fiore M, Adsit R, Zehner M, McCarthy D, Lundsten S, Hartlaub P, et al. An electronic health record-based interoperable eReferral system to enhance smoking Quitline treatment in primary care. J Am Med Inform Assoc. (2019) 26:778–86. doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocz044
- Jose T, Ohde JW, Hays JT, Burke MV, Warner DO. Design and pilot implementation of an electronic health record-based system to automatically refer cancer patients to tobacco use treatment. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2020) 17:4054. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17114054
- 24. Kutner M, Greenberg E, Baer J. A First Look at the Literacy of America's Adults in the 21st Century. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics (2006).
- Krist AH, Woolf SH, Bello GA, Sabo RT, Longo DR, Kashiri P, et al. Engaging primary care patients to use a patient-centered personal health record. *Ann Family Med.* (2014) 12:418–426. doi: 10.1370/afm.1691
- 26. Freeman HP, Rodriguez RL. History and principles of patient navigation. *Cancer.* (2011) 117:3537-40. doi: 10.1002/cncr.26262
- Ali-Faisal SF, Colella TJ, Medina-Jaudes N, Scott LB. The effectiveness of patient navigation to improve healthcare utilization outcomes: A metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. *Patient Educ Counsel.* (2017) 100:436–48. doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2016.10.014
- Fiore MC. Treating Tobacco Use and Dependence. Clinical Practice Guideline. Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service (2000).
- McLeroy KR, Bibeau D, Steckler A, Glanz K. An ecological perspective on health promotion programs. *Health Educ Quart.* (1988) 15:351– 77. doi: 10.1177/109019818801500401
- 30. Vidrine JI, Rabius V, Alford MH, Li Y, Wetter DW. Enhancing dissemination of smoking cessation quitlines through T2 translational research: a unique partnership to address disparities in the delivery of effective cessation treatment. J Public Health Manage Pract. (2010) 16:304– 8. doi: 10.1097/PHH.0b013e3181cbc500
- Curran GM, Bauer M, Mittman B, Pyne JM, Stetler C. Effectivenessimplementation hybrid designs: combining elements of clinical effectiveness and implementation research to enhance public health impact. *Med Care*. (2012) 50:217. doi: 10.1097/MLR.0b013e3182408812
- Glasgow RE, Vogt TM, Boles SM. Evaluating the public health impact of health promotion interventions: the RE-AIM framework. *Am J Public Health*. (1999) 89:1322–7. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.89.9.1322
- Ajzen I. The theory of planned behavior. Organizational Behav Human Decision Process. (1991) 50:179–211. doi: 10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T
- Watson KS, Hulbert A, Henderson V, Chukwudozie IB, Aponte-Soto L, Lerner L, et al. Lung cancer screening and epigenetics in African Americans: role of the socioecological framework. *Front Oncol.* (2019) 9:87. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00087
- 35. Jao NC, Tan MM, Matthews PA, Simon MA, Schnoll R, Hitsman B. Menthol cigarettes, tobacco dependence, and smoking persistence: the need to examine enhanced cognitive functioning as a neuropsychological mechanism. *Nicotine Tobacco Res.* (2018) 22:466–72. doi: 10.1093/ntr/nty264

- Matthews PA, Blok AC, Lee JG, Hitsman B, Sanchez-Johnsen L, Watson K, et al. SBM recommends policy support to reduce smoking disparities for sexual and gender minorities. *Translat Behav Med.* (2018) 8:692–5. doi: 10.1093/tbm/ibx017
- Andrews JO, Tingen MS, Jarriel SC, Caleb M, Simmons A, Brunson J, et al. Application of a CBPR framework to inform a multi-level tobacco cessation intervention in public housing neighborhoods. *Am J Community Psychol.* (2012) 50:129–40. doi: 10.1007/s10464-011-9482-6
- Krueger RA, Casey MA. Focus Groups: A Practical Guide for Applied research. Washington, DC: Sage publications (2014).
- 39. Stewart DW, Shamdasani PN. Focus Groups: Theory and Practice. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications (2014).
- Matthews AK, Vargas M, Kuhns L, Shappiva N, King AC. A qualitative examination of barriers and motivators to smoking cessation among HIV positive African American MSM smokers. J Health Disparities Res Pract. (2014) 7:4. Available online at: http://digitalscholarship.unlv.edu/jhdrp/vol7/ iss2/4
- Li CC, Matthews AK, Wu T. Adaptation and preliminary evaluation of a lung cancer screening decision tool for older Chinese American populations. J Natl Med Assoc. (2020) 112:433–44. doi: 10.1016/j.jnma.2020.05.016
- Anderson EE, Newman SB, Matthews AK. Improving informed consent: Stakeholder views. *AJOB Empirical Bioethics*. (2017) 8:178–88. doi: 10.1080/23294515.2017.1362488
- Matthews AK, Breen E, Veluz-Wilkins A, Ciecierski C, Simon M, Burrell D, et al. Adaptation of a proactive smoking cessation intervention to increase Tobacco Quitline Use by LGBT smokers. *Prog Commun Health Partnerships*. (2019) 13:71. doi: 10.1353/cpr.2019.0040
- Fonteyn ME, Kuipers B, Grobe SJ. A description of the thinkaloud method and protocol analysis. *Qualit Health Res.* (1993) 3:430-41. doi: 10.1177/104973239300300403
- Landes SJ, McBain SA, Curran GM. Reprint of: An introduction to effectiveness-implementation hybrid designs. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 283:112630. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2019.112630
- Rosenbaum P, O'Shea R. A large-scale study of freedom from smoking clinics-factors in quitting. *Public Health Rep.* (1992) 107:150.
- Nhim K, Gruss SM, Porterfield DS, Jacobs S, Elkins W, Luman ET, et al. Using a RE-AIM framework to identify promising practices in National Diabetes Prevention Program implementation. *Implement Sci.* (2019) 14:1– 15. doi: 10.1186/s13012-019-0928-9

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Matthews, Watson, Duangchan, Steffen and Winn. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Association Between Household Income and Self-Perceived Health Status and Poor Mental and Physical Health Among Cancer Survivors

L. Joseph Su^{1*}, Sarah N. O'Connor¹ and Tung-Chin Chiang²

¹ Department of Epidemiology, Fay W. Boozman College of Public Health, University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, Little Rock, AR, United States, ² Department of Environmental and Occupational Health, Fay W. Boozman College of Public Health, University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, Little Rock, AR, United States

Background: Health-related quality of life (HRQoL) is multidimensional and is composed of, at a minimum, self-perceived health status, physical functioning, and psychological well-being. HRQoL measures reflect the extent of disability and dysfunction associated with a chronic disease such as cancer. The objective of this study is to examine factors associated with HRQoL among cancer survivors.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Chien-Ching Li, Rush University, United States

Reviewed by:

Aime Franco, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, United States Li-Nien Chien, Taipei Medical University, Taiwan

> *Correspondence: L. Joseph Su Ijsu@uams.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Life-Course Epidemiology and Social Inequalities in Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

> Received: 03 August 2021 Accepted: 12 November 2021 Published: 07 December 2021

Citation:

Su LJ, O'Connor SN and Chiang T-C (2021) Association Between Household Income and Self-Perceived Health Status and Poor Mental and Physical Health Among Cancer Survivors. Front. Public Health 9:752868. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.752868 **Methods:** Data from the 2009 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System survey was used to examine factors associated with HRQoL among participants who reported having ever been diagnosed with cancer. Four questions associated with HRQoL included self-perceived health status, number of bad physical health days, and number of bad mental health days per month. Least square regression and logistic regression models, adjusted for confounding variables, were used for an ordinal and dichotomous [5 (bad) vs. 1–4 (excellent, very good, good, fair)] scale of HRQoL, respectively.

Results: Fifty nine thousand one hundred seventy three participants reported having ever been diagnosed with cancer. Adjusted mean self-perceived health status (5-point scale) among survivors of thyroid, colon, lung, cervical, breast, prostate, and ovarian cancer was 3.83 (0.05), 4.02 (0.04), 4.36 (0.06), 3.77 (0.03), 3.88 (0.03), 3.78 (0.04), and 3.96 (0.05), respectively. After adjusting for confounders, a positive dose-response effect was observed between income range and all three HRQoL measures across all seven cancer sites. Income was consistently and inversely associated with a higher chance for reporting poorer HRQoL [OR: 0.64, 95% CI: 0.57–0.71], [OR: 0.63, 95% CI: 0.48–0.82], [OR: 0.67, 95% CI: 0.56–0.80], [OR: 0.69, 95% CI: 0.56–0.86], [OR: 0.55, 95% CI: 0.44–0.69], [OR: 0.75, 95% CI: 0.62–0.91] among those with thyroid, colon, lung, cervical, breast, prostate, and ovarian cancer, respectively.

Discussion: This study found that income range was associated with HRQoL among cancer survivors. It is plausible that financial resources may lessen the overall burden of cancer survivors, which could improve health-related quality of life among cancer survivors.

Keywords: health-related quality of life (HRQL), cancer survivorship, household income, mental health, physical health

91

INTRODUCTION

When the quality of life is considered in the context of disease and health, it is commonly referred to as health-related quality of life (HRQoL). Health-related quality of life is multidimensional and is composed of, at a minimum, self-perceived health status, physical functioning, and psychological well-being (1). According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), HRQoL is defined as "an individual's or group's perceived physical and mental health over time" (2). Despite the potentially subjective nature of self-reporting, HRQoL measures tend to reflect the true extent of disability and dysfunction associated with a chronic disease like cancer (3, 4). Due to the significance in both clinical and survivorship contexts, it is of interest to examine potential associations of HRQoL with various sociodemographic and clinical factors.

Thanks to the early diagnosis of cancer and the advancements in technologies and treatments for cancer, the number of cancer survivors has increased significantly over the past decade. However, there are associated negative consequences associated with longer survival time. For example, because of the high cost associated with advanced treatment, patients with cancer can face serious financial challenges (5). Many cancer survivors will return to the workforce while they will encounter higher insurance premiums or co-payment due to "pre-existing conditions" (6, 7). Evidence indicates that cancer survivors carry a greater burden of medically-related financial responsibility, generally known as "financial toxicity," compared with individuals without a history of cancer (8).

The current study utilized nationally representative data to examine demographic and socioeconomic characteristics and three domains of HRQoL among cancer survivors in the United States (US). We hypothesized that cancer survivors with lesser economic opportunity and thus experienced more financial toxicity, irrespective of cancer site, are more likely to experience poorer HRQoL compared to survivor counterparts with greater economic opportunity.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Design and Participants

Data were from the 2009 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) cross-sectional survey conducted by the CDC (9). BRFSS is a population-based, random-digit-dialed telephone survey of the non-institutionalized United States (US) adult population aged \geq 18. Standard questions asked by all states query participants on current health-related perceptions (i.e., selfperceived health status), conditions (e.g., diabetes, cardiovascular disease), and behaviors (e.g., tobacco use), as well as demographic characteristics (9). Typically, the "Cancer Survivorship" module is an optional component of the survey. However, in 2009, the module was administered as a standard or required component of the survey (9). Data were analyzed to examine factors associated with reporting multiple measures of HRQoL among all participants who reported having ever been diagnosed with one of seven selected cancer sites. Seven cancer sites were selected based on group sample size, prevalence, and to capture various prognoses. A total of 26,391 survivors were included and grouped according to their reported cancer site. This study was determined as non-human subject research by the University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences Institutional Review Board because we used the de-identified public use data for our analysis.

Measures

In this survey, HRQoL was measured across the following domains: self-perceived health status, the quantity of poor physical health days per month, and poor mental health days per month. All participants who reported having ever been diagnosed with cancer were asked the following questions:

"Would you say that in general your health is...?"

"Would you say that in general your health is; excellent, very good, good, fair, or poor?",

"Now thinking about your physical health, which includes physical illness and injury, for how many days during the past 30 days was your physical health not good?" and

"Now thinking about your mental health, which includes stress, depression, and problems with emotions, for how many days during the past 30 days was your mental health not good?" (3)

Responses to the first question were reported as a nominal response (i.e., "excellent" = 1, "very good" = 2, "good" = 3, "fair" = 4, and "poor" = 5). Responses to the second and third questions were reported as a quantity ranging from "0" to "30" (days per month). Dichotomous poor physical and mental health status was defined as having 14 or more days of poor health days (Zhao G, Okoro CA, Hsia J, Town M 2018) (Measuring Health Days CDC 2000).

Statistical Analysis

Univariate analyses yielded frequencies of sociodemographic characteristics (e.g., sex, race and ethnicity, marital status, educational attainment, annual household income, and health care coverage status) of survivors by cancer site. Group sample size, mean age at the time of the survey, and respective standard deviation was reported by the cancer site. Multivariate analyses yielded the mean self-perceived health status of survivors by site, adjusted for confounders, and calculated with the ordinal 5-point scale of general health using the least square regression method. Confounding variables for all multivariate analyses included age, sex, race and ethnicity, marital status, educational attainment, annual household income, health care coverage, and a history of myocardial infarction, stroke, and/or diabetes. Multivariate logistic regression modeling yielded the odds of reporting "poor" self-perceived health status, more than 14 days or 2 weeks per month of bad physical health days and more than 2 weeks per month of bad mental health days among survivors of the seven selected cancer sites according to income range. Odds ratios and respective 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were reported. If 95% CIs did not contain the null hypothesis value of 1.0, the results were considered to be statistically significant. All statistical analyses were performed using SAS software, version 9.4 (SAS Institute, Inc., Cary, NC). BRFSS utilizes an iterative proportional fitting method in determining the appropriate weights. Therefore, sampling weights from BRFSS were used

	Thyroid	Colon	Lung	Cervical	Breast	Prostate	Ovarian
N (%)	1,195 (2.0)	3,074 (5.2)	1,252 (2.1)	3,512 (6.0)	10,314 (17.6)	5,713 (9.8)	1,304 (2.2)
Age (mean, SD)	59.1 (13.9)	70.5 (12.8)	68.9 (11.7)	53.7 (15.2)	67.4 (13.2)	72.2 (9.6)	60.2 (15.5)
Sex							
Female	979 (81.9)	1,810 (58.9)	772 (61.7)	3,512 (99.6)	10,248 (99.4)		1,304 (99.8)
Male	216 (18.1)	1,264 (41.1)	480 (38.3)		66 (0.6)	5,713 (99.8)	
Race, ethnicity							
White only, non-hispanic	1,018 (85.2)	2,597 (84.5)	1,073 (85.7)	2,867 (81.3)	8,801 (85.3)	4,713 (82.4)	1,067 (81.6)
Black only, non-hispanic	55 (4.6)	210 (6.8)	86 (6.9)	202 (5.7)	638 (6.2)	523 (9.1)	80 (6.1)
Hispanic	62 (5.2)	109 (3.6)	26 (2.1)	194 (5.5)	355 (3.4)	193 (3.4)	62 (4.7)
Other race only, non-hispanic	41 (3.4)	66 (2.2)	33 (2.6)	138 (3.9)	275 (2.7)	148 (2.6)	43 (3.3)
Multi-racial, non-hispanic	12 (1.0)	49 (1.6)	20 (1.6)	106 (3.0)	160 (1.6)	72 (1.3)	46 (3.5)
Marital status							
Married	715 (59.8)	1,479 (48.1)	560 (44.7)	1,510 (42.8)	4,642 (45)	3,877 (67.7)	558 (42.7)
Other	480 (40.2)	1,595 (51.9)	692 (55.3)	2,016 (57.2)	5,672 (55)	1,846 (32.3)	749 (57.3)
Education							
Less than high school	66 (5.5)	405 (13.2)	212 (16.9)	424 (12.0)	832 (8.1)	646 (11.3)	159 (12.2)
High school	336 (28.1)	1,057 (34.4)	468 (37.4)	1,164 (33.0)	3,248 (31.5)	1,566 (27.4)	429 (32.8)
Some college	356 (29.8)	816 (26.6)	326 (26.0)	1,169 (33.2)	2,962 (28.7)	1,241 (21.7)	375 (28.7)
College	432 (36.2)	786 (25.6)	242 (19.3)	764 (21.7)	3,258 (31.6)	2,263 (39.5)	341 (26.1)
Income							
<\$15,000	114 (9.5)	403 (13.1)	190 (15.2)	666 (18.9)	1,159 (11.2)	397 (6.9)	227 (17.4)
\$15,000 to <25,000	173 (14.5)	666 (21.7)	279 (22.3)	743 (21.1)	1,946 (18.9)	917 (16.0)	295 (22.6)
\$25,000 to <35,000	112 (9.4)	401 (13.0)	189 (15.1)	400 (11.3)	1,287 (12.5)	754 (13.2)	132 (10.1)
\$35,000 to <50,000	144 (12.1)	408 (13.3)	151 (12.1)	449 (12.7)	1,392 (13.5)	959 (16.8)	173 (13.2)
\$50,000 or more	502 (42.0)	709 (23.1)	223 (17.8)	890 (25.2)	2,755 (26.7)	2,091 (36.5)	293 (22.4)
Health care coverage							
Have health care coverage	700 (58.6)	796 (25.9)	359 (28.7)	2,147 (60.9)	3,605 (35.0)	1,060 (18.5)	640 (49.0)
Do not have health care coverage	54 (4.5)	75 (2.4)	28 (2.2)	506 (14.4)	332 (3.2)	84 (1.5)	138 (10.6)
Don't know/not sure/refused	441 (36.9)	2,203 (71.7)	865 (69.1)	873 (24.8)	6,377 (61.8)	4,579 (80.0)	529 (40.4)

to calculate the estimated population size and 95% confidence interval (CI).

RESULTS

Univariate Analyses

With the consideration of sampling weights from BRFSS, 59,173 were considered having ever been diagnosed with cancer out of the 432,607 participants who completed the survey (**Table 1**: Sociodemographic Characteristics by Cancer Site). Of the 59,173 survivors, 1,195 had been diagnosed with thyroid cancer, 3,074 with colon cancer, 3,526 with cervical cancer, 10,314 with breast cancer, 5,723 with prostate cancer, and 1,307 with ovarian cancer. The mean age was 59, 71, 69, 54, 67, 72, and 60 years for survivors of thyroid, colon, lung, cervical, breast, prostate, and ovarian cancer, respectively (**Table 1**). Excluding the sex-specific cancer sites, the majority of participants were female (82, 59, 62%) among thyroid, colon, and lung cancer survivors, respectively. Non-Hispanic Whites were the majority race-ethnicity across all seven cancer sites. Level of educational attainment among survivors varied by cancer site, although most had at least

graduated high school. An annual household income of <\$50,000 was most common among survivors across all seven cancer sites. Participants widely "refused" or responded as "unsure" when asked if they had health care coverage (**Table 1**).

Multivariate Analyses

Adjusted mean self-perceived health status among survivors of thyroid, colon, lung, cervical, breast, prostate, and ovarian cancer was 3.83 ± 0.05 , 4.02 ± 0.04 , 4.36 ± 0.06 , 3.77 ± 0.03 , 3.88 ± 0.03 , 3.78 ± 0.04 , and 3.96 ± 0.05 , respectively (**Figure 1**: Adjusted Mean Self-Perceived Health Status). A positive dose-response effect was observed between the income range and all three HRQoL measures across all seven cancer sites (**Table 2**: Odds of Reporting Poor HRQoL).

Self-Perceived Health Status

Univariate analysis was conducted to examine the relationship between socieodemographic charcateristics and self-perceived general health, poor physical health, and poor mental health among cancer survivors of seven cancer sites included. We found statistically significant association in every factors (**Supplementary Table 1**). However, income was consistently



and inversely associated with a higher chance of reporting poorer self-perceived health status. Among survivors of cervical, breast, and ovarian cancers, odds ratio estimates demonstrated a consistent positive-dose response effect, and respective 95% CIs were statistically significant for every range of income.

Cervical

Among cervical cancer survivors, the odds of reporting poorer self-perceived health status decreased as income increased [OR: 0.44, 95% CI: 0.31, 0.63], [OR: 0.21, 95% CI: 0.13, 0.35], [OR: 0.18, 95% CI: 0.11, 0.30], [OR: 0.09, 95% CI: 0.06, 0.16] among those with an annual household income range of <\$15,000 (ref), \$15,000 to <25,000, \$25,000 to <35,000, \$35,000 to <50,000, and \$50,000 or more, respectively (**Table 2**).

Breast

Among breast cancer survivors, the odds of reporting poorer selfperceived health status decreased as income increased [OR: 0.49, 95% CI: 0.34, 0.70], [OR: 0.28, 95% CI: 0.18, 0.44], [OR: 0.21, 95% CI: 0.13, 0.33], [OR: 0.16, 95% CI: 0.10, 0.25] among those with an annual household income range of <\$15,000 (ref), \$15,000 to <25,000, \$25,000 to <35,000, \$35,000 to <50,000, and \$50,000 or more, respectively (**Table 2**).

Ovarian

Among ovarian cancer survivors, the odds of reporting poorer self-perceived health status decreased as income increased [OR: 0.33, 95% CI: 0.17, 0.64], [OR: 0.38, 95% CI: 0.16, 0.89], [OR: 0.33, 95% CI: 0.14, 0.75], [OR: 0.27, 95% CI: 0.13, 0.60] among those with an annual household income range of <\$15,000 (ref), \$15,000 to <25,000, \$25,000 to <35,000, \$35,000 to <50,000, and \$50,000 or more, respectively (**Table 2**).

Physical Health

Income was inversely associated with a higher chance for reporting two or more weeks of bad physical health days per month. A positive-dose response was observed, albeit, less consistently across cancer sites compared to self-perceived health status. Among survivors of cervical and breast cancers, odds ratio estimates demonstrated a consistent positive-dose response effect, and respective 95% CIs were statistically significant for every range of income.

Cervical

Among cervical cancer survivors, the odds of reporting two or more weeks per month of bad physical health days decreased as income increased [OR: 0.33, 95% CI: 0.17, 0.64], [OR: 0.38, 95% CI: 0.16, 0.89], [OR: 0.33, 95% CI: 0.14, 0.75], [OR: 0.27, 95% CI: 0.13, 0.60] among those with an annual household income range of <\$15,000 (ref), \$15,000 to <25,000, \$25,000 to <35,000, \$35,000 to <50,000, and \$50,000 or more, respectively (**Table 2**).

Breast

Among breast cancer survivors, the odds of reporting two or more weeks per month of bad physical health days decreased as income increased [OR: 0.33, 95% CI: 0.17, 0.64], [OR: 0.38, 95% CI: 0.16, 0.89], [OR: 0.33, 95% CI: 0.14, 0.75], [OR: 0.27, 95% CI: 0.13, 0.60] among those with an annual household income range of <\$15,000 (ref), \$15,000 to <25,000, \$25,000 to <35,000, \$35,000 to <50,000, and \$50,000 or more, respectively (**Table 2**).

Mental Health

Income was often inversely associated with a higher chance for reporting two or more weeks of bad mental health days per month. A positive dose-response effect between income and poor mental health days was observed among survivors of lung, cervical, and breast cancers. However, CIs were not consistently statistically significant for all ranges of income.

Lung

Among lung cancer survivors, the odds of reporting two or more weeks per month of bad mental health days decreased as income increased [OR: 0.33, 95% CI: 0.17, 0.64], [OR: 0.38, 95% CI: 0.16, 0.89], [OR: 0.33, 95% CI: 0.14, 0.75], [OR: 0.27, 95% CI: 0.13,

 TABLE 2 | Odds of reporting poor health-related quality of life among cancer survivors.

Cancer Site	Income	OR ¹ [95% Cl^1]	OR ² [95% Cl ^{^2}]	OR ³ [95% Cl ^{^3}]
Thyroid	<\$15,000*	Ref	Ref	Ref
n = 1,195	\$15,000 to <25,000	0.30 [0.11, 0.81]	0.56 [0.22, 1.42]	0.61 [0.22, 1.70]
	\$25,000 to <35,000	0.30 [0.09, 1.06]	0.53 [0.16, 1.73]	0.37 [0.11, 1.26]
	\$35,000 to <50,000	0.14 [0.04, 0.51]	0.45 [0.16, 1.24]	0.50 [0.16, 1.53]
	\$50,000 or more	0.13 [0.04, 0.40]	0.21 [0.08, 0.57]	0.51 [0.18, 1.46]
Colon	<\$15,000	Ref	Ref	Ref
n = 3,074	\$15,000 to <25,000	0.64 [0.35, 1.17]	0.64 [0.32, 1.28]	0.85 [0.39, 1.85]
	\$25,000 to <35,000	0.39 [0.18, 0.86]	0.59 [0.25, 1.40]	0.36 [0.13, 1.02]
	\$35,000 to <50,000	0.33 [0.15, 0.69]	0.54 [0.25, 1.19]	0.58 [0.24, 1.37]
	\$50,000 or more	0.19 [0.09, 0.40]	0.20 [0.09, 0.42]	0.43 [0.18, 1.01]
Lung	<\$15,000	Ref	Ref	Ref
n = 1,252	\$15,000 to <25,000	0.48 [0.22, 1.03]	0.40 [0.15, 1.07]	0.54 [0.15, 1.90]
	\$25,000 to <35,000	0.36 [0.14, 0.89]	1.7 [0.46, 5.95]	0.58 [0.14, 2.33]
	\$35,000 to <50,000	0.30 [0.11, 0.78]	0.22 [0.06, 0.72]	0.09 [0.02, 0.55]
	\$50,000 or more	0.20 [0.08, 0.50]	0.41 [0.13, 1.24]	0.05 [0.01, 0.34]
Cervical	<\$15,000	Ref	Ref	Ref
n = 3,512	\$15,000 to <25,000	0.44 [0.31, 0.63]	0.53 [0.38, 0.74]	0.74 [0.53, 1.03]
	\$25,000 to <35,000	0.21 [0.13, 0.35]	0.36 [0.23, 0.55]	0.40 [0.26, 0.60]
	\$35,000 to <50,000	0.18 [0.11, 0.30]	0.22 [0.14, 0.34]	0.28 [0.18, 0.43]
	\$50,000 or more	0.09 [0.06, 0.16]	0.19 [0.12, 0.28]	0.27 [0.18, 0.39]
Breast	<\$15,000	Ref	Ref	Ref
n = 10,314	\$15,000 to <25,000	0.49 [0.34, 0.70]	0.52 [0.36, 0.75]	0.69 [0.47, 1.02]
	\$25,000 to <35,000	0.28 [0.18, 0.44]	0.35 [0.23, 0.54]	0.31 [0.20, 0.50]
	\$35,000 to <50,000	0.21 [0.13, 0.33]	0.29 [0.19, 0.43]	0.30 [0.19, 0.46]
	\$50,000 or more	0.16 [0.10, 0.25]	0.20 [0.13, 0.30]	0.23 [0.15, 0.35]
Prostate	<\$15,000	Ref	Ref	Ref
n = 5,713	\$15,000 to <25,000	1.70 [0.70, 4.10]	0.99 [0.40, 2.48]	0.41 [0.12, 1.34]
	\$25,000 to <35,000	0.54 [0.20, 1.52]	0.52 [0.20, 1.41]	0.14 [0.04, 0.53]
	\$35,000 to <50,000	0.41 [0.15, 1.13]	0.40 [0.16, 0.99]	0.32 [0.11, 0.95]
	\$50,000 or more	0.14 [0.05, 0.39]	0.36 [0.15, 0.88]	0.19 [0.06, 0.57]
Ovarian	<\$15,000	Ref	Ref	Ref
n = 1,304	\$15,000 to <25,000	0.33 [0.17, 0.64]	0.67 [0.36, 1.25]	0.40 [0.20, 0.81]
	\$25,000 to <35,000	0.38 [0.16, 0.89]	0.42 [0.19, 0.95]	0.47 [0.20, 1.13]
	\$35,000 to <50,000	0.33 [0.14, 0.75]	0.30 [0.14, 0.68]	0.14 [0.06, 0.35]
	\$50,000 or more	0.27 [0.13, 0.60]	0.39 [0.19, 0.81]	0.20 [0.09, 0.45]

^{1,2,3}Adjusted odds ratio.

^95% Confidence Interval.

*Reference Group.

 OR^1 and 95% $Cl^{\land 1}$: Odds of reporting "poor" self-perceived health status.

 OR^2 and 95% $CI^{\wedge 2}$: Odds of reporting more than 2 weeks per month of bad physical health days.

OR³ and 95% Cl^{^3}: Odds of reporting more than 2 weeks per month of bad mental health days.

0.60] among those with an annual household income range of <\$15,000 (ref), \$15,000 to <25,000, \$25,000 to <35,000, \$35,000 to <50,000 and \$50,000 or more, respectively (**Table 2**).

Cervical

Among cervical cancer survivors, the odds of reporting two or more weeks per month of bad mental health days decreased as income increased [OR: 0.33, 95% CI: 0.17, 0.64], [OR: 0.38, 95% CI: 0.16, 0.89], [OR: 0.33, 95% CI: 0.14, 0.75], [OR: 0.27, 95% CI: 0.13, 0.60] among those with an annual household income range of <\$15,000 (ref), \$15,000 to <25,000, \$25,000 to <35,000, \$35,000 to <50,000, and \$50,000 or more, respectively (**Table 2**).

Breast

Among breast cancer survivors, the odds of reporting two or more weeks per month of bad mental health days decreased as income increased [OR: 0.33, 95% CI: 0.17, 0.64], [OR: 0.38, 95% CI: 0.16, 0.89], [OR: 0.33, 95% CI: 0.14, 0.75], [OR: 0.27, 95% CI: 0.13, 0.60] among those with an annual household income range of <\$15,000 (ref), \$15,000 to <25,000, \$25,000 to <35,000, \$35,000 to <50,000, and \$50,000 or more, respectively (**Table 2**).

DISCUSSION

This study utilized the latest national representative survey data to examine factors associated with HRQoL. We found that lower family income is the primary factor associated with both poorer mental and physical health among cancer survivors, regardless of the cancer site. Our finding is consistent with the analysis of the BRFSS survey from 2000 to 2002 (10). Another study used a more recent BRFSS examined the HRQoL among cancer survivors utilized the cancer survivor module as our study (11). However, the study of the 2016 BRFSS survey 2016 only included nine states in the US. Although the authors did not have household income levels in their models, they found non-employment status is significantly associated with all measures of HRQoL, which is related to the financial well-being of the cancer survivor. Female and marital status of divorced/widowed/separated/never married are the only other factors associated with all measures of HRQoL. Our analysis did not find a statistically significant association of gender and marital status after adjusting for confounders.

Very few studies evaluated sociodemographic characteristics for cancer survivors on HRQoL across various cancer sites. The publication by Applewhite summarized published studies of the quality of life among survivors of the thyroid, colon, glioma, breast, and gynecologic cancer. The authors suggested that breast cancer survivors had a better overall quality of life than all other cancers compared. The overall quality of life was similar among patients with colon cancer, glioma, gynecologic cancer, and thyroid cancer (12). Our study, however, found that. regardless of cancer site, income level was inversely associated with HRQoL among cancer survivors. We do not see a significant racial difference among different racial groups either. It is plausible that financial resources may lessen the overall burden of cancer survivors, which could improve self-perceived healthrelated quality of life, psychological well-being, and physical function among cancer survivors. We believe the current study's findings add to a growing body of literature demonstrating that survivorship is associated with financial hardship (8, 13–21).

Cancer survivors are living longer with their cancer as a chronic illness, thanks to early diagnosis and advancements in medical technologies and treatment (22). Cancer survivors have to be monitored for an extensive period of time (23). Therefore, there is an increased reliance on patients to make larger copayments and financial contributions to their healthcare. It will result in financial toxicity results when medical expenditures with associated out-of-pocket costs are high relative to family income. Research has demonstrated that financial toxicities appear to constitute part of the pathway that ultimately leads to adverse health outcomes and poorer HRQoL (24-26). Even in countries where there is universal healthcare or when individuals have health insurance, additional patient out-of-pocket expenses are expected (22, 27). Chen et al. reported that an income gradient in avoidable mortality rates persisted throughout a 40-year study period from 1971 to 2008 using national data of all deaths reported in Taiwan (28). Universal guaranteed access to medical care in 1995 may have helped reduce, but did not eliminate, the income gradient in mortality disparities. Income vulnerability also adversely impacts the utilization of healthcare services (29).

Studies found that younger and minority cancer patients are disproportionately affected by financial toxicity as they may have fewer savings, more educational debts, and fewer assets than older cancer patients (30, 31). Because these younger cancer patients are likely still active in the workforce. Doctor visits, appointments for exams and treatments, the time needed to recover from treatment, and follow-up visits can all make it difficult to take time away from their careers (32). Psychological stress for an extended period could have a toll on both their physical and mental well-being (33, 34). We found that increased family income level was significantly associated with fewer bad physical days among cancer survivors of six sites after adjusting for confounders, including age, other than lung cancer, with a clear dose-response relationship. Higher family income was associated with fewer bad mental days among survivors of lung, cervical, breast, prostate, and ovarian cancers. The financial ability to access resources to address both mental and physical stress appeared to play a significant role in the well-being of cancer survivors, regardless of the type of cancer. We did not find a significant association between the age of participants and HRQoL in any cancer.

Mental and physical health among people living with and beyond cancer has been identified as a growing clinical and research priority (35, 36). This study provides a cross-sectional examination of the factors associated with HRQoL, which including both mental and physical health, among cancer survivors using a national representative sample. However, like many others, this study has its limitations such that the results should be interpreted with consideration of its design. First, the cross-sectional nature of this survey yields the possibility of survivorship bias. The length of time that has passed since their last treatment is unknown for each survivor. Cancer survivors in the survey were likely diagnosed at an earlier stage and were healthy enough to complete the survey. Additionally, the selection of seven pathologically heterogeneous cancer sites might introduce questions concerning disparities in treatment toxicity (e.g., surgery vs. chemotherapy and radiation), economic burden (e.g., duration and extent of treatment), and lifetime prognoses (e.g., survival times differ markedly).

CONCLUSION

The survey was conducted prior to the enactment of the Affordable Care Act (ACA). Ideally, the health care reform would have eased the contribution of family income to the HRQoL among cancer survivors. However, the study conducted in Taiwan did not observe reversing the trend for the relationship between the financial burden for cancer survivors and HRQoL after the implementation of universal guaranteed access to medical care in Taiwan (28). It has been more than 10 years since BRFSS has included the module of HRQoL among cancer survivors in all 50 states and Washington, DC. Public health

researchers and policymakers need the information to assess the impact of the ACA on the HRQoL among cancer survivors regarding financial well-being. We hope the CDC will consider implementing the cancer survivor module in all states in the coming BRFSS survey.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Publicly available datasets were analyzed in this study. This data can be found here: https://www.cdc.gov/brfss/annual_data/ annual_2009.htm.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LS initiated the research concept, participated in the data analysis, and completed the draft of manuscript. SO'C conducted

REFERENCES

- Palermo TM, Long AC, Lewandowski AS, Drotar D, Quittner AL, Walker LS. Evidence-based assessment of health-related quality of life and functional impairment in pediatric psychology. *J Pediatr Psychol.* (2008) 33:983–96; discussion 997–1088. doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsn038
- 2. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Measuring Healthy Days: Population Assessment of Health-Related Quality of Life: Population Assessment of Health-Related Quality of Life.* Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion Division of Adult and Community Health (2000).
- Cella D, Nowinski CJ. Measuring quality of life in chronic illness: the functional assessment of chronic illness therapy measurement system. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. (2002) 83(12 Suppl 2):S10–7. doi: 10.1053/apmr.2002.36959
- Megari K. Quality of life in chronic disease patients. *Health Psychol Res.* (2013) 1:e27. doi: 10.4081/hpr.2013.e27
- Gordon LG, Merollini KMD, Lowe A, Chan RJ. A systematic review of financial toxicity among cancer survivors: we can't pay the co-pay. *Patient*. (2017) 10:295–309. doi: 10.1007/s40271-016-0204-x
- Pak TY, Kim H, Kim KT. The long-term effects of cancer survivorship on household assets. *Health Econ Rev.* (2020) 10:2. doi: 10.1186/s13561-019-0253-7
- Sanford NN, Lam MB, Butler SS, Ahn C, Beg MS, Aizer AA, et al. Self-reported reasons and patterns of noninsurance among cancer survivors before and after implementation of the affordable care act, 2000-2017. *JAMA Oncol.* (2019) 5:e191973. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2019.1973
- Zheng Z, Jemal A, Han X, Guy GP Jr, Li C, Davidoff AJ, et al. Medical financial hardship among cancer survivors in the United States. *Cancer*. (2019) 125:1737–47. doi: 10.1002/cncr.31913
- 9. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System Survey Questionnaire.* In: Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (2009).
- Richardson LC, Wingo PA, Zack MM, Zahran HS, King JB. Health-related quality of life in cancer survivors between ages 20 and 64 years: populationbased estimates from the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System. *Cancer*. (2008) 112:1380–9. doi: 10.1002/cncr.23291
- Cox-Martin E, Anderson-Mellies A, Borges V, Bradley C. Chronic pain, health-related quality of life, and employment in working-age cancer survivors. J Cancer Surviv. (2020) 14:179–87. doi: 10.1007/s11764-019-00843-0
- Applewhite MK, James BC, Kaplan SP, Angelos P, Kaplan EL, Grogan RH, et al. Quality of life in thyroid cancer is similar to that of other cancers with worse survival. World J Surg. (2016) 40:551–61. doi: 10.1007/s00268-015-3300-5

the statistical analysis and initiated the manuscript. T-CC contributed in the draft and organization of the manuscript. All authors participated in the review and revision of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was made possible with the funding support from University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences Winthrop P. Rockefeller Cancer Institute.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh. 2021.752868/full#supplementary-material

- Ekwueme DU, Zhao J, Rim SH, de Moor JS, Zheng Z, Khushalani JS, et al. Annual out-of-pocket expenditures and financial hardship among cancer survivors aged 18-64 years - United States, 2011-2016. *Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* (2019) 68:494–9. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6822a2
- Yabroff KR, Zhao J, Zheng Z, Rai A, Han X. Medical financial hardship among cancer survivors in the united states: what do we know? What do we need to know? *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2018) 27:1389– 97. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-18-0617
- Kunos CA, Abdallah R. Financial toxicity encountered in therapeutic radiopharmaceutical clinical development for ovarian cancer. Pharmaceuticals. (2020) 13:181. doi: 10.3390/ph13080181
- Cook EE, Rosenberg SM, Ruddy KJ, Barry WT, Greaney M, Ligibel J, et al. Prospective evaluation of the impact of stress, anxiety, and depression on household income among young women with early breast cancer from the Young and Strong trial. *BMC Public Health.* (2020) 20:1514. doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-09562-z
- McDougall JA, Anderson J, Adler Jaffe S, Guest DD, Sussman AL, Meisner ALW, et al. Food insecurity and forgone medical care among cancer survivors. *JCO Oncol Pract.* (2020) 16:e922–32. doi: 10.1200/JOP.19.00736
- Gupta SK, Mazza MC, Hoyt MA, Revenson TA. The experience of financial stress among emerging adult cancer survivors. J Psychosoc Oncol. (2020) 38:435–48. doi: 10.1080/07347332.2019.1707928
- Han X, Zhao J, Zheng Z, de Moor JS, Virgo KS, Yabroff KR. Medical financial hardship intensity and financial sacrifice associated with cancer in the United States. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2020) 29:308– 17. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-19-0460
- Odahowski CL, Zahnd WE, Zgodic A, Edward JS, Hill LN, Davis MM, et al. Financial hardship among rural cancer survivors: An analysis of the Medical Expenditure Panel Survey. *Prev Med.* (2019) 129S:105881. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2019.105881
- Barrows CE, Belle JM, Fleishman A, Lubitz CC, James BC. Financial burden of thyroid cancer in the United States: An estimate of economic and psychological hardship among thyroid cancer survivors. *Surgery*. (2020) 167:378–84. doi: 10.1016/j.surg.2019.09.010
- 22. de Souza JA, Wong YN. Financial distress in cancer patients. *J Med Person.* (2013) 11:1–7. doi: 10.1007/s12682-013-0152-3
- Yabroff KR, Lawrence WF, Clauser S, Davis WW, Brown ML. Burden of illness in cancer survivors: findings from a population-based national sample. J Natl Cancer Inst. (2004) 96:1322–30. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djh255
- Zafar SY, McNeil RB, Thomas CM, Lathan CS, Ayanian JZ, Provenzale D. Population-based assessment of cancer survivors' financial burden and quality of life: a prospective cohort study. *J Oncol Pract.* (2015) 11:145– 50. doi: 10.1200/JOP.2014.001542
- 25. Lathan CS, Cronin A, Tucker-Seeley R, Zafar SY, Ayanian JZ, Schrag D. Association of financial strain with symptom burden and quality of life

for patients with lung or colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol. (2016) 34:1732-40. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2015.63.2232

- Perrone F, Jommi C, Di Maio M, Gimigliano A, Gridelli C, Pignata S, et al. The association of financial difficulties with clinical outcomes in cancer patients: secondary analysis of 16 academic prospective clinical trials conducted in Italy. *Ann Oncol.* (2016) 27:2224–9. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdw433
- Laba TL, Essue BM, Jan S. Financing options to sustain Medicare: are we committed to universalism? *Med J Aust.* (2015) 203:244–5.e241. doi: 10.5694/mja15.00431
- Chen BK, Yang YT, Yang CY. Trends in amenable deaths based on township income quartiles in Taiwan, 1971-2008: did universal health insurance close the gap? J Public Health. (2016) 38:e524–36. doi: 10.1093/pubmed/fdv156
- Chen BK, Hibbert J, Cheng X, Bennett K. Travel distance and sociodemographic correlates of potentially avoidable emergency department visits in California, 2006-2010: an observational study. *Int J Equity Health*. (2015) 14:30. doi: 10.1186/s12939-015-0158-y
- Yabroff KR, Dowling EC, Guy GP Jr, Banegas MP, Davidoff A, Han X, et al. Financial hardship associated with cancer in the united states: findings from a population-based sample of adult cancer survivors. *J Clin Oncol.* (2016) 34:259–67. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2015.62.0468
- Pisu M, Kenzik KM, Oster RA, Drentea P, Ashing KT, Fouad M, et al. Economic hardship of minority and non-minority cancer survivors 1 year after diagnosis: another long-term effect of cancer? *Cancer*. (2015) 121:1257– 64. doi: 10.1002/cncr.29206
- 32. The American Cancer Society Medical and Editorial Content Team. Special Issues for Young Adults With Cancer. American Cancer Society (2019). Available online at: https://www.cancer.org/cancer/cancer-in-young-adults/ special-issues.html (accessed June 14, 2020).
- Mariotti A. The effects of chronic stress on health: new insights into the molecular mechanisms of brain-body communication. *Future Sci OA*. (2015) 1:FSO23. doi: 10.4155/fso.15.21

- Naughton MJ, Weaver KE. Physical and mental health among cancer survivors: considerations for long-term care and quality of life. N C Med J. (2014) 75:283-6. doi: 10.18043/ncm. 75.4.283
- Niedzwiedz CL, Knifton L, Robb KA, Katikireddi SV, Smith DJ. Depression and anxiety among people living with and beyond cancer: a growing clinical and research priority. *BMC Cancer.* (2019) 19:943. doi: 10.1186/s12885-019-6181-4
- 36. Elshahat S, Treanor C, Donnelly M. Factors influencing physical activity participation among people living with or beyond cancer: a systematic scoping review. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. (2021) 18:50. doi: 10.1186/s12966-021-01116-9

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Su, O'Connor and Chiang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Impact of COVID-19 on Risky Behaviors and Health Changes in African-American Smokers Who Are Eligible for LDCT Screening

Tung-Sung Tseng^{1*}, Mirandy Li¹, Yu-Hsiang Kao¹, Lei-Shih Chen² and Hui-Yi Lin³

¹ Behavioral and Community Health Sciences Program, School of Public Health, Louisiana State University Health Sciences Center, New Orleans, LA, United States, ² Department of Health and Kinesiology, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, United States, ³ Biostatistics Program, School of Public Health, Louisiana State University Health Sciences Center, New Orleans, LA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Su-I Hou, University of Central Florida, United States

Reviewed by:

Gagandeep Kaur, University of Rochester, United States Jiunn-Jye Sheu, University of Toledo, United States

> *Correspondence: Tung-Sung Tseng ttseng@lsuhsc.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Life-Course Epidemiology and Social Inequalities in Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

> Received: 22 July 2021 Accepted: 09 November 2021 Published: 08 December 2021

Citation:

Tseng T-S, Li M, Kao Y-H, Chen L-S and Lin H-Y (2021) The Impact of COVID-19 on Risky Behaviors and Health Changes in African-American Smokers Who Are Eligible for LDCT Screening. Front. Public Health 9:745925. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.745925 The COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted much of day-to-day life in the US and around the world. Smokers have a higher risk of adverse outcomes due to COVID-19. This study investigated the impact of COVID-19 on risky behaviors and health changes in lower income African-American smokers eligible for Low dose computed tomography (LDCT) screening, who may be more adversely impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. A total of 22 African-American daily smokers who were eligible for LDCT screening participated in this study. The mean age of participants was 61.2 years old (SD = 4.7), 77.3% of the smokers were female, all participants had an income below \$20,000, and 63.6% were on Medicaid. Descriptive statistics were used to provide summary information on demographics, COVID-19, and health status. Results showed that participants increased cigarette smoking, spent more time on screens, increased sugary drink consumption, consumed more vegetables and fruits, and engaged in more gardening activities during the COVID-19 pandemic. However, participants also decreased physical activity time and slept less during the pandemic. In general, more than one-third of participants gained more body weight and reported increased stress and anxiety. Our results suggest that African-American smokers who qualify for LDCT screening should be encouraged to consider strategies not only for smoking cessation, but also risky behavior control and management.

Keywords: smoking, risky behavior, LDCT lung cancer screening, COVID-19, African American (AA), healthy behavior

INTRODUCTION

The COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted much of day-to-day life in the US and around the world (1). The first case of COVID-19 was identified in the US on January 20, 2020, and has resulted in \sim 32 million cases and 600,000 deaths in the US, as of May 2021 (2). Smoking has been associated with a greater risk of adverse outcomes in COVID-19, with current and former smokers being 1.4 times more likely to suffer severe symptoms of COVID 19, and 2.4 times more likely to need ICU support, mechanical ventilation, or die, compared to non-smokers (3). However, some studies have shown that smokers tend to increase the frequency of smoking behaviors during quarantine,

which further increases the negative health risks associated with smoking (4). In a study on a predominantly African-American population of patients with COVID-19, those who were smokers showed an increased need of ICU admission and higher mortality (5). Furthermore, African-Americans are more likely to have comorbid conditions such as hypertension, diabetes, and obesity, all of which may exacerbate COVID-19 outcomes (6). During the COVID-19 pandemic, African-Americans in a US national survey were more likely than White Americans to leave their homes, possibly due to social circumstances or lower access to accurate knowledge of how the disease is spread (7).

African-Americans and White Americans smoke at comparable rates; however, when compared to White smokers, African-American smokers smoke fewer cigarettes per day, and initiate smoking at a later age (8). Despite this, African-American smokers bear a disproportionate burden of smoking-related diseases (8). African-American smokers are also more likely than White smokers to want to quit and attempt to quit, but are less likely to quit successfully than White smokers (9). This may be due to lower access and utilization of smoking cessation services (9). Despite knowledge about the increased risk of COVID-19 on smokers and the health disparities facing African-American smokers, smoking behaviors during the COVID-19 pandemic have not been well-investigated in this population. Currently, the smoking behaviors of African-American smokers during COVID-19 are unclear.

In addition to smoking, changes in other health behaviors due to COVID-19 are also of concern. Previous studies have demonstrated increased weight gain, decreased physical activity, decreased consumption of fruit and vegetables, increased screen time, decreased sleep, and increased alcohol consumption during quarantine (4, 10-13). Risky behaviors, such as smoking, are likely to cluster with other risky behaviors, such as alcohol use (14). In a separate nationally representative survey of 604 African-Americans, fewer than 80% of participants reported adhering to the four COVID-19 public health recommendations of frequently washing hands for at least 20 s, staying 6 or more feet apart from others in public, avoiding touching the face, and wearing a mask when in contact with others (15). In Louisiana, African-Americans represent 32.2% of the state population, but 70.5% of COVID-19 deaths are African-American (16). This disparity may be due to several risk factors facing the African-American population in Louisiana, such as higher prevalence of chronic disease, lower access to knowledge about COVID-19, increased shelter insecurity, and other factors (7). Because of this stark disparity, it is important to understand the behavioral changes of African-American smokers during COVID-19. The objective of this study was to investigate the impact of COVID-19 on risky behaviors and health changes in lower income African-American smokers eligible for Low dose computed tomography (LDCT) screening, who may be more adversely impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic.

METHODS

Study Design and Population

This study applied a cross-sectional design via phone survey in 2020. Eligible participants were African Americans smokers ages

55–77 years old have who had either had 30+ pack-years of smoking or had received an LDCT exam in the past year, who were eligible for LDCT screening in primary care clinics at a large hospital in New Orleans, LA. A total of 22 African-American daily smokers agreed to participate in the survey via phone. Enrollees were asked to give verbal consent to confirm that they understood the rights and privacy protection disclaimer before the survey. After completing the survey, an e-informed consent document was distributed to all participants for their records. The survey was an anonymous questionnaire that collected demographic information, COVID-19 and health status, and behavior related information. This study protocol was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board of LSUHSC-NO (approval #10104).

Subject Demographics

Participant demographics included age, gender, income, education, marriage status, and insurance type. Gender was classified as female or male. Income level included two categories (<\$20,000, and equal to, or higher than \$20,000). Education level was classified into four groups (Grades 1 through 8, Grades 9 through 11, Grade 12 or GED, and College 1–3 years). Marital status was classified into four categories [married, divorced, widowed, and single (i.e., never married and not now living with a partner)]. Insurance type included health insurance (private health insurance, Blue Cross and Blue Shield, and HMOs), Medicaid, Medicare, paid with cash, and others.

COVID-19 and Health Status

There were three questions pertaining to COVID-19, including "Have you been diagnosed positive for COVID-19 in the recent months?" (Yes/No), "If Yes, did you stay at a hospital to treat COVID-19?" (Yes/No), and "How likely do you think it is that you will get COVID-19 in the future?" (very low to very high, using a 5-point Likert scale). Health status included body mass index (BMI) and chronic disease history. BMI was classified into normal weight (<25 kg/m²), overweight (25–29.9 kg/m²), and obese (\geq 30 kg/m²). Participants were asked the question "Have you been diagnosed with any of the following chronic diseases?" to identify their chronic disease history [responses included hypertension, diabetes, asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), mental health disorder, coronary heart disease, arthritis, kidney disease, liver disease, and cancer].

Behavioral Changes During the COVID-19 Pandemic

We assessed behavioral changes via the question "Did you change the following behaviors during the COVID-19 pandemic?" Responses included twelve behaviors: cigarette smoking, alcohol consumption, vegetable and fruit consumption, sugary drink consumption, exercise times, sleep hours, screen time, vitamin intake, gardening, body weight, stress, and anxiety. Each question had five levels of response (decrease, slightly decrease, no change, slight increase, and increase).

Statistical Analyses

Descriptive statistics were used to provide summary information on demographics, COVID-19, and health status. All analyses **TABLE 1** | Participant demographics (n = 22).

Variables	n (%)
Age, Mean (SD)	61.2 (4.7)
Gender	
Female	17 (77.3)
Male	5 (22.7)
Annual income	
<\$20,000	22 (100.0)
Education level	
Grades 1 through 8	1 (4.6)
Grades 9 through 11	10 (45.5)
Grade 12 or GED	8 (36.4)
College 1–3 years	3 (13.6)
Marital status	
Married	2 (9.1)
Divorced	7 (31.8)
Widowed	2 (9.1)
Single [#]	11 (50.0)
Insurance	
Paid with cash	4 (18.2)
Health insurance ^{\$}	2 (9.1)
Medicaid	14 (63.6)
Medicare	8 (36.4)
Others	1 (4.6)

[#]Never married and not now living with a partner.

Private health insurance, Blue Cross and Blue Shield, HMOs.

were performed using SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA).

RESULTS

The demographic characteristics of all participants are shown in **Table 1**. The mean age of participants was 61.2 years old (SD = 4.7). As shown in **Table 1**, 77.3% of participants were female, and all participants reported an income below \$20,000. Half of participants reported an education of high school or below, half reported being single (i.e., never married and not now living with a partner), and 63.6% were on Medicaid.

Table 2 shows COVID-19 and health status. Two smokers (10%) had been diagnosed positive for COVID-19, and one of them was treated in a hospital. Eighteen smokers (90%) felt that they had a very low or low risk of getting COVID-19 in the future. In terms of health status, 72.7% of participants were overweight or obese. More than half of smokers mentioned that they had been diagnosed with hypertension, diabetes, or arthritis. About one-third had asthma or COPD.

Behavioral changes during the COVID-19 pandemic are shown in **Table 3**. Regarding smoking behavior, 42.9% of participants reported increased cigarette smoking and 28.6% of participants reported decreased cigarette smoking during the COVID-19 pandemic. For alcohol intake, only 19% of participants reported that they consumed more alcohol during **TABLE 2** | COVID-19 and Health Status (n = 22).

Variables	n (%)
COVID-19	
Have you been diagnosed positive for COVID-19 in the recent months?	
No	19 (90.5)
Yes	2 (9.5)
If YES, did you stay at a hospital to treat COVID-19?	
No	1 (50.0)
Yes	1 (50.0)
How likely do you think it is that you will get COVID-19 in the future?	
Very low	13 (65.0)
Somewhat low	5 (25.0)
Moderate	1 (5.0)
Somewhat high	0 (0.0)
Very high	1 (5.0)
Health Status	
Body Mass Index	
Normal (18.5–24.9 kg/m ²)	6 (27.3)
Overweight (25–29.9 kg/m ²)	7 (31.8)
Obese ($\geq 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$)	9 (40.9)
Have you been diagnosed with the following chronic diseases?	
Hypertension	10 (47.6)
Diabetes	11 (52.4)
Asthma	5 (23.8)
COPD	6 (28.6)
Mental health disorder	2 (9.5)
Coronary heart disease	4 (19.1)
Arthritis	12 (57.1)
Kidney diseases	1 (4.8)
Liver disease	3 (14.3)
Cancer	1 (4.8)

the pandemic. Additionally, 38.1% of participants consumed more vegetables and fruits, and around 40% of participants reported that they engaged in more gardening activities. However, 33.3% of participants increased sugary drink intake, 23.8% of participants decreased physical activity time, and 42.9% of participants spent more time on screens (including TVs, smartphones, tablets, and computers). Over 30% of participants gained more body weight, slept less, and felt increased stress and anxiety during the pandemic.

DISCUSSION

Most African-American smokers eligible for LDCT screening reported increased cigarette smoking during the COVID-19 pandemic, although about one-third reported decreasing cigarette smoking. This finding is consistent with some previous studies that also reported decreases in cigarette consumption during COVID-19 quarantine periods (17, 18). One previous study reported that smoking was associated with a greater risk of adverse outcomes in COVID-19, with current and former smokers being 2.4 times as likely to need ICU support or die, **TABLE 3** Behavior and health changes (n = 22).

Variable DID YOU CHANGE THE FOLLOWING BEHAVIORS DURING THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC? Gigarette smoking Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Achool consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase No Vegetable and fruit consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase Increase Slightly i	2 (9.5) 4 (19.1) 6 (28.6) 5 (23.8) 4 (19.1) 0 (0.0) 1 (4.8)
DURING THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC?Cigarette smokingDecreaseSlightly decreaseNo changeSlightly increaseIncreaseAcohol consumptionDecreaseSlightly decreaseNo changeSlightly increaseNo changeSlightly increaseNo changeSlightly increaseNo changeSlightly increaseNo changeSlightly decreaseNoNo changeSlightly decreaseNo changeSlightly decreaseNo changeSlightly increaseIncreaseSlightly increaseIncreaseSlightly increaseSlightly increaseSlightly decreaseNo changeSlightly decreaseNo changeSlightly increaseIncreaseSlightly increaseIncreaseSlightly increaseSlightly decreaseNo changeSlightly increaseSlightly increase <th>4 (19.1) 6 (28.6) 5 (23.8) 4 (19.1) 0 (0.0) 1 (4.8)</th>	4 (19.1) 6 (28.6) 5 (23.8) 4 (19.1) 0 (0.0) 1 (4.8)
Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Alcohol consumption Decrease Alcohol consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase NA Vegetable and fruit consumption Decrease Slightly increase No change Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase No change Slightly increase Increase Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase No change Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase No change Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase <td>4 (19.1) 6 (28.6) 5 (23.8) 4 (19.1) 0 (0.0) 1 (4.8)</td>	4 (19.1) 6 (28.6) 5 (23.8) 4 (19.1) 0 (0.0) 1 (4.8)
Slightly decreaseNo changeSlightly increaseIncreaseAlcohol consumptionDecreaseSlightly decreaseNo changeSlightly increaseNo changeSlightly increaseIncreaseNAVegetable and fruit consumptionDecreaseSlightly increaseNo changeSlightly decreaseNo changeSlightly increaseSlightly increaseNo changeSlightly decreaseNo changeSlightly decreaseNo changeSlightly decreaseNo changeSlightly decreaseNo changeSlightly increaseIncreaseSlightly increaseIncreaseSlightly increaseSlightly increase<	4 (19.1) 6 (28.6) 5 (23.8) 4 (19.1) 0 (0.0) 1 (4.8)
No change Slightly increase Increase Alcohol consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase NA Vegetable and fruit consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Sugary drink consumption Decrease Slightly increase Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase Slightly increase No change Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase Slightly increase No change Slightly increase No change Slightly increase No change Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase No change Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase No change	6 (28.6) 5 (23.8) 4 (19.1) 0 (0.0) 1 (4.8)
Slightly increase Increase Alcohol consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase NA Vegetable and fruit consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Sugary drink consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase No change Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase No change Slightly increase No change Slightly increase No change Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase No change Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase No change	5 (23.8) 4 (19.1) 0 (0.0) 1 (4.8)
Increase Alcohol consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase NA Vegetable and fruit consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Slightly decrease Slightly decrease Slightly decrease Slightly decrease Slightly increase Slightly increas	4 (19.1) 0 (0.0) 1 (4.8)
Alcool consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase NA Vegetable and fruit consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Slightly decrease Slightly decrease Slightly decrease Slightly increase Slightly	0 (0.0) 1 (4.8)
DecreaseSlightly decreaseNo changeSlightly increaseIncreaseNAVegetable and fruit consumptionDecreaseSlightly decreaseNo changeSlightly decreaseNo changeSlightly increaseIncreaseSugary drink consumptionDecreaseSlightly decreaseNo changeSlightly decreaseNo changeSlightly increaseNo changeSlightly increaseNo changeSlightly increaseNo changeSlightly increaseNo changeSlightly increaseIncreaseExercise timeDecreaseSlightly decreaseNo changeSlightly increaseIncreaseSlightly increaseSlightly increaseSlightly increaseSlightly decreaseNo changeSlightly increaseIncreaseSlightly increaseNo changeSlightly decreaseNo change	1 (4.8)
Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase NA Vegetable and fruit consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Sugary drink consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease Slightly increase Slightly increase Slightly decrease Slightly decrease Slightly increase Slightly decrease Slightly increase Slightly increase Slightly increase Slightly increase Slightly increase Slightly increase Slightly decrease Slightly increase	1 (4.8)
No change Slightly increase Increase NA Vegetable and fruit consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Sugary drink consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Exercise time Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Slightly increase Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase Slightly increase Slightly increase Slightly increase Slightly increase Slightly increase Slightly increase Slightly increase No change	
Slightly increase Increase NA Vegetable and fruit consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Sugary drink consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Exercise time Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease Slightly decrease Slightly decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease Slightly increase Slightly increase Slightly increase Slightly increase Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Sl	
Increase NA Vegetable and fruit consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Sugary drink consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Exercise time Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase No change Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase No change Slightly increase No change Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease No change	15 (71.4)
NA Vegetable and fruit consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Sugary drink consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Exercise time Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Slightly inc	2 (9.5)
Vegetable and fruit consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Sugary drink consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Exercise time Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase	2 (9.5)
Decrease Slightly decrease Slightly increase Increase Sugary drink consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Exercise time Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease Slightly decrease Slightly decrease Slightly increase Slightly increas	1
Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Sugary drink consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Exercise time Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Sligh	
No change Slightly increase Increase Sugary drink consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Exercise time Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase No change Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase No change Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase Increase Slightly decrease No change	2 (9.5)
Slightly increase Increase Sugary drink consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Exercise time Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease No change	1 (4.8)
Increase Sugary drink consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Exercise time Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase No change Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease No change	10 (47.6)
Sugary drink consumption Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Exercise time Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase Increase Slightly increase Increase Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease No change Slightly decrease No change	3 (14.3)
Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Exercise time Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Sleep hours Decrease Slightly decrease No change	5 (23.8)
Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Exercise time Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Sleep hours Decrease Slightly decrease No change	
No change Slightly increase Increase Exercise time Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Sleep hours Decrease Slightly decrease No change	1 (4.8)
Slightly increase Increase Exercise time Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Sleep hours Decrease Slightly decrease No change	0 (0.0)
Increase Exercise time Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Sleep hours Decrease Slightly decrease No change	13 (61.9)
Exercise time Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Sleep hours Decrease Slightly decrease No change	5 (23.8)
Decrease Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Sleep hours Decrease Slightly decrease No change	2 (9.5)
Slightly decrease No change Slightly increase Increase Sleep hours Decrease Slightly decrease No change	
No change Slightly increase Increase Sleep hours Decrease Slightly decrease No change	3 (14.3)
Slightly increase Increase Sleep hours Decrease Slightly decrease No change	2 (9.5)
Increase Sleep hours Decrease Slightly decrease No change	13 (61.9)
Sleep hours Decrease Slightly decrease No change	2 (9.5)
Decrease Slightly decrease No change	1 (4.8)
Slightly decrease No change	
No change	2 (9.5)
No change	4 (19.1)
Slightly increase	11 (52.4)
	2 (9.5)
Increase	2 (9.5)
Screen time (i.e., TV, phone, PC, tablet)	
Decrease	1 (4.8)
Slightly decrease	0 (0.0)
No change	11 (52.4)
Slightly increase	4 (19.1)
Increase	5 (23.8)
Vitamin intake	. /
Decrease	3 (14.3)
Slightly decrease	0 (0.0)
No change	/
Slightly increase	16 (76.2)
Increase	16 (76.2) 1 (4.8)

(Continued)

TABLE 3 | Continued

Variable	n (%)
NA	1 (4.8)
Gardening	
Decrease	0 (0.0)
Slightly decrease	1 (4.8)
No change	12 (57.1)
Slightly increase	4 (19.1)
Increase	4 (19.1)
Body weight	
Decrease	0 (0.0)
Slightly decrease	1 (4.8)
No change	12 (57.1)
Slightly increase	4 (19.1)
Increase	4 (19.1)
Stress	
Decrease	1 (4.8)
Slightly decrease	0 (0.0)
No change	11 (52.4)
Slightly increase	5 (23.8)
Increase	4 (19.1)
Anxiety	
Decrease	1 (4.8)
Slightly decrease	1 (4.8)
No change	12 (57.1)
Slightly increase	3 (14.3)
Increase	4 (19.1)

compared to non-smokers (3). Although this study focused on smoking and other risky behavioral changes during the pandemic, it should be noted that African-American smokers may be more adversely impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. A recent study showed that African-Americans are more likely to have comorbid conditions such as hypertension, diabetes, and obesity, all of which may exacerbate COVID-19 outcomes (6). Our results also showed that 72.7% of African-American smokers in this study were overweight or obese. Furthermore, more than half of participants mentioned that they have been diagnosed with hypertension, diabetes, or arthritis, which may lead to more adverse COVID-19 related outcomes.

Our results also showed that 38% of participants experienced an increase in bodyweight during the COVID-19 pandemic. This may have resulted from increased sugary drink intake, increased screen time, and decreased physical activity. Compared to pre-pandemic, screen time increased (42%) and exercise time decreased (23.8%) during the pandemic. Previous studies have shown that individuals reported higher levels of screen time during the pandemic, which was associated with poorer mental health (19). Additionally, another study demonstrated that COVID-19 home lockdown was associated with a decrease in physical activity levels, as well as unhealthier eating patterns (20). However, African-American smokers in this study consumed more vegetables and fruits during the pandemic, and around 40% of participants reported they engaged in more gardening activities. Home gardening has been shown to increase food security and the intake of nutritious foods, and has been suggested as a potential strategy to combat food insecurity in areas affected by COVID-19 labor shortages (21). These results suggest that the COVID-19 pandemic can influence smokers' eating, home gardening and food consumption behaviors.

Another important finding in this study is that participants reported sleeping less and feeling more stress and anxiety during the pandemic. These mental health changes could be due to the perception of potential illness and life challenges exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic. A recent systematic review demonstrated that the COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in significant negative psychological impacts, and contributed to a concurrent mental health epidemic (22). Consistent with our findings, several studies have also shown changes in sleep, stress, and anxiety as a result of the pandemic (23–25).

It is important to note that there are some limitations inherent to this study. First, this is a pilot study using self-reported data, which tends to give narrow estimated associations. Second, the small sample size from a single hospital targeting lower income African-American smokers limits the generalizability and reliability of results. Third, the behavioral changes were only collected at one time point during the pandemic, and may have changed as the pandemic progressed. Despite these limitations, this study focuses on lower income, higher risk African-American smokers who may be more adversely impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic during the time of data collection.

CONCLUSION

This study found that African-American smokers who were eligible for LDCT screening increased cigarette smoking, spent more time on screens, increased sugary drink consumption, consumed more vegetables and fruits, and engaged in more gardening activities during the COVID-19 pandemic. However, participants also decreased time spent pursuing physical activities and slept less. In general, more than one-third of participants gained more body weight and felt increased stress and anxiety. Our results suggest that African-American smokers who qualify

REFERENCES

- Miller IF, Becker AD, Grenfell BT, Metcalf CJE. Disease and healthcare burden of COVID-19 in the United States. *Nat Med.* (2020) 26:1212–7. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-0952-y
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. COVID Data Tracker: United States at a Glance. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Available online at: https://covid.cdc.gov/covid-data-tracker/#datatrackerhome (accessed May 17, 2021).
- 3. Vardavas CI, Nikitara K. COVID-19 and smoking: a systematic review of the evidence. *Tob Induc Dis.* (2020) 18:20. doi: 10.18332/tid/119324
- Sidor A, Rzymski P. Dietary choices and habits during COVID-19 lockdown: experience from Poland. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:1657. doi: 10.3390/nu120 61657
- 5. Lohia P, Sreeram K, Nguyen P, Choudhary A, Khicher S, Yarandi H, et al. Preexisting respiratory diseases and clinical outcomes in COVID-19: a

for LDCT screening should be encouraged to consider strategies not only for smoking cessation, but also risky behavior control and management.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article and supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author(s).

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board of LSUHSC-NO (approval #10104). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

T-ST contributed to the study conception and drafted the first manuscript. ML reviewed the manuscript and conducted the literature review. H-YL checked quality and results. T-ST, Y-HK, and L-SC contributed to the data analysis and the interpretation of the study. All authors contributed to editing and revising the manuscript critically and approved the final version of the article to be published.

FUNDING

This study was supported by The Louisiana Cancer Research Consortium, Louisiana Tobacco Control Initiative and LSUHSC School of Public Health.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank LCMC Health University Medical Center New Orleans and LSUHSC Department of Radiology for their assistance with recruitment and data collection.

multihospital cohort study on predominantly African American population. *Respir Res.* (2021) 22:37. doi: 10.1186/s12931-021-01647-6

- Yancy CW. COVID-19 and African Americans. JAMA. (2020) 323:1891–2. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.6548
- Alsan M, Stantcheva S, Yang D, Cutler D. Disparities in coronavirus 2019 reported incidence, knowledge, and behavior among US adults. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2020) 3:e2012403. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020. 12403
- Lushniak BD, Samet JM, Pechacek TF, Norman LA, Taylor PA. The Health Consequences of Smoking-50 Years of Progress: A Report of the Surgeon General. Reports of the Surgeon General (2014).
- Babb S, Malarcher A, Schauer G, Asman K, Jamal A. Quitting smoking among adults - United States, 2000-2015. Morbid Mortal Wkly Rep. (2017) 65:1457–64. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6552a1
- Gornicka M, Drywien ME, Zielinska MA, Hamulka J. Dietary and lifestyle changes during COVID-19 and the subsequent lockdowns among polish

adults: a cross-sectional online survey PLifeCOVID-19 Study. Nutrients. (2020) 12:2324. doi: 10.3390/nu12082324

- Deschasaux-Tanguy M, Druesne-Pecollo N, Esseddik Y, de Edelenyi FS, Allès B, Andreeva VA, et al. Diet and physical activity during the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) lockdown (March-May 2020): results from the French NutriNet-Sante cohort study. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2021) 113:924–38. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqaa336
- Gupta R, Grover S, Basu A, Krishnan V, Tripathi A, Subramanyam A, et al. Changes in sleep pattern and sleep quality during COVID-19 lockdown. *Indian J Psychiatry*. (2020) 62:370–8. doi: 10.4103/psychiatry.IndianJPsychiatry_523_20
- Knell G, Robertson MC, Dooley EE, Burford K, Mendez KS. Health behavior changes during COVID-19 pandemic and subsequent "stay-at-home" orders. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:6268. doi: 10.3390/ijerph171 76268
- Schuit AJ, van Loon AJ, Tijhuis M, Ocke M. Clustering of lifestyle risk factors in a general adult population. *Prev Med.* (2002) 35:219–24. doi: 10.1006/pmed.2002.1064
- Block R, Jr., Berg A, Lennon RP, Miller EL, Nunez-Smith M. African American adherence to COVID-19 public health recommendations. *Health Lit Res Pract.* (2020) 4:e166–70. doi: 10.3928/24748307-20200707-01
- M. D. Louisiana Data: Virus Hits Blacks, People With Hypertension. US News World Report. US News World Report. Available online at: https://www.usnews.com/news/best-states/louisiana/articles/2020-04-07/ louisiana-data-virus-hits-blacks-people-with-hypertension (accessed May 15, 2021).
- Caponnetto P, Inguscio L, Saitta C, Maglia M, Benfatto F, Polosa R. Smoking behavior and psychological dynamics during COVID-19 social distancing and stay-at-home policies: a survey. *Health Psychol Res.* (2020) 8:9124. doi: 10.4081/hpr.2020.9124
- Jackson SE, Garnett C, Shahab L, Oldham M, Brown J. Association of the COVID-19 lockdown with smoking, drinking and attempts to quit in England: an analysis of 2019-20 data. *Addiction*. (2021) 116:1233–44. doi: 10.1111/add.15295
- Colley RC, Bushnik T, Langlois K. Exercise and screen time during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Health Rep.* (2020) 31:3–11. doi: 10.25318/82-003-x202000600001-eng
- 20. Ammar A, Brach M, Trabelsi K, et al. Effects of COVID-19 home confinement on eating behaviour and physical activity: results of the ECLB-COVID19

International Online Survey. Nutrients. (2020) 12:1583. doi: 10.3390/ nu12061583

- Lal R. Home gardening and urban agriculture for advancing food and nutritional security in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. *Food Secur.* (2020) 1–6. doi: 10.1007/s12571-020-01058-3
- Hossain MM, Tasnim S, Sultana A, et al. Epidemiology of mental health problems in COVID-19: a review. *F1000Res.* (2020) 9:636. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.24457.1
- 23. Lei L, Huang X, Zhang S, Yang J, Yang L, Xu M. Comparison of prevalence and associated factors of anxiety and depression among people affected by versus people unaffected by quarantine during the COVID-19 epidemic in Southwestern China. *Med Sci Monit.* (2020) 26:e924609. doi: 10.12659/MSM.924609
- 24. Tang W, Hu T, Hu B, et al. Prevalence and correlates of PTSD and depressive symptoms one month after the outbreak of the COVID-19 epidemic in a sample of home-quarantined Chinese university students. *J Affect Disord.* (2020) 274:1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.05.009
- Wang C, Pan R, Wan X, et al. A longitudinal study on the mental health of general population during the COVID-19 epidemic in China. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2020) 87:40–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.04.028

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Tseng, Li, Kao, Chen and Lin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Factors Associated With Patient's Refusal of Recommended Cancer Surgery: Based on Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results

Xianglin Hu^{1,2*}, Hui Ye³, Wangjun Yan^{1,2*} and Yangbai Sun^{1,2*}

University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Tung-Sung Tseng, Louisiana State University, United States

Reviewed by:

Hon-Yi Shi, Kaohsiung Medical University, Taiwan You Lu, Xavier University of Louisiana, United States

*Correspondence:

Xianglin Hu xianglinhero@163.com Wangjun Yan yanwj@fudan.edu.cn Yangbai Sun drsunyb@fudan.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Life-Course Epidemiology and Social Inequalities in Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

> Received: 29 September 2021 Accepted: 22 December 2021 Published: 17 January 2022

Citation:

Hu X, Ye H, Yan W and Sun Y (2022) Factors Associated With Patient's Refusal of Recommended Cancer Surgery: Based on Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results. Front. Public Health 9:785602. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.785602 **Objectives:** Most non-metastatic cancer patients can harvest a preferable survival after surgical treatment, however, patients sometimes refuse the recommended cancerdirected surgery. It is necessary to uncover the factors associated with patent's decision in taking cancer surgery and explore racial/ethnic disparities in surgery refusal.

¹ Department of Musculoskeletal Surgery, Fudan University Shanghai Cancer Center, Shanghai, China, ² Department of

Oncology, Shanghai Medical College, Fudan University, Shanghai, China, ³ Simmons Comprehensive Cancer Center,

Methods: Based on the Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results (SEER)-18 program, we extracted data of non-metastatic cancer patients who didn't undergo surgery. Ten common solid cancers were selected. Four racial/ethnic categories were included: White, black, Hispanic, and Asian/Pacific Islander (API). Primary outcome was patient's refusal of surgery. Multivariable logistic regression models were used, with reported odds ratio (OR) and 95% confidence interval (CI).

Results: Among 318,318 patients, the incidence of surgery refusal was 3.5%. Advanced age, female patients, earlier cancer stage, uninsured/Medicaid and unmarried patients were significantly associated with higher odds of surgery refusal. Black and API patients were more likely to refuse recommended surgery than white patients in overall cancer (black-white: adjusted OR, 1.18; 95% Cl, 1.11–1.26; API-white: adjusted OR, 1.56; 95% Cl, 1.41–1.72); those racial/ethnic disparities narrowed down after additionally adjusting for insurance type and marital status. In subgroup analysis, API-white disparities in surgery refusal widely existed in prostate, lung/bronchus, liver, and stomach cancers.

Conclusions: Patient's socioeconomic conditions reflected by insurance type and marital status may play a key role in racial/ethnic disparities in surgery refusal. Oncological surgeons should fully consider the barriers behind patient's refusal of recommended surgery, thus promoting patient-doctor shared decision-making and guiding patients to the most appropriate therapy.

Keywords: cancer, surgery, refusal, racial disparities, marital status, insurance type

INTRODUCTION

Although patients with non-metastatic cancers have an opportunity to receive surgery and subsequently harvest a preferable survival, there is always no cancer-directed surgery available to them. It remains unknown which and how many reasons for non-cancer-directed surgery exist in various nonmetastatic cancers. The patient's refusal of recommended surgery is one of the modifiable reasons that should be addressed. It has been found that black patients are more likely to refuse recommended surgery than white patients in several cancers (1-3). However, it is unclear whether black-white disparities in refusal are largely mediated by patient's socioeconomic status, such as insurance type and marital status. Therefore, this study seeks to explore the factors that associate with the patent's decision in taking recommended cancer surgery. This study also seeks to explore whether that racial/ethnic disparity in refusal could be narrowed down by controlling the factors such as insurance type and marital status.

METHODS

Study Population

This population-based cohort study was based on the Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results (SEER)-18 Registries (Nov 2018 Sub). SEER program covers 28% of US population and collects data on different cancers from population-based cancer registries (https://seer.cancer.gov/). SEER*Stat software 8.3.8 was used to retrieve data (https:// seer.cancer.gov/seerstat/). Ten common solid cancers were selected: Prostate, lung/bronchus, liver/IBD, pancreas, breast, colorectal, oral cavity/pharynx, stomach, kidney/renal pelvis, and uterus. The inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) Adult patients diagnosed from 2007 to 2015 (2) Non-metastatic cancer patients with the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) stage I-III; (3) Patients who didn't receive cancer surgery; and (4) Patients with completed data on age, sex, marital status, and insurance type. Patients missing racial/ethnic information were excluded. American Indian/Alaska Native patients were also excluded for limited numbers. A flow diagram was shown in Supplementary Figure 1. Ultimately, 318,318 patients were included.

Variables

Patient age, sex, race/ethnicity, cancer primary site, AJCC stage, marital status and insurance coverage type were retrieved. Patient survival status and cancer specific survival (CSS) were also retrieved. Four racial/ethnic categories were included: white (non-Hispanic), black (non-Hispanic), Hispanic, and Asian/Pacific Islander (API) (4). Reasons for no cancer-directed surgery were retrieved (5), including: (1) recommended but unperformed surgery, patient refused; (2) recommended but unperformed surgery, unknown reason; (3) patient died before recommended surgery; and (4) not recommended for cancer surgery. Patients with recommended but unperformed surgery due to refusal were compared with patients with recommended but unperformed surgery due to other reason. The primary outcome was patient's refusal.

Statistical Analysis

Frequencies of different reasons for no-cancer-directed surgery were depicted by cancer type and race/ethnicity. Association of race/ethnicity with surgery refusal was measured using multivariable logistic regression model by stepwise adjustment of insurance and marital status. In multivariable model A, racial association with surgery refusal was assessed by adjusting for age, sex, cancer site, and AJCC stage. In multivariable model B, racial association with surgery refusal was assessed by additionally adjusting for insurance status. In multivariable model C, racial association with surgery refusal was assessed by additionally adjusting for insurance and marital status. In subgroup analysis, racial association with surgery refusal was also assessed in every selected cancer type. Adjusted odds ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) were reported. Association of surgery refusal with cancer specific survival (CSS) was measured using multivariable Cox regression. Adjusted hazard ratio (HR) with 95% confidence interval (CI) was reported. P < 0.05 was statistically significant. Statistics and graphics were conducted using SPSS 24.0 and Graph-pad Prism 7.0.

RESULTS

Descriptives of the Four Reasons for No Cancer-Direct Surgery

There were 318,318 stage I-III cancer patients who didn't receive surgery (mean age, 68.1 years; 243,646 [76.5%] male; 217,154 [68.2%] white, 50,370 [15.8%] black, 30,134 [9.5%] Hispanic and 20,660 [6.5%] Asian/Pacific Islander [API]; 85,069 [26.7%] stage I, 154,882 [48.7%] stage II and 78,367 [24.6%] stage III; 162,768 [51.13%] prostate, 76,290 [23.97%] lung/bronchus, 21,982 [6.91%] liver/IBD, 15,762 [4.95%] pancreas, 13,095 [4.11%] breast, 8,251 [2.59%]colorectal, 7,498 [2.36%] oral cavity/pharynx, 5,310 [1.67%] stomach, 4,779 [1.50%] kidney/renal pelvis, and 2,583 [0.81%] uterus). Overall, the incidence of recommended but unperformed surgery was 9.4% (29,932/318,318); it was more prevalent in breast (33.6%), colorectal (25.0%), uterus (19.2%), and kidney/renal pelvis (18.4%) cancers. Overall, the incidence of patient's refusal of recommended surgery was 3.5% (11,221/318,318); it was more prevalent in breast (12.6%), colorectal (12.2%), uterus (10.3%), and kidney/renal pelvis (9.1%) cancers (Figure 1).

Factors Associated With Patient's Refusal

Among the 29,932 patients with recommended but unperformed surgery, 11,221 (37.49%) patients were due to refusal and 18,711 (62.51%) patients were due to other unspecific reason. The demographic and clinical characteristics of the 29,932 patients were presented in **Table 1**.

As shown in **Table 2**, in patients with recommended but unperformed surgery, black patients were more likely to refuse recommended surgery than white patients (adjusted



ethnic categories in 10 primary cancers. API, Asian/Pacific Islander; IBD, liver/intrahepatic bile duct.

OR, 1.18; 95% CI, 1.11-1.26). API patients were more likely to refuse recommended surgery than white patients (adjusted OR, 1.56; 95% CI, 1.41-1.72). Those black-white and APIwhite disparities in surgery refusal narrowed after additionally adjusting for insurance type and marital status. Patients who refused recommended surgery were more likely to have worse CSS than those who unperformed recommended surgery due to other unspecific reason (adjusted HR, 1.15; 95% CI, 1.10-1.21). In addition, surgery refusal probability significantly increased along with age increase. Female patients were more likely to refuse surgery than male patients (adjusted OR, 1.21; 95% CI, 1.12-1.31). Patients with high cancer stage were less likely to refuse surgery than those with early cancer stage (adjusted OR, 0.55; 95% CI, 0.51-0.59). Uninsured/Medicaid patients were more likely to refuse surgery than insured patients (adjusted OR, 1.41; 95% CI, 1.31-1.52). Unmarried patients were more likely to refuse surgery than married patients (adjusted OR, 1.23; 95% CI, 1.17-1.30).

Racial/Ethnic Disparity in Refusal in Every Selected Cancer Type

As shown in **Table 3**, in subgroup analysis, black patients were more likely to refuse surgery than white patients in prostate (adjusted OR, 1.15; 95% CI, 1.05–1.26) and colorectal cancers (adjusted OR, 1.39; 95% CI, 1.06–1.83); API patients were more likely to refuse surgery than white patients in prostate (adjusted OR, 1.97; 95% CI, 1.65–2.35), lung/bronchus (adjusted OR, 1.93; 95% CI, 1.46–2.54), liver/IBD (adjusted OR, 2.77; 95% CI, 1.90–4.04), and stomach (adjusted OR, 1.97; 95% CI, 1.23–3.15) cancers. Those black-white and API-white disparities in surgery refusal narrowed after additionally adjusting for insurance type and marital status in those specific cancer types.

DISCUSSION

Nowadays, racial and ethnic inequality in healthcare has garnered widespread attention in the United States. Sometimes it's even
TABLE 1 | Demographic and clinical characteristics of patients with recommended but unperformed cancer surgery.

	Overall (<i>n</i> = 29,932)	Prostate (<i>n</i> = 13,647)	Lung/bronchus (n = 4,872)	Liver/IBD (n = 1,234)	Pancreas (<i>n</i> = 1,092)	Breast (<i>n</i> = 4,403)	Colorectal $(n = 2,066)$	Oral cavity and pharynx (n = 511)	Stomach (n = 734)	Kidney and renal pelvis (<i>n</i> = 877)	Uterus (<i>n</i> = 496)
Age (years)											
<60	7,660 (25.6)	3,007 (22.0)	689 (14.1)	481 (39.0)	195 (17.9)	2,053 (46.6)	515 (24.9)	188 (36.8)	144 (19.6)	194 (22.1)	194 (39.1)
60-69	9,644 (32.2)	5,909 (43.3)	1,159 (23.8)	436 (35.3)	237 (21.7)	848 (19.3)	463 (22.4)	155 (30.3)	152 (20.7)	169 (19.3)	116 (23.4)
70-79	7,488 (25.0)	3,860 (28.3)	1,600 (32.8)	186 (15.1)	326 (29.9)	564 (12.8)	385 (18.6)	89 (17.4)	193 (26.3)	218 (24.9)	67 (13.5)
≥80	5,140 (17.2)	871 (6.4)	1,424 (29.2)	131 (10.6)	334 (30.6)	938 (21.3)	703 (34.0)	79 (15.5)	245 (33.4)	296 (33.8)	119 (24.0)
Sex											
Male	20,234 (67.6)	13,647 (100.0)	2,531 (51.9)	978 (79.3)	511 (46.8)	28 (0.6)	1,155 (55.9)	387 (75.7)	467 (63.6)	530 (60.4)	0
Female	9,698 (32.4)	0	2,341 (48.1)	256 (20.7)	581 (53.2)	4,375 (99.4)	911 (44.1)	124 (24.3)	267 (36.4)	347 (39.6)	496 (100.0)
Race/ethnicity											
White	19,019 (63.5)	8,618 (63.1)	3,674 (75.4)	599 (48.5)	750 (68.7)	2,506 (56.9)	1274 (61.7)	376 (73.6)	392 (53.4)	541 (61.7)	289 (58.3)
Black	5,435 (18.2)	2,975 (21.8)	634 (13.0)	188 (15.2)	153 (14.0)	777 (17.6)	298 (14.4)	61 (11.9)	115 (15.7)	150 (17.1)	84 (16.9)
Hispanic	3,550 (11.9)	1,501 (11.0)	291 (6.0)	280 (22.7)	111 (10.2)	690 (15.7)	305 (14.8)	35 (6.8)	120 (16.3)	135 (15.4)	82 (16.5)
API	1,928 (6.4)	553 (4.1)	273 (5.6)	167 (13.5)	78 (7.1)	430 (9.8)	189 (9.1)	39 (7.6)	107 (14.6)	51 (5.8)	41 (8.3)
AJCC stage											
I	9,364 (31.3)	2,944 (21.6)	1,900 (39.0)	673 (54.5)	429 (39.3)	1,008 (22.9)	804 (38.9)	101 (19.8)	407 (55.4)	702 (80.0)	396 (79.8)
II	15,379 (51.4)	10,476 (76.8)	657 (13.5)	305 (24.7)	495 (45.3)	2,326 (52.8)	645 (31.2)	150 (29.4)	180 (24.5)	104 (11.9)	41 (8.3)
III	5,189 (17.3)	227 (1.7)	2,315 (47.5)	256 (20.7)	168 (15.4)	1,069 (24.3)	617 (29.9)	260 (50.9)	147 (20.0)	71 (8.1)	59 (11.9)
Insurance status											
Insured	25,599 (85.5)	12,697 (93.0)	4,071 (83.6)	933 (75.6)	928 (85.0)	3,304 (75.0)	1,627 (78.8)	412 (80.6)	579 (78.9)	686 (78.2)	362 (73.0)
Uninsured/Medicaid	4,333 (14.5)	950 (7.0)	801 (16.4)	301 (24.4)	164 (15.0)	1,099 (25.0)	439 (21.2)	99 (19.4)	155 (21.1)	191 (21.8)	134 (27.0)
Marital status											
Married	15,871 (53.0)	8,882 (65.1)	2,041 (41.9)	543 (44.0)	538 (49.3)	1,849 (42.0)	932 (45.1)	232 (45.4)	361 (49.2)	335 (38.2)	158 (31.9)
Unmarried	14,061 (47.0)	4,765 (34.9)	2,831 (58.1)	691 (56.0)	554 (50.7)	2,554 (58.0)	1,134 (54.9)	279 (54.6)	373 (50.8)	542 (61.8)	338 (68.1)

API, Asian/Pacific Islander; IBD, liver/intrahepatic bile duct; AJCC, American Joint Committee on Cancer. Data are presented by number (%). Hu et al.

Characteristics	Recommended but not performed cancer surgery		Crude model		Adjusted model				
	Other reason (%)	Patient refused (%)		Multivariable model A		Multivariable model B (multivariable model A + insurance status)		Multivariable model C (multivariable model A + insurance + marital status)	
	<i>n</i> = 18,711	<i>n</i> = 1,1221	OR (95% CI) P	OR (95% CI)	Ρ	OR (95% CI)	P	OR (95% CI)	Р
Age (years)									
<60	5,447 (71.1)	2,213 (28.9)	1.00	1.00		1.00		1.00	
60–69	6,587 (68.3)	3,057 (31.7)	1.14 (1.07–1.22) <0.00	1 1.21 (1.13–1.29)	<0.001	1.24 (1.16–1.33)	< 0.001	1.23 (1.15–1.32)	< 0.001
70–79	4,666 (62.3)	2,822 (37.7)	1.49 (1.39–1.59) <0.00	1 1.45 (1.35–1.56)	<0.001	1.52 (1.41–1.63)	<0.001	1.51 (1.41–1.63)	< 0.001
≥80	2,011 (39.1)	3,129 (60.9)	3.83 (3.55-4.13) <0.00	1 3.04 (2.81–3.29)	<0.001	3.22 (2.97–3.49)	< 0.001	3.13 (2.88–3.39)	< 0.001
Sex									
Male	13,503 (66.7)	6,731 (33.3)	1.00	1.00		1.00		1.00	
Female	5,208 (53.7)	4,490 (46.3)	1.73 (1.65–1.82) <0.00	1 1.27 (1.17–1.38)	<0.001	1.26 (1.16–1.36)	< 0.001	1.21 (1.12–1.31)	< 0.001
Race/ethnicity									
White	11,680 (61.4)	7,339 (38.6)	1.00	1.00		1.00		1.00	
Black	3,409 (62.7)	2,026 (37.3)	0.95 (0.89–1.01) 0.080	1.18 (1.11–1.26)	<0.001	1.14 (1.07–1.22)	< 0.001	1.10 (1.03–1.18)	0.005
Hispanic	2,622 (73.9)	928 (26.1)	0.56 (0.52–0.61) <0.00	1 0.65 (0.59–0.70)	<0.001	0.60 (0.55–0.66)	< 0.001	0.60 (0.55–0.66)	< 0.001
API	1,000 (51.9)	928 (48.1)	1.48 (1.34–1.62) <0.00	1 1.56 (1.41–1.72)	<0.001	1.49 (1.35–1.64)	< 0.001	1.54 (1.39–1.70)	< 0.001
Cancer site									
Prostate	9,628 (70.6)	4,019 (29.4)	1.00	1.00		1.00		1.00	
Lung/bronchus	2,417 (49.6)	2,455 (50.4)	2.43 (2.28–2.60) <0.00	1 2.00 (1.82–2.19)	< 0.001	1.91 (1.74–2.09)	< 0.001	1.86 (1.70–2.04)	< 0.001
Liver/IBD	943 (76.4)	291 (23.6)	0.74 (0.65–0.85) <0.00	1 0.70 (0.61–0.81)	< 0.001	0.66 (0.57–0.77)	< 0.001	0.64 (0.55–0.74)	< 0.001
Pancreas	579 (53.0)	513 (47.0)	2.12 (1.87-2.40) <0.00	1 1.51 (1.32–1.74)	< 0.001	1.46 (1.27–1.68)	< 0.001	1.45 (1.26–1.67)	< 0.001
Breast	2,753 (62.5)	1,650 (37.5)	1.44 (1.34–1.54) <0.00	1 1.15 (1.02–1.28)	< 0.001	1.09 (0.97–1.22)	0.134	1.08 (0.97–1.21)	0.161
Colorectal	1,057 (51.2)	1,009 (48.8)	2.29 (2.08–2.51) <0.00	1 1.80 (1.61–2.00)	< 0.001	1.70 (1.53–1.90)	< 0.001	1.68 (1.50–1.87)	< 0.001
Oral cavity and pharynx	290 (56.8)	221 (43.2)	1.83 (1.53–2.18) <0.00	1 2.00 (1.66–2.42)	< 0.001	1.91 (1.58–2.31)	< 0.001	1.86 (1.53–2.25)	< 0.001
Stomach	372 (50.7)	362 (49.3)	2.33 (2.01–2.71) <0.00	1 1.68 (1.42–1.97)	< 0.001	1.59 (1.35–1.88)	< 0.001	1.57 (1.34–1.85)	< 0.001
Kidney and renal pelvis	443 (50.5)	434 (49.5)	2.35 (2.05–2.69) <0.00	1 1.57 (1.35–1.83)	< 0.001	1.48 (1.27–1.73)	< 0.001	1.44 (1.24–1.68)	< 0.001
Uterus	229 (46.2)	267 (53.8)	2.79 (2.33–3.35) <0.00	1 1.92 (1.56–2.36)	< 0.001	1.81 (1.47–2.22)	< 0.001	1.77 (1.44–2.18)	< 0.001
AJCC stage									
I	5,124 (54.7)	4,240 (45.3)	1.00	1.00		1.00		1.00	
II	10,265 (66.7)	5,114 (33.3)	0.60 (0.57–0.64) <0.00	1 0.81 (0.76–0.86)	< 0.001	0.81 (0.76–0.86)	< 0.001	0.81 (0.76–0.86)	< 0.001
III	3,322 (64.0)	1,867 (36.0)	0.68 (0.63–0.73) <0.00	1 0.55 (0.51–0.60)	< 0.001	0.55 (0.51–0.59)	< 0.001	0.55 (0.51–0.59)	<0.001
Insurance status									
Insured	16269 (63.6)	9330 (36.4)	1.00	-	-	1.00		1.00	
Uninsured/medicaid	2442 (56.4)	1891 (43.6)	1.35 (1.27–1.44) <0.00	1 –	-	1.47 (1.37–1.58)	< 0.001	1.41 (1.31–1.52)	< 0.001
Marital status									
Married	1,0665 (67.2)	5,206 (32.8)	1.00	-	-	-	-	1.00	
Unmarried	8,046 (57.2)	6,015 (42.8)	1.53 (1.46–1.61) <0.00	1 –	-	-	-	1.23 (1.17–1.30)	< 0.001

TABLE 2 | Factors associated with patient's refusal of recommended cancer surgery (the outcome is patient's refusal).

API, Asian/Pacific Islander; IBD, liver/intrahepatic bile duct; AJCC, American Joint Committee on Cancer.

Multivariable model A adjusted for age, sex, cancer site, and AJCC stage.

Multivariable model B additionally adjusted for insurance status.

Multivariable model C additionally adjusted for insurance and marital status.

described as a serious and shameful public health crisis. Different from other disparities in healthcare, racial and ethnic disparity is rooted in history and modern times, involving multiple elements, such as medical systems, infrastructures, administrative processes, healthcare providers, and individualized patients (6). Occasionally, the term "structural racism" is used to describe racial and ethnic disparities in cancer surgical treatment (7, 8). It remains a key question whether racial and ethnic disparities in cancer surgery utilization are due to structural racism or just socioeconomic status.

Unlike previous studies (1–3), our study compared patients with recommended but unperformed surgery due to refusal to those with recommended but unperformed surgery due to other reason. We found that racial and ethnic disparity in TABLE 3 | Adjusted OR (95% CI) for patient's refusal of surgery in every selected cancer type.

	Prostate (<i>n</i> = 13,647)	Lung/bronchus $(n = 4,872)$	Liver/IBD (<i>n</i> = 1,234)	Pancreas (<i>n</i> = 1,092)	Breast (<i>n</i> = 4,403)	Colorectal (<i>n</i> = 2,066)	Oral cavity and pharynx (<i>n</i> = 511)	Stomach (<i>n</i> = 734)	Kidney and renal pelvis (n = 877)	Uterus (<i>n</i> = 496)
Race/ethnicity				Multivariab	ole model 1 (adjusted	l for age, sex, and A	JCC stage)			
White	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00
Black	1.15	0.96	1.39	0.84	1.16	1.39	1.01	1.45	0.84	1.46
	(1.05–1.26)	(0.80–1.15)	(0.94–2.07)	(0.56–1.25)	(0.97–1.40)	(1.06–1.83)	(0.56–1.80)	(0.93–2.27)	(0.57–1.24)	(0.87–2.43)
Hispanic	0.86	0.46	0.49	0.64	0.49	0.67	0.57	0.45	0.75	0.68
	(0.76–0.97)	(0.35–0.60)	(0.33–0.75)	(0.41–1.02)	(0.39–0.61)	(0.51–0.89)	(0.26–1.24)	(0.28–0.72)	(0.50–1.13)	(0.40–1.16)
API	1.97	1.93	2.77	1.15	1.17	1.24	1.88	1.97	1.33	1.62
	(1.65–2.35)	(1.46–2.54)	(1.90–4.04)	(0.69–1.91)	(0.93–1.47)	(0.89–1.72)	(0.93–3.79)	(1.23–3.15)	(0.72–2.46)	(0.80–3.26)
			Multivariable mo	odel 2 (additionally a	djusted for insurance	e type and marital st	atus based on multiv	ariable model 1)		
White	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00
Black	1.14	0.84	1.18	0.74	1.03	1.32	0.94	1.24	0.81	1.42
	(1.04–1.25)	(0.70–1.02)	(0.78–1.77)	(0.50–1.11)	(0.86–1.25)	(1.00–1.74)	(0.52–1.70)	(0.78–1.98)	(0.54–1.19)	(0.84–2.39)
Hispanic	0.82	0.40	0.45	0.57	0.45	0.66	0.47	0.39	0.68	0.69
	(0.73–0.94)	(0.30–0.52)	(0.30–0.69)	(0.36–0.92)	(0.35–0.56)	(0.49–0.87)	(0.21–1.05)	(0.24–0.64)	(0.45–1.04)	(0.40–1.18)
API	1.92	1.87	2.52	1.05	1.16	1.26	2.01	1.85	1.23	1.63
	(1.61–2.29)	(1.41–2.48)	(1.70–3.74)	(0.62–1.77)	(0.92–1.47)	(0.90–1.75)	(0.97–4.15)	(1.13–3.00)	(0.66–2.28)	(0.81–3.30)

API, Asian/Pacific Islander; IBD, liver/intrahepatic bile duct; AJCC, American Joint Committee on Cancer.

Data are presented by adjusted OR (95% Cl).

Bold values indicate statistical significance.

Hu et al.

surgery refusal, particularly between black and white patients, was largely mediated by socioeconomic status, like insurance type and marital status. It is well established that cancer patients who refuse surgery have worse survival than those undergoing surgery (9–11). Our study revealed that even when surgery is recommended but unperformed, the patient with refusal would suffer a worse CSS. This might be because patients refusing recommended surgery might also be negative to other alternative recommended treatments.

For prostate cancer patients, Islam et al. (12) found that \sim 3.9% patients refuse the suggested surgery; black, single, Medicaid/Medicare-covered, or early-stage prostate cancer patients are more likely to refuse the surgery. Those results are consistent with our present findings in prostate cancer. In our study, about 2.47% (4,019/162,768) prostate cancer patients refused recommended surgery. In addition, we identified that API patient was also a population with high odds of refusing recommended surgery. A latest study by Dee et al. (13) found that black and Asian patients are more likely to refuse locoregional treatment (radiotherapy and surgery) than white patients in prostate cancer; locoregional treatment refusal rate for prostate adenocarcinoma has increased over time. For Lung/bronchus cancer patients, Mehta et al. (14) found that blacks and "other" races are more likely to refuse recommended surgery than whites; refusal of surgery is influenced by county variations. In addition, refusal of surgery is influenced by low educational status in lung cancer (15). In recent years, stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) is considered as an alternative proposal for early stage non-small cell lung cancer patients who refuse surgery (16). Nonetheless, a systematic review suggested that SBRT has an inferior effect on survival and long-term distant control compared with surgery for early stage non-small cell lung cancer (17). To date, only a few study explored refusal of surgery in liver/IBD cancer (18). Our study indicated that API-white disparity in surgery refusal significantly existed in liver/IBD cancer. Tohme et al. (2) and Coffman et al. (19) explored the factors associated with surgery refusal in early-stage and non-metastatic pancreatic cancer, respectively, based on the National Cancer Database (NCDB); both of them identified that treatment at a non-academic/research medical center leads to higher odds of refusing pancreatic cancer-directed surgery. Those results suggested that hospital level is a key factor influencing patient's trust and decision in taking surgery. Much attention has been paid to surgery refusal in colorectal cancer patients (1, 9-11, 20). Surgery refusal rate for non-metastatic colorectal cancer is increasing over time, which increases colorectal cancerspecific mortality (adjusted HR: 5.10, 95% CI: 4.62-5.62) (20). Our study indicated that there was a significant black-white disparity in surgery refusal in non-metastatic colorectal cancer, which was largely mediated by patient's socioeconomic status. Surgery refusal has been also well investigated in breast cancer patients (21-23). Compared to refusals of chemotherapy and endocrine therapy, refusal of surgery causes the highest mortality risk for patients with invasive breast cancer (23). To date, other cancer types such as stomach, oral cavity/pharynx, kidney/renal pelvis and uterus cancers, are relatively less reported in surgery refusal, which warrants reinforced studied in the future.

Some limitations should be noticed in this SEER-based population study. First, this study is retrospective, it is intriguing to know whether and which complementary therapy that the patients would choose after refusing the recommended surgery. Secondly, in this pan-cancer analysis, prostate, lung and breast cancer patients account for the majority. The main findings apply to overall cancer population and must be prudently extended to every selected cancer type for potential selection bias. Thirdly, patient's decision in taking recommended surgery involves various influencing factors. It is a patient-doctor mutual participation result. Besides patient's socioeconomic conditions, more factors such as surgeon's conversation skills are warranted to be noticed in the future.

CONCLUSION

As early as 2009, the American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) has recognized racial and ethnic disparity as a major obstacle to achieving cancer health equity and listed it in cancer care as a critical issue to conquer. ASCO has issued a series of policies and recommendations to promote cancer health equity, such as ensuring equitable access to high-quality care and research, removing structural barriers, and increasing awareness and action (6). Patient's socioeconomic conditions reflected by insurance type and marital status may play a key role in racial/ethnic disparities in surgery refusal. According to our findings, in the future, oncological surgeons should fully consider the hindrances behind patient's refusal of recommended surgery, thus promoting patient-doctor shared decision-making and guiding patients to the most appropriate therapy.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Publicly available datasets were analyzed in this study. This data can be found at: https://seer.cancer.gov/.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

WY, HY, and YS contributed to the study conception and revised the manuscript. XH contributed to the data analysis and interpretation and draft the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh. 2021.785602/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Makar GS, Makar M, Obinero C, Davis W, Gaughan JP, Kwiatt M. Refusal of cancer-directed surgery in patients with colon cancer: risk factors of refusal and survival data. *Ann Surg Oncol.* (2021) 28:606–16. doi: 10.1245/s10434-020-08783-1
- Tohme S, Kaltenmeier C, Bou-Samra P, Varley PR, Tsung A. Race and health disparities in patient refusal of surgery for early-stage pancreatic cancer: an NCDB cohort study. *Ann Surg Oncol.* (2018) 25:3427–35. doi: 10.1245/s10434-018-6680-6
- Rapp J, Tuminello S, Alpert N, Flores RM, Taioli E. Disparities in surgery for early-stage cancer: the impact of refusal. *Cancer Causes Control.* (2019) 30:1389–97. doi: 10.1007/s10552-019-01240-9
- Ko NY, Hong S, Winn RA, Calip GS. Association of insurance status and racial disparities with the detection of early-stage breast cancer. *JAMA Oncol.* (2020) 6:385–92. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2019.5672
- van Gerwen M, Sinclair C, Rahman M, Genden E, Taioli E. The impact of surgery refusal on thyroid cancer survival: a SEER-based analysis. *Endocrine*. (2020) 70:356–63. doi: 10.1007/s12020-020-02301-9
- Patel MI, Lopez AM, Blackstock W, Reeder-Hayes K, Moushey EA, Phillips J, et al. Cancer disparities and health equity: a policy statement from the American Society of Clinical Oncology. J Clin Oncol. (2020) 38:3439–48. doi: 10.1200/JCO.20.00642
- Poulson M, Cornell E, Madiedo A, Kenzik K, Allee L, Dechert T, et al. The impact of racial residential segregation on colorectal cancer outcomes and treatment. *Ann Surg.* (2021) 273:1023–30. doi: 10.1097/SLA.000000000004653
- Poulson MR, Beaulieu-Jones BR, Kenzik KM, Dechert TA, Ko NY, Sachs TE, et al. Residential racial segregation and disparities in breast cancer presentation, treatment, and survival. *Ann Surg.* (2021) 273:3-9. doi: 10.1097/SLA.000000000004451
- 9. Kaltenmeier C, Malik J, Yazdani H, Geller DA, Medich D, Zureikat A, et al. Refusal of cancer-directed treatment by colon cancer patients: risk factors and survival outcomes. *Am J Surg.* (2020) 220:1605-12. doi: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2020.04.022
- Alty IG, Dee EC, Cusack JC, Blaszkowsky LS, Goldstone RN, Francone TD, et al. Refusal of surgery for colon cancer: sociodemographic disparities and survival implications among US patients with resectable disease. *Am J Surg.* (2021) 221:39–45. doi: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2020.06.020
- Lu PW, Fields AC, Yoo J, Irani J, Goldberg JE, Bleday R, et al. Sociodemographic predictors of surgery refusal in patients with stage I-III colon cancer. J Surg Oncol. (2020) 121:1306–13. doi: 10.1002/jso.25917
- Islam KM, Wen J. Prostate cancer patients' refusal of cancer-directed surgery: a statewide analysis. *Prostate Cancer.* (2015) 2015:829439. doi: 10.1155/2015/829439
- Dee EC, Arega MA, Yang DD, Butler SS, Mahal BA, Sanford NN, et al. Disparities in refusal of locoregional treatment for prostate adenocarcinoma. *JCO Oncol Pract.* (2021) 17:e1489–501. doi: 10.1200/OP.20.00839
- 14. Mehta RS, Lenzner D, Argiris A. Race and health disparities in patient refusal of surgery for early-stage non-small cell lung cancer: a SEER

cohort study. Ann Surg Oncol. (2012) 19:722-7. doi: 10.1245/s10434-011-2087-3

- Suh WN, Kong KA, Han Y, Kim SJ, Lee SH, Ryu YJ, et al. Risk factors associated with treatment refusal in lung cancer. *Thorac Cancer*. (2017) 8:443–50. doi: 10.1111/1759-7714.12461
- Beaty BT, Weiner AA. Alternatives to surgery for early-stage non-small cell lung cancer: stereotactic radiotherapy. *Clin Chest Med.* (2020) 41:185–95. doi: 10.1016/j.ccm.2020.02.001
- Li H, Shen Y, Wu Y, Cai S, Zhu Y, Chen S, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy versus surgery for early-stage non-small-cell lung cancer. J Surg Res. (2019) 243:346–53. doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2019.04.083
- Mirdad RS, Tsilimigras DI, Hyer JM, Diaz A, Azap RA, Pawlik TM. Refusal of surgery among patients with early-stage hepato-pancreato-biliary cancers: predictive factors and outcomes. *J Gastrointest Surg.* (2021) 25:1573–5. doi: 10.1007/s11605-020-04885-z
- Coffman A, Torgeson A, Lloyd S. Correlates of refusal of surgery in the treatment of non-metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma. *Ann Surg Oncol.* (2019) 26:98–108. doi: 10.1245/s10434-018-6708-y
- Delisle M, Singh S, Howard J, Panda N, Weppler AM, Wang Y. Refusal of colorectal cancer surgery in the United States: predictors and associated cancer-specific mortality in a surveillance, epidemiology, and end results (SEER) cohort. Surg Open Sci. (2020) 2:12–8. doi: 10.1016/j.sopen.2020.07.001
- Restrepo DJ, Sisti A, Boczar D, Huayllani MT, Fishe J, Gabriel E, et al. Characteristics of breast cancer patients who refuse surgery. *Anticancer Res.* (2019) 39:4941–5. doi: 10.21873/anticanres.13682
- Gaitanidis A, Alevizakos M, Tsalikidis C, Tsaroucha A, Simopoulos C, Pitiakoudis M. Refusal of cancer-directed surgery by breast cancer patients: risk factors and survival outcomes. *Clin Breast Cancer*. (2018) 18:e469–76. doi: 10.1016/j.clbc.2017.07.010
- 23. Moya JJ, Moazzez A, Ozao-Choy JJ, Dauphine C. Patients with invasive breast cancer who refuse treatment: an analysis of associated factors and impact on survival. *Am Surg.* (2021) 87:1627–32. doi: 10.1177/00031348211024170

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Hu, Ye, Yan and Sun. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Revisiting the Effects of Organized Mammography Programs on Inequalities in Breast Screening Uptake: A Multilevel Analysis of Nationwide Data From 1997 to 2017

Vladimir Jolidon^{1*}, Vincent De Prez², Piet Bracke², Andrew Bell³, Claudine Burton-Jeangros¹ and Stéphane Cullati^{1,4,5}

¹ Institute of Sociological Research, University of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland, ² Department of Sociology, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium, ³ Sheffield Methods Institute, University of Sheffield, Sheffield, United Kingdom, ⁴ Population Health Laboratory, University of Fribourg, Fribourg, Switzerland, ⁵ Department of Readaptation and Geriatrics, University of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Chien-Ching Li, Rush University, United States

Reviewed by:

Lin Zhu, Temple University, United States Nicole Bachmann, University of Applied Sciences and Arts Northwestem Switzerland, Switzerland

*Correspondence:

Vladimir Jolidon vladimir.jolidon@unige.ch

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Life-Course Epidemiology and Social Inequalities in Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

> Received: 10 November 2021 Accepted: 13 January 2022 Published: 07 February 2022

Citation:

Jolidon V, De Prez V, Bracke P, Bell A, Burton-Jeangros C and Cullati S (2022) Revisiting the Effects of Organized Mammography Programs on Inequalities in Breast Screening Uptake: A Multilevel Analysis of Nationwide Data From 1997 to 2017. Front. Public Health 10:812776. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.812776

This study revisits the effects of mammography screening programs on inequalities in breast screening uptake in Switzerland. The progressive introduction of regional mammography programs by 12 out of the 26 Swiss cantons (regions) since 1999 offers an opportunity to perform an ecological quasi-experimental study. We examine absolute income and marital status inequalities in mammography uptake, and whether the cantons' implementation of mammography programs moderate these inequalities, as previous research has devoted little attention to this. We use five waves of the Swiss Health Interview Survey covering the 1997-2017 period and comprising data on 14.267 women aged 50-70. Both up-to-date and ever-screening outcomes are analyzed with multilevel models which assess the mammography programs' withincanton effect. Findings show that higher income women and married women (compared to unmarried women) had significantly higher mammography uptake probabilities. Mammography programs did not moderate absolute income differences in up-to-date screening; however, they were associated with smaller absolute income differences in ever-screening uptake. Mammography programs related to higher screening uptake for married women, more than for unmarried women. In conclusion, we showed absolute income inequalities in mammography uptake which were not revealed by previous studies using relative inequality measures. Mammography programs may have contributed to reducing income inequalities in ever-screening, yet this was not observed for up-to-date screening. This study has implication for preventive health interventions - e.g., cancer screening promotion should pay attention to women's marital status since screening programs may widen the screening gap between married and unmarried women.

Keywords: socioeconomic inequalities, Switzerland, breast cancer screening, marital status, multilevel analysis, organized population-based screening programs

INTRODUCTION

Socioeconomic inequalities in breast cancer screening uptake have been shown to be higher in countries which do not have a nationwide population-based screening program (1, 2). However, country-specific studies have brought mixed evidence on screening programs' potential to reduce inequalities in mammography uptake (3-8). This is the case of Switzerland where regional mammography programs were not found to importantly moderate socioeconomic inequalities in screening uptake (9).

In Switzerland, 12 out of the 26 cantons (regions) have implemented organized mammography programs at different timepoints from 1999 to present. There is no nationwide mammography program since the cantons autonomously manage their own healthcare system and prevention. In cantons where a program is implemented, eligible women are systematically invited for a mammography every 2 years; while in cantons without a program, screening uptake is "opportunistic", i.e., it depends on women's individual initiative to undergo mammography and on doctors' recommendation to patients. The Swiss context provides an opportunity to study screening uptake inequalities across organized and opportunistic screening contexts (cantons), in an "ecological quasi-experimental" setting (9). That is, in opportunistic screening contexts, individual factors carry more weight and differences in socioeconomic status may lead to larger screening inequalities, while screening programs may reduce the role of individual economic or social support resources in screening uptake (1).

Inequalities in cancer screening uptake persist since people who possess more resources, such as knowledge, money and social networks, are able to deploy these to adopt available protective strategies and enhance their access to healthcare, while more disadvantaged individuals with less resources face more barriers in accessing healthcare (10). Income level was shown to be an essential determinant of (preventive) health services use across European countries (11, 12). Lower income households are deterred from healthcare uptake by healthcare direct costs, by indirect costs, such as transportation and medication copayment, as well as opportunity costs from time off work. As a socioeconomic status indicator, income level not only captures individuals' ability to access healthcare, it also accounts for individuals' broader material circumstances which, in turn, impact their psychosocial resources and ability to adopt healthenhancing lifestyles and choices.

It is particularly relevant to assess income-based inequalities in mammography screening uptake in Switzerland, and whether mammography programs moderate these inequalities, since the Swiss health insurance system involves considerable patient out-of-pocket payments which were shown to cause inequalities in healthcare access, as well as healthcare forgoing among lower income populations (13). This context may have contributed to shaping income-inequalities which were documented in cervical and colorectal cancer screening uptake (14–16). Concerning mammography, it is important to note that mammograms conducted within a screening program framework are reimbursed by the national health insurance system, while in cantons without a mammography program reimbursement is subject to doctor's prescription and insurance deductibles involving out-of-pocket expenses. Previous studies focused on relative measurements of screening inequalities in Switzerland, e.g., by comparing income quintiles (9), similarly to the health inequalities literature which has predominantly focused on relative health inequalities (17). However, research suggests that socioeconomic inequalities should also be assessed with absolute measurements, particularly since relative measures do not capture information on absolute variation of prevalence within groups, and can be sensitive to an outcome's overall prevalence (3, 4, 18).

Additionally, we examine how mammography programs moderate the association between marital status and screening uptake. Supportive ties and close relationships are essential determinants of health behaviors and preventive health services uptake (19). Social relations can provide tangible support to access healthcare, as well as encouragement to undergo screening. In particular, a (marital) relationship can have direct positive effects on health status and healthcare uptake. Such health benefit was widely documented and related, in part, to the health-related social control provided by a (marital) partner (20). Thus, the presence of a spouse or a partner is a key social support resource for preventive health behaviors. Marital status was commonly used as a proxy for the support provided by an intimate relationship and being married was found to be associated with higher mammography uptake (21, 22). Nevertheless, little attention was devoted to the effect of marital status on screening uptake in Switzerland, and to how mammography programs may modify this effect.

This study covers a 20-year period from 1997 to 2017. It is the first to analyze the most recent 2017 wave of the Swiss Health Interview Survey in relation to mammography screening, and the most recent mammography programs implemented by three cantons in the 2012–2017 period. We use multilevel modeling to account for the mammography programs' progressive implementation by the Swiss cantons over time. These models allow to assess a context-level variable, such as cantons' mammography program, and how it moderates individual-level variables with cross-level interactions. However, previous studies did not use multilevel models to analyze the mammography programs' moderation effect on screening inequalities across the Swiss cantons.

DATA AND METHODS

We used data from the Swiss Health Interview Survey (SHIS), a cross-sectional nationally representative survey implemented every 5 years and based on a stratified random selection of residents older than 14 years of age. We pooled the 5 most recent survey waves (from 1997 to 2017) and restricted the sample to 50–70 year-old women (N = 17,038). The final sample contained 14,267 women after excluding missing data.

We computed two binary outcomes: "ever-screening" (1 = ever did a mammography, 0 = never did a mammography) and "up-to-date screening" <math>(1 = did a mammography in the past 2 years, 0 = more than 2 years ago). We measured the

implementation of mammography screening programs across cantons and time with a variable coded as: (1) "program," if a canton had implemented a mammography program before a SHIS survey year, and (0) "no program," if no program was implemented (Supplementary Table S1). Individual-level predictors are monthly household income and marital status,¹ and control variables are education level, employment status, urban/rural area of residence, linguistic region of residence, age, self-rated health, and general practitioner or gynecologist visits in the last 12 months. We also included dummy variables for survey years and cantons to control for country-wide temporal trends and between-canton unobserved heterogeneity (23). In order to assess absolute income inequalities in screening uptake, we used a continuous measure of monthly household income, as provided by the SHIS. The household income variable is weighted according to the OECD-modified scale and logged. The OECDmodified scale assigns a weight to each household member in order to take into account differences in household size and composition (24): 1.0 to the first adult of the household, 0.5 to each additional household member aged 14 and over, and 0.3 to children under 14 years old. Total household income is divide by the sum of the weights. Descriptive statistics are reported in Supplementary Table S2.

We performed multilevel logistic models with individuals (level-1) nested in canton-year clusters (level-2), i.e., each level-2 cluster combines a specific canton and survey year. The 5 pooled survey waves provided 130 canton-year clusters (26 cantons \times 5 survey waves) (**Supplementary Table S3**). By including a random intercept for canton-year, the multilevel design accounts for similarities between women who belong to the same canton-year cluster and the fact that cantons implemented mammography programs at different timepoints between 1997 and 2017. It also takes into account cluster-level heteroscedasticity and error correlation in data affected by hierarchies, which is not accounted for in standard regression models (25).

First, we used a likelihood ratio test to assess whether models with a random intercept for canton-year performed better than models without random intercepts. Second, we analyzed the effect of household income, marital status and mammography programs on screening uptake (model 1), controlling for all individual-level covariates, and for time and canton fixed effects (dummy variables) to account for country-wide temporal trends and within-canton clustering. Third, we performed cross-level interactions between mammography program and individuallevel variables in separate models (models 2a and 2b) to examine whether these programs moderated individual-level differences in screening uptake. The data is analyzed with Stata 16.

RESULTS

The models with a random intercept for canton-year performed better than equivalent single-level models [up-to-date screening: $\chi^2_{(1)} = 1,447.52$, p < 0.001; ever-screening: $\chi^2_{(1)} = 1931.53$, p < 0.001], revealing significant differences in up-to-date and ever-screening uptake between canton-year clusters. As expected, women with higher household income and married women (compared to unmarried women) had significantly higher up-to-date screening and ever-screening probabilities (**Table 1**; **Supplementary Table S4**). Cantons with a mammography program had higher up-to-date screening uptake than cantons without programs, but did not have higher ever-screening uptake.

As shown in Table 2, mammography programs were associated with smaller income differences in ever-screening, as pointed out by the cross-level interaction term significant at a 95% confidence level (Supplementary Table S5). This effect is graphed in Figure 1 which shows that women with lower household income had higher ever-screening probabilities in cantons with a mammography program, than in cantons without a program. It was significant for women with monthly household income from the first to the fifth decile, i.e., for women with monthly household income lower than 4,000 CHF,² and the lower the income the stronger the effect was, as analyses presented in Supplementary Material revealed (Supplementary Table S6). For up-to-date screening, no interaction effect was observed. Finally, a cross-level interaction also revealed that, in cantons with a mammography program, married women had higher screening uptake than their unmarried counterparts, compared to cantons without a program (Table 2). Figure 2 depicts this effect for both up-to-date and ever-screening uptake.

DISCUSSION

We found evidence of absolute income inequalities in mammography uptake in Switzerland over the 1997–2017 period. The fact that mammograms are reimbursed by the health insurance system in cantons with screening programs, while more constraints (e.g., doctor's prescription) and out-of-pocket expenses apply in cantons without programs, might be driving these income-based inequalities. These absolute inequalities were not evidenced by Cullati et al. (9) who examined relative income inequalities. While relative measures focus on the magnitude of inequalities between groups, our results showed that absolute screening inequalities persisted across the entire range of income levels. Thus, it is recommended to consider both absolute and relative measures to accurately monitor screening inequalities and inform policymakers (3, 4, 17).

The cantons' implementation of mammography programs was associated with higher up-to-date screening uptake; however, we found no evidence that these programs moderated income inequalities in up-to-date screening. This confirms the findings

¹We used the marital status since information on respondents' partnership and cohabitation status was not available across the 5 survey waves of the SHIS, but only in the 3 most recent waves (2007–2017 period). Analysis of those 3 waves using the partnership status variable (whether or not a respondent is "living with a partner") instead of marital status produced substantively similar results.

²Monthly household income was weighted using the OECD-modified scale, as detailed in the methods section. 1 CHF was approximately equivalent to 0.79 USD in average over the period considered by this study (1997–2017).

TABLE 1 Association of up-to-date and ever-screening mammography uptake with individual-level and mammography program variables, results of logistic multilevel analysis, odds ratios and confidence intervals ($n_{individual} = 14,267$; $n_{canton-year} = 130$).

	Up-to-date screening OR (95% CI)	Ever-screening OR (95% CI)	
Model 1ª		. ,	
Individual level			
Household income (logged)	1.222*** (1.130–1.321)	1.225*** (1.128–1.331)	
Marital status (ref: single, divorced, widow) married	1.364*** (1.261–1.475)	1.428*** (1.305–1.562)	
Canton-year level			
Mammography program (ref: no program) program	1.737*** (1.463–2.062)	1.170 (0.961–1.424)	
Level-2 variance			
Canton-year ^b	0.015	0.015	

Significance levels: *p \leq 0.05, **p \leq 0.01, ***p \leq 0.001.

^aModel adjusted for level-1 (individual) covariates (including education level, employment status, age, linguistic region, area of residence, self-rated health, GP or gynecologist visits in the past 12 months), and time (survey year dummies) and canton-level heterogeneity (canton dummies) at the model's level-2.

^bThe inclusion of a level-2 (canton-year) variance in the models was assessed with likelihood ratio tests. The tests showed significant differences between canton-year clusters in up-to-date [$\chi^2_{(1)} = 7.44$, p = 0.006] and ever-screening [$\chi^2_{(1)} = 3.92$, p = 0.05] uptake.

Between 1997 and 2017, 12 out of 26 cantons implemented mammography programs.

Source: SHIS 1997-2017.

TABLE 2 Cross-level interactions between mammography program and individual-level variables in their effect on mammography uptake, results of logistic multilevel analysis, odds ratios and confidence intervals ($n_{individual} = 14,267$; $n_{canton-year} = 130$).

	Mod	el 2a	Model 2b			
	Up-to-date screening OR (95% CI)	Ever-screening OR (95% CI)	Up-to-date screening OR (95% CI)	Ever-screening OR (95% CI)		
Individual level						
Household income	1.233*** (1.116–1.363)	1.302*** (1.175–1.443)	1.223*** (1.131–1.322)	1.228*** (1.130–1.334)		
Marital status (ref: single, divorced, widow)	1.363*** (1.261–1.475)	1.426*** (1.303–1.560)	1.283*** (1.169–1.409)	1.357*** (1.229–1.498)		
Canton-year level						
Mammography program (ref: no program) program	2.092 (0.626-6.994)	4.716* (1.189–18.702)	1.551*** (1.275–1.887)	1.012 (0.806–1.272)		
Cross-level interaction						
Household income (logged) \times program	0.978 (0.846–1.130)	0.844* (0.715–0.996)				
Married \times program			1.214* (1.033–1.426)	1.299* (1.047-1.612)		
Level-2 variance						
Canton-year ^a	0.015	0.015	0.015	0.015		

Significance levels: * $p \le 0.05$, ** $p \le 0.01$, *** $p \le 0.001$.

^a The inclusion of a level-2 (canton-year) variance in the models was assessed with likelihood ratio tests. The tests showed significant differences between canton-year clusters in Model 2a for up-to-date $[\chi^2_{(1)} = 7.37, p = 0.007]$ and ever-screening $[\chi^2_{(1)} = 3.86, p = 0.05]$ uptake, and in Model 2b for up-to-date $[\chi^2_{(1)} = 7.09, p = 0.008]$ and ever-screening $[\chi^2_{(1)} = 3.92, p = 0.05]$ uptake.

Models are adjusted for all level-1 (individual) covariates, and time (survey year dummies) and canton-level heterogeneity (canton dummies) at the model's level-2. Source: SHIS 1997–2017.

of Cullati et al. (9) who did not observe a reduction of upto-date income-based screening inequalities associated with mammography programs over the 1992–2012 period. In contrast, European cross-national research evidenced that screening programs contributed to reducing inequalities in screening uptake (2). This was explained by the screening programs' systematic invitation of all eligible women which offers equal access to screening and reduces the information gap between individuals with different socioeconomic status and health literacy levels.

Persistence of the observed screening inequalities in Switzerland might be explained, partly, by the fact that not all women undergo mammography through the program in cantons with organized screening, and opportunistic screening uptake may still persist. Furthermore, inequalities in screening knowledge and negative attitudes toward mammography may persist, and particularly affects lower socioeconomic groups' screening uptake (26, 27). While research showed that screening programs successfully increase overall screening participation, and that invitation letters importantly contribute to this increase, they may not necessarily reduce inequalities in screening uptake (28, 29). Program invitation mechanisms and invitation letter features may affect participation. For example, long and detailed letters can discourage lower socioeconomic status individuals to Jolidon et al.



FIGURE 1 Predicted probabilities of mammography ever-screening by household income in cantons with/without a mammography program (based on model 2a). Confidence intervals were calculated using a multiplier of 1.39 standard errors since two parameters are compared rather than a parameter and a single (fixed) point (Goldstein H, Healy MJR. The graphical presentation of a collection of means. *J R Statist Soc.* (1995) 158:175–7).

participate, and whether a scheduled appointment is included in the letter was also shown to have an impact on screening participation (30). Information on the features and specific content of invitation letters sent by the cantons' programs should be collected (for example, by Swiss Cancer Screening in the monitoring report of the mammography programs) so future research may assess their effects in order to inform interventions. Finally, we should note that the majority of the mammography programs were implemented recently, in the last 10 years of the 20-year period considered in this study. More time might be necessary to be able to observe an inequality-reducing effect, particularly since higher socioeconomic status individuals are usually quicker than more disadvantaged individuals in adopting the offer of new preventive health services (31).

Mammography program implementation was not associated with significantly higher ever-screening uptake. However, it was associated with smaller income inequalities in ever-screening. As depicted in **Figure 1**, ever-screening was higher among lower income women in cantons with organized screening. Previous studies suggested that the reduction of financial barriers and awareness-raising brought by the Swiss mammography programs may have played a role in promoting uptake among lower income women who had never screened (without necessarily increasing overall ever-screening uptake) (5, 32). Our results highlighted that not only "up-to-date screeners" but also "everand never-screeners" should be taken into account, as different determinants may shape their screening uptake. Notably, neverscreeners were shown to face greater socioeconomic barriers to cervical cancer screening uptake (16) and to be more strongly affected by a lack of screening knowledge in their mammography uptake (33, 34). Cognitive, emotional, structural and communication barriers might differ between neverscreeners and those who have already screened but are offschedule (33). Thus, further studies are needed to investigate the specific reasons for non-attendance in different groups and tailor interventions according to screening status (35). Otherwise, standard invitations and reminder letters may fail to trigger participation among participants with specific profiles.

Married women had a higher mammography uptake than unmarried women and some evidence indicated that this gap increased in cantons with organized programs, compared to cantons without programs. Spouses can encourage each other's health-enhancing behaviors, and a couple's shared psychosocial and economic resources may also facilitate healthcare use (22, 36). Oppositely, those who do not have a partner are more at risk of delaying contacts with healthcare services. Having a marital partner may help mitigate well-known barriers to cancer screening, such as fear or embarrassment, and may provide the practical support facilitating healthcare access and screening program utilization. This finding is important to physicians who should pay more attention to the screening uptake of women living alone or without a (marital) partner.

This study has strengths and limitations. Our statistical models preclude causal inference. However, controlling for relevant confounders of mammography uptake provides support to a causal interpretation of the mammography programs' effect. Moreover, by using a multilevel model which controlled for country-wide temporal trends and canton-level unobserved heterogeneity, we extend previous studies and assessed the mammography programs' within-canton, between-canton-year effect. We used marital status as a proxy for the social support provided by an intimate relationship since information on respondents' partnership and cohabitation status was not available across the 5 waves of the SHIS. The marital status variable does not capture the social support provided by nonmarried and homosexual relationships and may involve some misclassification bias. Finally, survey data are susceptible to errors in self-reporting, and confounding from unmeasured variables cannot be excluded.

To conclude, this study reported evidence of absolute income inequalities in mammography uptake in Switzerland. Mammography programs may have contributed to reducing these income inequalities in ever-screening uptake; however, programs have not modified inequalities in up-to-date screening, and may have potentially increased inequalities in screening uptake between married and unmarried women. Hence, more specific and targeted public health interventions might be required to complement mammography programs and better reach women with lower income and those who do not live with a (marital) partner, and support their screening uptake. That is, the cost-reducing intervention of screening programs may not suffice to engage specific groups of non-participants in mammography screening and further strategies should be considered (28).

Interventions focusing on behavioral change can be successful. For example, text message reminders can be a cost-effective



solution which was shown to increase mammography uptake among women who never had a mammography and hardto-reach populations (37). Providing a phone number in the invitation letter to a call center with patient navigators who schedule appointments and are able to give information and tackle (structural and psychological) barriers to screening was also shown to improve mammography uptake among socioeconomically disadvantaged women (38). Provision of information through invitation letters and their effect on screening uptake may reach a limit when program coverage is high (39). However, combining postal letters with other invitation strategies, such as phone calls or text messages, in a "multiple-component intervention", was shown to be effective to increase uptake among low income women (40). Finally, there is overwhelming evidence that recommendation from primary care physician to patient improves screening uptake (41). Their involvement in screening programs should thus be promoted. Beyond the mere recommendation to undergo screening, patient-provider communication is fundamental. As studies showed, physician enthusiasm and encouragement perceived by patients is a key determinant of screening adherence (41), and a more comprehensive patient-provider communication on broader topics including sexual health can improve breast and cervical screening uptake among unmarried women (42).

Breast cancer is a leading cause of women's amenable mortality in Switzerland, where both geographic and socioeconomic inequalities in breast cancer care and stage at diagnosis were documented (43). Switzerland's healthcare system weakness in tackling health inequalities, implementing health prevention and producing nationwide health data and quality of care indicators was linked to its high decentralization (due to the cantons' autonomy to manage healthcare) (44, 45). Regional mammography programs may thus risk reproducing socioeconomic and geographic inequalities in breast cancer outcomes. For these reasons, we join previous research in stressing the need for more and better nationwide coordination of quality-controlled prevention and cancer screening programs in Switzerland to reduce disparities in early detection (46).

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

This study used data from the Swiss Health Interview Survey. The data is available for a fee (1600 Swiss Francs, plus 7.7% tax) and users must request permission from the Swiss Federal Statistical Office (sgb@bfs.admin.ch). Data must be destroyed after five years. Requests to access these datasets should be directed to Swiss Federal Statistical Office (sgb@bfs.admin.ch).

ETHICS STATEMENT

The research uses anonymized survey data from the Swiss Health Interview Survey (SHIS). Access to the data was granted by the Swiss Federal Statistical Office upon application and contract signing. Compliance with Swiss National Guidelines and Legal Basis (Swiss statistical law) were stated in the data delivery contract signed with the Swiss Federal Statistical Office.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

VJ: conceptualization, methodology, formal analysis, writing original draft, and writing—review and editing. VD and AB: conceptualization and writing—review and editing. PB, CB-J, and SC: conceptualization, writing—review and editing, supervision, funding acquisition, and project administration. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Willems B, Bracke P. The education gradient in cancer screening participation: a consistent phenomenon across Europe? *Int J Public Health*. (2017) 63:93–103. doi: 10.1007/s00038-017-1045-7
- Palencia L, Espelt A, Rodriguez-Sanz M, Puigpinos R, Pons-Vigues M, Pasarin MI, et al. Socio-economic inequalities in breast and cervical cancer screening practices in Europe: influence of the type of screening program. *Int J Epidemiol.* (2010) 39:757–65. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyq003
- Sandoval JL, Theler J-M, Cullati S, Bouchardy C, Manor O, Gaspoz J-M, et al. Introduction of an organised programme and social inequalities in mammography screening: a 22-year population-based study in Geneva, Switzerland. *Prev Med.* (2017) 103:49–55. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.07.025
- Renard F, Demarest S, Van Oyen H, Tafforeau J. Using multiple measures to assess changes in social inequalities for breast cancer screening. *Eur J Public Health.* (2013) 24:275–80. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckt116
- Pletscher M. The effects of organized screening programs on the demand for mammography in Switzerland. *Eur J Health Econ.* (2016) 18:649–65. doi: 10.1007/s10198-016-0845-7
- Aarts MJ, Voogd AC, Duijm LEM, Coebergh JWW, Louwman WJ. Socioeconomic inequalities in attending the mass screening for breast cancer in the south of the Netherlands—associations with stage at diagnosis and survival. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* (2011) 128:517–25. doi: 10.1007/s10549-011-1363-z
- Puddu M, Demarest S, Tafforeau J. Does a national screening programme reduce socioeconomic inequalities in mammography use? *Int J Public Health*. (2009) 54:61–8. doi: 10.1007/s00038-009-8105-6
- Ding L, Jidkova S, Greuter MJW, Van Herck K, Goossens M, De Schutter H, et al. The role of socio-demographic factors in the coverage of breast cancer screening: insights from a quantile regression analysis. *Front Public Health*. (2021) 9:648278. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.648278
- Cullati S, von Arx M, Courvoisier DS, Sandoval JL, Manor O, Burton-Jeangros C, et al. Organised population-based programmes and change in socioeconomic inequalities in mammography screening: a 1992–2012 nationwide quasi-experimental study. *Prev Med.* (2018) 116:19–26. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2018. 08.012
- Link BG, Northridge ME, Phelan JC, Ganz ML. Social epidemiology and the fundamental cause concept: on the structuring of effective cancer screens by socioeconomic status. *Milbank Q*. (2001) 76:375–402. doi: 10.1111/1468-0009. 00096

FUNDING

This research was conducted within the project PREVENT— Social inequalities in cancer prevention care and fundamental social causes: a comparative study of innovative technologies and (in)effective policies which was funded by the Research Foundation—Flanders (Grant Number FWOOPR2018005701) and the Swiss National Science Foundation (Grant Number 176115). Open access publication fees were covered by the Swiss National Science Foundation. The funding bodies had no involvement in the study design, the collection, analysis, and interpretation of data, the writing of the manuscript, nor in the decision to submit the manuscript for publication.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh. 2022.812776/full#supplementary-material

- Devaux M. Income-related inequalities and inequities in health care services utilisation in 18 selected OECD countries. *Eur J Health Econ.* (2013) 16:21–33. doi: 10.1007/s10198-013-0546-4
- 12. Jusot F, Or Z, Sirven N. Variations in preventive care utilisation in Europe. *Eur J Ageing*. (2011) 9:15–25. doi: 10.1007/s10433-011-0201-9
- Guessous I, Gaspoz JM, Theler JM, Wolff H. High prevalence of forgoing healthcare for economic reasons in Switzerland: a population-based study in a region with universal health insurance coverage. *Prev Med.* (2012) 55:521–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2012.08.005
- Burton-Jeangros C, Cullati S, Manor O, Courvoisier DS, Bouchardy C, Guessous I. Cervical cancer screening in Switzerland: cross-sectional trends (1992–2012) in social inequalities. *Eur J Public Health*. (2016) 27:167–73. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckw113
- Fedewa SA, Cullati S, Bouchardy C, Welle I, Burton-Jeangros C, Manor O, et al. Colorectal cancer screening in Switzerland: cross-sectional trends (2007-2012) in socioeconomic disparities. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0131205. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0131205
- Jolidon V, De Prez V, Willems B, Bracke P, Cullati S, Burton-Jeangros C. Never and under cervical cancer screening in Switzerland and Belgium: trends and inequalities. *BMC Public Health.* (2020) 20:1517. doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-09619-z
- King NB, Harper S, Young ME. Use of relative and absolute effect measures in reporting health inequalities: structured review. *BMJ*. (2012) 345:e5774-e. doi: 10.1136/bmj.e5774
- Mackenbach JP, Kunst AE. Measuring the magnitude of socio-economic inequalities in health: an overview of available measures illustrated with two examples from Europe. Soc Sci Med. (1997) 44:757–71. doi: 10.1016/S0277-9536(96)00073-1
- Gallant MP. Social networks, social support, and health-related behavior. In: Martin LR, DiMatteo MR, editors. *The Oxford Handbook of Health Communication, Behavior Change, and Treatment Adherence*. Oxford: Oxford University Press (2013). p. 303–22.
- Umberson D. Gender, marital status and the social control of health behavior. Soc Sci Med. (1992) 34:907–17. doi: 10.1016/0277-9536(92)90259-S
- Hanske J, Meyer CP, Sammon JD, Choueiri TK, Menon M, Lipsitz SR, et al. The influence of marital status on the use of breast, cervical, and colorectal cancer screening. *Prev Med.* (2016) 89:140–5. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2016.05.017
- Missinne S, Colman E, Bracke P. Spousal influence on mammography screening: a life course perspective. Soc Sci Med. (2013) 98:63–70. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.08.024

- Bell A, Jones K. Explaining fixed effects: random effects modeling of timeseries cross-sectional and panel data. *Polit Sci Res Meth.* (2014) 3:133–53. doi: 10.1017/psrm.2014.7
- Hagenaars AJ, De Vos K, Asghar Zaidi M. Poverty statistics in the late 1980s: Research based on micro-data. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities (1994).
- Bell A, Holman D, Jones K. Using shrinkage in multilevel models to understand intersectionality. *Methodology*. (2019) 15:88–96. doi: 10.1027/1614-2241/a000167
- Relecom A, Arzel B, Perneger T. Effect of an organised screening program on socioeconomic inequalities in mammography practice, knowledge and attitudes. *Int J Equity Health.* (2018) 17:95. doi: 10.1186/s12939-018-0811-3
- Cullati S, Charvet-Bérard AI, Perneger TV. Cancer screening in a middleaged general population: factors associated with practices and attitudes. *BMC Public Health.* (2009) 9:118. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-9-118
- Spadea T, Bellini S, Kunst A, Stirbu I, Costa G. The impact of interventions to improve attendance in female cancer screening among lower socioeconomic groups: a review. *Prev Med.* (2010) 50:159–64. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2010.01.007
- Yakubu M, Meggetto O, Lai Y, Peirson L, Walker M, Lofters A. Impact of postal correspondence letters on participation in cancer screening: a rapid review. *Prev Med.* (2021) 145:404. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2020.106404
- Camilloni L, Ferroni E, Cendales BJ, Pezzarossi A, Furnari G, Borgia P, et al. Methods to increase participation in organised screening programs: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health.* (2013) 13:464. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-13-464
- Zapata-Moya ÁR, Willems B, Bracke P. The (re)production of health inequalities through the process of disseminating preventive innovations: the dynamic influence of socioeconomic status. *Health Sociol Rev.* (2019) 28:177-93. doi: 10.1080/14461242.2019.1601027
- 32. Ulyte A, Wei W, Dressel H, Gruebner O, von Wyl V, Bähler C, et al. Variation of colorectal, breast and prostate cancer screening activity in Switzerland: Influence of insurance, policy and guidelines. *PLoS ONE.* (2020) 15:e0231409. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0231409
- Stoll CRT, Roberts S, Cheng M-R, Crayton EV, Jackson S, Politi MC. Barriers to mammography among inadequately screened women. *Health Educ Behav.* (2014) 42:8–15. doi: 10.1177/1090198114529589
- Achat H, Close G, Taylor R. Who has regular mammograms? Effects of knowledge, beliefs, socioeconomic status, and health-related factors. *Prev Med.* (2005) 41:312–20. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2004.11.016
- Jensen LF, Pedersen AF, Andersen B, Vedsted P. Identifying specific nonattending groups in breast cancer screening - population-based registry study of participation and socio-demography. *BMC Cancer*. (2012) 12:518. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-12-518
- Han SH, Kim K, Burr JA, Pruchno R. Social support and preventive healthcare behaviors among couples in later life. *Gerontologist.* (2019) 59:1162–70. doi: 10.1093/geront/gny144
- 37. Vidal C, Garcia M, Benito L, Milà N, Binefa G, Moreno V. Use of text-message reminders to improve participation in a population-based breast cancer

screening program. J Med Syst. (2014) 38:118. doi: 10.1007/s10916-014-0118-x

- Slater JS, Parks MJ, Nelson CL, Hughes KD. The efficacy of direct mail, patient navigation, and incentives for increasing mammography and colonoscopy in the medicaid population: a randomized controlled trial. *Cancer Epidem Biomar.* (2018) 27:1047–56. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-18-0038
- Carrieri V, Wuebker A. Quasi-experimental evidence on the effects of health information on preventive behaviour in Europe. Oxford B Econ Stat. (2016) 78:765–91. doi: 10.1111/obes.12134
- Gardner MP, Adams A, Jeffreys M. Interventions to increase the uptake of mammography amongst low income women: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e0055574. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0055574
- Peterson EB, Ostroff JS, DuHamel KN, D'Agostino TA, Hernandez M, Canzona MR, et al. Impact of provider-patient communication on cancer screening adherence: a systematic review. *Prev Med.* (2016) 93:96–105. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2016.09.034
- Politi MC, Clark MA, Rogers ML, McGarry K, Sciamanna CN. Patientprovider communication and cancer screening among unmarried women. *Patient Educ Couns.* (2008) 73:251–5. doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2008.07.030
- Feller A, Schmidlin K, Clough-Gorr KM. Trends and socioeconomic inequalities in amenable mortality in Switzerland with international comparisons. Swiss Med Wkly. (2017) 147:w14478. doi: 10.4414/smw.2017.14478
- 44. OECD/WHO. OECD Reviews of Health Systems: Switzerland (2011). OECD Publishing (2011). doi: 10.1787/9789264120914-en
- Martani A, Geneviève LD, Egli SM, Erard F, Wangmo T, Elger BS. Evolution or revolution? Recommendations to improve the Swiss health data framework. *Front Public Health.* (2021) 9:668386. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.668386
- Ess S, Savidan A, Frick H, Rageth C, Vlastos G, Lütolf U, et al. Geographic variation in breast cancer care in Switzerland. *Cancer Epidemiol.* (2010) 34:116–21. doi: 10.1016/j.canep.2010.01.008

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Jolidon, De Prez, Bracke, Bell, Burton-Jeangros and Cullati. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

